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            The  information  required on the remainder of this cover page shall
not be deemed to be "filed"  for the  purpose  of  Section 18 of the  Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise  subject to the liabilities of that section of
the Act but shall be subject to all other  provisions of the Act  (however,  see
the Notes).

"2">(22,793)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes

 102   (81)  (352)

Net loss

 (24,939)  (12,919)  (22,441)

Preferred stock dividends

 1,016   4,065   3,747  

Net loss attributable to common stockholders

$(25,955) $(16,984) $(26,188)

Net loss per common share:

Basic and diluted

$(6.96) $(4.27) $(6.48)

Pro forma basic and diluted (unaudited)(2)

$(0.77)

Weighted average number of shares used to compute net loss per share:

Basic and diluted

 3,727   3,975   4,040  

Pro forma basic and diluted (unaudited)(2)

 28,991  

(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:
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Years Ended December 31,
2007 2008 2009

Cost of revenue $ 379 $ 619 $ 581
Research and development 1,852 3,189 2,657
Sales and marketing 1,285 1,998 1,840
General and administrative 2,738 4,134 4,118

$ 6,254 $ 9,940 $ 9,196

(2) Pro forma weighted average shares outstanding reflects the conversion of our convertible preferred stock (using the if-converted method)
into common stock as though the conversion had occurred on the original dates of issuance.

See notes to financial statements.
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CALIX, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS� DEFICIT

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007, 2008 AND 2009

(In thousands)

Convertible
Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional

Paid-in
Capital

Other
Comprehensive

Income
(loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders�

DeficitShares Amount Shares Amount
Balance at December 31, 2006 13,943 $ 379,316 4,199 $ 89 $ 25,973 $ �  $ (323,055) $ (296,993) 
Amortization of early exercise
liability �  �  �  7 848 �  �  855
Stock-based compensation �  �  �  �  6,254 �  �  6,254
Exercise of stock options and
preferred stock warrants �  5 45 1 151 �  �  152
Repurchase of common stock �  �  (72) �  (16) �  �  (16) 
Issuance of Series I preferred stock,
net of issuance costs 1,716 42,000 �  �  �  �  �  �  
Issuance of Series I preferred stock
dividends 43 1,016 (1,016) (1,016) 
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss �  �  �  �  �  �  (24,939) (24,939) 
Unrealized gain on short-term
investments �  �  �  �  �  27 �  27

Total comprehensive loss �  �  �  �  �  �  �  (24,912) 

Balance at December 31, 2007 15,702 422,337 4,172 97 33,210 27 (349,010) (315,676) 
Amortization of early exercise
liability �  �  �  2 263 �  �  265
Stock-based compensation �  �  �  �  9,940 �  �  9,940
Exercise of stock options and
preferred stock warrants 1 1 25 1 103 �  �  104
Repurchase of common stock �  �  (173) �  (19) �  �  (19) 
Issuance of Series I preferred stock
dividends 205 4,065 �  �  �  �  (4,065) (4,065) 
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss �  �  �  �  �  �  (12,919) (12,919) 
Unrealized loss on short-term
investments �  �  �  �  �  (27) �  (27) 

Total comprehensive loss �  �  �  �  �  �  �  (12,946) 

Balance at December 31, 2008 15,908 426,403 4,024 100 43,497 �  (365,994) (322,397) 
Stock-based compensation �  �  �  9,196 �  �  9,196
Exercise of stock options �  �  64 2 58 �  �  60
Repurchase of common stock �  �  (1) �  (12) �  �  (12) 
Issuance of Series I preferred stock
dividends 272 3,747 �  �  �  �  (3,747) (3,747) 
Issuance of Series J preferred stock,
net of issuance costs 6,312 49,478 �  �  �  �  �  �  
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Comprehensive loss:
Net loss �  �  �  �  �  �  (22,441) (22,441) 
Unrealized loss on short-term
investments �  �  �  �  �  (17) �  (17) 

Total comprehensive loss �  �  �  �  �  �  �  (22,458) 

Balance at December 31, 2009 22,492 $ 479,628 4,087 $ 102 $ 52,739 $ (17) $ (392,182) $ (339,358) 

See notes to financial statements.
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CALIX, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2008 2009

Operating activities
Net loss $ (24,939) $ (12,919) $ (22,441)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation 6,201 5,423 4,942
Amortization of intangible assets 6,180 6,180 6,180
Revaluation of warrant liability (1,634) (1,329) (37)
Stock-based compensation 6,254 9,940 9,196
Amortization of warrant issued to reseller 233 �  �  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Change in restricted cash �  (4,856) 4,227
Accounts receivable, net 15,702 (5,228) (14,209)
Inventory (4,582) (2,334) 4,841
Deferred cost of goods sold 419 13,104 (2,260)
Prepaid expenses and other assets 245 (71) (4,252)
Accounts payable (9,587) 1,743 (3,855)
Accrued liabilities (3,101) 1,920 12,138
Other long-term liabilities (291) 567 (744)
Deferred revenue (2,973) (17,691) 7,664

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (11,873) (5,551) 1,390

Investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment (5,650) (5,427) (5,064)
Purchase of marketable securities (23,946) �  (36,245)
Sale of marketable securities 15,670 8,276 �  

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (13,926) 2,849 (41,309)

Financing activities
Proceeds from loans �  21,000 20,000
Principal payments on loans (6,750) (12,250) (21,000)
Principal payments on related party loan �  (4,262) �  
Proceeds from preferred stock investors 57,500 �  49,478
Repayments to preferred stock investors (20,000) �  �  
Net proceeds from issuance of preferred stock 4,500 �  �  
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants 157 105 60
Repurchase of common and preferred stock (16) (19) (12)

Net cash provided by financing activities 35,391 4,574 48,526

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 9,592 1,872 8,607
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 11,750 21,342 23,214

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 21,342 $ 23,214 $ 31,821

Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and financing activities
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Interest paid $ 2,429 $ 1,193 $ 4,384

Income taxes paid $ 230 $ 93 $ 39

Amortization of liability related to early exercise of common stock $ 855 $ 265 $ �  

Conversion of loan to Series I preferred stock $ 37,500 $ �  $ �  

Issuance of Series I preferred stock dividends $ 1,016 $ 4,065 $ 3,747

See notes to financial statements.
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CALIX, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2008 AND 2009 AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED

DECEMBER 31, 2007, 2008 AND 2009

1. ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization

Calix, Inc. (the �Company�), which was incorporated in Delaware in August 1999, develops, markets and sells communications access systems
and software that enable communications service providers to connect to their residential and business subscribers.

Significant Accounting Policies

Applicable Accounting Guidance

Any reference in these notes to applicable accounting guidance (�guidance�) is meant to refer to the authoritative nongovernmental U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles as found in the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) Accounting Standards Codification (�ASC�).

Fiscal Year End

The Company operates on a 4-4-5 fiscal calendar which divides the year into four quarters with each quarter having 13 weeks which are grouped
into two 4-week months and one 5-week month. The Company�s fiscal year ends on December 31.

Unaudited Pro Forma Stockholders� Equity

The Company has filed a Registration Statement on Form S-1 with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission for its proposed
initial public offering of shares of its common stock (the �IPO�). When the IPO is consummated, all of the convertible preferred stock outstanding
will automatically convert into 28.0 million shares of common stock based on the shares of convertible preferred stock outstanding as of
December 31, 2009. In addition, the outstanding preferred stock warrants will automatically convert into warrants to purchase common stock
and the preferred stock warrant liabilities of $0.2 million as of December 31, 2009 will be reclassified to additional paid in capital. Unaudited
pro forma stockholders� equity, as adjusted for the assumed conversion of the convertible preferred stock and the reclassification of the preferred
stock warrant liabilities, is set forth on the balance sheets.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the applicable accounting guidance requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. For the Company, these estimates include, but are not
limited to: allowances for credit losses, excess and obsolete inventory, allowances for obligations to its contract manufacturer, useful lives
assigned to long-lived assets and acquired intangible assets, the valuation of common and preferred stock and related warrants and options,
warranty costs, and contingencies. Actual results could differ from those estimates, and such differences could be material to the Company�s
financial position and results of operations.

F-7

Edgar Filing: STEEL PARTNERS II L P - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 8



Table of Contents

CALIX, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenue primarily from sales of its hardware products and its related software. Shipping charges billed to customers are
included in revenue and the related shipping costs are included in cost of revenue.

The Company recognizes revenue under the applicable accounting guidance, as prescribed in ASC Topic 985, for software revenue recognition.
Revenue is recognized when the following basic criteria of revenue recognition have been met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. The Company uses the residual method to
recognize revenue when an agreement includes one or more elements to be delivered at a future date and vendor-specific objective evidence, or
VSOE, of the fair value of all undelivered elements exists. Under the residual method, the fair value of the undelivered elements is deferred and
the remaining portion of the arrangement fee is recognized as revenue. If VSOE of the fair value of one or more undelivered elements does not
exist, all revenue is deferred and recognized when delivery of those elements occurs or when fair value can be established. Deferred revenue
consists of arrangements that have been partially delivered, contracts with the U.S. Department of Agriculture�s Rural Utility Service (�RUS�) that
include installation services, special customer arrangements and ratably recognized services.

As noted above, the Company derives revenue primarily from the sales of its hardware products and related software. In certain cases, the
Company�s products are sold along with services, which include installation, training, post-sales software support and/or extended warranty
services. Installation is typically provided shortly after delivery of the product. Training services include the right to a specified number of
training classes. Post-sales software support consists of the Company�s management software, including rights, on a when-and-if available basis,
to receive unspecified software product upgrades to either embedded software or the Company�s management software, maintenance releases and
patches released during the term of the support period and product support, which includes telephone and Internet access to technical support
personnel. Extended warranty services include the right to warranty coverage beyond the standard warranty period.

Revenue from installation and training services is recognized when the respective services are rendered. Revenue from post-sales software
support and extended warranty services is recognized on a straight-line basis over the service contract term. The Company has established
VSOE of the fair value for training, post-sales software support and extended warranty services. VSOE of fair value is based on the prices a
customer pays for these elements when they are sold separately. The Company is required to exercise judgment in determining whether VSOE
exists for each element in an arrangement based on whether its pricing for these elements is sufficiently consistent. The Company has not
established VSOE of the fair value for its products or installation services, because the Company infrequently sells its products and installation
services separately and/or the pricing of such products and installation services are not deemed to be sufficiently consistent as prescribed by the
appropriate accounting guidance. Therefore, revenue from product sales is recognized upon full shipment and title transfer of all products,
assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met. Revenue from products that are sold in combination with installation services is deferred
and recognized upon completion of the installation and delivery of all products. Revenue from product sales that are partially shipped is deferred
and recognized upon delivery of all products. In certain instances where substantive acceptance provisions are specified in the arrangement or
extended return rights exist, revenue is deferred until all acceptance criteria have been met or the extended return rights expire. From time to
time, the Company offers customers sales incentives, which include volume rebates and discounts. These amounts are accrued on a quarterly
basis and recorded net of revenue.

Payment terms to customers generally range from net 30 to net 90 days. The Company assesses the ability to collect from its customers based
primarily on the creditworthiness and past payment history of the customer.

F-8
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CALIX, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

Revenue arrangements that provide payment terms that extend beyond the Company�s customary payment terms are considered extended
payment terms. Occasionally, the Company offers extended payment terms in a revenue arrangement. Through December 31, 2009, the
Company has not experienced any significant accounts receivable write-offs related to revenue arrangements with extended payment terms.
Customer arrangements with extended payment terms may also include substantive acceptance criteria within the arrangement which, in
accordance with the Company�s revenue recognition policy, would cause the revenue in the arrangement to be deferred until all the acceptance
criteria have been met. Extended payment terms may also indicate that the customer is relying on a future event as a prerequisite for the
payment, such as installation, a new software release or financing, which would indicate that the fees associated with the arrangement are not
fixed or determinable. Due to the unusual nature and uncertainty associated with granting extended payment terms in customer arrangements,
the Company defers revenue under these arrangements and recognizes the revenue upon payment from the customer, assuming all other revenue
recognition criteria have been met.

The Company enters into arrangements with certain of its customers who receive government-supported loans and grants from the U.S.
Department of Agriculture�s Rural Utility Service to finance capital spending. Under the terms of an RUS equipment contract that includes
installation services, the customer does not take possession and control and title does not pass until formal acceptance is obtained from the
customer. Under this type of arrangement, the Company does not recognize revenue until it has received formal acceptance from the customer.
For RUS arrangements that do not involve installation services, the Company recognizes revenue in accordance with the revenue recognition
policy described above.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of finished goods inventory purchased from the Company�s contract manufacturers, payroll and related
expenses associated with managing the contract manufacturers� relationships, depreciation of manufacturing test equipment, warranty costs,
excess and obsolete inventory costs, shipping charges and amortization of certain intangible assets.

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the applicable accounting guidance in ASC Topic 718 for share-based payment transactions.
Under the fair value recognition provisions of this guidance, stock-based awards, including stock options, are recorded at fair value as of the
grant date and recognized to expense over the employee�s requisite service period (generally the vesting period), which the Company has elected
to amortize on a straight-line basis. The Company adopted this guidance using the modified prospective transition method. Under that transition
method, compensation expense recognized beginning in 2006 includes: compensation expense for all share-based payments granted prior to, but
not yet vested as of December 31, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of the guidance,
and compensation expense for all share-based payments granted after December 31, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of this guidance. Such amounts have been reduced by the Company�s estimated forfeitures on all unvested
awards.

Warranty

The Company offers limited warranties for its hardware products for a period of one or five years, depending on the product type. The Company
recognizes estimated costs related to warranty activities as a component of cost of revenue upon product shipment. The estimates are based on
historical product failure rates and historical costs incurred in correcting product failures. The recorded amount is adjusted from time to time for
specifically identified warranty exposure. Actual warranty expenses are charged against the Company�s

F-9
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CALIX, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

estimated warranty liability when incurred. Factors that affect the Company�s warranty liability include the number of installed units and
historical and anticipated rates of warranty claims and cost per claim.

Research and Development

Research and development costs include costs of developing new products and processes, as well as design and engineering costs. Such costs are
charged to research and development expense as incurred.

Development costs related to software incorporated in the Company�s products incurred subsequent to the establishment of technological
feasibility are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful lives of the related products. Technological feasibility is established upon
completion of a working model. Through December 31, 2009, these costs have been minimal and, accordingly, all software development costs
have been charged to research and development expense in the Company�s statements of operations.

Credit Risk and Inventory Supplier Concentrations

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash
equivalents, marketable securities and accounts receivable. Cash equivalents consist of money market funds which are invested through financial
institutions in the United States. Such deposits may, at times, exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in
such accounts. Marketable securities consist principally of U.S. government sponsored entity bonds, commercial paper, debt securities of
domestic corporations with strong credit ratings, bank certificates of deposit and U.S. Treasury bills. Management believes that that the financial
institutions that hold the Company�s cash and investments are financially sound and, accordingly, minimal credit risk exists with respect to these
cash and investments.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables exist to the full extent of amounts presented in the financial statements. The
Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and does not require collateral from its customers to secure accounts receivable.
Accounts receivable are derived from shipments to customers located primarily in the U.S. and the Caribbean. The Company provides an
allowance for estimated losses on receivables based on a review of the current status of existing receivables and historical collection experience.
Actual collection losses may differ from management�s estimates, and such differences could be material to the Company�s financial position and
results of operations.

Customers with an accounts receivable balance of 10% or greater of total accounts receivable and customers with net revenues of 10% or greater
of total revenues are presented below for the periods indicated:

Percentage of 
Accounts

Receivable as of
December 31,

Percentage of Revenue
Years Ended
December 31,

Customers 2008 2009 2007 2008 2009
Embarq Corporation(1) 17% �% 11% 16% �% 
CenturyTel(1) �  �  11 9 �  
CenturyLink(1) �  44 �  �  38
Customer A 15 �  �  11 4
Customer B �  �  15 � �  

(1) As of July 1, 2009, Embarq and CenturyTel completed a merger to create a combined company known as CenturyLink. The percentages
shown above, for the year ended December 31, 2009, are shown for the combined entity.
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CALIX, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability or unwillingness of its customers to
make required payments. The Company records a specific allowance based on an analysis of individual past-due balances. Additionally, based
on its historical write-offs and collections experience, the Company records an additional allowance based on a percentage of outstanding
receivables. The Company performs credit evaluations of its customers� financial condition. These evaluations require significant judgment and
are based on a variety of factors including, but not limited to, current economic trends, payment history and financial review of the customer.

The Company depends primarily on a single contract manufacturer for the bulk of its finished goods inventory. The Company generally
purchases its product through purchase orders and has no supply agreements with its suppliers or contract manufacturers. While the Company
seeks to maintain a sufficient reserve of its products, the Company�s business and results of operations could be adversely affected by a stoppage
or delay in receiving such products, the receipt of defective parts, an increase in price of such products or the Company�s inability to obtain lower
prices from its contract manufacturers and suppliers in response to competitive pressures.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, marketable securities, accounts payable, and other accrued liabilities
approximate their fair value due to their relatively short-term nature. The carrying amount of the Company�s loans payable, preferred stock
warrant liabilities and other long-term liabilities approximate their fair value. The fair value of loans payable was based upon management�s best
estimates of interest rates that would be available for similar debt obligations as of December 31, 2008 and 2009. The fair value of the preferred
stock warrant liabilities was estimated using the Black-Scholes valuation model.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Marketable Securities

The Company has invested its excess cash primarily in money market funds and highly liquid debt instruments. The Company considers all
investments with maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Marketable securities represent highly liquid debt
instruments with maturities greater than 90 days at date of purchase. Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities are stated at amounts that
approximate fair value based on quoted market prices.

The Company�s investments have been classified and accounted for as available-for-sale. Such investments are recorded at fair value and
unrealized holding gains and losses are reported as a separate component of comprehensive loss in the statements of convertible preferred stock
and stockholders� deficit until realized. Should the Company determine that any unrealized losses on the investments are other-than-temporary,
the amount of that impairment to be recognized in earnings will depend on whether the Company intends to sell the security or more likely than
not will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis less any current period credit loss. The Company, to date, has
not determined that any of the unrealized losses on its investments are considered to be other-than-temporary. Realized gains and losses, which
have been immaterial to date, are determined on the specific identification method and are reflected in results of operations.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consisted of certificates of deposit totaling $4.9 million and $0.6 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2009, respectively. These
certificates of deposit are purchased to back performance bonds for the Company�s RUS-funded customer contracts.
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CALIX, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

Inventory

Inventory consisting of finished goods purchased from a contract manufacturer is stated at the lower of cost, determined by the first-in, first-out
method, or market value. The Company regularly monitors inventory quantities on hand and records write-downs for excess and obsolete
inventories based on the Company�s estimate of demand for its products, potential obsolescence of technology, product life cycles, and whether
pricing trends or forecasts indicate that the carrying value of inventory exceeds its estimated selling price. These factors are impacted by market
and economic conditions, technology changes, and new product introductions and require estimates that may include elements that are uncertain.
Actual demand may differ from forecasted demand and may have a material effect on gross margins. If inventory is written down, a new cost
basis will be established that cannot be increased in future periods.

Deferred Cost of Goods Sold

When the Company�s products have been delivered, but the product revenue associated with the arrangement has been deferred as a result of not
meeting the criteria for immediate revenue recognition, the Company also defers the related inventory costs for the delivered items until all
criteria are met for revenue recognition.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation, and are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful life of each asset. Computers are depreciated over two years; software, manufacturing test equipment, and tooling are depreciated over
three years; furniture and fixtures are depreciated over seven years; and leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the
respective lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.

Impairment of Long�Lived Assets

The Company periodically evaluates long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that a potential
impairment may have occurred. If such events or changes in circumstances arise, the Company compares the carrying amount of the long-lived
assets to the estimated future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the long-lived assets. If the estimated aggregate undiscounted
cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the long-lived assets, an impairment charge, calculated as the amount by which the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets, is recorded. The fair value of the long-lived assets is determined based on the estimated
discounted cash flows expected to be generated from the long-lived assets. Through December 31, 2009, no impairment losses have been
identified.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and other purchased intangible assets have been recorded as a result of the Company�s acquisition of Optical Solutions, Inc. (�OSI�) in
February 2006. This goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes, and there have been no adjustments to goodwill since the acquisition date.

Goodwill is not amortized but instead is subject to an annual impairment test, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that they may be impaired. The Company evaluates goodwill on an annual basis as of the end of the second quarter of each fiscal year. The test
for goodwill impairment is a two-step process. The first step compares the fair value of each reporting unit with its respective carrying amount,
including goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting
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CALIX, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

unit is not considered impaired and, therefore, the second step of the impairment test is unnecessary. The second step, used to measure the
amount of impairment loss, compares the implied fair value of each reporting unit�s goodwill with the respective carrying amount of that
goodwill. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss shall be
recognized in an amount equal to that excess. Management has determined that it operates as a single reporting unit and therefore evaluates
goodwill impairment at the enterprise level. There were no impairment charges through December 31, 2009.

The Company performs its annual goodwill impairment test during the third quarter and the estimated fair value of the Company significantly
exceeded its carrying value at that date.

Intangible assets with definite useful lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives, generally four to five years, and reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate an asset�s carrying value may not be recoverable. The Company believes that
no events or changes in circumstances have occurred that would require an impairment test for these assets.

Preferred Stock Warrants

Warrants to purchase the Company�s convertible preferred stock are classified as liabilities on the Company�s balance sheet. The Company
re-measures the fair value of these warrants at each balance sheet date and any change in fair value is recognized as a component of other
income (expense) in the Company�s statements of operations. The Company will continue to adjust the liability for changes in fair value until the
earlier of the exercise of the warrants or the completion of a liquidation event, including the completion of an initial public offering, at which
time the liability will be reclassified as a component of stockholders� equity.

The Company estimates the fair value of these warrants using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, which includes the estimated fair
market value of the underlying preferred stock at the valuation measurement date, the remaining contractual term of the warrant, risk-free
interest rates, and expected dividends on and expected volatility of the price of the underlying preferred stock. These estimates, especially the
market value of the underlying preferred stock and the expected volatility, are highly judgmental and could differ materially in the future. The
Company recorded income of $1.6 million, $1.3 million and $0.04 million in the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively,
to reflect changes in the estimated fair value of the remaining outstanding warrants.

Income Taxes

The Company evaluates its tax positions and estimates its current tax exposure together with assessing temporary differences resulting from
differing treatment of items not currently deductible for tax purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities on the
Company�s balance sheets, which are estimated based upon the difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities
using the enacted tax rates that will be in effect when these differences reverse. In general, deferred tax assets represent future tax benefits to be
received when certain expenses previously recognized in the Company�s statements of operations become deductible expenses under applicable
income tax laws or loss or credit carry-forwards are utilized. Accordingly, realization of the Company�s deferred tax assets is dependent on future
taxable income against which these deductions, losses and credits can be utilized.

The Company must assess the likelihood that the Company�s deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income, and to the extent
the Company believes that recovery is not likely, the Company must establish a valuation allowance. Management judgment is required in
determining the Company�s provision for
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income taxes, the Company�s deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against the Company�s net deferred tax
assets. The Company recorded a full valuation allowance at each balance sheet date presented because, based on the available evidence, the
Company believes it is more likely than not that it will not be able to utilize all of its deferred tax assets in the future. The Company intends to
maintain the full valuation allowances until sufficient evidence exists to support the reversal of the valuation allowances.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2009, the FASB issued an Accounting Standard Update, or ASU, to ASC Topic 985-605 and ASC Topic 605-25. The ASU related
to Topic 985-605 excludes the sales of tangible products that contain essential software elements from the scope of revenue recognition
requirements for software arrangements. The sale of these products will then fall under the general revenue recognition guidance as provided by
the FASB in the ASC. The ASU related to Topic 605-25 has two fundamental changes: (1) it requires a vendor to allocate revenue to each unit
of accounting in many arrangements involving multiple deliverables based on the relative selling price of each deliverable, and (2) it changes the
level of evidence of standalone selling price required to separate deliverables by allowing a vendor to make its best estimate of the standalone
selling price of deliverables when more objective evidence of selling price is not available. The revised guidance will cause revenue to be
recognized earlier for many revenue transactions involving sales of software-enabled devices and transactions involving multiple deliverables.
The revised guidance must be adopted by all entities no later than fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010 with earlier adoption allowed
through either a prospective or retrospective application methodology. However, an entity must select the same transition method and same
period for both of the ASUs that were issued. The Company expects the adoption of the revised guidance to have a significant impact on the
financial statements due to the fact that the Company�s products consist of tangible products with essential software elements. Further, when
these products are sold as part of multiple element arrangements, the Company will allocate the revenue based on the revised allocation
guidance. The Company expects to early adopt the revised guidance as of January 1, 2010 using the prospective method of application.

In August 2009, the FASB issued an update to ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, related to the measurement of
liabilities at fair value. The amendment partially delays the effective date of ASC Topic 820 for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities,
except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually). The delay is
intended to allow the FASB and constituents additional time to consider the effect of various implementation issues from the application of ASC
Topic 820. The effective date is for interim periods after August 2009 for items within the scope of this amendment. The Company adopted the
provisions of ASC Topic 820 for the year ended December 31, 2009. There was no impact from adoption of ASC Topic 820 to the Company�s
financial statements.

In August 2009, the FASB issued an update to ASC Topic 480, Accounting for Redeemable Equity Instruments, related to the adoption of the
SEC update as issued in their Accounting Series Release No. 268, or ASR 268, Presentation in Financial Statements of �Redeemable Preferred
Stocks.� The SEC, in ASR 268, provides additional clarification on the presentation in the financial statements of equity instruments with certain
redemption features which did not have an impact on the Company�s financial statements.

In May 2009, the FASB issued an update to ASC Topic 855, Subsequent Events. The update establishes general standards of accounting for and
disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. The Company
adopted the provisions of ASC Topic 855 during the quarter ended September 26, 2009. Since the guidance only requires additional disclosures,
the adoption did not have an impact on the Company�s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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In April 2009, the FASB issued an update to ASC Topic 320, Investments-Debt and Equity Securities. The updates provide additional guidance
as to the recognition and presentation of other-than-temporary impairments. The updated guidance modifies the requirements for recognizing
other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities and revises the existing impairment model for such securities by modifying the current intent and
ability indicator in determining whether a debt security is other-than-temporarily impaired. The update is effective for interim and annual
reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009, with early adoption permitted for the period ending after March 15, 2009. The Company adopted
the update during the quarter ended September 26, 2009. The adoption did not have a material effect on the Company�s financial statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued two updates to ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements. The first update provides guidance on estimating fair
value when the volume and level of activity for the asset or liability have significantly decreased. The update also provides guidance on
identifying circumstances that indicate a transaction is not orderly. Should the Company conclude that there has been a significant decrease in
the volume and level of activity of the asset or liability in relation to normal market activities, quoted market values may not be representative of
fair value and the Company may conclude that a change in valuation technique or the use of multiple valuation techniques may be appropriate.
The second update amends the disclosure requirements about fair value instruments to require disclosures about fair value of financial
instruments for interim reporting periods of publicly traded companies as well as in annual financial statements and requires those disclosures in
summarized financial information at interim reporting periods. The updates are effective for interim and annual reporting periods ending after
June 15, 2009, with early adoption permitted for periods ending after March 15, 2009. The Company adopted the updates during the quarter
ended September 26, 2009. The adoption did not have a material effect on the Company�s financial statements.

In May 2008, the FASB issued certain guidance related to the hierarchy of generally accepted accounting principles. The proposed guidance
would identify the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the principles to be used in the preparation of the financial
statements that are presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. In June 2009, the FASB replaced
the originally issued guidance and issued the Accounting Standards Codification which serves to establish the hierarchy of generally accepted
accounting principles and codifies all the relative guidance. This guidance is effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual
periods ending after September 15, 2009. The Company has adopted the guidance and adjusted the footnote disclosures to incorporate the
references to the ASC Topics.

In April 2008, the FASB issued ASC Topic 350, Intangibles Goodwill and Other, which provides certain guidance related to the determination
of the useful life of intangible assets. The guidance amends the factors an entity should consider in developing renewal or extension assumptions
used in determining the useful life of recognized intangible. This new guidance applies prospectively to intangible assets that are acquired
individually or with a group of other assets in business combinations and asset acquisitions. The guidance is effective for financial statements
issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2008. This guidance may have an impact on the Company�s financial
statements to the extent that the Company acquires intangible assets either individually or with a group of other assets in a business combination.
However, the nature and magnitude of the impact will depend upon the nature of any intangibles the Company may acquire after the effective
date.

In December 2007, the FASB issued ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations, which provides certain guidance related to business combinations
which establishes principles and requirements for how the acquiror of a business recognizes and measures in its financial statements the
identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquire. The guidance also provides guidance for
recognizing and measuring goodwill acquired in a business combination and determines what information to disclose to enable
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users of the financial statement to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination. The guidance is effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The adoption of this standard had no impact on the Company�s financial
statements in or during 2009. The nature and magnitude of the impact will depend upon the nature, terms and size of any future acquisition the
Company may consummate.

2. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets are carried at cost, less accumulated amortization, as disclosed in the following tables (in thousands):

December 31, 2008 December 31, 2009
Gross

Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Existing technologies $ 27,200 $ (15,867) $ 11,333 $ 27,200 $ (21,307) $ 5,893
Customer contracts and lists 3,700 (2,158) 1,542 3,700 (2,898) 802
Purchase order backlog 1,700 (1,700) �  1,700 (1,700) �  

Total intangible assets $ 32,600 $ (19,725) $ 12,875 $ 32,600 $ (25,905) $ 6,695

Amortization expense was $6.2 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009. The Company expects amortization
expense on intangible assets to be $6.2 million for 2010 and $0.5 million in 2011.

Existing Technologies

Included in existing technologies is developed and core technology and patents. Developed technology consists of products that have reached
technological feasibility and includes products in most of OSI�s product lines, principally network technologies. Core technology and patents
represent a combination of OSI processes, patents and trade secrets developed through years of experience in design and development relating to
various network technologies. The Company intends to leverage this proprietary knowledge to develop new technology and improved products
and manufacturing processes. The Company determined the estimated useful life based on the estimated economic benefit of the asset, which
represents the period of time in which the acquired technology is expected to contribute to the future cash flows of the Company. The Company
determined an estimated life of five years based on the assumption that the acquired technology is expected to be replaced with new technology
approximately five years subsequent to the acquisition date. Due to uncertainties in the pattern of these future cash flows, the Company cannot
reliably determine the pattern of economic benefits in which existing technologies are realized. The Company is therefore amortizing the
developed and core technology and patents on a straight-line basis over an estimated useful life of five years.

Customer Contracts and Lists

Customer contracts and lists represent contractual customer relationships pertaining to the products and services provided by OSI and
agreements with various business partners, including any distribution arrangements. The Company determined the estimated useful life based on
the estimated economic benefit of the asset, which represents the period of time in which the acquired customer contracts and lists are expected
to contribute to the future cash flows of the Company. The acquired customer contracts and lists were assigned the same useful life as existing
technology, given that the acquired customer contracts would be at risk once the
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existing technology became obsolete after approximately five years. Due to uncertainties in the pattern of these future cash flows, the Company
cannot reliably determine the pattern of economic benefits in which customer contracts and lists are realized. The Company is therefore
amortizing the fair value of these assets on a straight-line basis over an estimated useful life of five years.

3. NET LOSS PER SHARE

Basic net loss per common share is calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of vested common shares outstanding during
the reporting period. Diluted net loss per common share is calculated by giving effect to all potential dilutive common shares, including options,
warrants, common stock subject to repurchase and convertible preferred stock.

Pro forma basic and diluted net loss per common share have been calculated to give effect to the conversion of the Company�s convertible
preferred stock (using the if-converted method) into common stock as though the conversion had occurred on the original dates of issuance.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share for the periods indicated (in thousands, except per share
data):

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2008 2009

Numerator:
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (25,955) $ (16,984) $ (26,188)

Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 4,155 4,167 4,040
Less: weighted-average common shares subject to repurchase (428) (192) �  

Weighted-average common shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per share 3,727 3,975 4,040

Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (6.96) $ (4.27) $ (6.48)

Year Ended
December 31,

2009
Numerator for pro forma calculation:
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (26,188)
Add: preferred stock dividends 3,747

Net loss attributable to common stockholders for pro forma calculation $ (22,441)

Denominator for pro forma calculation:
Weighted average common shares outstanding used to compute basic and diluted net loss per share 4,040
Pro forma adjustment to reflect assumed conversion of convertible preferred stock (unaudited) 24,951

Weighted average common shares outstanding used to compute pro forma basic and diluted net loss per share (unaudited) 28,991
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As the Company incurred net losses in the periods presented, the following table displays the Company�s other outstanding common stock
equivalents that were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share, as the effect of including them would have been antidilutive
(in thousands):

As of December 31,
2007 2008 2009

Common stock subject to repurchase 284 �  �  
Stock options 3,223 3,782 678
Restricted stock units �  �  4,537
Common stock warrants 11 11 11
Convertible preferred stock 19,973 20,420 28,044
Convertible preferred stock warrants 136 51 58

4. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2008 2009

Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash $ 2,372 $ 14,626
Money market funds 20,842 17,195

Total cash and cash equivalents 23,214 31,821
Marketable securities:
Corporate debt securities �  14,669
U.S. government sponsored entity bonds �  10,471
Commercial paper �  5,195
Certificates of deposit �  3,401
U.S. Treasury bills �  2,492

Total marketable securities �  36,228

Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 23,214 $ 68,049

The following tables summarize the unrealized gains and losses related to the Company�s investments in cash, cash equivalents and marketable
securities designated as available-for-sale as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2009
Amortized

Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Aggregate

Fair
Value

Corporate debt securities $ 14,677 $ 12 $ (20) $ 14,669
U.S. government sponsored entity bonds 10,480 �  (9) 10,471
Commercial paper 5,195 �  �  5,195
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Certificates of deposit 3,401 �  �  3,401
U.S. Treasury bills 2,492 �  �  2,492

Total $ 36,245 $ 12 $ (29) $ 36,228

Reported as:
Cash and cash equivalents $ �  $ �  $ �  $ �  

Marketable securities 36,245 12 (29) 36,228

Total $ 36,245 $ 12 $ (29) $ 36,228
Due within one year $ 26,450 $ 9 $ (8) $ 26,451
Due between one and two years 9,795 3 (21) 9,777

Total $ 36,245 $ 12 $ (29) $ 36,228
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The Company did not have unrealized gains and losses on its cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2008.

As of December 31, 2009 gross unrealized losses on the Company�s investments were due to changes in market conditions that caused interest
rates to fluctuate. The Company reviews investments held with unrealized losses to determine if the loss is other-than-temporary. The Company
determined that it has the ability and intent to hold these investments for a period of time sufficient for a forecast recovery of fair market value
and does not consider the investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired for all periods presented. In addition, the Company did not
experience any significant realized gains or losses on its investments through December 31, 2009. The Company�s money market funds
maintained a net asset value of $1.00 for all periods presented.

5. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

In accordance with ASC Topic 820 as adopted on January 1, 2008, the Company measures its cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities at
fair value. ASC Topic 820 clarifies that fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be
determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions,
ASC Topic 820 establishes a three-tier value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1 � Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 � Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or
similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model-driven valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are
observable in active markets.

Level 3 � Unobservable inputs to the valuation derived from fair valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value
drivers are unobservable.

The fair value hierarchy also requires the Company to maximize the use of observable inputs, when available, and to minimize the use of
unobservable inputs when determining inputs and determining fair value.

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the fair values of certain of the Company�s financial assets were determined using the following inputs (in
thousands):

Fair Value

Measurement
Using Input Type

TotalAs of December 31, 2009 Level 1 Level 2
Money market funds $ 17,195 $ �  $ 17,195
Marketable securities �  36,228 36,228

Total $ 17,195 $ 36,228 $ 53,423

As of December 31, 2008
Money market funds $ 20,842 $ �  $ 20,842

Edgar Filing: STEEL PARTNERS II L P - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 23



F-19

Edgar Filing: STEEL PARTNERS II L P - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 24



Table of Contents

CALIX, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

The Company�s valuation techniques used to measure the fair values of money market funds were derived from quoted market prices as active
markets for these instruments exist. Investments in marketable securities are held by a custodian who obtains investment prices from a
third-party pricing provider that uses standard inputs derived from or corroborated by observable market data, to models which vary by asset
class.

6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment, net, consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2008 2009

Computer equipment and purchased software $ 20,509 $ 21,756
Test equipment 18,728 22,134
Furniture and fixtures 991 1,208
Leasehold improvements 1,505 2,815

Total 41,733 47,913
Accumulated depreciation (31,793) (36,620)

Property and equipment, net $ 9,940 $ 11,293

7. PREFERRED STOCK WARRANT LIABILITIES

Significant terms and fair value of warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock are as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Preferred Stock Expiration Date Exercise Price

Shares as of
December 31,

Fair Value as of
December 31,

2008 2009 2008 2009
Series E February 27, 2011 $ 6.77 4 4 $ 23 $ 18
Series H Various dates between August 2, 2012 and August 6, 2014 $ 11.84 - $13.31 34 34 183 135
Series I September 4, 2017 $ 24.84 12 12 26 42

50 50 $ 232 $ 195

Those warrants that do not expire prior to the closing of an initial public offering will convert into warrants to purchase shares of common stock
at the applicable conversion rate for the related convertible preferred stock.

The Company estimated the fair value of these warrants at the respective balance sheet dates using the Black-Scholes option valuation model,
based on the estimated market value of the underlying convertible redeemable preferred stock at the valuation measurement date, the remaining
contractual term of the warrant, risk-free interest rates and expected dividends on and expected volatility of the price of the underlying
convertible preferred stock. These estimates, especially the market value of the underlying convertible preferred stock and the expected
volatility, are highly judgmental and could differ materially in the future.

The following table includes the assumptions used for the periods indicated:

Edgar Filing: STEEL PARTNERS II L P - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 25



Years Ended December 31,
2008 2009

Expected volatility 55-70% 50-70% 
Remaining contractual term (years) 0.1-9.5 years 1.16-8.5 years
Expected dividend yield 0.0-15.5% 0.0-17.5% 
Risk-free interest rate 0.32-3.99% 0.55-3.45% 
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8. BALANCE SHEET DETAILS

Accounts receivable, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2008 2009

Accounts receivable $ 34,621 $ 49,199
Allowance for doubtful accounts (943) (1,008)
Product return reserve (895) (1,199)

Accounts receivable, net $ 32,783 $ 46,992

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2008 2009

Accrued compensation and related benefits $ 5,701 $ 7,922
Accrued warranty 3,375 4,213
Accrued excess and obsolete inventory at contract manufacturer 1,642 1,054
Sales and use tax payable 749 631
Accrued professional and consulting fees 1,386 2,978
Accrued customer rebates 1,421 8,958
Other 2,073 2,873

Total accrued liabilities $ 16,347 $ 28,629

9. ACCRUED WARRANTY

The Company provides a warranty for its hardware products. Hardware generally has a five-year warranty from the date of shipment. The
Company accrues for potential warranty claims based on the Company�s historical claims experience. The adequacy of the accrual is reviewed on
a periodic basis and adjusted, if necessary, based on additional information as it becomes available.

Activity related to the product warranty is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31,

2008 2009
Balance at beginning of year $ 2,534 $ 3,375
Warranty costs charged to cost of revenue 4,514 5,147
Utilization of warranty (3,673) (4,309)

Total accrued warranty $ 3,375 $ 4,213
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10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Lease Commitments

The Company leases office space under non-cancelable operating leases. Certain of the Company�s operating leases contain renewal options and
rent acceleration clauses. Future minimum payments under the non-cancelable operating leases consisted of the following as of December 31,
2009 (in thousands):

2010 $ 1,718
2011 1,697
2012 1,736
2013 1,798
2014 271

Total $ 7,220

The Company leases its primary office space in Petaluma, California under a lease agreement that extends through February 2014. Rent expense
was $2.1 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009. The Company received a lease incentive consisting of $1.2
million in leasehold improvements provided by the lessor. The Company has capitalized the full amount of the lease incentive and will amortize
the cost of the improvements over the lease term. The value of the improvements is being amortized through rent expense over the lease term.
Payments under the Company�s operating leases that escalate over the term of the lease are recognized as rent expense on a straight-line basis.

Purchase Commitments

The Company does not have firm purchase commitments with its primary contract manufacturer. In order to reduce manufacturing lead times
and ensure adequate component supply, the contract manufacturer places orders for component inventory in advance based upon the Company�s
build forecasts. The components are used by the contract manufacturer to build the products included in the build forecasts. The Company does
not take ownership of the components and any outstanding orders do not represent firm purchase commitments pursuant to the Company�s
agreement with the contract manufacturer. The Company incurs a liability when the manufacturer has converted the component inventory to a
finished product and takes ownership of the inventory when transferred to the designated shipping warehouse. However, historically, the
Company has reimbursed its primary contract manufacturer for inventory purchases when this inventory has been rendered obsolete, for
example due to manufacturing and engineering change orders resulting from design changes, manufacturing discontinuation of parts by its
suppliers, or in cases where inventory levels greatly exceed projected demand. The estimated excess and obsolete inventory liabilities related to
such manufacturing and engineering change orders, which are included in accrued liabilities in the accompanying balance sheets, were $1.6
million and $1.1 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2009. The Company records these amounts in cost of products and services in its
statement of operations.

Litigation

The Company may be subject to various litigation matters arising in the ordinary course of business from time to time. However, the Company
is not aware of any currently pending legal matters or claims, individually or in the aggregate, that are expected to have a material adverse
impact on its financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
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Guarantees

The Company from time to time enters into certain types of contracts that contingently require it to indemnify various parties against claims
from third parties. These contracts primarily relate to (i) certain real estate leases, under which the Company may be required to indemnify
property owners for environmental and other liabilities, and other claims arising from the Company�s use of the applicable premises, (ii) certain
agreements with the Company�s officers, directors, and employees, under which the Company may be required to indemnify such persons for
liabilities arising out of their relationship with the Company, (iii) contracts under which the Company may be required to indemnify customers
against third-party claims that a Company product infringes a patent, copyright, or other intellectual property right and (iv) procurement or
license agreements, under which the Company may be required to indemnify licensors or vendors for certain claims that may be brought against
them arising from the Company�s acts or omissions with respect to the supplied products or technology.

Generally, a maximum obligation under these contracts is not explicitly stated. Because the obligated amounts associated with these types of
agreements are not explicitly stated, the overall maximum amount of the obligation cannot be reasonably estimated. Historically, the Company
has not been required to make payments under these obligations, and no liabilities have been recorded for these obligations in the Company�s
balance sheets.

11. LOANS PAYABLE

In January 2003, the Company entered into a loan agreement, as amended, with a stockholder and former member of the Company�s Board of
Directors. The loan accrued interest at 3.04% which was payable on a quarterly basis. The principal amount of the loan, plus any accrued
interest, was fully paid in January 2008.

In January 2004, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement, as amended, with a financial institution (the �lender�). The agreement
divided a borrowing base into two facilities: a $20.0 million revolving line of credit based upon a total of 80% of eligible accounts receivable,
with a subfacility that included amounts available under letters of credit and merchant card services, both managed within the formula-based
facility; and a $10.0 million non-formula term loan. In August 2008, the Company terminated this agreement and repaid the remaining balances
due under the term loan and revolving line.

In July 2008, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement, as amended, with an institutional investor for a term loan totaling $21.0
million. During 2008 and through January 2009, annual interest on the loan was calculated and payable as follows: 9.5% of the outstanding loan
amount, including unpaid interest, was accrued and payable on a quarterly basis; and 6.19% of the outstanding loan amount was accrued and
payable upon maturity on August 1, 2011. Effective February 2009, the interest rate of 6.19% was increased by 2.5% to 8.69%. The outstanding
principal, plus accrued interest was due on August 1, 2011. This loan and security agreement was secured by all assets of the Company,
including intellectual property and stipulated that the Company must comply with certain covenants and information reporting requirements. As
of December 31, 2008, the Company was in compliance with the covenants set forth in the loan and security agreement. Nonrefundable loan
fees in connection with this agreement were being amortized to interest expense over the term of the loan and security agreement. In August
2009, the Company terminated its existing loan and security agreement, as amended, with the institutional investor and repaid the outstanding
interest and principal due under the term loan.
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In August 2008, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement, as amended, with a financial institution, which provided for a
revolving credit facility of $20.0 million based upon a total of 80% of eligible accounts receivable. In August 2009, the Company entered into an
amended and restated loan and security agreement, or loan agreement, with the same financial institution, which provided for a term loan of
$20.0 million and a revolving credit facility of $30.0 million based upon a similar percentage of eligible accounts receivable. Included in the
revolving line are amounts available under letters of credit and cash management services. Nonrefundable loan fees in connection with this
agreement are being amortized to interest expense over the term of the loan and security agreement. As of December 31, 2009, $20.0 million
was outstanding under the term loan and there were no outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility. In addition, the Company had
outstanding letters of credit totaling $2.4 million as of December 31, 2009. The term loan as of December 31, 2009 bears interest at 7.75%,
which is set at 6-month LIBOR (with a floor of 1.25%) plus a 6.50% margin. The loan agreement is secured by all assets of the company,
including intellectual property. The agreement also allows the lender to call the note in the event there is a material adverse change in the
Company�s business or financial condition. As of December 31, 2009, and as of the date of issuance of these financial statements, the Company
was in compliance with the covenants and information reporting requirements set forth in the loan agreement.

The Company�s future principal payments under the outstanding term loan as of December 31, 2009 are as follows (in thousands):

2010 $ 3,333
2011 6,667
2012 6,666
2013 3,334

Minimum payments $ 20,000

12. CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

On June 22, 2007, the Company entered into a Series I Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, as amended (the �Series I Agreement�) with certain
investors. In connection with the Series I Agreement, the Company received $57.5 million in cash from the initial investors on June 22, 2007.
On August 15, 2007, prior to finalizing the terms of the Series I Agreement, the Company entered into a separate agreement with one of the
initial investors, whereby the Company agreed to repay $20.0 million, plus accrued interest, that was advanced to the Company in connection
with the Series I Agreement. On August 31, 2007, the terms of the Series I Agreement were finalized and, on September 4, 2007, the Company
issued a total of 1.5 million shares to the initial investors and 206,000 shares to new investors at $24.84 per share for total gross proceeds of
$42.6 million.

On May 29, 2009, the Company entered into a Series J Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, (the Series J Agreement) with certain investors.
The Company completed its Series J financing on August 5, 2009 and issued a total of 6.3 million shares for gross proceeds of $50.0 million.
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Convertible preferred stock consisted of the following (in thousands):

Aggregate
Liquidation
Preference

December 31,
2009

Series A, 61 shares authorized, issued and outstanding $ 11,436
Series B, 137 shares authorized, issued and outstanding 74,310
Series C, 87 shares authorized, issued and outstanding 57,996
Series D, 557 shares authorized, issued and outstanding 50,459
Series E, 7,385 shares authorized; 7,381 shares issued and outstanding 100,004
Series E-1, 1,175 shares authorized, issued and outstanding 1,990
Series G, 1,111 shares authorized, issued and outstanding 30,000
Series H, 3,468 shares authorized; 3,434 shares issued and outstanding 80,420
Series I, 3,770 shares authorized; 2,237 shares issued and outstanding 55,569
Series J, 8,089 shares authorized; 6,312 shares issued and outstanding 50,000

$ 512,184

Convertible preferred stock is issuable in series, and the Board of Directors is authorized to determine the rights, preference and terms of each
series.

Dividends

The holders of shares of the Company�s convertible preferred stock are entitled to receive dividends at the rate of $15.00, $43.50, $53.25, $7.50,
$0.54, $2.16, and $2.16 per annum on each outstanding share of Series A, Series B, Series C, Series D, Series E, Series G and Series H
convertible preferred stock (as adjusted for any stock dividends, combinations or splits with respect to such shares), payable in preference and
priority to any payment of dividend on common stock of the Company. Such dividends are payable when and if declared by the board of
directors, but only to the extent of funds legally available, and are noncumulative. In the event a dividend is paid on any share of common stock,
all preferred stockholders are entitled to a proportionate share of any such dividend as if they were holders of common stock (on an as if
converted to common stock basis). No dividends have been declared through December 31, 2009.

The holders of shares of the Company�s Series I are entitled to receive cumulative dividends at an annual rate of 5% of the original purchase
price per share, payable quarterly, at the Company�s option, in cash or in additional shares of Series I. Beginning in 2007 and prior to the
Company�s completion of an IPO: (a) the dividend rate increases by 0.5% each quarter, up to a maximum of 10%, and (b) the Company will
make a payment of 5% of the then-outstanding shares of Series I to each holder on June 30 of every year. The Company paid dividends to
Series I stockholders by issuing approximately 43,000 shares, approximately 205,000 shares and approximately 272,000 shares of Series I
preferred stock in 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively. These dividends totaled $1.0 million, $4.1 million and $3.7 million in 2007, 2008 and
2009, respectively. The value of the Series I shares was determined by the Company�s board of directors and considered numerous objective and
subjective factors to determine its best estimate of the fair value at each issuance date. These factors included, but were not limited to, the
following: (1) contemporaneous valuations of the Company�s preferred stock, (2) the rights and preferences of the Company�s preferred stock
relative to its common stock, (3) the lack of marketability of the Company�s preferred stock, (4) developments in the Company�s business,
(5) recent issuances of the Company�s preferred stock, and (6) the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an IPO, or sale of the
Company, given prevailing market conditions.
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Beginning on November 28, 2010 and prior to the completion of an IPO, the holders of the Company�s Series J will be entitled to receive
cumulative dividends at an annual rate of 10% of the original purchase price per share. The first payment will include the amount accrued over
the six months ending November 28, 2010 and subsequent dividends will be payable quarterly, at the Company�s option, in cash or in additional
shares of Series J. In addition the Company will make a payment of 5% of the then-outstanding shares of Series J to each holder on
November 28, 2010, and on each June 30 thereafter.

Liquidation

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, all assets of the Company
available for distribution among the holders of convertible preferred stock will be distributed in the following order: (1) each holder of shares of
Series I and Series J is entitled to a $24.84 and $7.92 per share distribution, respectively, prior to any distribution of the assets to the holders of
Series A through H and common stock; (2) each holder of shares of Series G and Series H is entitled to an $27.00 and $0.13485 per share
distribution, respectively, prior to any distribution to the holders of Series A through E-1 and common stock; (3) each holder of shares of Series
E and Series H is entitled to a $13.548 and $4.4985 per share distribution, prior to any distribution to the holders of Series A through E-1 and
common stock; (4) each holder of shares of Series A, B, C, D and H is entitled to $187.50, $544.6875, $663.00, $90.6225 and $8.7435 per share
distribution, respectively, prior to any distribution to the holders of Series E-1 and common stock; (5) each holder of shares of Series E-1 and
Series H is entitled to a $1.6935 and $0.090 per share distribution respectively, prior to any distribution to the holders of common stock and
(6) if assets are available for distribution subsequent to the distributions noted above, the holders of Series H will be entitled to an additional
amount equal to $30.0 million divided by the number of shares of Series H outstanding immediately prior to the consummation of a liquidation,
dissolution, or winding up of the Company, in each case, plus all declared and unpaid dividends on such series, if any. In no event will the
holders of Series H be entitled to receive an aggregate liquidation preference exceeding $81.8 million.

In the event that the assets available for distribution are insufficient to make the full per share distributions, all such assets will be distributed
among the holders of the respective series in proportion to the full preference to which such holders would otherwise be entitled. In the event the
assets available for distribution are in excess of the amount necessary to pay the above distributions in full, the remaining assets, if any, are to be
distributed among the holders of Series A, Series B, Series C, Series D, Series E, Series F, Series G, Series H, Series I and Series J preferred
stock and common stock pro rata, based on the number of shares of common stock held by each (assuming conversion of all such preferred
stock). No additional distribution shall be made to the holders of Series E-1 preferred stock.

A liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company shall be deemed to occur if the Company shall sell, convey, or otherwise dispose of all
or substantially all of its property or business or merge into or consolidate with any other corporation or other entity or effect any transaction or
series of related transactions in which more than 50% of the voting power of the Company is disposed of, provided that this clause does not
apply to a merger effected exclusively for the purpose of changing the domicile of the Company, or to an equity financing in which the
Company is the surviving corporation. As the redemption events described above could occur and are not solely within the Company�s control,
all shares of convertible preferred stock have been presented outside of permanent equity in accordance with ASC Topic 480. However, because
the timing of any such redemption event is uncertain, the Company has elected not to adjust the carrying values of its convertible preferred stock
to their respective liquidation values until it becomes probable that redemption will occur.
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Conversion

Each share of preferred stock is convertible, at the option of the holder, into fully paid and nonassessable shares of common stock at a rate of
6.419:1 for Series A, 8.747:1 for Series B, 9.055:1 for Series C, 4.481:1 for Series D, 1.026:1 for Series E and Series E-1, 1.153:1 for Series G
and H, and 1.27:1 for Series I and 1:1 for Series J. Additionally, conversion will occur immediately upon the closing of an IPO, which results in
aggregate cash proceeds of not less than $50.0 million, or upon the written consent of 66.66% of the outstanding shares of all series of preferred
stock. The conversion rates are subject to adjustment for future dilution and other events.

13. STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY (DEFICIT)

The Company maintained two equity incentive plans, the 2000 Stock Plan and the 2002 Stock Plan (together, the �Plans�), which allowed the
Company to grant stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units to employees, directors and consultants of the Company. Under the
terms of the Plans, the Company may grant incentive stock options at a price not less than 100% of the fair market value of the common stock on
the date of grant and non-statutory stock options at a price not less than 85%, or, with respect to the 2002 Stock Plan, 100%, of the fair market
value of the common stock on the date of grant. Additionally, options could be granted with the right to exercise those options before vesting.
Upon the exercise of an option prior to vesting, the optionee is required to enter into a restricted stock purchase agreement with the Company,
which provides that the Company has a right to repurchase any unvested shares at a repurchase price equal to the exercise price during the
90-day period following the termination of an individual�s service with the Company for any reason. In addition, the Company has a 30-day right
of first refusal if an optionee intends to sell shares acquired pursuant to options. Options granted under both Plans generally vest over four years
and expire ten years from the date of grant. Given the absence of a public trading market, the Company�s board of directors considered numerous
objective and subjective factors to determine the best estimate of the fair market value of its common stock at each meeting at which stock
option grants were approved. These factors included, but were not limited to, the following: contemporaneous valuations of common stock, the
rights and preferences of convertible preferred stock relative to common stock, the lack of marketability of common stock, developments in the
business, recent issuances of convertible preferred stock and the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an IPO, or sale of the
Company, given prevailing market conditions. These determinations of fair market value were used for purposes of determining the
Black-Scholes fair value of the Company�s stock option awards and related stock based compensation expense.

The following table summarizes the activity under the Company�s stock option plans (in thousands, except per share data):

Number of
Shares

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value(1)

Outstanding as of December 31, 2007 3,223 $ 18.00
Granted 2,934 15.47
Exercised (25) 2.76
Canceled (2,350) 22.94

Outstanding as of December 31, 2008 3,782 13.08 $ 3,950
Granted 595 6.15
Exercised (64) 0.95
Canceled (3,635) 13.44

Outstanding as of December 31, 2009 678 $ 6.15 $ 4,240
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Options outstanding that have vested and are expected to vest as of December 31, 2009 are as follows (in thousands, except year and per share
data):

Number of
Shares

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value(1)

Vested 513 $ 5.87 3.50 $ 3,795
Expected to vest 137 7.02 8.97 370

Total 650 $ 6.11 4.65 $ 4,165

(1) Amounts represent the difference between the exercise price and the fair market value of common stock as of December 31, 2009 for all in
the money options outstanding.

During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009, the total intrinsic value of stock options exercised was approximately $1.0 million,
$0.3 million, and $0.4 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2009 (in thousands, except year
and per share data):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices
Number

Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Contractual

Life
(years)

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price
Number

Exercisable

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price
$0.49 � $1.20 389 3.34 $ 0.72 389 $ 0.72
$1.50 � $5.24 59 4.81 3.20 53 3.02
$6.80 159 9.72 6.80 6 6.80
$6.95 � $66.75 71 6.22 21.12 65 21.78

678 5.28 $ 6.15 513 $ 5.87

The Company had 1.9 million exercisable options as of December 31, 2008.

Stock Options Repricing

In April 2008, the Company�s board of directors approved the reduction of the exercise price of employee stock options granted between
February 28, 2006 and December 31, 2007 having a per share exercise price of $19.56 or greater. Consequently, the Company repriced options
to purchase 2.0 million shares of common stock on April 22, 2008 to have a per share exercise price equal to $15.42, which represented the per
share fair market value of the Company�s common stock as of that date. These options have been included as grants during 2008 in the option
table above. In accordance with ASC Topic 718, the Company incurred a one-time stock compensation charge of $0.9 million on the
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incremental value of the vested repriced options. In addition, the Company will recognize an additional incremental value of $2.8 million related
to the unvested repriced options, which will be amortized over the remaining vesting period.

Stock Option Exchange

In July 2009, the Company�s board of directors approved a proposal to offer current employees and directors the opportunity to exchange eligible
stock options for restricted stock units, or RSUs, on a one-for-one
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basis. Each RSU granted in the option exchange entitles the holder to receive one share of the Company�s common stock if and when the RSU
vests. The vesting schedule for the RSUs is as follows: 50% of the RSUs will vest on the first day the trading window opens for employees that
is more than 180 days following the effective date of an initial public offering, or the First Vesting Date, and the remaining 50% of the RSUs
will vest on the first day the trading window opens for employees that is more than 180 days after the First Vesting Date, in each case subject to
the employee�s or director�s continuous service to the Company through the vesting date. However, the RSUs will vest with respect to 100% of
the then unvested RSUs immediately prior to the closing of a change in control, subject to the employee�s or director�s continuous service to the
Company through such date. The offer was made to eligible option holders on August 14, 2009 and terminated on September 14, 2009. Only
employees and directors who were providing services to the Company as of August 14, 2009 and continued to provide services through
September 14, 2009 were eligible to participate. Pursuant to the exchange, the Company subsequently canceled options for 3.4 million shares of
the Company�s common stock and issued an equivalent number of RSUs to eligible holders on September 23, 2009. In connection with the RSU
grants, the unrecognized compensation expense related to the exchanged options will be expensed over the remaining period of the original
vesting period of the options exchanged. The incremental cost due to the exchange will be deferred until a liquidity event and be recognized in
accordance with the vesting periods described above.

The fair value of the RSUs was calculated as follows (in thousands):

Unrecognized expense of exchanged options $ 16,809
Incremental cost:
Fair value of RSUs $ 23,295
Value of old options canceled in exchange (8,537) 14,758

Total fair value of RSUs granted under the exchange $ 31,567

The following table summarizes the Company�s restricted stock unit activity (in thousands, except per share data):

Number of
Shares

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value
Per Share

Balance at December 31, 2008 �  $ �  
Exchanged 3,428 6.80
Granted 1,120 9.54
Vested �  �  
Canceled (11) 6.80

Balance at December 31, 2009 4,537 $ 7.47

Restricted stock units granted during 2009 vest in four equal annual installments beginning on December 23, 2010, and are contingent upon the
occurrence of an IPO. The unrecognized compensation cost related to this grant of $10.6 million will be deferred until the occurrence of an IPO
and recognized in accordance with the vesting period described above. As of December 31, 2009 there was $39.9 million of total unrecognized
compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock units, net of estimated forfeitures.
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Shares Reserved for Issuance

As of December 31, 2009 the Company had common shares reserved for future issuance as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2009

Convertible preferred stock 28,044
Preferred stock warrants 58
Common stock warrants 11
Restricted stock units 4,537
Stock options:
Outstanding 678
Reserved for future issuance 735

Total 34,063

Stock Based Compensation

The Company estimates the fair value of stock options in accordance with ASC Topic 718 using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. This
model requires the use of the following assumptions: (i) expected volatility of the Company�s common stock, which is based on the Company�s
peer group in the industry in which the Company does business; (ii) expected life of the option award, which is calculates using the �simplified�
method provided in the Securities Exchange Commission�s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 110 and takes into consideration the grant�s contractual
life and vesting periods; (iii) expected dividend yield, which is assumed to be 0%, as the Company has not paid and does not anticipate paying
dividends on its common stock; and (iv) the risk-free interest, which is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant with
maturities equal to the grant�s expected life. In addition, ASC Topic 718 requires the Company to estimate the number of options that are
expected to vest. Thus, the Company applies an estimated forfeiture rate based on an analysis of its actual forfeitures and will continue to
evaluate the adequacy of the forfeiture rate based on actual forfeiture experience, analysis of employee turnover behavior, and other factors.
Further, to the extent the Company�s actual forfeiture rate is different from management�s estimate, stock-based compensation is adjusted
accordingly. In valuing share-based awards under ASC Topic 718, significant judgment is required in determining the expected volatility of the
Company�s common stock and the Company�s forfeiture rate. The following table presents the weighted average assumptions used to estimate the
fair values of the stock options granted in the periods presented:

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2008 2009

Expected volatility 51% 55% 62% 
Expected life (years) 6.25 6.25 6.25
Expected dividend yield �  �  �  
Risk free interest rate 4.77% 3.13% 2.38% 

The per share weighted average fair value of options granted was $14.25, $10.56 and $3.65 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and
2009. As of December 31, 2009 there was $0.6 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options, net of
estimated forfeitures. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average service period of 3.39 years. To the extent the actual
forfeiture rate is different than what the Company has anticipated, stock-based compensation related to these awards will be different from its
expectations.
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14. INCOME TAXES

The Company recorded a provision for income taxes of $0.1 million in 2007 and a benefit for income taxes of $0.1 million in 2008 and
$0.4 million in 2009. The benefit in 2008 and 2009 consisted of an �Accelerated Research Credit� of $0.2 million and $0.4 million, respectively,
partially offset by state income taxes in both years. The provision in 2007 consisted of state income taxes.

The significant components of the Company�s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2008 2009

Deferred tax assets:
Deferred revenue $ 5,665 $ 7,829
Accruals and reserves 4,567 4,499
Depreciation and amortization 1,269 1,428
Stock-based compensation 3,027 969
Net operating loss carryforwards 150,547 151,841
Tax credit carryforwards 14,017 13,714
Other 43 52

179,135 180,332
Deferred tax liability:
Intangible assets (4,994) (2,620)

Gross deferred taxes 174,141 177,712
Valuation allowance (174,141) (177,712)

Net deferred taxes $ �  $ �  

Management reviews the recognition of deferred tax assets to determine if realization of such assets is more likely than not. The realization of
the Company�s deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings. The Company has been in a cumulative loss position since inception which
represents a significant piece of negative evidence. Using the more likely than not criteria specified in the applicable accounting guidance, this
negative evidence cannot be overcome by positive evidence currently available to the Company and as a result the Company has established a
full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets. The Company�s valuation allowance increased by $2.9 million and $3.6 million in the
years ended December 31, 2008 and 2009. The valuation allowance in both 2008 and 2009 includes $0.1 million related to excess tax benefits of
stock option deductions prior to the adoption of ASC Topic 718. The benefits will increase additional paid-in capital when realized.

Since inception, the Company has incurred operating losses and, accordingly, has not recorded a provision for federal income taxes for any
periods presented. As of December 31, 2009, the Company had U.S. federal and state net operating losses of approximately $409.8 million and
$268.4 million. The U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in 2010 and through 2029 if not utilized.
The state net operating loss carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in 2010 and through 2029, if not utilized. In addition, as of
December 31, 2008 and 2009, the Company has $3.4 million in federal deductions and $1.9 million in state deductions related to excess tax
benefits from stock options which are not included in the net operating loss carryforward amounts in the table above since they have not met the
realization criteria of ASC Topic 718. The tax benefits from these deductions will increase additional paid-in capital when realized.
Additionally, the Company has U.S. federal and California research and development credits of approximately $12.1 million and $11.1 million
as of December 31, 2009. The U.S. federal research and development credits will begin to expire in 2020 and through 2029, and the California
research and development credits have no
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expiration date. Utilization of the Company�s net operating losses and credit carry-forwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due
to the ownership change limitations under the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions.

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted the guidance related to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes (ASC Topic 740-10). This topic
prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute to the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. The guidance also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, accounting in interim periods and
disclosure requirements for uncertain tax positions. The standard requires the Company to recognize the financial statement effects of an
uncertain tax position when it is more likely than not that such position will be sustained upon audit. The Company�s adoption of ASC Topic
740-10 did not result in a cumulative effect adjustment to accumulated deficit. Upon adoption the Company recorded a cumulative unrecognized
tax benefit of $9.3 million, which was netted against deferred tax assets with a full valuation allowance. In the event that any unrecognized tax
benefits are recognized, the effective tax rate will not be affected. The Company will recognize accrued interest and penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits as interest expense and income tax expense, respectively, in statements of operations.

The following table reconciles the Company�s unrecognized tax benefits for the year ended December 31, 2009 (in thousands):

Balance at January 1, 2009 $ 9,252
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (2,799)
Additions for tax positions related to the current year 517

Balance at December 31, 2009 $ 6,970

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal and various state and local jurisdictions. Tax years from 1995 forward remain open to
examination due to the carryover of net operating losses and tax credits.

15. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The FASB, in ASC Topic 280, has established standards for reporting information about operating segments. The guidance requires disclosures
of certain information regarding operating segments, products and services, geographic areas of operation and major customers. Segment
reporting is based upon the management approach, i.e. how management organizes the Company�s operating segments for which separate
financial information is (1) available, and (2) evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and
in assessing performance. The Company�s chief operating decision maker is the Company�s chief executive officer. The Company�s chief
executive officer reviews financial information presented on a Company wide basis, accompanied by disaggregated information about revenues
by geographic region for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance. The Company develops, markets and sells
communications access systems and software, and there are no segment managers who are held accountable for operations, operating results and
plans for levels or components below the Company unit level. Accordingly, the Company is considered to be in a single reporting segment and
operating unit structure. The Company�s operations and substantially all of its assets are located primarily in the United States and are not
allocated to any specific region. Therefore, geographic information is presented only for total revenue. The following is a summary of revenues
by geographic region based upon the location to which the product was shipped (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2008 2009

United States $ 181,974 $ 211,032 $ 212,967
Caribbean 8,253 36,387 18,410
Other 3,592 3,044 1,570

Edgar Filing: STEEL PARTNERS II L P - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 44



Total $ 193,819 $ 250,463 $ 232,947

F-32

Edgar Filing: STEEL PARTNERS II L P - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 45



Table of Contents

CALIX, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

16. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

The Company sponsors a 401(k) tax-deferred savings plan for all employees who meet certain eligibility requirements. Participants may
contribute, on a pre-tax basis, a percentage of their annual compensation, but not to exceed a maximum contribution amount pursuant to
Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company, at the discretion of the board of directors, may make additional matching
contributions on behalf of the participants. The Company made matching contributions totaling $0.3 million, $0.6 million and $0.6 million in
2007, 2008 and 2009.

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Reverse Stock Split

On March 2, 2010, the Board of Directors approved an amended and restated certificate of incorporation that will increase the authorized
common stock to 100 million shares and authorize 5 million shares of preferred stock immediately prior to the completion of this offering.

On March 21, 2010, the Board of Directors approved an amended and restated certificate of incorporation effecting a 2-for-3 reverse stock split
of its common stock and all convertible preferred stock. The par value and the authorized shares of the common and convertible preferred stock
were not adjusted as a result of the reverse stock split. All issued and outstanding common stock, convertible preferred stock, warrants for
common stock, warrants for preferred stock, and per share amounts contained in the financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to
reflect this reverse stock split for all periods presented. The reverse stock split was effected on March 23, 2010.

Adoption of New Equity Stock Award Plans

On March 2, 2010, the Board of Directors approved the 2010 Equity Incentive Award Plan and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan. A total of
5,666,666 shares of common stock were reserved for future issuance under these plans which will become effective upon the completion of this
offering.

On March 5, 2010, the Board of Directors approved an amendment to the amended and restated certificate of incorporation effecting the change
of the Company�s name from Calix Networks, Inc. to Calix, Inc. The name change was effected on March 23, 2010.
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CALIX, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands)

September 25,
2010

December 31,
2009

(unaudited)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 35,141 $ 31,821
Marketable securities 74,102 36,228
Restricted cash �  629
Accounts receivable, net 32,881 46,992
Inventory 24,920 18,556
Deferred cost of goods sold 10,427 16,468
Prepaids and other current assets 3,044 4,018

Total current assets 180,515 154,712
Property and equipment, net 11,524 11,293
Goodwill 65,576 65,576
Intangible assets, net 2,060 6,695
Other assets 2,391 2,840

Total assets $ 262,066 $ 241,116

Liabilities, convertible redeemable preferred stock and stockholders� deficit
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 8,785 $ 14,635
Accrued liabilities 25,966 28,629
Preferred stock warrant liabilities �  195
Current portion of loans payable �  3,333
Deferred revenue 18,662 29,921

Total current liabilities 53,413 76,713
Loan payable �  16,667
Long-term portion of deferred revenue 9,876 6,556
Other long-term liabilities 992 910

Total liabilities 64,281 100,846

Commitments and contingencies
Convertible preferred stock, $0.025 par value, issuable in series: no shares and 38,760 shares
authorized at September 25, 2010 and December 31, 2009; no shares and 22,492 shares issued and
outstanding at September 25, 2010 and December 31, 2009 �  479,628
Stockholders� equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $0.025 par value; 5,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding as of
September 25, 2010 and December 31, 2009 �  �  
Common stock, $0.025 par value; 100,000 shares authorized; 37,341 and 4,087 shares issued and
outstanding as of September 25, 2010 and December 31, 2009 933 102
Additional paid-in capital 607,669 52,739
Other comprehensive income (loss) 80 (17) 
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Accumulated deficit (410,897) (392,182) 

Total stockholders� equity (deficit) 197,785 (339,358) 

Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders� equity (deficit) $ 262,066 $ 241,116

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CALIX, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 25,

2010
September 26,

2009
September 25,

2010
September 26,

2009
Revenue $ 75,492 $ 59,600 $ 195,348 $ 144,588
Cost of revenue:
Products and services(1) 45,168 37,117 117,194 93,584
Amortization of existing technologies 1,360 1,360 4,080 4,080

Total cost of revenue 46,528 38,477 121,274 97,664

Gross profit 28,964 21,123 74,074 46,924
Operating expenses:
Research and development(1) 14,299 11,977 39,232 33,187
Sales and marketing(1) 10,408 8,494 29,014 23,691
General and administrative(1) 7,344 3,728 19,515 11,629
Acquisition-related costs 2,137 �  2,137 �  
Amortization of intangible assets 185 185 555 555

Total operating expenses 34,373 24,384 90,453 69,062

Loss from operations (5,409) (3,261) (16,379) (22,138) 
Other income (expense):
Interest income 120 38 297 144
Interest expense (45) (1,404) (1,138) (3,426) 
Change in fair value of preferred stock warrants �  (23) (173) 72
Other income 4 9 13 113

Loss before provision (benefit) for income taxes (5,330) (4,641) (17,380) (25,235) 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 21 (217) 435 51

Net loss (5,351) (4,424) (17,815) (25,286) 
Preferred stock dividends �  2,389 900 3,041

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (5,351) $ (6,813) $ (18,715) $ (28,327) 

Net loss per common share:
Basic and diluted $ (0.14) $ (1.69) $ (0.70) $ (7.03) 

Weighted average number of shares used to compute net loss
per share:
Basic and diluted 37,341 4,031 26,751 4,029
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(1)    Includes stock-based compensation as follows:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 25,

2010
September 26,

2009
September 25,

2010
September 26,

2009
Cost of revenue $ 528 $ 169 $ 1,152 $ 516
Research and development 1,758 621 4,014 1,969
Sales and marketing 1,353 410 3,034 1,287
General and administrative 3,855 1,040 9,282 2,918

$ 7,494 $ 2,240 $ 17,482 $ 6,690

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CALIX, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

Nine Months Ended
September 25,

2010
September 26,

2009
Operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 8,377 $ (6,346) 

Investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment (3,923) (3,486) 
Purchase of marketable securities (74,577) (6,295) 
Sales and maturities of marketable securities 36,060 �  

Net cash used in investing activities (42,440) (9,781) 

Financing activities
Proceeds from initial public offering of common stock, net of issuance costs 57,311 �  
Proceeds from loans �  20,000
Principal payments on loans (20,000) (21,000) 
Proceeds from issuance of Series J preferred stock �  49,537
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants and other 72 10
Repurchase of common and preferred stock �  (12) 

Net cash provided by financing activities 37,383 48,535

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,320 32,408
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 31,821 23,214

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 35,141 $ 55,622

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CALIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

1. Company and Basis of Presentation

Company

Calix, Inc. (the �Company�), which was incorporated in Delaware in August 1999, is a leading provider in North America of broadband
communications access systems and software for copper- and fiber-based network architectures that enable communications service providers to
connect to their residential and business subscribers.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements, including the accounts of Calix, Inc. and its wholly owned
subsidiaries, have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (�SEC�) for interim
reporting. As permitted under those rules, certain footnotes or other financial information that are normally required by U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (�GAAP�) can be condensed or omitted. In the opinion of management, the financial statements include all normal and
recurring adjustments that are considered necessary for the fair presentation of the Company�s financial position and operating results. All
significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The condensed consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2009 has been derived from the audited financial statements at that date.

The results of the Company�s operations can vary during each quarter of the year. Therefore, the results and trends in these interim financial
statements may not be the same as those for the full year or any future periods. The information included in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q
should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009, included in the Company�s Prospectus
filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the �Securities Act�) with the SEC on March 24, 2010 (the
�Prospectus�).

The Company operates on a 4-4-5 fiscal calendar which divides the year into four quarters with each quarter having 13 weeks which are grouped
into two 4-week months and one 5-week month. The Company�s fiscal year ends on December 31. The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with GAAP for interim financial reporting requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported
in the condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications

The Company has made certain reclassifications to prior period amounts in order to conform to the current period�s presentation.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Applicable Accounting Guidance

Any reference in these notes to applicable accounting guidance (�guidance�) is meant to refer to the authoritative nongovernmental U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles as found in the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) Accounting Standards Codification (�ASC�).
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CALIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(Unaudited)

Revenue Recognition

In October 2009, the FASB amended the accounting standards for revenue recognition to remove tangible products containing software
components and non-software components that function together to deliver the product�s essential functionality from the scope of
industry-specific software revenue recognition guidance. In October 2009, the FASB also amended the accounting standards for multiple
deliverable revenue arrangements to:

(i) provide updated guidance on whether multiple deliverables exist, how the deliverables in an arrangement should be separated, and
how the consideration should be allocated;

(ii) require an entity to allocate revenue in an arrangement using best estimate of selling prices (�BSP�) of deliverables if a vendor does not
have vendor-specific objective evidence of selling price (�VSOE�) or third-party evidence of selling price (�TPE�); and

(iii) eliminate the use of the residual method and require an entity to allocate revenue using the relative selling price method.
The Company elected to early adopt this accounting guidance at the beginning of its first quarter of fiscal 2010 on a prospective basis for
applicable transactions originating or materially modified after December 31, 2009. This guidance does not change the units of accounting for
the Company�s revenue transactions. The Company�s products and services qualify as separate units of accounting. Products are typically
considered delivered upon shipment and are deemed to be non-contingent deliverables. The Company provides certain services at stated prices
over a specified period of time and must meet specified performance conditions. As such, the Company has determined that its individual
services are contingent deliverables. In addition, the Company provides specified packages of items considered a package arrangement which it
also considers a contingent deliverable, and therefore the Company does not bill its customers until it has fully delivered the package. For
multiple-element arrangements that include products and packages or services, the Company first excludes the contingent revenue items and
then allocates the remaining consideration to the non-contingent product deliverables on the basis of their relative selling price, which is
currently BSP. To the extent that the stated contractual prices fall within the Company�s calculated range for BSP, it will allocate the
consideration using the stated contractual prices. However, if the stated contractual price for any product deliverable is outside the range, the
contractual prices will be adjusted using the midpoint price within its range in order to allocate arrangement consideration using the �relative
selling price method.� Since the individual products and services meet the criteria for separate units of accounting, the Company will recognize
revenue upon delivery of each product and/or services. Post-sales software support revenue and extended warranty services revenue is deferred
and recognized ratably over the period during which the services are to be performed. Installation and training service arrangements are
recognized upon delivery or completion of performance. These service arrangements are typically short term in nature and are largely completed
shortly after delivery of the product. Revenue from package arrangements are recognized upon full delivery of the package. In instances where
substantive acceptance provisions are specified in the customer agreement, revenue is deferred until all acceptance criteria have been met. The
Company�s arrangements generally do not include any provisions for cancellation, termination, or refunds that would significantly impact
recognized revenue.

The Company derives revenue primarily from the sales of its hardware products and related software. Shipping charges billed to customers are
included in revenue and the related shipping costs are included in cost of revenue. In certain cases, the Company�s products are sold along with
services, which include installation, training, post-sales software support and/or extended warranty services. Post-sales software support consists
of the Company�s management software, including rights, on a when-and-if available basis, to receive unspecified
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CALIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(Unaudited)

software product upgrades to either embedded software or the Company�s management software, maintenance releases and patches released
during the term of the support period and product support, which includes telephone and Internet access to technical support personnel. Extended
warranty services include the right to warranty coverage beyond the standard warranty period. From time to time, the Company offers customers
sales incentives, which include volume rebates and discounts. These amounts are accrued on a quarterly basis and recorded net of revenue.

Payment terms to customers generally range from net 30 to net 90 days. The Company assesses the ability to collect from its customers based
primarily on the creditworthiness and past payment history of the customer. Revenue arrangements that provide payment terms that extend
beyond the Company�s customary payment terms are considered extended payment terms. Occasionally, the Company offers extended payment
terms in a revenue arrangement. Through the date of this filing, the Company has not experienced any significant accounts receivable write-offs
related to revenue arrangements with extended payment terms. Customer arrangements with extended payment terms may also include
substantive acceptance criteria within the arrangement which, in accordance with the Company�s revenue recognition policy, would cause the
revenue in the arrangement to be deferred until all the acceptance criteria have been met. Extended payment terms may also indicate that the
customer is relying on a future event as a prerequisite for the payment, such as installation, a new software release or financing, which would
indicate that the fees associated with the arrangement are not fixed or determinable. Due to the unusual nature and uncertainty associated with
granting extended payment terms in customer arrangements, the Company defers revenue under these arrangements and recognizes the revenue
upon payment from the customer, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

The Company enters into arrangements with certain of its customers who receive government supported loans and grants from the U.S.
Department of Agriculture�s Rural Utility Service (�RUS�) to finance capital spending. Under the terms of an RUS equipment contract that
includes installation services, the customer does not take possession and control and title does not pass until formal acceptance is obtained from
the customer. Under this type of arrangement, the Company does not recognize revenue until it has received formal acceptance from the
customer. For RUS arrangements that do not involve installation services, the Company recognizes revenue in accordance with the revenue
recognition policy described above.

For transactions entered into prior to the first quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company primarily recognized revenue based on software revenue
recognition guidance prescribed in ASC Topic 985. As the Company is unable to establish VSOE for the Company�s products or installation
services, the entire fee from arrangements involving multiple product deliverables were deferred and recognized upon delivery of all products.
Revenue from products that were sold in combination with installation services was deferred and recognized upon delivery of all products and
completion of the installation. In most circumstances when the Company was not able to determine VSOE for all of the deliverables of the
arrangement, but was able to obtain VSOE for any undelivered elements, revenue was allocated using the residual method. Under the residual
method, the fair value of the undelivered elements was deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee was allocated to the delivered
items and recognized as revenue, and no revenue was recognized until all elements without VSOE had been delivered. If VSOE of any
undelivered items did not exist, revenue from the entire arrangement was initially deferred and recognized at the earlier of: (i) delivery of those
elements for which VSOE did not exist or (ii) when VSOE was established. Deferred revenue consisted of arrangements that had been partially
delivered, contracts with the RUS that include installation services, special customer arrangements and ratably recognized services.

Contrary to its product and installation service sales, the Company has been able to establish VSOE for its training, post-sales software support
and extended warranty services. Training courses are based on a daily rate
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CALIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(Unaudited)

per person and will vary according to the type of training class offered. Post-sales software support is offered for a one year term and the price is
based on the number of customer subscriber lines. Extended warranty pricing is based on the type of product and is sold in one or five year
durations. In substantially all of the arrangements with multiple deliverables pertaining to arrangements with these services, the Company has
used and intends to continue using VSOE to determine the selling price for each deliverable. Consistent with its methodology under previous
accounting guidance, the Company determines VSOE based on its normal pricing practices for these specific services when sold separately.

In most instances, the Company is not able to establish VSOE for all deliverables in an arrangement with multiple elements. This may be due to
the Company infrequently selling each element separately, not pricing products within a narrow range, or only having a limited sales history.
When VSOE cannot be established, the Company attempts to establish selling price of each element based on TPE. TPE is determined based on
competitor prices for similar deliverables when sold separately. Generally, the Company�s marketing strategy differs from that of its peers and its
offerings contain a significant level of customization and differentiation such that the comparable pricing of products with similar functionality
cannot be obtained. Furthermore, the Company is unable to reliably determine what similar competitor products� selling prices are on a
stand-alone basis. Therefore, the Company is typically not able to determine TPE.

When the Company is unable to establish selling price using VSOE or TPE, the Company uses BSP. The objective of BSP is to determine the
price at which the Company would transact a sale if the product or service were sold on a stand-alone basis. BSP is primarily used for all
products and installation services where the Company has historically not been able to establish VSOE of selling price.

The Company determines BSP for a product or service by considering multiple factors including, but not limited to, geographies, market
conditions, competitive landscape, internal costs, gross margin objectives, characteristics of targeted customers and pricing practices. The
determination of BSP is made through consultation with and formal approval by the Company�s management, taking into consideration the
go-to-market strategy.

The Company regularly reviews VSOE, TPE and BSP and maintains internal controls over the establishment and updates of these estimates.
There were no material impacts during the three and nine months ended September 25, 2010 nor does the Company expect a material impact in
the near term from changes in VSOE, TPE or BSP.

Revenue as reported and the Company�s estimate of the pro forma revenue that would have been reported during the three and nine months ended
September 25, 2010, if the transactions entered into or materially modified after December 31, 2009 were subject to previous accounting
guidance, are shown in the following table (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 25, 2010 Nine Months Ended September 25, 2010

As Reported

Pro Forma Basis
as if the
Previous
Accounting

Guidance Were
in Effect As Reported

Pro Forma Basis
as if the
Previous
Accounting

Guidance Were
in Effect

Revenue $ 75,492 $ 62,683 $ 195,348 $ 170,719
The new accounting standards for revenue recognition if applied in the same manner to the year ended December 31, 2009 would have resulted
in additional revenues of $10.3 million for that fiscal year. Agreements
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CALIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(Unaudited)

entered into prior to January 1, 2010 which previously had been accounted for under ASC Topic 985-605 but were materially modified
subsequent to January 1, 2010 and are now accounted for under ASC Topic 605-25 resulted in recognized revenue of $13.0 million for the three
and nine months ended September 25, 2010. In terms of the timing and pattern of revenue recognition, the new accounting guidance for revenue
recognition may have a significant effect on revenue in periods after the initial adoption as the Company continues to market its products in
multiple element arrangements.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of finished goods inventory purchased from the Company�s contract manufacturers, payroll and related
expenses associated with managing the contract manufacturers� relationships, depreciation of manufacturing test equipment, warranty costs,
excess and obsolete inventory costs, shipping charges and amortization of certain intangible assets.

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the applicable accounting guidance in ASC Topic 718 for share-based payment transactions.
Under the fair value recognition provisions of this guidance, stock-based awards, including stock options, are recorded at fair value as of the
grant date and recognized to expense over the employee�s requisite service period (generally the vesting period), which the Company has elected
to amortize on a straight-line basis. The Company adopted this guidance using the modified prospective transition method. Under that transition
method, compensation expense recognized beginning in 2006 includes: compensation expense for all share-based payments granted prior to, but
not yet vested as of December 31, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of the guidance,
and compensation expense for all share-based payments granted after December 31, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of this guidance. Such amounts have been reduced by the Company�s estimated forfeitures on all unvested
awards.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Marketable Securities

The Company has invested its excess cash primarily in money market funds and highly liquid debt instruments. The Company considers all
investments with maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Marketable securities represent highly liquid debt
instruments with maturities greater than 90 days at date of purchase. Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities are stated at amounts that
approximate fair value based on quoted market prices.

The Company�s investments have been classified and accounted for as available-for-sale. Such investments are recorded at fair value and
unrealized holding gains and losses are reported as a separate component of comprehensive loss in the statements of convertible preferred stock
and stockholders� deficit until realized. Should the Company determine that any unrealized losses on the investments are other-than-temporary,
the amount of that impairment to be recognized in earnings will depend on whether the Company intends to sell the security or more likely than
not will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis less any current period credit loss. The Company, to date, has
not determined that any of the unrealized losses on its investments are considered to be other-than-temporary. Realized gains and losses, which
have been immaterial to date, are determined on the specific identification method and are reflected in results of operations.
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CALIX, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(Unaudited)

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consisted of certificates of deposit totaling $0.6 million as of December 31, 2009. These certificates of deposit were purchased to
back performance bonds for the Company�s RUS-funded customer contracts. As of September 25, 2010, such certificates of deposit were no
longer required to back performance bonds for the Company�s RUS-funded customer contracts and therefore there are no restricted cash balances
at September 25, 2010.

Deferred Cost of Goods Sold

When the Company�s products have been delivered, but the product revenue associated with the arrangement has been deferred as a result of not
meeting the criteria for immediate revenue recognition, the Company also defers the related inventory costs for the delivered items until all
criteria are met for revenue recognition.

Warranty

The Company offers limited warranties for its hardware products for a period of one or five years, depending on the product type. The Company
recognizes estimated costs related to warranty activities as a component of cost of revenue upon product shipment. The estimates are based on
historical product failure rates and historical costs incurred in correcting product failures. The recorded amount is adjusted from time to time for
specifically identified warranty exposure. Actual warranty expenses are charged against the Company�s estimated warranty liability when
incurred. Factors that affect the Company�s warranty liability include the number of installed units and historical and anticipated rates of
warranty claims and cost per claim.

Preferred Stock Warrants

Prior to the Company�s initial public offering, warrants to purchase the Company�s convertible preferred stock were classified as liabilities on the
Company�s balance sheet. On March 26, 2010, the Company completed its initial public offering, at which time the liability was reclassified as a
component of stockholders� equity. The Company re-measured the fair value of these warrants at each balance sheet date and any changes in fair
value were recognized as a component of other income (expense) in the Company�s statements of operations.

The Company estimated the fair value of these warrants using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, which included the estimated fair
market value of the underlying preferred stock at the valuation measurement date, the remaining contractual term of the warrant, risk-free
interest rates, and expected dividends on and expected volatility of the price of the underlying preferred stock. In the Company�s initial public
offering, the remaining outstanding preferred stock warrants were automatically converted into warrants to purchase common stock. The
Company recorded expense of $0.2 million during the nine months ended September 25, 2010 to reflect changes in the estimated fair value of
the remaining outstanding warrants and the Company recorded income of $0.01 million during the three and nine months ended September 26,
2009. The Company recorded no expense related to preferred stock warrants in the three months ended September 25, 2010. Such preferred
stock warrants were converted to common stock warrants on March 26, 2010 in connection with the Company�s initial public offering and will
no longer require revaluation in future periods.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities of the Company�s wholly owned foreign subsidiaries are translated from their respective functional currencies at exchange
rates in effect at the balance sheet date, and revenues and expenses
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(Unaudited)

are translated at average exchanges rates prevailing during the day. Any material resulting translation adjustments are reflected as a separate
component of stockholders� equity. Realized foreign currency transaction gains and losses were not material during the three or nine months
ended September 25, 2010 and September 26, 2009.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-12, Income Taxes (ASC Topic 740): Accounting for Certain Tax Effects of the 2010 Health Care
Reform Acts. This ASU updates the FASB Accounting Standards CodificationTM for the SEC Staff Announcement, Accounting for the Health
Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 and the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act. This announcement provides guidance on
the accounting effect, if any, that arises from the different signing dates between the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, a
reconciliation bill that amends the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (collectively the �Acts�). Recently, questions have arisen about
whether and how the different signing dates will affect the accounting for these two Acts for that limited number of registrants with a period end
that falls between the two signing dates. The Company does not believe this will impact its financial statements at this time.

In January 2010, the FASB issued an update to ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, related to the disclosures for
transfers in and out of Levels 1 and 2 fair value measurements and the activity in Level 3 fair value measurements. The amendment recommends
a reporting entity should disclose separately the amounts of significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements and
describe the reasons for the transfers. Further, in the reconciliation for fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), a
reporting entity should present separately information about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements (that is, on a gross basis rather than as
one net number). Also, the amendment requires clarification in existing disclosures for disaggregation of fair value measurement disclosures for
each class of assets and liabilities and disclosures about inputs and valuation techniques. The effective date is for interim and annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements in the roll forward
activity in Level 3 fair value measurements. Those disclosures are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010, and for interim
periods within those fiscal years. The Company adopted all the amended provisions of ASC Topic 820 in the first quarter of 2010. There was no
impact from adoption of this amendment to ASC Topic 820 to the Company�s financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(Unaudited)

3. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities consist of the following (in thousands):

September 25,
2010

December 31,
2009

Cash and Cash equivalents:
Cash $ 13,807 $ 14,626
Money market funds 21,334 17,195

Total cash and cash equivalents 35,141 31,821
Marketable securities:
Corporate debt securities 36,316 14,669
U.S. government sponsored entity bonds & discount notes 19,049 10,471
Commercial paper 14,536 5,195
U.S. treasury bills 2,500 2,492
Certificates of deposit 1,701 3,401

Total marketable securities 74,102 36,228

Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 109,243 $ 68,049

The following tables summarize the unrealized gains and losses related to the Company�s investments in cash equivalents and marketable
securities designated as available-for-sale as follows (in thousands):

As of September 25, 2010
Amortized

Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Aggregate
Fair
Value

Corporate debt securities $ 36,246 $ 76 $ (6) $ 36,316
U.S. government sponsored entity bonds & discount notes 19,043 7 (1) 19,049
Commercial paper 14,536 �  �  14,536
U.S. treasury bills 2,499 1 �  2,500
Certificates of deposit 1,700 1 �  1,701

Total $ 74,024 $ 85 $ (7) $ 74,102

Due within one year $ 68,304 $ 75 $ (6) $ 68,373
Due between one and two years 5,720 10 (1) 5,729

Total $ 74,024 $ 85 $ (7) $ 74,102
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As of December 31, 2009
Amortized

Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Aggregate
Fair
Value

Corporate debt securities $ 14,677 $ 12 $ (20) $ 14,669
U.S. government sponsored entity bonds 10,480 �  (9) 10,471
Commercial paper 5,195 �  �  5,195
Certificates of deposit 3,401 �  �  3,401
U.S. treasury bills 2,492 �  �  2,492

Total $ 36,245 $ 12 $ (29) $ 36,228
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(Unaudited)

As of September 25, 2010 and December 31, 2009 gross unrealized gains and losses on the Company�s investments were due to changes in
market conditions that caused interest rates to fluctuate. The Company reviews investments held with unrealized losses to determine if the loss is
other-than-temporary. The Company determined that it has the ability and intent to hold these investments for a period of time sufficient for a
recovery of fair market value and does not consider the investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired for all periods presented. In addition,
the Company did not experience any significant realized gains or losses on its investments through September 25, 2010. The Company�s money
market funds maintained a net asset value of $1.00 for all periods presented. Net unrealized gains/losses are recorded to other comprehensive
income (loss) in the Company�s condensed consolidated balance sheets.

4. Balance Sheet Details

Accounts receivable, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

September 25,
2010

December 31,
2009

Accounts receivable $ 34,091 $ 49,199
Allowance for doubtful accounts (665) (1,008) 
Product return reserve (545) (1,199) 

Accounts receivable, net $ 32,881 $ 46,992

Property and equipment, net, consisted of the following (in thousands):

September 25,
2010

December 31,
2009

Computer equipment and purchased software $ 22,565 $ 21,647
Test equipment 27,074 24,335
Furnitures and fixtures 1,615 1,515
Leasehold improvements 2,859 2,808

Total 54,113 50,305
Accumulated depreciation (42,589) (39,012) 

Property and equipment, net $ 11,524 $ 11,293

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

September 25,
2010

December 31,
2009

Accrued compensation and related benefits $ 9,951 $ 7,922
Accrued warranty 4,232 4,213
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Accrued professional and consulting fees 3,315 2,978
Accrued customer rebates 3,303 8,958
Accrued excess and obsolete inventory at contract
manufacturer 896 1,054
Sales and use tax payable 790 631
Other 3,479 2,873

Total accrued liabilities $ 25,966 $ 28,629
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

(Unaudited)

5. Contingencies

Accrued Warranty

The Company provides a warranty for its hardware products. Hardware generally has a five-year warranty from the date of shipment. The
Company accrues for potential warranty claims based on the Company�s historical claims experience. The adequacy of the accrual is reviewed on
a periodic basis and adjusted, if necessary, based on additional information as it becomes available.

Activity related to the product warranty is as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 25,

2010
September 26,

2009
September 25,

2010
September 26,

2009
Balance at beginning of period $ 4,491 $ 2,864 $ 4,213 $ 3,375
Warranty charged to cost of revenue 794 1,239 3,334 3,022
Utilization of warranty (1,053) (1,117) (3,315) (3,411) 

Total accrued warranty $ 4,232 $ 2,986 $ 4,232 $ 2,986

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, the Company is involved in various legal proceedings arising from the normal course of business activities. The Company
not presently a party to any legal proceedings which, if determined adverse to the Company, would individually or in the aggregate have a
material adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

6. Fair Value Measurements

In accordance with ASC Topic 820 as adopted on January 1, 2008, the Company measures its cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities at
fair value. ASC Topic 820 clarifies that fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be
determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions,
ASC Topic 820 establishes a three-tier value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1 � Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 � Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or
similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model-driven valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are
observable in active markets.

Level 3 � Unobservable inputs to the valuation derived from fair valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value
drivers are unobservable. The fair value hierarchy also requires the Company to maximize the use of observable inputs, when available, and to
minimize the use of unobservable inputs when determining inputs and determining fair value.
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(Unaudited)

As of September 25, 2010 and December 31, 2009, the fair values of certain of the Company�s financial assets were determined using the
following inputs (in thousands):

As of September 25, 2010 Level 1 Level 2 Total
Money market funds $ 21,334 $ �  $ 21,334
Marketable securities �  74,102 74,102

Total $ 21,334 $ 74,102 $ 95,436

As of December 31, 2009
Money market funds $ 17,195 $ �  $ 17,195
Marketable securities �  36,228 36,228

Total $ 17,195 $ 36,228 $ 53,423

The Company�s valuation techniques used to measure the fair values of money market funds were derived from quoted market prices as active
markets for these instruments exist. Investments in marketable securities are held by a custodian who obtains investment prices from a
third-party pricing provider that uses standard inputs derived from or corroborated by observable market data, to models which vary by asset
class.

7. Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per common share is calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of vested common shares outstanding during
the reporting period. Diluted net loss per common share is calculated by giving effect to all potential dilutive common shares, including options,
warrants, common stock subject to repurchase and convertible preferred stock.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share for the periods indicated (in thousands, except per share
data):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 25,

2010
September 26,

2009
September 25,

2010
September 26,

2009
Numerator:
Net loss applicable to common stockholders $ (5,351) $ (6,813) $ (18,715) $ (28,327) 

Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 37,341 4,031 26,751 4,029

Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.14) $ (1.69) $ (0.70) $ (7.03) 
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(Unaudited)

As the Company incurred net losses in the periods presented, the following table displays the Company�s other outstanding common stock
equivalents that were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share, as the effect of including them would have been anti-dilutive
(in thousands):

Nine Months Ended
September 25,

2010
September 26,

2009
Stock options 775 593
Restricted stock units 5,395 3,428
Common stock warrants 65 11
Convertible preferred stock 9,371 27,979
Convertible preferred stock warrants �  58

8. Loans Payable

In August 2009, the Company entered into an amended and restated loan and security agreement, or loan agreement, with Silicon Valley Bank,
which provided for a term loan of $20.0 million and a revolving credit facility of $30.0 million based upon a total of 80% of eligible accounts
receivable. Included in the revolving line are amounts available under letters of credit and cash management services. Nonrefundable loan fees
in connection with this agreement were amortized to interest expense over the term of the loan and security agreement. As of December 31,
2009, $20.0 million was outstanding under the term loan and there were no outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility. In
addition, the Company had outstanding letters of credit totaling $2.4 million as of December 31, 2009. The term loan as of December 31, 2009
bore interest at 7.75%, which was set at 6-month LIBOR (with a floor of 1.25%) plus a 6.50% margin. The loan agreement was secured by all
assets of the Company, including intellectual property. On May 4, 2010, the Company paid in its entirety the outstanding loan payable with
Silicon Valley Bank of $20.0 million including outstanding accrued interest and prepayment penalties of $0.4 million. As of September 25,
2010, there were no outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility. The Company had outstanding letters of credit totaling $2.9
million as of September 25, 2010.

9. Stockholders� Equity (Deficit)

Capital Structure

On March 2, 2010, the Company�s board of directors approved an amended and restated certificate of incorporation that increased the authorized
common stock to 100 million shares and the authorized preferred stock to 5 million shares effective immediately prior to the completion of the
Company�s initial public offering on March 26, 2010.

On March 21, 2010, the Company�s board of directors approved an amended and restated certificate of incorporation effecting a 2-for-3 reverse
stock split of its common stock and all convertible preferred stock. The par value and the authorized shares of the common stock and convertible
preferred stock were not adjusted as a result of the reverse stock split. All issued and outstanding common stock, convertible preferred stock,
warrants for common stock, warrants for preferred stock, and per share amounts contained in the financial statements have been retroactively
adjusted to reflect this reverse stock split for all periods presented. The reverse stock split was effected on March 23, 2010.

On March 26, 2010, the Company completed its initial public offering in which 4,166,666 shares of common stock were sold by the Company
and 2,162,266 shares of common stock were sold by existing
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(Unaudited)

stockholders at a public offering price of $13.00 per share. Gross proceeds of $54.2 million from the sale of 4,166,666 shares of common stock
by the Company were reduced by issuance costs of $4.6 million and underwriters fees of $3.8 million.

On April 8, 2010, the Company issued and sold 949,339 shares of common stock resulting from the exercise of the underwriters� option to
purchase common shares associated with the Company�s initial public offering. This sale resulted in gross proceeds of $12.3 million based on an
initial public offering price of $13.00 per share of common stock. Proceeds to the Company were $11.5 million which were net of underwriters�
discount and offering expenses payable by the Company of approximately $0.8 million.

Preferred Stock

The board of directors has the authority, without action by its stockholders with the exception of stockholders who hold board positions, to
designate and issue up to 5 million shares of preferred stock in one or more series and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions
thereof. These rights, preferences and privileges could include dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, liquidation
preferences, sinking fund terms and the number of shares constituting any series or the designation of such series, any or all of which may be
greater than the rights of common stock. The issuance of the Company�s preferred stock could adversely affect the voting power of holders of
common stock and the likelihood that such holders will receive dividend payments and payments upon liquidation. In addition, the issuance of
preferred stock could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of the Company or other corporate action.
Subsequent to the Company�s initial public offering and the conversion of all preferred stock outstanding at that date, the board of directors has
not designated any rights, preference or powers of any preferred stock and no shares of preferred stock have been issued

Adoption of Equity Stock Award Plans

On March 2, 2010, the Company�s Board of Directors approved the 2010 Equity Incentive Award Plan and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan. A
total of 5,666,666 shares of common stock were reserved for future issuance under these plans which became effective upon the completion of
the Company�s initial public offering of common stock. In addition, shares of common stock previously available for issuance under the
Company�s Amended and Restated 2002 Stock Plan became available for issuance under the 2010 Plan effective upon completion of the
Company�s initial public offering of common stock.

Stock Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense associated with stock options and restricted stock units (�RSUs�) is measured at the grant date, based on the
fair value of the award, and is recognized as expense over the remaining requisite service period. Total stock-based compensation expense of
$7.5 million and $2.2 million was recorded during the three months ended September 25, 2010 and September 26, 2009, respectively, and $17.5
million and $6.7 million was recorded during the nine months ended September 25, 2010 and September 26, 2009, respectively.
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Stock Options

The Company estimates the fair value of stock options in accordance with ASC Topic 718. The fair value of each option grant is estimated at the
grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 25,

2010
September 26,

2009
September 25,

2010
September 26,

2009
Expected volatility 60% 60% 51% 64% 
Expected life (years) 6.25 6.25 6.25 6.25
Expected dividend yield �  �  �  �  
Risk free interest rate 1.91% 2.71% 2.60% 2.35% 

The Company�s computation of expected volatility for the three and nine months ended September 25, 2010 and September 26, 2009 is based on
the Company�s peer-group of similar companies. The Company�s computation of expected term in the three and nine months ended September 25,
2010 and September 26, 2009 utilizes the simplified method in accordance with SAB 110. The risk-free interest rate for periods within the
contractual life of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant with maturities equal to the grant�s expected
life. In addition, ASC Topic 718 requires the Company to estimate the number of options that are expected to vest. Thus, the Company applies
an estimated forfeiture rate based on actual forfeiture experience. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense for the fair
values of these awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of each of these awards.

As of September 25, 2010, unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to stock options of $1.4 million was expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.0 years.

Restricted Stock Units

In September 2009, the Company began to grant RSUs to eligible employees, executives and outside directors. Each RSU represents a right to
receive one share of the Company�s common stock (subject to adjustment for certain specified changes in the capital structure of the Company)
upon the completion of a specific period of continued service.

The Company values the RSUs at fair value or the market price of the Company�s common stock on the date of grant. The Company recognizes
non-cash compensation expense for the fair values of these RSUs on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of these awards.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of RSUs granted during the nine months ended September 25, 2010 was $10.84 per share. As of
September 25, 2010, unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to non-vested RSUs of $29.2 million was expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.3 years. Stock-based non-cash compensation expense increased in the second quarter of 2010
compared to prior quarters as the result of employee stock options exchanged for RSUs in the third quarter of 2009 which began amortizing
upon our initial public offering in March 2010 and will amortize through April 2011.

10. Income Taxes

The Company�s provision for income taxes is based on an estimated annual effective tax rate in compliance with ASC Topic 740, Accounting for
Income Taxes and ASC Topic 270, Interim Financial Reporting. Significant
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(Unaudited)

components affecting the tax rate include various state and alternative minimum taxes and the utilization of losses carried forward.

ASC Topic 740, Accounting for Income Taxes provides for the recognition of deferred tax assets if realization of such assets is more likely than
not. The Company has established and continues to maintain a full valuation allowance against the Company�s deferred tax assets as the
Company does not believe that realization of those assets is more likely than not.

11. Acquisition

On September 16, 2010, the Company, Occam Networks, Inc., a Delaware corporation (�Occam�), Ocean Sub I, Inc., a Delaware corporation and
a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of Calix (�Merger Sub One�), and Ocean Sub II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a direct,
wholly-owned subsidiary of Calix (�Merger Sub Two� and together with Merger Sub One, the �Merger Subs�) entered into an Agreement and Plan
of Merger and Reorganization (the �Merger Agreement�). The Merger Agreement provides for the acquisition of Occam by the Company by
means of a series of mergers involving the Merger Subs (the �Transaction�). As a result of the Transaction, Occam would become a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. At the effective time of the first merger, each outstanding share of Occam common stock (other than those shares
with respect to which appraisal rights are available, properly exercised and not withdrawn) will be converted into the right to receive (a) $3.8337
per share in cash plus (b) 0.2925 of a validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable share of the Company�s common stock.

The Merger Agreement has been approved by the boards of directors of Occam and the Company. The parties expect to complete the
Transaction in the first quarter of 2011, subject to Occam stockholder approval and customary closing conditions, including receipt of required
regulatory clearances. Calix and Occam were granted early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act effective November 16, 2010.
The Company incurred $2.1 million in acquisition related costs during the three and nine months ended September 25, 2010.

12. Subsequent Events

Effective December 7, 2010, the board of directors of the Company appointed Michael Matthews as a member of the board of directors, filling
an existing vacancy. On December 7, 2010, Michael Marks resigned as a member of the board of directors effective as of December 7, 2010.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders

Occam Networks, Inc. and Subsidiary

Santa Barbara, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Occam Networks, Inc. and subsidiary (collectively, the �Company�) as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders� equity, and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2009. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company�s management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position Occam
Networks, Inc. and subsidiary as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2009, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Occam
Networks, Inc. and subsidiary�s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on criteria established in Internal
Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated
February 23, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of Occam Network, Inc. and subsidiary�s internal control over financial
reporting.

/s/ SingerLewak LLP

San Jose, California

February 23, 2010
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OCCAM NETWORKS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share data)

December 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 39,268 $ 30,368
Restricted cash 5,721 13,771
Accounts receivable, net 14,874 17,391
Inventories 12,927 16,761
Prepaid and other current assets 1,426 3,290

Total current assets 74,216 81,581
Property and equipment, net 8,699 10,834
Intangibles, net 156 251
Other assets 91 68

Total assets $ 83,162 $ 92,734

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 8,274 $ 6,911
Accrued expenses 6,999 8,687
Deferred revenue 13,035 17,612
Deferred rent 361 394
Capital lease obligations 26 24

Total current liabilities 28,695 33,628
Deferred rent, net of current portion 1,597 1,892
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion 20 43

Total liabilities 30,312 35,563
Commitments and contingencies (note 13)
Stockholders� equity:
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 250,000,000 shares authorized; 20,669,089 and 20,268,488 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively 289 289
Additional paid-in capital 188,013 183,409
Accumulated deficit (135,452) (126,527) 

Total stockholders� equity 52,850 57,171

Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 83,162 $ 92,734

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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OCCAM NETWORKS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended
December 31,

2009
December 31,

2008
December 31,

2007
Revenue $ 84,046 $ 99,268 $ 75,149
Cost of revenue 50,019 56,877 46,137

Gross margin 34,027 42,391 29,012
Operating expenses:
Research and product-development 16,091 18,964 13,321
Sales and marketing 17,588 19,855 14,650
General and administrative 7,940 10,812 11,823
Restructuring charges 213 �  �  
Loss on legal settlement 1,700 �  �  
In-process research and development �  �  2,180

Total operating expenses 43,532 49,631 41,974

Loss from operations (9,505) (7,240) (12,962) 
Other income (expense), net 147 (342) �  
Interest income, net 227 1,120 2,632

Loss before provision for (benefit from) income taxes (9,131) (6,462) (10,330) 
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes (206) 256 56

Net loss (8,925) (6,718) (10,386) 

Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.44) $ (0.34) $ (0.53) 

Shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per share 20,259 19,874 19,760
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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OCCAM NETWORKS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY

(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009

Common Stock

Warrants

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit TotalShares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2006 19,713 $ 288 $ 331 $ 176,947 $ (109,423) $ 68,143
Stock-based compensation �  �  �  2,091 �  2,091
Issuance costs �  �  �  (75) �  (75) 
Exercise of stock options 40 1 �  230 �  231
Stocks issued under the employee stock purchase plan 21 �  �  245 �  245
Tax benefit from stock option activity �  �  �  17 �  17
Net loss �  �  �  �  (10,386) (10,386) 

Balance at December 31, 2007 19,774 $ 289 $ 331 $ 179,455 $ (119,809) $ 60,266

Stock-based compensation �  �  �  3,047 �  3,047
Exercise of stock options 20 �  �  69 �  69
Stocks issued under the employee stock purchase plan 170 �  �  587 �  587
Restricted stock units issued 61 �  �  (85) �  (85) 
Restricted stock issued 244 �  �  �  �  �  
Tax benefit from stock option activity �  �  �  5 �  5
Expiration of Warrants �  �  (331) 331 �  �  
Net loss �  �  �  �  (6,718) (6,718) 

Balance at December 31, 2008 20,269 $ 289 $ �  $ 183,409 $ (126,527) $ 57,171

Stock-based compensation �  �  �  4,028 �  4,028
Exercise of stock options 49 �  �  165 �  165
Stocks issued under the employee stock purchase plan 204 �  �  571 �  571
Restricted stock units issued 73 �  �  (147) �  (147) 
Restricted stock issued 74 �  �  �  �  �  
Tax benefit (expense) from stock option activity �  �  �  (13) �  (13) 
Net loss �  �  �  �  (8,925) (8,925) 

Balance at December 31, 2009 20,669 $ 289 $ �  $ 188,013 $ (135,452) $ 52,850

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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OCCAM NETWORKS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Year Ended
December 31,

2009
December 31,

2008
December 31,

2007
Operating activities
Net income (loss) $ (8,925) $ (6,718) $ (10,386) 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities:
Stock-based compensation 4,028 3,047 2,091
Acquired in-process research and development �  �  2,180
Depreciation and amortization 3,304 3,191 1,866
Impairment of intangibles �  981 �  
Accounts receivable reserves (99) (33) �  
Inventory reserves 312 (405) 325
Loss from disposal of property and equipment �  26 �  
Rent expense reduction from lease incentive �  �  (208) 
Tax benefit (expense) from exercise of stock options (13) 5 17
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 2,616 2,354 (3,778) 
Inventories 3,522 (3,179) (1,784) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,841 (1,167) (924) 
Accounts payable 1,363 (3,224) 2,448
Accrued expenses (1,688) 2,223 2,442
Deferred revenue (4,577) 299 4,391
Deferred rent (328) 750 141

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 1,356 (1,850) (1,179) 
Investing activities
Purchase of technologies and assets, net of cash acquired and liabilities assumed �  �  (5,192) 
Proceeds from operating lease incentive �  �  1,586
Purchases of property and equipment (1,074) (5,040) (8,452) 
Restricted cash 8,050 (668) (8,725) 
Intangibles and other assets �  (285) (85) 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 6,976 (5,993) (20,868) 
Financing activities
Proceeds from capital lease financing �  7 73
Payments of capital lease obligations (21) (4) (9) 
Proceeds (payments) from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs �  �  (75) 
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan 571 587 245
Payment of payroll taxes for vested restricted stock units (147) (85) �  
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 165 69 231

Net cash provided by financing activities 568 574 465
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent 8,900 (7,269) (21,582) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period $ 30,368 $ 37,637 $ 59,219

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 39,268 $ 30,368 $ 37,637
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Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Income taxes paid 202 40 267

Interest paid 5 62 4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note 1. Organization, Business and Basis of Presentation

Occam Networks, Inc. (�Occam,� the �Company,� �we� or �us�) develops markets and supports innovative broadband access products designed to
enable telecom service providers to offer bundled voice, video and high speed internet, or Triple Play, services over both copper and fiber optic
networks. The Company�s core product line is the Broadband Loop Carrier (BLC), an integrated hardware and software platform that uses
Internet Protocol (IP) and Ethernet technologies to increase the capacity of local access networks, enabling the delivery of advanced Triple Play
services. The Company also offers a family of Optical Network Terminals (ONTs) for fiber optic networks, remote terminal cabinets, and
professional services.

The Company is the successor corporation of the May 2002 merger of Occam Networks, Inc., a private California corporation, with Accelerated
Networks, Inc., a publicly-traded Delaware corporation. Occam Networks was incorporated in California in July 1999. Accelerated Networks
was incorporated in California in October 1996 under the name �Accelerated Networks, Inc.� and was reincorporated in Delaware in June 2000.
The May 2002 merger of these two entities was structured as a reverse merger transaction in which Accelerated Networks succeeded to the
business and assets of Occam Networks. In connection with the merger, Accelerated Networks changed its name to Occam Networks, Inc., a
Delaware corporation. Unless the context otherwise requires, references to �Occam Networks,� �Occam� or the �Company� refer to Occam
Networks, Inc. as a Delaware corporation and include the predecessor businesses of Occam, the California corporation, and Accelerated
Networks. As required by applicable accounting rules, financial statements, data, and information for periods prior to May 2002 are those of
Occam, the California corporation. Occam, as a predecessor business or corporation, is sometimes referred to as �Occam CA.�

On February 23, 2006, the Company announced a 1-for-40 reverse stock split which was previously authorized at its annual meeting of
stockholders held on June 21, 2005. The record date for the reverse split was March 10, 2006, and Occam began trading on the NASD Electronic
Bulletin Board (OTCBB) on a split-adjusted basis on Monday, March 13, 2006 under the new symbol �OCNW.� As a result of the reverse split,
the conversion ratio of Series A-2 preferred stock was proportionately adjusted, decreasing the number of shares of common stock issuable upon
conversion of each share of Series A-2 preferred stock from approximately 90.91 shares of common stock to 2.27273 shares of common stock.
The share information in the accompanying financial statements has been retroactively restated to give effect to the reverse stock split.

In October 2007, the Company purchased certain assets of Terawave Communications, Inc. and assumed certain liabilities for $5.3 million. The
transaction was recorded as an asset purchase. The significant items purchased were in-process research and development, intellectual property
and current assets.

The Company has evaluated the financial statements for subsequent events through the date of this proxy statement/prospectus.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fiscal Period End through December 31, 2006�Through the end of fiscal 2006, Occam reported its financial results based with each fiscal year
and quarter ending on the last Sunday of the applicable calendar year and quarter. Beginning on January 1, 2007, Occam adopted a fiscal
reporting schedule based on calendar period ends. Accordingly, the actual period end dates for 2005 and 2006 were December 25 and
December 31, respectively.

Reclassification�Certain reclassifications have been made to our prior year balances in order to conform to the current year presentation.
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Use of Estimates�The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and
the accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates and such differences may be material to the consolidated financial
statements.

Cash Equivalents�Cash equivalents consist of investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase. Due to the
short-term nature of these investments, the carrying amounts of cash equivalents reported in the consolidated balance sheet approximate their
fair value.

Restricted Cash�At December 31, 2009, restricted cash consisted of $5.7 million, most of which is related to performance bonds required for
RUS funded contracts.

Financial Instruments�Due to their short-term nature and a relatively stable interest rate environment the carrying values of financial
instruments, which include accounts receivable, inventories, accounts payable, deferred sales and accrued expenses approximate fair values at
December 31, 2009 and 2008. The carrying value of notes payable approximates fair value as they bear interest commensurate with their risk.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts�Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear
interest. Provisions for doubtful accounts are recorded in general and administrative expenses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on
the best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in existing accounts receivable. The allowance for doubtful accounts is determined
based on historical write-off experience, current customer information and other relevant data. Occam reviews the allowance for doubtful
accounts regularly. Account balances are charged off against the allowance when management believes it is probable the receivable will not be
recovered. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the allowance for doubtful accounts were $23,000 and $122,000, respectively.

Inventories�Inventories are goods held for sale in the normal course of business. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or
market. The inventory balance is segregated between raw materials, work in process (�WIP�) and finished goods. Raw materials are low level
components, many of which are purchased from vendors, WIP is partially assembled products and finished goods are products that are ready to
be shipped to end customers. Consideration is given to inventory shipped and received near the end of a period and the transaction is recorded
when transfer of title occurs. Management regularly evaluates inventory for obsolescence and adjusts to net realizable value based on inventory
that is obsolete or in excess of current demand.

Property and Equipment�Property and equipment are stated at cost. Expenditures for additions and major improvements are capitalized;
maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation of property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, generally three to five years for furniture and fixtures, two to three years for computer hardware and two to
five years for software. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the remaining useful economic life. Upon
retirement or sale, the cost of assets disposed of and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain
or loss is credited or charged to income.

Long-Lived Assets�The Company reviews for the impairment of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when estimated future cash flows expected to
result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition is less than its carrying amount. The Company identified no such impairment losses
as of December 31, 2009.
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Intangibles�Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment annually or when events or
circumstances indicate that impairment may have occurred. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their estimated finite
lives, and reviewed for impairment in accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 360, �Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.� The Company identified no such impairment losses as of December 31, 2009.

Warranty�The Company provides standard warranties with the sale of products generally for up to 5 years from the date of shipment. The
estimated cost of providing the product warranty is recorded at the time of shipment. The Company maintains product quality programs and
processes, including actively monitoring and evaluating the quality of its suppliers. The Company quantifies and records an estimate for
warranty related costs based on the Company�s actual history, projected return and failure rates and current repair costs.

Deferred Rent�Deferred rent consist primarily of a $1.6 million cash lease incentive and is being amortized over the life of the lease as an offset
to rent expense. Lease incentive is accounted for in accordance with FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 840, �Accounting for Leases.�

Revenue Recognition

Occam generally recognizes revenue under SAB 104 in the period when all of the requirements of SAB 104 have been met:

� persuasive evidence of sales arrangements,

� delivery has occurred or services have been rendered,

� the buyer�s price is fixed or determinable and

� collection is reasonably assured.
The Company enters into transactions with value-added resellers where the resellers may not have the ability to pay for these sales independent
of payment to them by the end-user. In these cases, the Company does not recognize revenue until payment has been received, provided the
remaining revenue recognition criteria are met.

The Company sells hardware products that contain embedded operating system software, which the Company has determined are �incidental� to
the hardware products. Revenue is recognized for these products under SAB 104. The Company has one minor software network management
product which is a stand alone product not essential to the functionality of other products that the Company sells. Revenue is recognized for this
product in accordance with FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 985, Software. The amount of sales of this product and the related
revenue recognized to date by the Company have been immaterial. In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
amended the accounting standards for revenue recognition to remove tangible products containing software components and non-software
components that function together to deliver the product�s essential functionality from the scope of industry specific software revenue recognition
guidance. The Company elected to early adopt this accounting guidance in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 on a prospective basis for applicable
transactions.

In addition to the aforementioned general policy, the Company enters into transactions that represent multiple-element arrangements, which may
include training and post-sales technical support and maintenance to our customers as needed to assist them in installation or use of our products,
and makes provisions for these costs
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in the periods of sale. Multiple-element arrangements are assessed to determine whether they can be separated into more than one unit of
accounting. A multiple-element arrangement is separated into more than one unit of accounting if all of the following criteria are met:

� the delivered item(s) has value to the customer on a stand-alone basis;

� there is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered item(s); and

� the arrangement includes a general right of return relative to the delivered item(s) and delivery or performance of the undelivered
item(s) is considered probable and substantially in our control.

If these criteria are not met, then revenue is deferred until such criteria are met or until the period(s) over which the last undelivered element is
delivered. If there is objective and reliable evidence of fair value for all units of accounting in an arrangement, the arrangement consideration is
allocated to the separate units of accounting based on each unit�s relative fair value. In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) amended the accounting standards to allow the use of best estimate of selling price in addition to vendor specific objective evidence
(�VSOE�) and TPE for determining the selling price of a deliverable. A vendor is now required to use its best estimate of the selling price when
VSOE or TPE of the selling price cannot be determined. The Company elected to early adopt this accounting guidance in the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2009 on a prospective basis for applicable transactions. The adoption of this accounting guidance did not have an impact on any quarterly
period in 2009.

When the Company is unable to establish selling price using VSOE or TPE, the Company uses �estimated selling price� (�ESP�) in its allocation of
arrangement consideration. The objective of ESP is to determine the price at which the Company would transact a sale if the product or service
were sold on a stand-alone basis. ESP is generally used for new products, and it applies to a small proportion of the Company�s arrangements
with multiple deliverables. The Company determines ESP for a product or service by considering multiple factors including, but not limited
to,geographies, market conditions, competitive landscape, internal costs, gross margin objectives, and pricing practices.

In certain circumstances, the Company enters into arrangements with customers who receive financing support in the form of long-term low
interest rate loans from the United States Department of Agriculture�s Rural Utilities Service, or RUS. The terms of the RUS contracts provide
that in certain instances transfer of title of the Company�s products does not occur until customer acceptance, however the Company waited for
final cash payment on these contracts before recognizing revenue. Effective January 1, 2009 based on historical experience, the Company has
determined that revenue recognition on RUS contracts is appropriate upon customer acceptance, given the remaining revenue recognition
criteria, such as collectability, under SAB 104 have been met. As a result the Company recognized approximately $6.1 million in revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2009 based on customer acceptance, not final cash payment.

Costs for the development of new software�The Company accounts for the development of new software and substantial enhancements to
existing software, in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Codification Topic 985-20, �Accounting for the Costs of Computer
Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed�. Costs for the development of new software and substantial enhancements to existing
software are expensed as incurred until technological feasibility has been established, at which time any additional development costs would be
capitalized. The Company believes its current process for developing software is essentially completed concurrent with the product launch,
accordingly, no costs have been capitalized to date.

Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use�The Company accounts for the costs of computer software developed or
obtained in accordance with FASB Accounting Standard Codification
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Topic 350-40. The Company has incurred no significant costs in 2009 related to computer software developed or obtained for internal use.

Net Loss Per Share�Basic and diluted net loss per share was computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders for the
period by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. The calculation of diluted net loss per share
does not consider potential common shares because their effect is antidilutive. Potential common shares are incremental shares of common stock
issuable upon the exercise of stock options and warrants.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation�Beginning on January 1, 2006 and November 7, 2006, Occam began accounting for stock options
and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) shares, respectively, under the provisions of FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 718,
which requires recognition of the fair value of equity-based compensation. The fair value of stock options and ESPP shares was estimated using
a Black-Scholes option valuation model. This methodology requires the use of subjective assumptions in implementing FASB Accounting
Standard Codification Topic 718, including expected stock price volatility and the estimated life of each award. The fair value of equity-based
compensation awards, less estimated forfeitures, is amortized over the service period of the award, and Occam has elected to use the straight-line
method. Occam makes quarterly assessments of the adequacy of the tax credit pool to determine if there are any deficiencies that require
recognition in the consolidated statements of operations. Prior to the implementation of FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 718,
Occam accounted for stock options under the provisions of APB 25 and made pro forma footnote disclosures as required by SFAS No. 148,
�Accounting For Stock-Based Compensation�Transition and Disclosure�an Amendment of FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 718�.
Pro forma net loss and pro forma net loss per share disclosed in the footnotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements were estimated using a
Black-Scholes option valuation model.

Warrants Issued with Notes Payable, Preferred Stock or Lines of Credit�In accordance with FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic
470-20, �Accounting for Convertible Debt and Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Warrants,� the Company allocates the proceeds received between
the note payable or preferred stock and warrants based on their relative fair values. The resulting discount recorded on the note payable is
accreted to interest expense over the term of the note. The fair value of warrants issued in connection with lines of credit are recorded as other
assets and amortized to interest expense over the term of the line of credit agreement.

Income Taxes�Income taxes are accounted for using the liability method. Under this method, deferred tax liabilities and assets are recognized for
the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.

Research and Product Development�Research and product development costs are expensed as incurred.

Segment Information�FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 280, �Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information,� establishes standards for the way companies report information about operating segments in annual financial statements and related
disclosures about products and services, geographic areas and major customers. Based on the manner in which management analyzes its
business, the Company has determined that its business consists of one operating segment.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)�FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 220, �Reporting Comprehensive Income,� establishes standards for
the reporting and display of comprehensive income and its

F-62

Edgar Filing: STEEL PARTNERS II L P - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 85



Table of Contents

OCCAM NETWORKS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

December 31, 2009

components in a full set of general purpose financial statements. For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, there
were no differences between the Company�s net income (loss) and total comprehensive income (loss).

Principles of Consolidation�The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Occam Networks, Inc. and its wholly-owned
subsidiary. All inter-company accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2009, the Emerging Issues Task Force released a final consensus on Issue No. 08-1, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables. Issue No. 08-1 enables entities to separately account for individual deliverables for many more revenue arrangements. Issue
No. 08-1 is effective for the Company beginning on January 1, 2011, with early adoption permitted. EITF 08-1 was codified into the Revenue
Recognition topic of the FASB ASC. We early adopted this EITF Issue and the adoption of this issue did not have an impact on our financial
position, results of operations, and cash flows.

In September 2009, the Emerging Issues Task Force released a final consensus on a new revenue recognition standard, Issue No. 09-3,
�Applicability of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2 to Certain Arrangements That Contain Software Elements� (EITF 09- 3). EITF 09-3 amends
the scope of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition to exclude tangible products that include software and
non-software components that function together to deliver the product�s essential functionality. This Issue shall be applied on a prospective basis
for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010. Earlier application is permitted
as of the beginning of the company�s fiscal year provided the company has not previously issued financial statements for any period within that
year. An entity shall not elect early application of this Issue unless it also elects early application of Issue 08-1. We early adopted this EITF Issue
and the adoption of this issue did not have an impact on our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 168 �The FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles� (�SFAS 168�). SFAS 168 establishes the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (�Codification�) as the single source of
authoritative GAAP to be applied by nongovernmental entities, except for the rules and interpretive releases of the SEC under authority of
federal securities laws, which are sources of authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants. All guidance contained in the Codification carries an equal
level of authority. The Codification does not change GAAP. SFAS 168 is effective for interim and annual periods ending on or after
September 15, 2009. The adoption of this standard only impacts the references to the accounting standards. References to accounting standards
in this proxy statement/prospectus now refer to the relevant ASC topic.

In May 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 165, �Subsequent Events.� SFAS No. 165 was issued in order to establish principles and requirements
for reviewing and reporting subsequent events and requires disclosure of the date through which subsequent events are evaluated and whether
the date corresponds with the time at which the financial statements were available for issue (as defined) or were issued. SFAS No. 165 is
effective for interim reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009. SFAS No. 165 was codified in the ASC topic on Subsequent Events.

In April 2009, the FASB issued three related Staff Positions: (i) FSP 157-4, Determining Fair Value When the Volume and Level of Activity for
the Asset or Liability have Significantly Decreased and Identifying
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Transactions That Are Not Orderly, or FSP 157-4, (ii) SFAS 115-2 and SFAS 124-2, Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary
Impairments, or FSP 115-2 and FSP 124-2, and (iii) SFAS 107-1 and APB 28-1, Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments,
or FSP 107 and APB 28-1, which are effective for interim and annual periods ending after June 15, 2009. FSP 157-4 provides guidance on how
to determine the fair value of assets and liabilities under SFAS 157 in the current economic environment and reemphasizes that the objective of a
fair value measurement remains an exit price. If we were to conclude that there has been a significant decrease in the volume and level of
activity of the asset or liability in relation to normal market activities, quoted market values may not be representative of fair value and we may
conclude that a change in valuation technique or the use of multiple valuation techniques may be appropriate. FSP 115-2 and FSP 124-2 modify
the requirements for recognizing other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities and revise the existing impairment model for such securities, by
modifying the current intent and ability indicator in determining whether a debt security is other-than-temporarily impaired. FSP 107 and
APB 28-1 enhance the disclosure of instruments under the scope of SFAS 157 for both interim and annual periods. The above staff positions did
not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows. The above staff positions and ABP 28-1 were codified
in the ASC topic on Financial Instruments.

In April 2009, the FASB issued FSP No. 141R-1 Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in a Business Combination That
Arise from Contingencies, or FSP 141R-1. FSP 141R-1 amends the provisions in Statement 141R for the initial recognition and measurement,
subsequent measurement and accounting, and disclosures for assets and liabilities arising from contingencies in business combinations. The
FSP eliminates the distinction between contractual and non-contractual contingencies, including the initial recognition and measurement criteria
in Statement 141R and instead carries forward most of the provisions in SFAS 141 for acquired contingencies. FSP 141R-1 is effective for
contingent assets and contingent liabilities acquired in business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the
first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. We believe the adoption of SFAS 141R will have an impact on
accounting for business combinations once adopted, but the effect on us will depend upon our level of acquisition activity. FAS 141R was
codified in the ASC topic on Business Combinations.

Note 3. Fair Value Measurements

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the authoritative guidance on fair value measurements. Fair value is defined as an exit price,
representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would
use in pricing an asset or a liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, the guidance establishes a three-tier value hierarchy, which
prioritizes the inputs used in the valuation methodologies in measuring fair value:

Level 1 � Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 � Include other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.

Level 3 � Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.

The fair value hierarchy also requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when
measuring fair value.

In accordance with this guidance, we measure our cash equivalents at fair value. Our cash equivalents are classified within Level 1. Cash
equivalents are valued primarily using quoted market prices utilizing market
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observable inputs. At December 31, 2009, cash equivalents consisted of money market funds measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Fair
value of our money market funds was $33.8 million at December 31, 2009.

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopted, the FASB staff position that delayed the guidance on fair value measurements for non
financial assets and non financial liabilities. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company�s consolidated
financial statements.

Note 4. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

Raw materials $ 274 $ 495
Work-in-process 56 4
Finished goods(1) 12,597 16,262

Total inventories $ 12,927 $ 16,761

(1) $6.2 million and $8.1 million of finished goods inventory were shipped to customers as of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008,
respectively. The majority were sent to RUS contract customers and value-added resellers. Revenue and related Cost of revenue were not
recognized at the time of shipments as defined by the Company�s revenue recognition policy and therefore were included in inventories.
For more information regarding our revenue recognition policy, see Revenue Recognition under Note 1 to these audited condensed
consolidated financial statements.

Note 5. Property and Equipment

The major components of property and equipment are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

Computer hardware and software $ 11,095 $ 10,074
Furniture and fixtures 2,439 2,419
Equipment under capital leases (Note 8) 97 97
Leasehold improvements 7,945 7,912

21,576 20,502
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (12,877) (9,668) 

Property and equipment, net $ 8,699 $ 10,834
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Note 6. Intangibles

The following table summarizes the components of intangible assets (in thousands):

December 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

Intangible assets with definite lives
Software license $ 285 $ 285

285 285
Less accumulated amortization 129 34

Intangibles assets with definite lives 156 251

Intangibles, net $ 156 $ 251

Definite lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated finite lives of 36 months for software licenses. In October 2007, we had
purchased certain assets from Terawave Communications Inc., including a broadband passive optical network (BPON) line of business that
addressed Metro- Ethernet/Telemetry applications. We intended to sell this line of business and recorded an intangible asset of approximately
$0.8 million as of the asset acquisition date. During the quarter ended March 31, 2008, we were unable to secure a feasible offer and therefore
decided to terminate the sales efforts and instead focus on bringing new GPON technology to market. As a result of this decision, we wrote-off
both the intangible asset and the related inventory.

Note 7. Accrued Expenses

The major components of accrued expenses are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

Payroll, paid time off, bonus and related accruals $ 1,620 $ 2,727
Warranty accruals 4,818 4,326
Commissions 234 316
Other accruals 327 1,318

Total $ 6,999 $ 8,687

Note 8. Capital Leases

The Company leases certain equipment under capital lease agreements that expire at various times during 2011. The terms of the leases are
48 months.
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The following is a schedule by year of the future minimum lease payments under capital leases together with present value of the net minimum
lease payments as of December 31, 2009 (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31,
2010 29
2011 16
2012 1
Thereafter �  

Total minimum lease payments $ 46
Amount representing interest (3) 

Present value of net minimum lease payments $ 43

Present value of net minimum lease payments, current $ 26

Present value of net minimum lease payments, non-current $ 20

Capitalized
Cost

Accumulated
Depreciation

Net Book
Value

December 31,
2009

Equipment under capital leases $ 97 $ (80) $ 17
Note 9. Capital Stock and Stockholders� Equity

Common Stock Reserved For Issuance

The following represents the number of common shares reserved for future issuance (in thousands):

December 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

Common warrants 13 13
Common stock options outstanding 3,923 3,015
Restricted stock units outstanding 315 180
Reserves for future grants 1,525 1,612
Employee stock purchase plan 401 305

Total shares reserved for future issuances 6,177 5,125

Common Stock Warrants
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From years 2000 to 2004, the Company issued warrants to purchase shares of common stock in connection with the issuance of certain financing
arrangements. These warrants have expired on various dates between 2005 through 2006 and the corresponding warrant related charges were
reclassified to additional paid in capital common stock. All warrants are immediately exercisable. The following table summarizes the warrants
outstanding as of December 31, 2009:

Expiration Date

Exercise
Price Per
Share

Number of
Shares

Underlying
Warrant

June 16, 2010 $ 10.00 12,500

F-67

Edgar Filing: STEEL PARTNERS II L P - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 93



Table of Contents

OCCAM NETWORKS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

December 31, 2009

Stock Options, Stock Awards, Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In April 1997, Accelerated Networks adopted the 1997 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan (�1997 Plan�), which was replaced by the 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan (�2000 Plan�). No further grants may be made under the 2000 Plan. The 2000 Plan provided for the issuance of non-qualified or
incentive stock options to employees, non-employee members of the board and consultants. The exercise price per share for both non-qualified
and incentive stock options was not to be less than 100% of the fair market value per share of the Company�s common stock on the date of grant
(110% if granted to an employee who owned 10% or more of the voting power of all classes of stock of the Company). Plan administrator has
the discretion to determine the vesting schedule. Options may be either immediately exercisable or in installments, but generally vest over a
four-year period from the date of grant. In the event the holder ceases to be employed by the Company, all unvested options terminate and all
vested options may be exercised within a specified period following termination. Unvested shares that are purchased under options that allow for
early exercise are subject to repurchase by the Company at the original exercise price if they remain unvested at the time the holder ceases to be
employed by the Company. In general, options expire ten years from the date of grant.

The 2000 Plan also provided for shares of common stock to be issued directly through either the immediate purchase of shares or as a bonus for
services rendered. The purchase price per share was not to be less than 100% of the fair market value per share of the Company�s common stock
on the date of grant. Vesting terms were at the discretion of the plan administrator and determined at the date of issuance. In the event the holder
ceased to be employed by the Company, any unvested shares were subject to repurchase by the Company at the original purchase price. No such
shares of common stock were issued under the 2000 Plan.

During 2000, Occam CA adopted the 1999 Plan. The 1999 Plan provides for the grant of incentive or nonqualified stock options to officers,
employees, directors, and independent contractors or agents of Occam CA. The exercise price of incentive stock options was not to be less than
100% of the fair market value of the shares on the date of grant (110% if granted to an employee who owns 10% or more of the voting power of
all classes of stock), and the exercise price of non-qualified stock options was not to be less than 85% of the fair market value of the shares on
the date of grant (110% if granted to an employee who owns 10% or more of the voting prower of all classes of stock). The board was
authorized to administer the 1999 Plan and establish the stock option terms, including the grant price and vesting period. Options granted to
employees were generally exercisable upon grant; subject to an ongoing repurchase right of the Company matching the vesting period. The
options expired ten years after the date of grant. Pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement, no further stock option grants may be made from
the 1999 Plan subsequent to the May 14, 2002 merger date.

Occam�s board of directors adopted the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the �2006 Plan�) in May 2006, which was approved by the Company�s
stockholders on August 14, 2006 and amended on November 29, 2007 and April 1, 2009. The 2000 Plan was in effect until the 2006 Plan
became effective in November 2006. The 2006 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options, within the meaning of Section 422 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, to the Company�s employees and any parent and subsidiary corporations� employees, and for the
grant of nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance units and performance shares
to its employees, directors and consultants and parent and subsidiary corporations� employees and consultants.
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The Company has reserved a total of 5,074,689 shares of the Company�s common stock for issuance pursuant to the 2006 Plan. The 2006 Plan
provides for annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance thereunder on the first day of each fiscal year, beginning with fiscal
2010, equal to the lesser of:

� 3.0% of the outstanding shares of the Company�s common stock on the first day of the fiscal year;

� 750,000 shares; or

� such other amount as the Company�s board of directors or a committee thereof may determine.
The compensation committee of the Company�s board of directors or a committee of the board administers the 2006 Plan and is responsible for
administering all of the Company�s equity compensation plans. In the case of options intended to qualify as �performance-based compensation�
within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, the committee must consist of two or more �outside directors� within the
meaning of Section 162(m).

The administrator has the power to determine the terms of the awards, including the exercise price, the number of shares subject to each award,
the exercisability of the awards and the form of consideration payable upon exercise.

The administrator determines the exercise price of options granted under the 2006 Plan, which, subject to certain exceptions, must at least be
equal to the fair market value of the Company�s common stock on the date of grant, except that with respect to any participant who owns 10% or
more of the voting power of all classes of the Company�s outstanding stock as of the grant date, the exercise price must equal at least 110% of
fair market value on the grant date. The administrator determines the term of all options; provided, that the term of any option may not exceed
ten years and the term of any option granted to a participant who owns 10% or more of the voting power of all classes of the Company�s stock as
of the grant date may not exceed five years.

No optionee may be granted an option to purchase more than 150,000 shares in any fiscal year, except that, in connection with his or her initial
service, an optionee may be granted an additional option to purchase up to 150,000 shares.

After termination of the employment of an optionee, he or she may exercise his or her option for the period of time stated in the option
agreement, unless otherwise extended by the plan administrator. Generally, if termination is due to death or disability, the option will remain
exercisable for 12 months. In all other cases, the option will generally remain exercisable for three months. However, no option may be
exercised after the expiration of its term.

Stock appreciation rights may be granted under the 2006 Plan. Stock appreciation rights allow the recipient to receive the appreciation in the fair
market value of the Company�s common stock between the exercise date and the date of grant. The administrator determines the terms of stock
appreciation rights, including when such rights become exercisable and whether to pay the increased appreciation in cash or in shares of the
Company�s common stock, or in some combination thereof. The exercise price of a stock appreciation right may not be less than 100% of the fair
market value on the date of grant and the term of a stock appreciation right may not exceed ten years. Unless otherwise provided, stock
appreciation rights generally expire under the same rules that apply to stock options.

Restricted stock may be granted under the 2006 Plan. The administrator determines the number of shares of restricted stock granted to any
employee, the vesting schedule of such award, and other terms and conditions that
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govern the award. The administrator may impose whatever conditions to vesting it determines to be appropriate. For example, the administrator
may condition vesting on the achievement of specific performance goals. Until the shares of restricted stock vest, they are subject to the
Company�s right of repurchase or to forfeiture.

Restricted stock units may be granted under the 2006 Plan. Restricted stock units are awards of bookkeeping units representing an unsecured
right to receive stock at a future date or upon a future event that can be paid out in installments or on a deferred basis. The administrator
determines the terms and conditions of restricted stock units including the vesting criteria and the form and timing of payment.

Performance units and performance shares may be granted under the 2006 Plan. Performance units and performance shares are awards that result
in a payment to a participant only if performance goals established by the administrator are achieved or the awards otherwise vest. The
administrator establishes organizational or individual performance goals in its discretion, which, depending on the extent to which they are met,
determine the number and/or the value of performance units and performance shares to be paid out to the participant. Performance units have an
initial dollar value established by the administrator at the grant date. Performance shares have an initial value equal to the fair market value of
our common stock on the grant date. Payment of performance units and performance shares to the participant may be made in cash or in shares
of the Company�s common stock with equivalent value, or in some combination, as determined by the administrator.

On November 29, 2007, the Company�s compensation committee recommended and the board of directors approved an amendment to our 2006
Equity Incentive Plan to eliminate the automatic grant of stock options to new directors at the time of initial election and to continuing directors
on an annual basis thereafter. In lieu of the previous program, the board of directors approved a policy providing for the initial grant to newly
elected non-employee directors of shares of restricted stock with an approximate value of $80,000 based on the closing price of Occam common
stock over the fifteen trading days prior to and including the date of approval of the grant. Initial grants would vest in three equal annual
installments on each anniversary of the date of grant. Follow-on grants with an approximate value of $40,000, to be made on annual basis to
continuing directors, would be valued on the same basis and would vest in two equal annual installments on each anniversary of the date of
grant. On May 7, 2009, the Company�s compensation committee recommended and the board of directors approved an amendment to our 2006
Equity Incentive, which removed from the 2006 Plan the provision providing the automatic stock option grants to outside directors.

The 2006 Plan provides that in the event of a �change in control,� the successor corporation or its parent or subsidiary will assume or substitute an
equivalent award for each outstanding award. If there is no assumption or substitution of 2006 outstanding awards, the administrator will provide
notice to the recipient that he or she has the right to exercise the option and stock appreciation right as to all of the shares subject to the award.
All awards will terminate upon the expiration of the period of time the administrator provides in the notice.

The 2006 Plan will automatically terminate in 2016, unless the Company terminates it sooner. In addition, the Company�s board of directors has
the authority to amend, suspend or terminate the 2006 Plan, provided such action does not impair the rights of any participant and subject to any
requisite stockholder approval.
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As of December 31, 2009 there were 5.1 million shares authorized under the Company�s stock option plans of which there were 1.5 million
shares available under current option plan for future grants. Additional information with respect to the outstanding options as of December 31,
2009 is as follows (shares in thousands):

Options Outstanding
Options

Exercisable

Exercise Price Shares

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual

Life
(in Years)

Weighted
Average
Price Shares

Weighted
Average
Price

$2.00 to $2.60 62 6.18 $ 2.28 34 $ 2.28
$2.64 to $2.64 880 9.44 $ 2.64 �  $ 0.00
$2.80 to $3.20 53 8.54 $ 3.01 9 $ 3.10
$3.44 to $3.44 794 7.91 $ 3.44 423 $ 3.44
$3.60 to $3.76 563 7.01 $ 3.69 233 $ 3.60
$3.80 to $4.08 402 5.90 $ 4.00 331 $ 3.99
$4.16 to $4.20 408 5.16 $ 4.19 352 $ 4.20
$4.60 to $16.92 405 5.18 $ 9.38 379 $ 9.16
$17.00 to $537.50 356 6.27 $ 21.17 321 $ 21.36
$925.00 to $925.00 �  0.60 $ 925.00 �  $ 925.00

$2.00 to $925.00 3,923 7.18 $ 5.65 2,082 $ 7.49

A summary of the Company�s stock option activity is as follows (shares and intrinsic value in thousands):

Shares

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Contractual

Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2006 2,078 $ 9.59 7.91 16,593
Granted 1,138 3.73
Exercised (40) 5.74
Forfeited or expired (162) 14.37

Outstanding at December 31, 2007 3,014 $ 7.17 7.99 $ 184
Granted 327 3.90
Exercised (20) 3.54
Forfeited or expired (306) 8.50

Outstanding at December 31, 2008 3,015 $ 6.71 7.11 $ 15
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Granted 1,278 2.94
Exercised (49) 3.34
Forfeited or expired (321) 5.17

Outstanding at December 31, 2009 3,923 $ 5.65 7.18 $ 6,379

Exercisable at December 31, 2009 2,082 $ 7.49 5.56 $ 2,323
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Note 9. Capital Stock and Stockholders� Equity

Included in the preceding table are options for 312,000 common shares granted to our officers and certain employees at exercise price of $3.76
that became exercisable upon the achievement of certain performance criteria and the confirmation of such achievement by the Company�s audit
committee upon its approval of the Company�s audited financial statements for fiscal year 2009. The fair value of these performance based
options was $1.82.

The weighted-average fair value of options granted to employees on the date of the grant for the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31,
2008, and December 31, 2007 were $1.37, $2.05 and $2.00 per share, respectively.

A summary of the Company�s restricted stock unit activity as follows (in thousands):

Shares

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Contractual

Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2008 180
Awarded 252
Released (109) 
Forfeited (8) 

Outstanding at December 31, 2009 315 1.09 $ 1,703

Included in the preceding table are restricted stock units of 69,000 common shares granted to our officers and certain employees that became
exercisable upon the achievement of certain performance criteria and the confirmation of such achievement by the Company�s audit committee
upon its approval of the Company�s audited financial statements for fiscal year 2009. The market value of these performance based units on the
date of the grant was $3.32.

The weighted-average fair value of restricted stock units granted to employees for the years ended December 31, 2009, and December 31, 2008
were $2.83 and $4.08 per share, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In 2000, Accelerated Networks adopted the 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (�ESPP�). Under the terms of the ESPP, eligible employees may
elect to contribute up to 15% of cash earnings through payroll deductions. The accumulated deductions are applied to the purchase of common
shares on each semi-annual purchase date, as defined. The purchase price per share is equal to 85% of the fair market value on the participant�s
entry date into the offering period or, if lower, 85% of the fair market value on the semi-annual purchase date. Under the terms of the ESPP,
106,500 shares have been reserved for issuance. In April 2001, employee contributions and stock issuances under the ESPP were terminated, but
approximately 104,750 common shares continue to be reserved for any re-instatement of the ESPP.

The Company�s board of directors adopted the 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the �2006 ESPP�) in May 2006, which was approved by the
Company�s stockholders on August 14, 2006.
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In March 2008, the Board of Directors approved an amendment to the 2006 ESPP. The amendment increased the maximum number of shares of
the Company�s common stock that an eligible employee may
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purchase during each offering period from 1,000 shares to 5,000 shares. In connection with the 2006 ESPP, 126,582 shares were issued on
February 17, 2009 and 77,588 shares were issued on August 17, 2009. Both of these 2006 ESPP issuances were at a purchase price of $2.80.

As of December 31, 2009, a total of 400,746 shares of the Company�s common stock were available for sale under the 2006 ESPP. In addition,
the 2006 ESPP provides for annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance under the 2006 ESPP on the first day of each fiscal
year, beginning with fiscal 2007, equal to the lesser of:

� 1.5% of the outstanding shares of the Company�s common stock on the first day of the fiscal year;

� 300,000 shares; or

� such other amount as may be determined by the Company�s board of directors or a committee thereof.
The Company�s compensation committee is responsible for administering the 2006 ESPP.

All of the Company�s employees are eligible to participate if they are customarily employed by us or any participating subsidiary for at least
15 hours per week and more than 5 months in any calendar year. However, an employee may not participate in the plan if such employee at the
start of the offering period would own stock possessing 5% or more of the total combined voting power or value of all classes of the Company�s
capital stock.

The 2006 ESPP is intended to qualify under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code, and provides for consecutive, non-overlapping 6-month
offering periods. The offering periods will generally start on the first trading day on or after February 15 and August 15 of each year.

The 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan permits participants to purchase common stock through payroll deductions of up to 15% of their
eligible compensation, which includes a participant�s straight time gross earnings, commissions, overtime and shift premiums, but excludes
payments for incentive compensation, bonuses and other compensation. A participant may purchase a maximum of 5,000 shares of common
stock during a 6-month offering period. In addition, no participant may participate at a rate which would enable the participant to purchase stock
more than $25,000 in value, measured at the beginning of the offering period, in any calendar year.

Amounts deducted and accumulated for each participant are used to purchase shares of the Company�s common stock at the end of each 6-month
offering period. The purchase price is 85% of the fair market value of its common stock on the first day of each trading period or the first
exercise date at the end of the offering period, whichever is lower. Participants may end their participation at any time during an offering period,
and will be reimbursed their payroll deductions to such date. Participation ends automatically upon termination of employment with the
Company.

In the event of a �change of control,� a successor corporation may assume or substitute each outstanding purchase right. If the successor
corporation refuses to assume or substitute for the outstanding purchase rights under the 2006 ESPP, the offering period then in progress will be
shortened, and a new end date will be set.

The board of directors has the authority to amend or terminate the 2006 ESPP, except that, subject to certain exceptions described in the plan, no
such action may adversely affect any outstanding rights to purchase stock under the plan.

Edgar Filing: STEEL PARTNERS II L P - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 102



F-73

Edgar Filing: STEEL PARTNERS II L P - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 103



Table of Contents

OCCAM NETWORKS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

December 31, 2009

Note 10. Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The Company adopted FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 718, �Stock-based compensation,�, effective January 1, 2006. FASB
Accounting Standard Codification Topic 718, requires the recognition of the fair value of stock compensation in net income. The Company
recognizes the stock compensation expense over the requisite service period of the individual grantees, which generally equals the vesting period
of the stock-based award. Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company followed APB 25 and related interpretations in accounting for its stock
compensation. The Company elected the modified prospective transition method for adopting FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic
718.

Stock-based compensation expense, net of adjustments, is included in the associated expense categories as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2009
December 31,

2008
December 31,

2007
Cost of revenue $ 504 $ 377 $ 233
Research and product-development 1,152 1,128 754
Sales and marketing 1,002 731 558
General and administrative 1,370 811 546

Total stock-based compensation $ 4,028 $ 3,047 $ 2,091

As of December 31, 2009, total unamortized stock-based compensation cost related to non-vested stock options after accounting for estimated
forfeitures was $2.7 million, which the Company expects to recognize over the remaining vesting period of each grant, up to the next 48 months.
The stock-based compensation expense included $0.8 million related to the performance based equity incentive awards, granted in the third
quarter of 2009.

Upon adoption of FASB Codification Topic 718, we selected the Black-Scholes option pricing model as the most appropriate model for
determining the estimated fair value for stock-based awards. The use of the Black-Scholes model requires the use of extensive actual employee
exercise behavior data and the use of a number of complex assumptions including expected volatility, risk-free interest rate, forfeitures, and
expected dividends. The assumptions used to value options granted are as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,

2009
December 31,

2008
December 31,

2007
Option Plan Shares
Risk-free interest rate 3% 2-3% 4-5% 
Expected Term (in years) 5 5 5
Dividend yield �  % �  % �  % 
Volatility 54-57% 58-62% 51-60% 
Estimated forfeitures 12.3% 12.0% 11.6% 
Weighted average fair value $ 1.37 $ 2.05 $ 2.00

The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. We do not anticipate declaring dividends in the
foreseeable future. Expected volatility is based on the annualized weekly historical volatility of our stock price and we believe it is indicative of
future volatility. We estimate the expected
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life of options granted based on historical exercise and post-vesting cancellation patterns with consideration of our industry peers of similar size
with similar option vesting periods. Our analysis of stock price volatility and option lives involves management�s best estimates at the time of
determination. FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 718, also requires that we recognize compensation expense for only the portion
of options or stock units that are expected to vest. Therefore, we apply an estimated forfeiture rate that is derived from historical employee
termination behavior. If the actual number of forfeitures differs from those estimated by management, additional adjustments to compensation
expense may be required in future periods.

Note 11. Income Taxes

The income tax provision consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

December 31,
2007

Current
Federal $ (210) $ 29 $ (3) 
State 4 227 59
Deferred
Federal �  �  �  
State �  �  �  

Total $ (206) $ 256 $ 56

The differences between the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate (benefit) and the Company�s effective tax rate were as follows:

Years Ended
December 31,

2009
December 31,

2008
December 31,

2007
U.S. federal statutory tax rate 34% 34% 34% 
State income tax benefit (net of federal benefit) 5% 4% 5% 
Other 5% (15)% (9)% 
Valuation allowance (42)% (27)% (30)% 

2% (4)% �  % 

The primary components of temporary differences that gave rise to deferred taxes were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 44,040 $ 40,773
Tax credit carryforwards 2,904 2,794
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Depreciation and amortization 1,582 1,210
Deferred sales 2,465 3,670
Other 5,782 4,435

56,773 52,882
Valuation Allowance (56,773) (52,882) 

Net deferred tax assets $ �  $ �  
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The change in the Company�s deferred tax valuation allowance is as follows (in thousands):

Balance
at

Beginning
of

Period

Addition
to

Valuation
Allowance

Balance
at

End of
Period

Income tax valuation allowance:
2007 $ 45,588 $ 3,986 $ 49,574
2008 $ 49,574 $ 3,308 $ 52,882
2009 $ 52,882 $ 3,891 $ 56,773

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $113.7 million and $88.8 million to offset
federal and state future taxable income, respectively. The federal and state net operating loss carryforwards will expire beginning in 2019 and
2010, respectively. In addition, the Company has federal research tax credits of $1.6 million and state research tax credits of $2.0 million. The
federal research tax credits will expire beginning in 2022. State credits may be carried forward indefinitely.

The Company believes an ownership change may have occurred, as defined by Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC), which
could result in the forfeiture of a significant portion of its net operating loss and credit carryforwards. The Company is currently analyzing
whether a change occurred and the related impact on its gross deferred tax assets, if any. As the Company�s analysis is not complete, the impact
to its gross deferred tax assets is uncertain.

The net deferred tax assets have been offset with a full valuation allowance. FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 740-10 �Accounting
for Income Taxes� requires that a valuation allowance be established to reduce a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is not more likely than not
that the deferred tax asset will be realized. Based on management�s assessment of all available evidence, both positive and negative, the
Company has concluded that it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will not be realized due to the uncertainty regarding the
magnitude of the Section 382 and 383 limitations as well as uncertainty concerning future taxable income.

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes Disclosure

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation ASC 740-10, �Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes� (FIN 48). This
interpretation clarifies the criteria for recognizing income tax benefits under FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic, 740-10,
�Accounting for Income Taxes�, and requires additional disclosures about uncertain tax positions. Under ASC 740-10 the financial statement
recognition of the benefit for a tax position is dependent upon the benefit being more likely than not to be sustainable upon audit by the
applicable taxing authority. If this threshold is met, the tax benefit is then measured and recognized at the largest amount that is greater than
50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of the consolidated liability
for unrecognized income tax benefits during the tax year ended December 31, 2009 is as follows:

In thousands:

2009 2008
Balance as of January 1 $ 8,149 $ 5,829
Additions for tax positions related to prior year 707 1,886
Additions for tax positions related to current year 466 434
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The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that would affect the Company�s effective tax rate is $79,000 for both the years ended
December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008. The Company accounts for any applicable interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions as a
component of income tax expense. The liability for uncertain income taxes as of December 31, 2009 includes interest and penalty of $1,000.

The Company�s only major tax jurisdictions are the United States and various state jurisdictions. The tax years 1997 through 2009 remain open
and subject to examination by the appropriate governmental agencies in the U.S. due to tax carryforward attributes.

FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 718 Tax Disclosure

On November 10, 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Staff Position ASC 718- , �Transition Election Related to
Accounting for Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards.� The Company has elected to adopt the alternative transition method provided in
this FASB Staff Position for calculating the tax effects of share-based compensation pursuant to FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic
718. The alternative transition method includes a simplified method to establish the beginning balance of the additional paid-in capital pool
(APIC pool) related to the tax effects of employee share-based compensation, which is available to absorb tax deficiencies recognized
subsequent to the adoption of FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 718. The tax expense of $13,000 and a benefit of $5,000 and
$17,000 was realized upon exercise of stock options during the year ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007,
respectively.

Note 12. Concentration of Credit Risk and Suppliers, Significant Customers and Segment Reporting

Financial instruments subjecting the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents of $39.3 million
and trade accounts receivable of $14.9 million. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with a major financial institution; and such
balances exceed FDIC insurance limits.

The Company�s accounts receivable are derived from revenue earned from customers located primarily in the United States. The Company
extends differing levels of credit to customers and generally does not require collateral. Financial information required to be disclosed in
accordance with FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 280 is included on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. In addition, as
the Company�s assets are primarily located in the United States and not allocated to any specific region, it does not produce reports for, or
measure the performance of its geographic regions based on any asset-based metrics.

The Company currently relies on a limited number of suppliers to manufacture its products, and does not have a long-term contract with any of
these suppliers. The Company also does not have internal manufacturing capabilities. Management believes that other suppliers could provide
similar products on comparable terms.

Net revenue and accounts receivable from significant customers were as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

December 31, 2009

Net
Revenue

% of
Net

Revenue
Accounts
Receivable

% of
Accounts
Receivable

Customer A $ 10,892 13% 3,548 24% 
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December 31, 2009

December 31, 2008

Net
Revenue

% of
Net

Revenue
Accounts
Receivable

% of
Accounts
Receivable

Customer A $ 10,488 11% $ 3,086 17% 
Customer B $ 9,738 10% $ 220 1% 

December 31, 2007

Net
Revenue

% of
Net

Revenue
Accounts
Receivable

% of
Accounts
Receivable

Customer A $ 7,830 10% $ 3,246 22% 
Customer B $ 7,143 10% $ 27 �  % 
Note 13. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases its office facilities and certain equipment under non-cancelable operating lease agreements, which expire at various dates
through 2015. Certain operating leases contain escalation clauses with annual base rent adjustments or a cost of living adjustment. Total rent
expense for year ended December 31, 2009, was $1.1 and $1.3 million for both the years ended December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007.
Approximate minimum annual lease commitments under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31,
2010 1,447
2011 1,469
2012 1,505
2013 1,543
2014 639
Thereafter 328

Total Minimum Lease Payments 6,931

Purchase Commitments

Under the terms of Occam�s contract manufacturer agreements, Occam is required to place orders with its contract manufacturers to provide
inventory to meet its estimated sales demand. Certain contract manufacturer agreements include production forecast change, lead-time and
cancellation provisions. As of December 31, 2009, the Company had open purchase orders with its current contract manufacturers of
$14.8 million.

Royalties

From time to time, the Company may license certain technology for incorporation into its products. Under the terms of these agreements, royalty
payments will be made based on per-unit sales of certain of the Company�s products. The Company incurred $246,000, $285,000, and $138,000
of royalty expenses for the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008, and December 31, 2007, respectively.
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Occam provides standard warranties with the sale of products for up to five years from date of shipment. The estimated cost of providing the
product warranty is recorded at the time of shipment. Occam maintains
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December 31, 2009

product quality programs and processes including actively monitoring and evaluating the quality of its suppliers. Occam quantifies and records
an estimate for warranty related costs based on Occam�s actual history, projected return and failure rates and current repair and replacement
costs.

Note 13. Commitments and Contingencies

A summary of changes in the Company�s accrued warranty liability, which is included in accrued expenses is as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

December 31,
2007

Warranty liability at beginning of the year $ 4,326 $ 3,470 1,862
Accruals for warranty during the year 2,830 2,340 3,497
Warranty utilization (2,338) (1,484) (1,889) 

Warranty liability at end of the year $ 4,818 $ 4,326 $ 3,470

Legal Proceedings

2007 Class Action Litigation

On April 26, 2007 and May 16, 2007, two putative class action complaints were filed in the United States District Court for the Central District
of California against the Company and certain of its officers. The complaints allege that the defendants violated sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and SEC Rule 10b-5 by making false and misleading statements and omissions relating to the Company�s
financial statements and internal controls with respect to revenue recognition. The complaints seek, on behalf of persons who purchased the
Company�s common stock during the period from May 2, 2006 to April 17, 2007, damages of an unspecified amount.

On July 30, 2007, Judge Christina A. Snyder consolidated these actions into a single action, appointed NECA-IBEW Pension Fund (The Decatur
Plan) as lead plaintiff, and approved its selection of lead counsel. On November 16, 2007, lead plaintiff filed a consolidated complaint. This
consolidated complaint adds as defendants certain of the Company�s current and former directors and officers, the Company�s current and former
outside auditors, the lead underwriter of the Company�s secondary public offering in November 2006, and two venture capital firms who were
early investors in the Company. The consolidated complaint alleges that defendants violated sections 10(b), 20(a) and 20A of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, as well as sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 by making false
and misleading statements and omissions relating to the Company�s financial statements and internal controls with respect to revenue recognition
that required restatement. The consolidated complaint seeks, on behalf of persons who purchased, he Company�s common stock during the period
from April 29, 2004 to October 15, 2007, damages of an unspecified amount.

On January 25, 2008, defendants filed motions to dismiss the consolidated complaint. On July 1, 2008, Judge Snyder issued an order granting in
part and denying in part defendants� motions. This order dismissed all claims against certain of the Company�s current and former directors, the
20A claim in its entirety, the section 10(b) claim against the auditors and venture capital firms, and the section 11 claims against the venture
capital firms. On July 16, 2008, lead plaintiff filed an amended complaint to conform to the Court�s July 1, 2008 order. On August 29, 2008,
defendants answered the amended complaint.
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On September 10, 2009 the Company entered into a memorandum of understanding to settle and resolve this stockholder class action lawsuit.
On November 2, 2009, the parties signed and submitted a formal, binding stipulation of settlement to the court. The court issued its preliminary
approval of the settlement on November 13, 2009. On February 22, 2010, the court held a hearing dismissing the litigation with prejudice and
entered a final judgment. This matter is now resolved as to all defendants. The settlement provides for a payment to the class of $13.945 million,
of which the Company has agreed to contribute $1.7 million and the balance of which will come from the Company�s insurers and all other
defendants. The Company has recorded a charge of $1.7 million as a loss on settlement for the quarter ended September 30, 2009, associated
with the settlement.

IPO Allocation Litigation

In June 2001, three putative stockholder class action lawsuits were filed against Accelerated Networks, certain of its then officers and directors
and several investment banks that were underwriters of Accelerated Networks� initial public offering. The cases, which were later consolidated,
were filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, and the operative Complaint was filed on April 19, 2002.
The Complaint was filed on behalf of investors who purchased Accelerated Networks� stock between June 22, 2000 and December 6, 2000 and
alleged violations of Sections 11 and 15 of the 1933 Act and Sections 10(b) and 20(a) and Rule 10b-5 of the 1934 Act against one or both of
Accelerated Networks and the individual defendants. The claims were based on allegations that the underwriter defendants agreed to allocate
stock in Accelerated Networks� initial public offering to certain investors in exchange for excessive and undisclosed commissions and
agreements by those investors to make additional purchases in the aftermarket at pre-determined prices. Plaintiffs alleged that the prospectus for
Accelerated Networks� initial public offering was false and misleading in violation of the securities laws because it did not disclose these
arrangements.

The Company believes that over three hundred other companies have been named in over three hundred similar lawsuits that have been
coordinated with the Company�s case. In October 2002, the plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed the individual defendants without prejudice. On
February 1, 2003 a motion to dismiss filed by the issuer defendants was heard and the court dismissed the 10(b), 20(a) and rule 10b-5 claims
against Occam. On October 13, 2004, the Court certified a class in six of the approximately 300 other nearly identical actions (the �focus� cases)
and noted that the decision was intended to provide guidance to all parties regarding class certification in the remaining cases. The Second
Circuit Court of Appeals vacated the district court�s decision granting class certification in those six cases on December 5, 2006. Plaintiffs filed a
motion for rehearing. On April 6, 2007, the Second Circuit denied the petition, but noted that Plaintiffs could ask the District Court to certify a
more narrow class than the one that was rejected.

The parties in the approximately 300 coordinated cases, including the Company�s, reached a settlement. On October 5, 2009, the Court approved
the settlement and certified a settlement class. Six notices of appeal of the Second Circuit of the Court�s approval of the settlement have been
filed. Three objectors to the settlement who filed a notice of appeal also filed a permission to file an appeal on the basis that the Court
purportedly abused its discretion concerning the class certification on the grounds that it was broader than the class rejected by the Second
Circuit Appeals Court. Plaintiffs filed an opposition to the petition. The Court has not yet ruled on the petition and the briefing on the appeals
has not yet commenced. The case remains open pending the outcome of the court ruling on the appeals.

Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation, the Company cannot accurately predict the ultimate outcome of the matter. The Company has not
recorded any accrual related to the settlement because the Company expects any settlement amounts to be covered by its insurance policies.
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IPO Short Swing Profits Litigation

In late 2007, the Company received a letter from Vanessa Simmonds, a putative shareholder, demanding that the Company investigate and
prosecute a claim for alleged short-swing trading in violation of Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78p(b), by
the underwriter of the Company�s initial public offering (�IPO�) and certain unidentified directors, officers and shareholders of the Company (then
known as Accelerated Networks). The Company evaluated the demand and declined to prosecute the claim. On October 12, 2007, the putative
shareholder commenced a civil lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Washington against Credit Suisse Group, the lead
underwriter of the Company IPO, alleging violations of Section 16(b). The complaint alleges that the combined number of shares of the
Company common stock beneficially owned by the lead underwriter and certain unnamed officers, directors, and principal shareholders
exceeded ten percent of its outstanding common stock from the date of Occam�s IPO on June 23, 2000, through at least June 22, 2001. It further
alleges that those entities and individuals were thus subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) and the short-swing trading prohibition
of Section 16(b), and failed to comply with those provisions. The complaint seeks to recover from the lead underwriter any �short-swing profits�
obtained by it in violation of Section 16(b). The Company was named as a nominal defendant in the action, but has no liability for the asserted
claims. None of the directors or officers of the Company are named as defendants in this action.

On October 29, 2007, the case was reassigned to Judge James L. Robart along with fifty-four other Section 16(b) cases seeking recovery of
short-swing profits from underwriters in connection with various IPOs. The Underwriters and Issuers have filed a motion to dismiss the case and
reply briefs have been filed. The Court heard oral argument on January 19, 2009 from all parties. On March 12, 2009, the Court dismissed the 16
(b) complaint against the issuer defendants including Occam on both jurisdictional and statute of limitation grounds. On March 31, 2009, the
Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal and their opening brief on August 26, 2009. The Issuers including Occam and the underwriters filed their
responses on October 2, 2009. Each party�s reply briefs have been filed as of November 17, 2009. To date the Appellate Court for the Ninth
Circuit has not set a date of oral argument.

Due to the inherent uncertainties of threatened litigation, the Company cannot accurately predict the ultimate outcome of the matter. The
Company has not recorded any accruals related to the demand letters or Section 16(b) litigation because the Company expects any resulting
resolution to be covered by its insurance policies.

Other Matters

From time to time, the Company are subject to threats of litigation or actual litigation in the ordinary course of business, some of which may be
material. The Company believes that, except as described above, there are no currently pending matters that, if determined adversely to us,
would have a material effect on the Company�s business or that would not be covered by our existing liability insurance maintained by the
Company.

Indemnifications and Guarantees

The Company enters into indemnification provisions under its agreements with other companies in the ordinary course of business, typically
with its contractors, customers, value-added resellers, and landlords. In connection with its 2006 offering, the Company also agreed to indemnify
the underwriters in the offering and certain stockholders who sold shares as part of the offering with respect to certain liabilities arising from the
offering. Under these provisions, the Company generally indemnifies and hold harmless the indemnified party
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for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party as a result of its activities or, in some cases, as a result of the indemnified party�s
activities under the agreement. These indemnification provisions generally survive termination of the underlying agreement. The maximum
potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification provisions is generally unlimited. As
of December 31, 2009, the Company did not have any material accrued liability relating to the defense of lawsuits or settlement of claims related
to these indemnification agreements. As of December 31, 2009, the Company had reimbursed Norwest Venture Partners for indemnification
expenses in the aggregate amount of $176,460. As of December 31, 2009, the Company had also reimbursed U.S. Venture Partners for
indemnification expenses in the aggregate amount of $240,050.

Note 14. Restructuring Charges

On May 7, 2009, the Company implemented a reduction-in-force that resulted in the termination of approximately 10% of its work-force.
Affected employees were notified on May 7, 2009, and the Company, substantially completed the reduction-in-force by the end of the second
quarter of 2009. The purpose of the workforce reduction was to reduce costs, streamline operations, and improve the cost structure in light of the
current economic and operating environment.

During the quarter ended June 30, 2009, the Company recorded approximately $213,000 of restructuring charges related to termination benefits
in connection with the reduction- in- force. A summary of the Company�s accrued restructuring expenses is as follows for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2009 (in thousands):

December 31,
2009

Balance January 1, 2009 $ �  
Severance related expenses accrued 213
Severance related expenses paid (213) 

Balance September 30, 2009 $ �  

Note 15. FairPoint Communications, Inc.

On October 26, 2009, FairPoint announced that it had filed a bankruptcy petition under chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code.
According to the documents filed with the bankruptcy court, FairPoint�s plan is to restructure its debt and continue day to day operations under
court supervision. As of December 31, 2009, the Company had an outstanding receivable balance of approximately $2.0 million. $1.7 million of
this amount related to transactions that occurred before FairPoint filed its bankruptcy petition, including $1.4 million which was invoiced within
45 days of the bankruptcy petition filing and is covered by the �reclamation claim� filed by the Company in November 2009. Approximately
$1.7 million of revenue and related cost of revenue as of December 31, 2009, for which cash has not been collected, has been deferred.

During the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company recorded an expense of approximately $138,000 to cost of revenue related to inventory not
covered by the reclamation claim filed. In addition, during the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company recorded a bad debt expense of
approximately $23,000 related to outstanding receivables not covered by the reclamation claim, which had been taken into revenue prior to the
fourth quarter of 2009.
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Note 16. 401(k) Plan

The Company has a defined contribution plan under which employees may defer compensation pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code. Participants in the plan may contribute between 1% and 100% of their pay, subject to the limitations placed by the IRS. The
Company, at its discretion, may match a portion of the amounts contributed by the employee. To date, the Company has made no matching
contributions to the 401(k) plan.

Note 17. Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted loss per share required under Accounting Standard Codification Topic 260,
�Earnings per Share� (in thousands, except per share data):

December 31,
2009

December 31,
2008

December 31,
2007

Numerator:
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (8,925) $ (6,718) $ (10,386) 

Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 20,259 19,874 19,760

Basic and diluted net loss per share applicable to common stockholders $ (0.44) $ (0.34) $ (0.53) 

Basic and diluted loss per share is identical since the effect of common equivalent shares is anti-dilutive and therefore excluded. The
anti-dilutive weighted average shares that were excluded from the shares used in computing diluted net loss per share for fiscal years 2009, 2008
and 2007 amounted to approximately 3.5 million, 2.8 million and 0.8 million shares, respectively.

Note 18. Summary Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of unaudited interim quarterly data for each of the four quarters of fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007.

December 31,
2009

September 30,
2009

June 30,
2009

March 31,
2009

(in thousands except for per share data)
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue $ 21,926 $ 21,673 $ 21,028 $ 19,419
Cost of revenue 13,049 12,725 13,000 11,245
Gross margin 8,877 8,948 8,028 8,174
Loss from operations (973) (2,733) (2,637) (3,162) 
Net loss (849) (2,631) (2,415) (3,030) 
Basic net loss per share $ (0.04) $ (0.13) $ (0.12) $ (0.15) 
Diluted net loss per share $ (0.04) $ (0.13) $ (0.12) $ (0.15) 
Shares used to compute basic net loss per share 20,392 20,273 20,219 20,149
Shares used to compute diluted net loss per share 20,392 20,273 20,219 20,149

Edgar Filing: STEEL PARTNERS II L P - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 117



F-83

Edgar Filing: STEEL PARTNERS II L P - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 118



Table of Contents

OCCAM NETWORKS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

December 31, 2009

December 31,
2008

September 30,
2008

June 30,
2008

March 31,
2008

(In thousands except per share data)
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue $ 31,658 $ 25,131 $ 22,826 $ 19,653
Cost of revenue 18,546 14,380 12,731 11,220
Gross margin 13,112 10,751 10,095 8,433
Income (loss) from operations 831 (980) (2,864) (4,227) 
Net income (loss) 1,140 (659) (2,659) (4,540) 
Basic net income (loss) per share $ 0.06 $ (0.03) $ (0.13) $ (0.23) 
Diluted net income (loss) per share $ 0.06 $ (0.03) $ (0.13) $ (0.23) 
Shares used to compute basic net income (loss) per share 20,017 19,894 19,801 19,779
Shares used to compute diluted net income (loss) per share 20,046 19,894 19,801 19,779

December 31,
2007

September 30,
2007

June 30,
2007

March 31,
2007

(In thousands except per share data)
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue $ 21,265 $ 15,660 $ 19,237 $ 18,987
Cost of revenue 12,083 9,959 12,125 11,970
Gross margin 9,182 5,701 7,112 7,017
Loss from operations (4,998) (5,490) (1,730) (744) 
Net income (loss) (4,563) (4,906) (946) 29
Basic net income (loss) per share $ (0.23) $ (0.25) $ (0.05) $ 0.00
Diluted net income (loss) per share $ (0.23) $ (0.25) $ (0.05) $ 0.00
Shares used to compute basic net income(loss) per share 19,770 19,765 19,765 19,739
Shares used to compute diluted net income(loss) per share 19,770 19,765 19,765 20,665
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September 30,
2010

December 31,
2009(*)

(Unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 44,174 $ 39,268
Restricted cash 1,804 5,721
Accounts receivable, net 21,189 14,874
Inventories 13,481 12,927
Prepaid and other current assets 1,247 1,426

Total current assets 81,895 74,216
Property and equipment, net 8,254 8,699
Intangibles, net 85 156
Other assets 71 91

Total assets $ 90,305 $ 83,162

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 17,231 $ 8,274
Accrued liabilities 9,816 6,999
Deferred revenue 8,131 13,035
Deferred rent 361 361
Capital lease obligations �  26

Total current liabilities 35,539 28,695
Deferred rent, net of current portion 1,336 1,597
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion �  20

Total liabilities 36,875 30,312
Commitments and contingencies (See Note 6)
Stockholders� equity:
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 250,000,000 shares authorized; and 21,161,838 shares issued
and outstanding at September 30, 2010 and 20,669,089 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2009. 289 289
Additional paid-in capital 191,374 188,013
Accumulated deficit (138,233) (135,452) 

Total stockholders� equity 53,430 52,850

Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 90,305 $ 83,162

* Derived from audited consolidated financial statements included in the registrant�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2009.
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(In thousands, except per share data)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2010
September 30,

2009
September 30,

2010
September 30,

2009
Revenue $ 29,810 $ 21,673 $ 75,930 $ 62,120
Cost of revenue 17,878 12,725 44,396 36,970

Gross margin 11,932 8,948 31,534 25,150
Operating expenses:
Research and product-development 3,949 3,762 11,549 12,186
Sales and marketing 5,082 4,459 14,200 13,404
General and administrative 1,898 1,760 5,702 6,179
Restructuring charges �  �  �  213
Loss on litigation settlement �  1,700 �  1,700
Merger related expenses 2,840 �  2,840 �  

Total operating expenses 13,769 11,681 34,291 33,682

Loss from operations (1,837) (2,733) (2,757) (8,532) 
Other income (expense), net �  43 �  147
Interest income (expense), net 2 38 8 274

Loss before provision for (benefit from) income taxes (1,835) (2,652) (2,749) (8,111) 
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 16 (21) 32 (35) 

Net loss $ (1,851) $ (2,631) $ (2,781) $ (8,076) 

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic and diluted $ (0.09) $ (0.13) $ (0.13) $ (0.40) 
Weighted average shares attributable to common stockholders:
Basic and diluted 20,973 20,273 20,820 20,214

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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(In thousands)

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2010
September 30,

2009
Operating activities
Net loss $ (2,781) $ (8,076) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Stock-based compensation 2,032 2,685
Depreciation and amortization 2,212 2,501
Accounts receivable reserves (11) 176
Inventory reserves 8 160
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (6,304) 1,073
Inventories (562) 6,428
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 199 1,710
Accounts payable 8,957 230
Accrued expenses 2,817 (173) 
Deferred revenue (4,904) (5,415) 
Deferred rent (261) (244) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,402 1,055
Investing activities
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash 3,917 7,512
Net purchases of property and equipment (1,696) (707) 

Net cash provided by investing activities 2,221 6,805
Financing activities
Exercise of stock options 1,052 61
Payments of payroll taxes for vested restricted stock units (259) �  
Capital lease obligations (46) (17) 
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan 536 571

Net cash provided by financing activities 1,283 615

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,906 8,475
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 39,268 30,368

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 44,174 $ 38,843

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Income taxes paid $ 211 $ 202
Interest paid $ 3 $ 4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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1. Business and Basis of Presentation

Occam Networks, Inc. (�Occam,� the �Company,� �we� or �us�) develops markets and supports innovative broadband access products designed to
enable telecom service providers to offer bundled voice, video and high speed internet, or Triple Play, services over both copper and fiber optic
networks. The Company�s core product line is the Broadband Loop Carrier (BLC), an integrated hardware and software platform that uses
Internet Protocol (IP) and Ethernet technologies to increase the capacity of local access networks, enabling the delivery of advanced Triple Play
services. The Company also offers a family of Optical Network Terminals (ONTs) for fiber optic networks, remote terminal cabinets, and
professional services.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements are unaudited. The condensed consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2009
is derived from Occam�s audited consolidated financial statements included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2009. These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all material entries, consisting only of normal recurring entries,
which, in the opinion of management, are necessary to fairly state our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim
periods. The results of operations for the current interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the entire year.

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include management�s estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates, and material effects on consolidated operating results and consolidated
financial position may result.

The unaudited interim condensed financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (�GAAP�) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly,
they do not include all of the information and notes required by GAAP for annual financial statements. Because all of the disclosures required by
GAAP are not included, as permitted by the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, these interim condensed consolidated
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included in the
Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009. In the opinion of management, all adjustments consisting of
normal and recurring entries considered necessary for a fair statement of the results for the interim periods have been included in the Company�s
financial position as of September 30, 2010, the results of its operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009, and
its cash flow for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009.

Certain amounts in the prior periods presented have been reclassified to conform to the current period financial statement presentation. These
reclassifications had no effect on previously reported net income (loss).

The Company warrants its products for periods up to five years and records an estimated warranty accrual when shipped.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts

F-88

Edgar Filing: STEEL PARTNERS II L P - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 124



Table of Contents

OCCAM NETWORKS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

reported in the consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates and such
differences may be material to the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Occam generally recognizes revenue under Staff Accounting Bulletin Codification Topic 13, Revenue Recognition, in the period when all of the
requirements of Staff Accounting Bulletin Codification Topic 13: Revenue Recognition have been met:

� persuasive evidence of sales arrangements,

� delivery has occurred or services have been rendered,

� the buyer�s price is fixed or determinable and

� collection is reasonably assured.
The Company enters into transactions with value-added resellers where the resellers may not have the ability to pay for these sales independent
of payment to them by the end-user. In these cases, the Company does not recognize revenue until payment has been received, provided the
remaining revenue recognition criteria are met.

The Company sells hardware products that contain embedded operating system software. These tangible products contain software components
and non-software components that function together to deliver the product�s essential functionality. Revenue is recognized for these products
under Staff Accounting Bulletin Codification Topic 13: Revenue Recognition. The Company has one minor software network management
product which is a stand- alone product not essential to the functionality of other products that the Company sells. Revenue is recognized for this
product in accordance with FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 985, Software. The amount of sales of this product and the related
revenue recognized to date by the Company has been immaterial.

In addition to the aforementioned general policy, the Company enters into transactions that represent multiple-element arrangements, which may
include training and post-sales technical support and maintenance to our customers as needed to assist them in installation or use of our products,
and makes provisions for these costs in the periods of sale. Multiple-element arrangements are assessed to determine whether they can be
separated into more than one unit of accounting. A multiple-element arrangement is separated into more than one unit of accounting if all of the
following criteria are met:

� the delivered item(s) has value to the customer on a stand-alone basis;

� there is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered item(s); and

� the arrangement includes a general right of return relative to the delivered item(s) and delivery or performance of the undelivered
item(s) is considered probable and substantially in our control.
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If these criteria are not met, then revenue is deferred until such criteria are met or until the period(s) over which the last undelivered element is
delivered. If there is objective and reliable evidence of fair value for all units of accounting in an arrangement, the arrangement consideration is
allocated to the separate units of accounting based on each unit�s relative fair value. When the Company is unable to establish selling price using
vendor specific objective evidence or third party evidence, the Company uses �estimated selling price� (�ESP�) in its allocation of arrangement
consideration. The objective of ESP is to determine the price at which the Company would transact a sale if the product or service were sold on a
stand-alone basis. ESP is generally used
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for new products, and it applies to a small proportion of the Company�s arrangements with multiple deliverables. The Company determines ESP
for a product or service by considering multiple factors including, but not limited to, geographies, market conditions, competitive landscape,
internal costs, gross margin objectives, and pricing practices.

In certain circumstances, the Company enters into arrangements with customers who receive financing support in the form of long-term low
interest rate loans from the United States Department of Agriculture�s Rural Utilities Service, or RUS. The terms of the RUS contracts provide
that in certain instances transfer of title of the Company�s products does not occur until customer acceptance, The Company recognizes revenue
on these RUS contracts upon customer acceptance, given the remaining revenue recognition criteria, such as collectability, under Staff
Accounting Bulletin Codification Topic 13: Revenue Recognition have been met.

2. Pending Merger

On September 16, 2010, the Company announced that it had entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, which is referred to in this report as
the Merger Agreement with Calix, Inc. The Merger agreement provides that, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein, Calix
will acquire Occam and as a result, Occam will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Calix.

The transaction is valued at approximately $171 million, or approximately $7.75 per share of Occam common stock (based on the closing
trading price of Calix�s stock as of September 14, 2010). Subject to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of
the first merger, each share of Occam�s common stock issued and outstanding will be converted into the right to receive $3.8337 in cash, without
interest plus $0.2925 of a validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable share of Calix common stock. At the closing of the merger, former
Occam stockholders will own between 14.1% and 15.9% of the outstanding shares of Calix�s common stock (based on the number of Calix
shares outstanding as of September 14, 2010).

The completion of the transaction is subject to various closing conditions, including obtaining the approval of our stockholders, registering the
shares of Calix common stock to be issued in connection with the merger and receipt of regulatory clearance under the Hart-Scott-Rodino
Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended. The Company currently expects the transaction to close in the fourth quarter of 2010 or the
first quarter of 2011. Both companies will continue to operate their businesses independently until the close of the merger.

The Company has incurred $2.8 million, in merger related expenses for the quarter ended September 30, 2010. The Company expects to incur
continuing expenses associated with the merger.

The foregoing description of the Merger Agreement and other references to the Merger Agreement in the proxy statement / prospectus do not
purport to be complete and are qualified in their entirety by reference to the full text of the Merger Agreement, a copy of which has been filed
with the SEC and the terms of which are incorporated herein by reference to the full text of the Merger Agreement.
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3. Fair Value Measurements

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the authoritative guidance on fair value measurements. Fair value is defined as an exit price,
representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would
use in pricing an asset or a liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, the guidance establishes a three-tier value hierarchy, which
prioritizes the inputs used in the valuation methodologies in measuring fair value:

Level 1 � Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 � Include other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.

Level 3 � Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.

The fair value hierarchy also requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when
measuring fair value.

In accordance with this guidance, we measure our cash equivalents at fair value. Our cash equivalents are classified within Level 1. Cash
equivalents are valued primarily using quoted market prices utilizing market observable inputs. At September 30, 2010, cash equivalents
consisted of money market funds measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Fair value of our money market funds was $35.5 million at
September 30, 2010.

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company adopted the FASB staff position that delayed the guidance on fair value measurements for non financial
assets and non financial liabilities. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company�s consolidated financial
statements.

4. Inventories

September 30,
2010

December 31,
2009

Raw materials $ 962 $ 274
Work-in-process 286 56
Finished goods(1) 12,233 12,597

Total inventories $ 13,481 $ 12,927

(1) $4.7 million and $6.2 million of finished goods inventory were shipped to customers as of September 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009,
respectively. The majority were sent to RUS contract customers and value-added resellers. Revenue and related cost of revenue were not
recognized at the time of shipments as defined by the Company�s revenue recognition policy and therefore were included in inventories.
For more information regarding our revenue recognition policy, see Revenue Recognition under Note 1 to these unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements.
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5. Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted loss per share (in thousands, except per share data):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2010
September 30,

2009
September 30,

2010
September 30,

2009
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (1,851) $ (2,631) $ (2,781) $ (8,076) 
Shares used in computation:
Weighted average common shares outstanding used in
computation of basic net loss per share 20,973 20,273 20,820 20,214
Dilutive effect of stock options �  �  
Dilutive effect of common stock warrants �  �  

Shares used in computation of diluted net income (loss) per
share 20,973 20,273 20,820 20,214
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.09) $ (0. 13) $ (0.13) $ (0.40) 
Basic and diluted net loss per share, are identical because we had losses from continuing operations and the impact of common equivalent shares
was anti-dilutive and therefore excluded. The anti-dilutive weighted average shares that were excluded from the shares used in computing
diluted net loss per share for three months ended September 30, 2010 and September 30, 2009, amounted to approximately 0.7 million and
3.5 million shares, respectively and for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 and September 30, 2009, amounted to approximately
0.6 million and 3.3 million shares, respectively.

6. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases its office facilities and certain equipment under non-cancelable operating lease agreements, which expire at various dates
through 2016. Operating leases contain escalation clauses with annual base rent adjustments or a cost of living adjustment. Total rent expense
was $0.3 million for both the three months ended September 30, 2010 and September 30, 2009, and $0.9 million, for both the nine months ended
September 30, 2010 and September 30, 2009 respectively.

Minimum annual lease commitments under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

Remainder of fiscal year,
2010 $ 389
Fiscal year ending December 31,
2011 1,504
2012 1,540
2013 1,577
2014 674
2015 328

Total Minimum Lease Payments $ 6,012

Royalties
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From time to time, the Company may license certain technology for incorporation into its products. Under the terms of these multi-year
agreements, royalty payments will be made based on per-unit sales of certain of the
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Company�s products. The Company incurred royalty expense of $85,000 and $63,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2010 and
September 30, 2009, respectively. The Company incurred $215,000 and $171,000 in royalty expenses for the nine months ended September 30
2010 and September 30, 2009, respectively.

Legal Proceedings

Merger Transaction Class Action Lawsuits

On September 17, 20, and 21, 2010, three purported class action complaints were filed in the California Superior Court for Santa Barbara
County: (1) Kardosh v. Occam Networks, Inc., et al., Case No. 1371748 (�Kardosh Complaint�); (2) Kennedy v. Occam Networks, Inc., et al.,
Case No. 1371762 (�Kennedy Complaint�); and (3) Moghaddam v. Occam Networks, Inc., et al., Case No. 1371802 (�Moghaddam Complaint�)
(together, the �California Complaints�). Each of the California Complaints names Occam, the members of the Occam board, and Calix as
defendants. The Kennedy Complaint also names Calix�s merger subsidiaries (Ocean Sub I, Inc. and Ocean Sub II, LLC) as defendants. The
California Complaints generally allege that the members of the Occam board breached their fiduciary duties in connection with the proposed
acquisition of Occam by Calix, by, among other things, engaging in an allegedly unfair process and agreeing to an allegedly unfair price for the
proposed merger transaction. The California Complaints further allege that Occam and the other entity defendants aided and abetted these
alleged breaches of fiduciary duty. The plaintiffs seek various forms of relief, including an order certifying a class of Occam shareholders and a
preliminary and permanent injunction of the proposed merger.

On October 6, 2010, another purported class action complaint was filed in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware: Steinhart, et al. v.
Howard-Anderson, et al., Case No. 5878-VCL (the �Delaware Complaint�). Like the California Complaints, the Delaware Complaint names the
members of Occam�s board as defendants and generally alleges that the members of the Occam board breached their fiduciary duties in
connection with the proposed acquisition of Occam by Calix, by, among other things, engaging in an allegedly unfair process and agreeing to an
allegedly unfair price for the proposed merger transaction. Also, like the plaintiffs who filed the California Complaint, the plaintiffs who filed
the Delaware Complaint seek various forms of relief, including an order certifying a class of Occam shareholders and a preliminary and
permanent injunction of the proposed merger.

Occam is reviewing the complaints and has not yet formally responded to them, but believes the plaintiffs� allegations are without merit and
intends to defend against them vigorously. However, litigation is inherently uncertain and there can be no assurance regarding the likelihood that
Occam�s defense of these actions will be successful. Additional complaints containing substantially similar allegations may be filed in the future.

Atwater Partners of Texas LLC v. AT&T, Inc. et al.

On May 27, 2010, Atwater Partners of Texas LLC filed a complaint in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Texas alleging
infringement of certain U.S. Patent Nos. 6,490,296; 7,158,523; 7,161,953; 7,310,310; and 7,349,401 by 25 companies, including Occam. The
complaint seeks an injunction, unspecified damages, and other relief. The disclosure of each of the patents in suit relates to the field of digital
networks. The Company has answered the complaint and has asserted thirteen affirmative defenses, including invalidity, non-infringement, and
patent exhaustion. This case is currently pending.

Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation, the Company cannot accurately predict the ultimate outcome of the matter.
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IPO Short Swing Profits Litigation

In late 2007, the Company received a letter from Vanessa Simmonds, a putative shareholder, demanding that the Company investigate and
prosecute a claim for alleged short-swing trading in violation of Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78p(b), by
the underwriter of the Company�s initial public offering (�IPO�) and certain unidentified directors, officers and shareholders of the Company (then
known as Accelerated Networks). The Company evaluated the demand and declined to prosecute the claim. On October 12, 2007, the putative
shareholder commenced a civil lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Washington against Credit Suisse Group, the lead
underwriter of the Company IPO, alleging violations of Section 16(b). The complaint alleges that the combined number of shares of the
Company common stock beneficially owned by the lead underwriter and certain unnamed officers, directors, and principal shareholders
exceeded ten percent of its outstanding common stock from the date of Occam�s IPO on June 23, 2000, through at least June 22, 2001. It further
alleges that those entities and individuals were thus subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) and the short-swing trading prohibition
of Section 16(b), and failed to comply with those provisions. The complaint seeks to recover from the lead underwriter any �short-swing profits�
obtained by it in violation of Section 16(b). The Company was named as a nominal defendant in the action, but has no liability for the asserted
claims. None of the directors or officers of the Company are named as defendants in this action.

On October 29, 2007, the case was reassigned to Judge James L. Robart along with fifty-four other Section 16(b) cases seeking recovery of
short-swing profits from underwriters in connection with various IPOs. The Underwriters and Issuers have filed a motion to dismiss the case and
reply briefs have been filed. The Court heard oral argument on January 19, 2009 from all parties. On March 12, 2009, the Court dismissed the 16
(b) complaint against the issuer defendants including Occam on both jurisdictional and statute of limitation grounds. On March 31, 2009, the
Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal and their opening brief on August 26, 2009. The Issuers including Occam and the underwriters filed their
responses on October 2, 2009. Each party�s reply briefs have been filed as of November 17, 2009. The Appellate Court for the Ninth Circuit
heard oral argument on October 5, 2010. It is likely that it will be at least until April 2011 before the Court renders a decision on this matter.

Due to the inherent uncertainties of threatened litigation, the Company cannot accurately predict the ultimate outcome of the matter. The
Company has not recorded any accruals related to the demand letters or Section 16(b) litigation because the Company expects any resulting
resolution to be covered by its insurance policies.

IPO Allocation Litigation

In June 2001, three putative stockholder class action lawsuits were filed against Accelerated Networks, certain of its then officers and directors
and several investment banks that were underwriters of Accelerated Networks� initial public offering. The cases, which were later consolidated,
were filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, and the operative Complaint was filed on April 19, 2002.
The Complaint was filed on behalf of investors who purchased Accelerated Networks� stock between June 22, 2000 and December 6, 2000 and
alleged violations of Sections 11 and 15 of the 1933 Act and Sections 10(b) and 20(a) and Rule 10b-5 of the 1934 Act against one or both of
Accelerated Networks and the individual defendants. The claims were based on allegations that the underwriter defendants agreed to allocate
stock in Accelerated Networks� initial public offering to certain investors in exchange for excessive and undisclosed commissions and
agreements by those investors to make additional purchases in the aftermarket at pre-determined prices. Plaintiffs alleged that the prospectus for
Accelerated Networks� initial public offering was false and misleading in violation of the securities laws because it did not disclose these
arrangements.
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The Company believes that over three hundred other companies have been named in over three hundred similar lawsuits that have been
coordinated with the Company�s case. In October 2002, the plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed the individual defendants without prejudice. On
February 1, 2003 a motion to dismiss filed by the issuer defendants was heard and the court dismissed the 10(b), 20(a) and rule 10b-5 claims
against Occam. On October 13, 2004, the Court certified a class in six of the approximately 300 other nearly identical actions (the �focus� cases)
and noted that the decision was intended to provide guidance to all parties regarding class certification in the remaining cases. The Second
Circuit Court of Appeals vacated the district court�s decision granting class certification in those six cases on December 5, 2006. Plaintiffs filed a
motion for rehearing. On April 6, 2007, the Second Circuit denied the petition, but noted that Plaintiffs could ask the District Court to certify a
more narrow class than the one that was rejected.

The parties in the approximately 300 coordinated cases, including the Company�s, reached a settlement. On October 5, 2009, the Court approved
the settlement and certified a settlement class. Six notices of appeal of the Second Circuit of the Court�s approval of the settlement have been
filed. As of October 6, 2010, the deadline for filing appellate briefs opposing the settlement, only one brief was filed. On October 8, 2010 the
remaining objectors along with Plaintiff filed a stipulation withdrawing their appeals with prejudice. The remainder of the briefing schedule has
not been set. Appellees, including the Company, are required to request a date not later than one hundred twenty days from the date of the
appellate brief filing to file their brief. The case remains open pending the briefing schedule and the outcome of the court ruling on the appeal.

Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation, the Company cannot accurately predict the ultimate outcome of the matter. The Company has not
recorded any accrual related to the settlement because the Company expects any settlement amounts to be covered by its insurance policies.

Other Matters

From time to time, the Company is subject to threats of litigation or actual litigation in the ordinary course of business, some of which may be
material. The Company believes that, except as described above, there are no currently pending matters that, if determined adversely to us,
would have a material effect on the Company�s business or that would not be covered by our existing liability insurance maintained by the
Company.

Indemnifications and Guarantees

The Company enters into indemnification provisions under its agreements with other companies in the ordinary course of business, typically
with its contractors, customers, value-added resellers, and landlords. As of September 30, 2010, the Company did not have any material accrued
liability related to these indemnification agreements.

Occam is also a party to indemnification agreements with its officers and directors. Consequently, it has obligations to hold harmless and
indemnify each of the directors who are named defendants in the California Complaints and the Delaware Complaint (as described above)
against associated judgments, fines, settlements and expenses related to such claims and otherwise to the fullest extent permitted under Delaware
law and Occam�s bylaws and certificate of incorporation.

Purchase Orders

Under the terms of Occam�s contract manufacturer agreements and original design manufacturer agreements, Occam is required to place orders
with its contract manufacturers and original design manufacturers
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to provide inventory to meet its estimated sales demand. Certain contract manufacturer agreements include production forecast change,
lead-time and cancellation provisions. At September 30, 2010, open purchase orders with contract manufacturers were $29.0 million.

Warranties

Occam provides standard warranties with the sale of products for up to five years from date of shipment. The estimated cost of providing the
product warranty is recorded at the time of shipment. Occam maintains product quality programs and processes including actively monitoring
and evaluating the quality of its suppliers. Occam quantifies and records an estimate for warranty related costs based on Occam�s actual history,
projected return and failure rates and current repair and replacement costs. The following table summarizes changes in Occam�s accrued warranty
liability that is included in accrued liabilities (in thousands):

September 30,
2010

December 31,
2009

Warranty liability at beginning of the year $ 4,818 $ 4,326
Accruals for warranty during the period 2,129 2,830
Warranty utilization (2,979) (2,338) 

Warranty liability at end of the period $ 3,968 $ 4,818

The increased warranty utilization for the nine months ended September 30, 2010, was primarily due to field rework and replacement for
specific customer deployments related to capacitor power function failures.

7. Accrued Liabilities

The major components of accrued liabilities are (in thousands):

September 30,
2010

December 31,
2009

Warranty accruals $ 3,968 $ 4,818
Payroll, paid time off, bonus and related accruals 2,804 1,620
Accrued Legal Expenses 2,112 65
Commissions 400 234
Other accruals 532 262

Total $ 9,816 $ 6,999

As of September 30, 2010, accrued legal expenses primarily consisted of accruals related to the proposed merger transaction.
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8. Stock Options, Stock Awards, Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and Stock-Based Compensation

Stock option activity, under the Company�s stock option plan for the nine months ended September 30, 2010, is summarized as below (shares and
intrinsic value in thousands):

Options

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Contractual

Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Outstanding at January 1, 2010 3,923 $ 5.65 7.18 $ 6,379
Granted 81
Exercised (290) 
Forfeited or expired (47) 

Outstanding at September 30, 2010 3,667 $ 5.68 6.51 $ 13,254

Exercisable at September 30, 2010 2,628 $ 6.63 5.79 $ 8,497

The weighted-average fair value of options granted to employees on the date of the grant for the three months ended September 30, 2010 was
$2.32 per share and for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 was $3.02 per share.

The 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, or 2006 Plan, provides for automatic annual increases in the number of shares available for issuance under the
2006 Plan effective as of the first day of each fiscal year equal to the lesser of (a) 3% of the outstanding shares of the common stock on the first
day of the applicable fiscal year; (b) 750,000 shares; or (c) such other amount as the Board of Directors or a committee of the board may
determine. On February 23, 2010, the Board of Directors approved an increase of 620,073 shares reserved for issuance under the 2006 Plan for
fiscal 2010. This represented 3% of the outstanding common shares as of January 1, 2010.

Stock Awards

A summary of the Company�s restricted stock unit activities is as follows (in thousands):

Restricted Stock
Units

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Contractual

Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Outstanding at January 1, 2010 315 1.09 $ 1,703
Awarded 3
Released (67) 
Forfeited or expired or cancelled (47) 

Outstanding at September 30, 2010 204 0.81 $ 1,599

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
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In March 2008, the Board of Directors approved an amendment to our 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan or the ESPP. The amendment
increased the maximum number of shares of the Company�s common stock that an eligible employee may purchase during each offering period
from 1,000 shares to 5,000 shares. Under the ESPP, 78,320 and 65,518 shares were issued on February 16, 2010 and August 15, 2010, at a
purchase price per share of $2.97 and $4.63, respectively.
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The ESPP provides for an automatic annual increase in the number of shares available for issuance under the ESPP effective as of the first day
of each fiscal year equal to the lesser of (a) 300,000 shares of common stock; (b) 1.5% of the outstanding shares of common stock on the first
day of the applicable fiscal year; or (c) an amount determined by the Board of Directors. On February 23, 2010, the Board of Directors approved
an increase of 300,000 shares in the number of shares reserved for issuance under the ESPP.

Stock-Based Compensation

The following table summarizes the stock-based compensation expense, for all stock-based awards to employees and directors, including
employee stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units and shares purchased pursuant to the ESPP based on the estimated fair value
on our Consolidated Statements of Operations (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2010
September 30,

2009
September 30,

2010
September 30,

2009
Employee stock-based compensation in:
Cost of revenue $ 63 $ 133 $ 234 $ 326

Research and product development expense 146 297 594 778
Sales and marketing expense 156 248 560 692
General and administrative expense 177 373 644 889

Total SFAS 123(R) stock-based compensation in
operating expenses 479 918 1,798 2,359

Total SFAS 123(R) stock-based compensation $ 542 $ 1,051 $ 2,032 $ 2,685

As of September 30, 2010, total unamortized stock-based compensation cost related to non-vested stock options after accounting for estimated
forfeitures was $1.6 million, which the Company expects to recognize over the remaining vesting period of each grant, up to the next 48 months.

Upon adoption of the FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 718, stock-based compensation, we selected the Black-Scholes option
pricing model as the most appropriate model for determining the estimated fair value for stock-based awards. The use of the Black-Scholes
model requires the use of extensive actual employee exercise behavior data and the use of a number of complex assumptions including expected
volatility, risk-free interest rate, forfeitures, and expected dividends. The assumptions used to value options granted are as follows:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2010
September 30,

2009
September 30,

2010
September 30,

2009
Risk-free interest rate 1.38% 2.41% 2.1% 2.87% 
Expected term (years) 5.0 4.9 4.9 4.9
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Expected volatility 55% 54%-57% 54% 54%-57% 

The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. We do not anticipate declaring dividends in the
foreseeable future. Expected volatility is based on the annualized weekly historical volatility of our stock price and we believe it is indicative of
future volatility. We estimate the expected life of options granted based on historical exercise and post-vesting cancellation patterns with
consideration of
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OCCAM NETWORKS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(Continued)

our industry peers of similar size with similar option vesting periods. Our analysis of stock price volatility and option lives involves
management�s best estimates at the time of determination. FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 718, stock-based compensation, also
requires that we recognize compensation expense for only the portion of options or stock units that are expected to vest. Therefore, we apply an
estimated forfeiture rate that is derived from historical employee termination behavior. If the actual number of forfeitures differs from that
estimated by management, additional adjustments to compensation expense may be required in future periods.

9. Income Taxes�Final Outcome of Section 382 Analysis

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $109.1 million and $72.1 million to offset
federal and state future taxable income, respectively. These amounts have been reduced due to an ownership change which occurred, as defined
by Sections 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, resulting in the forfeiture of a portion of the Company�s net operating loss carryforwards. Gross
deferred tax assets and related valuation allowance have been reduced by $2.8 million to $54.0 million in the first quarter of 2010 to reflect the
conclusions of this analysis.

10. FairPoint Communications, Inc. Bankruptcy

On June 1, 2010, the US Bankruptcy Court ordered the payment of $1.7 million by FairPoint Communications in full satisfaction of Occam�s
pre-petition claim. On June 18, 2010, Occam received the amount of $1.7 million. As a result we have recognized $1.7 million as revenue in the
quarter ended June 30, 2010, previously deferred, since all the criteria of Staff Accounting Bulletin Codification Topic 13: Revenue Recognition
have been met. The expense previously recorded for inventory impairment, $138,000, was reversed in the quarter ended June 30, 2010 since the
related revenue has been recognized. There are no remaining pre-petition claims outstanding.
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER AND REORGANIZATION

THIS AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER AND REORGANIZATION (this �Agreement�), dated as of September 16, 2010, is entered into
by and among Occam Networks, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the �Company�), Calix, Inc., a Delaware corporation (�Parent�), Ocean Sub I, Inc., a
Delaware corporation and a direct wholly owned subsidiary of Parent (�Merger Sub�), and Ocean Sub II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company and a direct wholly owned subsidiary of Parent (�Second Merger Sub�).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the board of directors of Parent (the �Parent Board of Directors�), the board of directors of Merger Sub, the sole member of Second
Merger Sub and the board of directors of the Company (the �Company Board of Directors�) deem it advisable and in the best interests of each
corporation and its respective stockholders that Parent and the Company engage in a business combination transaction as contemplated by this
Agreement;

WHEREAS, Parent and the Company desire that Parent combine its businesses with the businesses operated by the Company through (i) the
merger of Merger Sub with and into the Company, with the Company as the surviving corporation (the �First Merger�), as more fully provided in
this Agreement and in accordance with the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the �DGCL�) and (ii) immediately following the
First Merger, the merger of the Company with and into Second Merger Sub, with Second Merger Sub as the surviving entity (the �Second
Merger�), as more fully provided in this Agreement and in accordance with the DGCL and the Limited Liability Company Act of the State of
Delaware (the �DLLCA�);

WHEREAS, for Federal income tax purposes, it is intended that the First Merger and the Second Merger shall be treated as a single integrated
transaction (collectively, the �Transaction�) and shall qualify as a �reorganization� within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the �Code�), and the regulations promulgated thereunder, and that this Agreement will be, and is, adopted as a plan of
reorganization; and

WHEREAS, contemporaneously with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, and as an inducement to Parent�s willingness to enter into
this Agreement, the directors, officers and their affiliates who are stockholders of the Company are executing voting agreements in favor of
Parent (the �Support Agreements�).

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, intending to be legally bound, the parties to this Agreement hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1.

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01 Definitions.

(a) As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:

�Acquired Companies� means, collectively, the Company and each of its Subsidiaries.

�Acquisition Proposal� means, other than the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, any inquiry, expression of interest, proposal or offer
relating to, or any Person�s indication of interest in, any transaction or series of transactions involving: (i) the sale, lease, exchange, transfer,
license, disposition or acquisition from the Acquired Companies of any business or businesses or assets that constitute or account for 15% or
more of the assets of the Acquired Companies, taken as a whole (either as measured by the fair market value thereof or by
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revenues on a consolidated basis attributable thereto), (ii) any merger, consolidation, amalgamation, share exchange, business combination,
recapitalization or other similar transaction in which any of the Acquired Companies is a constituent corporation and which would result in a
third party acquiring record or beneficial ownership of securities representing more than 15% of any class of voting securities of any resulting
parent company of the Company or its parent company (if the Company is a surviving corporation) or resulting company or its parent company
(if the Company is not a surviving corporation), (iii) any issuance of securities, acquisition of securities, tender offer, exchange offer or other
similar transaction (y) in which a Person or �group� (as defined in the Exchange Act and the rules promulgated thereunder) of Persons directly or
indirectly acquires beneficial or record ownership of securities representing more than 15% of the outstanding securities of any class of voting
securities of any of the Acquired Companies, or (z) in which any of the Acquired Companies issues securities representing more than 15% of the
outstanding securities of any class of voting securities of any of the Acquired Companies to any Person or �group� (as defined in the Exchange Act
and the rules promulgated thereunder) of Persons or (iv) any liquidation or dissolution of any of the Acquired Companies.

�Additional Cashed Out Awards� if the number of shares of Parent Common Stock issuable pursuant to this Agreement exceeds the number of
shares that Parent may issue without the consent of its stockholders pursuant to Section 312.03(c) of the NYSE Listed Company Manual (such
excess, the �Share Issuance Excess�), then �Additional Cashed Out Awards� shall mean those Company Compensatory Awards selected in
accordance with the next sentences that are not Vested Compensatory Awards covering that number of shares of Company Common Stock
calculated by dividing the Share Issuance Excess by the Compensatory Award Exchange Ratio and rounding up to the nearest share. The
specific Company Compensatory Awards that constitute Additional Cashed Out Awards will be selected in reverse order of per share exercise
price with those Company Compensatory Awards having the highest per share exercise price selected first. In the event specific Company
Compensatory Awards must be selected among Company Compensatory Awards having the same exercise price, then such selection shall be
made in order of the date of grant with the earliest date of grant selected first. For the purposes of this definition, Company Restricted Stock
Units shall be treated as having an exercise price equal to zero.

�Affiliate� means, with respect to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with
such Person. For purposes of this definition, �control,� when used with respect to any specified person, means the power to direct or cause the
direction of the management and policies of such Person, directly or indirectly, whether through ownership of voting securities or by contract or
otherwise, and the terms �controlling� and �controlled by� have correlative meanings to the foregoing.

�Antitrust Law� means the Sherman Act, as amended, the Clayton Act, as amended, the HSR Act, the Federal Trade Commission Act, as
amended, and all other Laws that are designed or intended to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization
or restraint of trade or significant impediments to or lessening of competition or the creation or strengthening of a dominant position through
merger or acquisition, in any case that are applicable to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

�Applicable Law� means, with respect to any Person, any federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other law, constitution, treaty, convention,
ordinance, code, rule, regulation, Order or other similar legal requirement enacted, adopted, promulgated or applied by a Governmental
Authority that is binding upon or applicable to such Person, as amended unless expressly specified otherwise.

�Average Parent Common Stock Closing Price� means the volume weighted average trading price of Parent Common Stock during the five
(5) consecutive trading days ending on the trading day that is one day prior to the Closing Date, as defined as �VWAP� in the Bloomberg function
VAP.

�Business Day� means a day, other than Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York, New York are authorized or
required by Applicable Law to close.
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�Cash-Out Per Share Consideration� means the sum of (A) the Per Share Cash Amount and (B) an amount in cash equal to the product of (1) the
Per Share Exchange Ratio and (2) the Average Parent Common Stock Closing Price.

�Company Balance Sheet� means the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of June 30, 2010 and the notes thereto.

�Company Balance Sheet Date� means June 30, 2010.

�Company Capital Stock� means the Company Common Stock and the Company Preferred Stock.

�Company Common Stock� means the common stock, $0.001 par value, of the Company.

�Company Compensatory Award� means each Company Stock Option, Company RSU and other equity based award denominated in Company
Common Stock that was granted pursuant to a Company Stock Plan other than a Company Restricted Stock Award.

�Company Disclosure Schedule� means the disclosure schedule dated the date of this Agreement regarding this Agreement that has been provided
by the Company to Parent.

�Company Equityholder� means a Company stockholder or a Company Stock Optionholder, as the case may be.

�Company IP� means all Intellectual Property Rights and Technology owned or purported to be owned by any Acquired Company

�Company Material Adverse Effect� means any event, change, development or state of facts that is or would reasonably be expected to be
materially adverse to the business, assets, liabilities, operations or financial condition of the Acquired Companies, taken as a whole; provided,
however, that no event, change, development or state of facts resulting from the following shall constitute, in and of itself, either alone or in
combination, a Company Material Adverse Effect to the extent such event, change, development or state of facts results from or arises out of,
directly or indirectly: (i) general economic conditions in the United States economy or any other country (or changes in such conditions), general
conditions in the industries in which the Acquired Companies conduct business (or any changes in such conditions) or general conditions in the
securities or financial markets in the United States or any other country (or changes in such conditions); (ii) any change in GAAP or any change
in Applicable Laws applicable to the operation of the business of the Acquired Companies; (iii) any decline in the market price, or change in
trading volume, of the capital stock of the Company or any failure to meet internal or published projections, forecasts or revenue or earning
predictions for any period; provided that the underlying causes of such decline, change or failure, may be considered in determining whether
there has been a Company Material Adverse Effect; (iv) political conditions (or changes in such conditions) in the United States or any other
country in which the Acquired Companies conduct business or acts of war, sabotage or terrorism (including any escalation or general worsening
of any such acts of war, sabotage or terrorism) in the United States or any other country in which the Acquired Companies conduct business;
(v) earthquakes, hurricanes, tsunamis, tornadoes, floods, mudslides, wild fires or other natural disasters, weather conditions and other force
majeure events in the United States or any other country in which the Acquired Companies conduct business; (vi) the announcement of this
Agreement or the pendency of the transactions contemplated hereby, including the loss of employees, customers or suppliers, provided that this
clause (vi) shall not preclude any contractual consequences that arise under the terms of any existing Contract to which the Company is a party
solely as a result of the execution of this Agreement or consummation of the Transaction from being considered in determining whether there
has been a Company Material Adverse Effect; or (vii) any actions taken or failure to take action, in each case, which Parent has approved,
consented to or requested, in each case in writing; provided, that any event, change, development or state of facts described in clauses (i), (ii),
(iv) or (v) may be taken into account when
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determining whether a �Company Material Adverse Effect� has occurred or would reasonably be expected to occur to the extent such event,
change, development or state of facts has or would reasonably be expected to have a disproportionate impact on the Acquired Companies, taken
as a whole, as compared to other companies that conduct business in the countries and in the industries in which the Acquired Companies
conduct business.

�Company ESPP� means the Company�s 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended.

�Company RSU� means any restricted stock unit with respect to Company Common Stock which was granted pursuant to a Company Stock Plan.

�Company Restricted Stock Award� means each award with respect to a share of restricted Company Common Stock outstanding under any
Company Stock Plan that is, at the time of determination, subject to forfeiture or repurchase by the Company.

�Company Stock Option� means any option to purchase Company Common Stock which was granted pursuant to a Company Stock Plan.

�Company Stock Optionholder� means a holder of a Company Stock Option.

�Company Stock Plans� means the Company�s 1997 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, 1999 Stock Plan, Amended and Restated 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan and the 2006 Equity Plan, as amended and restated.

�Company Preferred Stock� means the preferred stock, $0.001 par value, of the Company.

�Compensatory Award Exchange Ratio� means an amount equal to the sum of (A) the Per Share Exchange Ratio and (B) (1) the Per Share Cash
Amount divided by (2) the Average Parent Common Stock Closing Price.

�Consent� means any approval, consent, ratification, permission, waiver or authorization (including any Permit).

�Contract� means any contract, agreement, indenture, note, bond, loan, license, instrument, lease or any other binding commitment, plan or
arrangement, whether oral or written.

�Environmental Laws� means any Applicable Law relating to occupational health and safety (with respect to the exposure to Hazardous
Substances), the environment or to Hazardous Substances.

�Environmental Permits� means all permits, licenses, franchises, certificates, approvals and other similar authorizations of Governmental
Authorities required by Environmental Laws and affecting, or relating in any way to, the business of the Acquired Companies as currently
conducted.

�ERISA� means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

�ERISA Affiliate� of any entity means any other entity which, together with such entity, would be treated as a single employer under Section 414
of the Code.

�Exchange Act� means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (including the rules and regulations thereunder).

�GAAP� means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

�Governmental Authority� means any: (i) nation, state, commonwealth, province, territory, county, municipality, district or other jurisdiction of
any nature; (ii) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other
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government; or (iii) governmental or quasi-governmental authority of any nature (including any governmental division, department, agency,
commission, instrumentality, organization, unit or body and any court or other tribunal).

�HSR Act� means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended.

�Hazardous Substances� means any pollutant, contaminant, waste or chemical or any toxic, radioactive, ignitable, corrosive, reactive or otherwise
hazardous substance, waste or material, or any substance, waste or material having any constituent elements displaying any of the foregoing
characteristics, including petroleum, its derivatives, by-products and other hydrocarbons, and any substance, waste or material regulated under
any Environmental Law.

�Intellectual Property Rights� means and includes all (a) United States and foreign patents and patent applications and disclosures relating thereto
(and any patents that issue as a result of those patent applications), and any renewals, reissues, reexaminations, extensions, continuations,
continuations-in-part, divisions and substitutions relating to any of the patents and patent applications, as well as all related foreign patent and
patent applications that are counterparts to such patents and patent applications, (b) United States and foreign trademarks, trade names, service
marks, service names, trade dress, logos, slogans, 800 numbers and corporate names, whether registered or unregistered, and the goodwill
associated therewith, together with any registrations and applications for registration thereof, (c) rights in works of authorship including any
United States and foreign copyrights and rights under copyrights, whether registered or unregistered, including moral rights, and any
registrations and applications for registration thereof, (d) United States and foreign mask work rights or equivalents, and registrations and
applications for registration thereof, (e) rights in databases and data collections (including knowledge databases, customer lists and customer
databases) under the laws of the United States or any other jurisdiction, whether registered or unregistered, and any applications for registration
therefor; (f) trade secret rights and other rights in non-public information that derives independent economic value, actual or potential, from not
being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable by proper means by, other Persons who can obtain economic value from its
disclosure or use, which may include, e.g., know-how, business plans, designs, technical data, customer data, financial information, pricing and
cost information, bills of material, or other similar information, (g) rights in URL and domain name registrations, (h) rights in inventions
(whether or not patentable) and improvements thereto, (i) all claims and causes of action arising out of or related to infringement or
misappropriation of any of the foregoing, and (j) other proprietary or intellectual property rights now known or hereafter recognized in any
jurisdiction worldwide.

�IRS� means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

�Knowledge� means (i) with respect to the Acquired Companies the actual knowledge of each of Bob Howard Anderson and Jeanne Seeley, and
the knowledge that each of such individuals should have obtained after reasonable inquiry of their direct reports and (ii) with respect to Parent,
Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub, the actual knowledge of each of Carl Russo, Roger Weingarth and Kelyn Brannon and the knowledge that
each of such individuals should have obtained after reasonable inquiry of their direct reports. With respect to Intellectual Property Rights or
Technology, the term �reasonable inquiry� does not require any Acquired Company to conduct, have conducted, obtain or have obtained any
freedom-to-operate opinions or similar opinions of counsel or any patent, trademark, or other Intellectual Property Right clearance searches, and
no knowledge of any third party patents, trademarks, or other Intellectual Property Rights that would have been revealed by such inquiries,
opinions or searches will be imputed to any Acquired Company.

�Lien� means, with respect to any property or asset, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest, encumbrance or other adverse claim of
any kind in respect of such property or asset. For purposes of this Agreement, a Person shall be deemed to own subject to a Lien any property or
asset that it has acquired or holds subject to the interest of a vendor or lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital lease or other title
retention agreement relating to such property or asset.
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�Order� means any order, judgment, decree, injunction, ruling or writ of any Governmental Authority (whether temporary, preliminary or
permanent) that is binding on any Person or its property under Applicable Law.

�Parent Balance Sheet� means the consolidated balance sheet of Parent as of June 26, 2010 and the notes thereto.

�Parent Balance Sheet Date� means June 26, 2010.

�Parent Common Stock� means the common stock, $0.025 par value, of Parent.

�Parent Material Adverse Effect� means any event, change, development or state of facts that is or would reasonably be expected to be materially
adverse to the business, assets, liabilities, operations or financial condition of Parent or its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; provided, however,
that no event, change, development or state of facts resulting from the following shall constitute, in and of itself, either alone or in combination,
a Parent Material Adverse Effect to the extent such event, change, development or state of facts results from or arises out of, directly or
indirectly: (i) general economic conditions in the United States economy or any other country (or changes in such conditions), general conditions
in the industries in which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries conduct business (or any changes in such conditions) or general conditions in the
securities or financial markets in the United States or any other country (or changes in such conditions); (ii) any change in GAAP or any change
in Applicable Laws applicable to the operation of the business of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries; (iii) any decline in the market price, or change
in trading volume, of the capital stock of Parent or any failure to meet internal or published projections, forecasts or revenue or earning
predictions for any period; provided that the underlying causes of such decline, change or failure, may be considered in determining whether
there has been a Parent Material Adverse Effect); (iv) political conditions (or changes in such conditions) in the United States or any other
country in which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries conduct business or acts of war, sabotage or terrorism (including any escalation or general
worsening of any such acts of war, sabotage or terrorism) in the United States or any other country in which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries
conduct business; (v) earthquakes, hurricanes, tsunamis, tornadoes, floods, mudslides, wild fires or other natural disasters, weather conditions
and other force majeure events in the United States or any other country in which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries conduct business; (vi) the
announcement of this Agreement or the pendency of the transactions contemplated hereby, including the loss of employees, customers or
suppliers, provided that this clause (vi) shall not preclude any contractual consequences that arise under the terms of any existing Contract to
which Parent is a party solely as a result of the execution of this Agreement or consummation of the Transaction from being considered in
determining whether there has been a Parent Material Adverse Effect; or (vii) any actions taken or failure to take action, in each case, which
Company has approved, consented to or requested, in each case in writing; provided, that any event, change, development or state of facts
described in clauses (i), (ii), (iv) or (v) may be taken into account when determining whether a �Parent Material Adverse Effect� has occurred or
would reasonably be expected to occur to the extent such event, change, development or state of facts has or would reasonably be expected to
have a disproportionate impact on Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as compared to other companies that conduct business in the
countries and in the industries in which Parent and its Subsidiaries conduct business.

�Parent Option� means any option to purchase Parent Common Stock which was granted pursuant to a Parent Option Plan.

�Parent Option Plans� means Parent�s Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Plan, Amended and Restated 2002 Stock Plan, Optical Solutions, Inc.
Amended and Restated 1997 Long-Term Incentive and Stock Option Plan and 2010 Equity Incentive Award Plan.

�Person� means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, association, trust or other entity or organization, including a
Governmental Authority.
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�Per Share Cash Amount� means $3.8337 in cash.

�Per Share Consideration� shall be an amount equal to a combination of (i) the Per Share Cash Amount and (z) the Per Share Exchange Ratio.

�Per Share Exchange Ratio� means 0.2925 of a share of Parent Common Stock.

�Proceeding� means any action, suit, litigation, arbitration, proceeding (including any civil, criminal, administrative or appellate proceeding),
hearing, audit or examination commenced, brought, conducted or heard by or pending before any court or other Governmental Authority.

�Prospectus/Proxy Statement� means the proxy statement to be sent to the Company�s stockholders in connection with the Company Stockholder
Meeting.

�Registered IP� means all Intellectual Property Rights that are registered, filed, or issued under the authority of any Governmental Authority,
including all patents, registered copyrights, registered trademarks, registered mask works, and domain names, and all applications for any of the
foregoing.

�Registration Statement� means the registration statement on Form S-4 to be filed with the SEC by Parent in connection with issuance of Parent
Common Stock in the First Merger, as said registration statement may be amended from time to time.

�Representatives� means a Person�s officers, directors, employees, agents, attorneys, accountants, advisors and other authorized representatives.

�SEC� means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

�Securities Act� means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (including the rules and regulations thereunder).

�Subsidiary� means, with respect to any Person, any entity of which securities or other ownership interests having ordinary voting power to elect a
majority of the board of directors or other persons performing similar functions are at any time directly or indirectly owned by such Person.

�Superior Proposal� means any bona fide written Acquisition Proposal (with all references to 15% in the definition of Acquisition Proposal being
treated as references to 50.1% for these purposes) that did not result from or arise in connection with a breach of this Agreement by the
Company and that the Company Board of Directors determines in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel and financial
advisors, is reasonably capable of being consummated, and if consummated would be more favorable to the Company�s stockholders (in their
capacity as such) from a financial point of view than the Transaction, taking into account (i) all financial, regulatory, legal and other aspects of
such Acquisition Proposal (including the existence of financing conditions, the conditionality of any financing commitments and the likelihood
and timing of consummation) and (ii) any adjustment to the terms and conditions of this Agreement in response to such Acquisition Proposal
that have been delivered to the Company by Parent in writing during the Notice Period contemplated by Section 6.03(f), that Parent has
irrevocably committed to in writing and that are binding on Parent.

�Tax� means any and all taxes, including (i) any net income, alternative or add-on minimum, gross income, gross receipts, sales, use, ad valorem,
value added, transfer, franchise, profits, license, registration, recording, documentary, conveyancing, gains, withholding, payroll, employment,
excise, severance, stamp, occupation, premium, property, environmental or windfall profit, custom duty, escheat or other tax, governmental fee
or other like assessment or charge of any kind whatsoever, together with any interest, penalty, addition to tax or
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additional amount imposed by any governmental authority responsible for the imposition of any such tax (United States (federal, state or local)
or foreign), (ii) in the case of any Acquired Company, any liability for the payment of any amount described in clause (i) as a result of being or
having been before the Closing Date a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group, and (iii) liability for the payment of
any amounts of the type described in clause (i) as a result of being party to any agreement or any express or implied obligation to indemnify any
other Person.

�Tax Return� means any return, report, declaration, claim for refund, information return or other document (including schedules thereto, other
attachments thereto, amendments thereof, or any related or supporting information) filed or required to be filed with any taxing authority in
connection with the determination, assessment or collection of any Tax, or the administration of any laws, regulations or administrative
requirements relating to any Tax.

�Triggering Event� shall be deemed to have occurred if: (i) the Company Board of Directors shall have effected a Change of Board
Recommendation; (ii) the Company shall have failed to include in the Prospectus/Proxy Statement the Company Board Recommendation or a
statement to the effect that the Company Board of Directors has determined that the Transaction is in the best interests of the Company�s
stockholders; (iii) an Acquisition Proposal is publicly announced, and the Company Board of Directors fails to publicly reaffirm the Company
Board Recommendation, or fails to publicly reaffirm its determination that the Transaction is in the best interests of the Company�s stockholders,
within 10 Business Days after Parent requests in writing (but in no event later than the Business Day prior to the date of the Company�s
Stockholder Meeting if the Company has been given such written request at least three Business Days prior to the Company�s Stockholder
Meeting) that such recommendation or determination be reaffirmed; (iv) the Company Board of Directors shall have approved, endorsed or
publicly recommended to its stockholders any Acquisition Proposal; (v) the Company shall have entered into any letter of intent or any Contract
relating to any Acquisition Proposal (other than a confidentiality agreement as contemplated by Section 6.03(d)); (vi) a tender or exchange offer
relating to securities of the Company shall have been commenced and the Company shall not have sent to its securityholders, within 10 Business
Days after the commencement of such tender or exchange offer, a statement disclosing that the Company recommends rejection of such tender
or exchange offer or (vii) any of the Acquired Companies shall have intentionally and materially breached the provisions set forth in
Section 6.03.
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�Technology� means and includes diagrams, inventions (whether or not patentable), invention disclosures, know-how, methods, network
configurations and architectures, proprietary information, protocols, schematics, design information, bills of material, build instructions, tooling
requirements, manufacturing processes, specifications, technical data, software code (in any form, including source code and executable or
object code), build scripts, test scripts, algorithms, APIs, subroutines, techniques, user interfaces, URLs, IP cores, net lists, GDSII files,
photomasks, domain names, web sites, works of authorship, documentation (including instruction manuals, samples, studies, and summaries),
databases and data collections, any other forms of technology, in each case whether or not embodied in any tangible form and including all
tangible embodiments of any of the foregoing.

(b) Each of the following terms is defined in the Section set forth opposite such term:

Term Section
401(k) Plan 6.05
Acquisition 9.03(i)(i)
Acquisition Proposal 9.03(i)(i)
Agreement Preamble
Alternative Acquisition Agreement 6.03(f)(i)
Book-Entry Shares 3.02(a)
Cancelled Shares 3.01(d)
Cashed Out Award Consideration 3.06(a)
Cashed Out Compensatory Award 3.06(a)
Certificate 3.01(b)
Change of Board Recommendation 6.02(c)
Closing 2.01
Closing Date 2.01
Code Recitals
Company Preamble
Company Board of Directors Recitals
Company Board Recommendation 4.02(b)
Company Closing Certificate 8.02(d)(i)
Company Cure Period 9.01(g)
Company Financial Advisor 4.22
Company Financial Statements 4.06(b)
Company Fundamental Representations 8.02(a)(i)
Company Material Contract 4.09(a)
Company Real Property 4.12(a)
Company SEC Documents 4.06(a)
Company Securities 4.05(c)
Company Stockholder Meeting 6.02(a)
Company Termination Fee 9.03(b)(i)
Confidentiality Agreement 7.03(a)
D&O Insurance 7.06(b)
Continuing Employee 7.05(a)
Delaware Secretary of State 2.02(a)
DGCL Recitals
Dissenting Share 3.07(a)
DLLCA Recitals
EDGAR 4
Effective Time 2.02(a)
Employee Plans 4.18(b)
End Date 9.01(b)
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Term Section
Exchange Agent 3.02(a)
Exchange Fund 3.02(a)
Export Laws 4.10(b)
Final Exercise Date 7.04(b)
First Certificate of Merger 2.02(a)
First Merger Recitals
Indemnified Persons 7.06(a)
Interim Surviving Corporation 2.02(a)
Intervening Event 6.03(e)
Maximum Annual Premium 7.06(b)
Intervening Event Notice Period 6.03(e)(i)
Merger Sub Preamble
Non-Employee Compensatory Award 3.06(a)
Notice Period 6.03(f)(i)
Other Interested Party 6.03(c)
Parent Preamble
Parent Benefit Plans 5.15
Parent Board of Directors Recitals
Parent Closing Certificate 8.03(d)(i)
Parent Cure Period 9.01(h)
Parent Financial Advisor 5.17
Parent Financial Statements 5.07(b)
Parent Fundamental Representations 8.03(a)(i)
Parent Material Contracts 5.10(a)
Parent Preferred Stock 5.05(a)
Parent Related Person 5.16
Parent SEC Documents 5.07(a)
Permits 4.16
Permitted Liens 4.13(a)(vii)
Permitted Source Code Delivery 4.14(l)
Real Property Lease 4.12(a)
Related Person 4.20
Required Company Stockholder Approval 4.02(a)
Sarbanes-Oxley Act 4.06(d)
Second Certificate of Merger 2.03(a)
Second Merger Recitals
Second Merger Sub Preamble
Section 16 Information 7.09
Significant Supplier 4.21
Standard Technology Contract 4.09(a)(ii)
Stock Issuance 3.02(g)
Support Agreements Recitals
Surviving Company 2.03(a)
Tax Representation Letters 6.07(c)
Transaction Recitals
Vested Compensatory Award 3.06(a)
WARN Act 4.18(r)
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Section 1.02 Definitional and Interpretative Provisions.

(a) The words �hereof,� �herein� and �hereunder� and words of like import used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to
any particular provision of this Agreement.

(b) The captions herein are included for convenience of reference only and shall be ignored in the construction or interpretation hereof.
References to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules are to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules of this Agreement unless otherwise
specified.

(c) All Exhibits and Schedules annexed hereto or referred to herein are hereby incorporated in and made a part of this Agreement as if set forth
in full herein. Any capitalized terms used in any Exhibit or Schedule but not otherwise defined therein, shall have the meaning as defined in this
Agreement.

(d) Any singular term in this Agreement shall be deemed to include the plural, and any plural term the singular, and words denoting either
gender shall include both genders as the context requires. Where a word or phrase is defined herein, each of its other grammatical forms shall
have a corresponding meaning.

(e) Whenever the words �include,� �includes� or �including� are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words �without
limitation,� whether or not they are in fact followed by those words or words of like import.

(f) The word �party� shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be construed to mean a party to this Agreement. Any reference to a party to this
Agreement or any other agreement or document contemplated hereby shall include such party�s successors and permitted assigns.

(g) A reference to any legislation or to any provision of any legislation shall include any modification, amendment, re-enactment thereof, any
legislative provision substituted therefore and all rules, regulations and statutory instruments issued or related to such legislation.

(h) Any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not be applied in the construction or
interpretation of this Agreement. No prior draft of this Agreement nor any course of performance or course of dealing shall be used in the
interpretation or construction of this Agreement. No parole evidence shall be introduced in the construction or interpretation of this Agreement
unless the ambiguity or uncertainty in issue is plainly discernable from a reading of this Agreement without consideration of any extrinsic
evidence. Although the same or similar subject matters may be addressed in different provisions of this Agreement, the parties intend that,
except as reasonably apparent on the face of the Agreement or as expressly provided in this Agreement, each such provision shall be read
separately, be given independent significance and not be construed as limiting any other provision of this Agreement (whether or not more
general or more specific in scope, substance or content). The doctrine of election of remedies shall not apply in constructing or interpreting the
remedies provisions of this Agreement or the equitable power of a court considering this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby.

(i) For purposes of this Agreement, an �intentional breach� or a breach of this agreement which is �intended� or �intentional� or a breach which is
modified by words of similar import as used herein shall mean that a party knowingly undertook an action when such party knew or should
reasonably be expected to know that such action was, or could reasonably be expected to be determined to be, a breach of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 2.

DESCRIPTION OF THE TRANSACTION

Section 2.01 The Closing. The consummation of the Transaction (the �Closing�) shall take place at the offices of Latham & Watkins LLP, 140
Scott Drive, Menlo Park, California 94025 at 8:00 a.m. local time on a
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date to be specified by the parties, which shall be no later than the second Business Day after the satisfaction or waiver (to the extent permitted
hereunder) of the last of the conditions set forth in Article 8 to be satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be
satisfied or waived at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver (to the extent permitted hereunder) of those conditions), or at such
other date, time or location as Parent and the Company may otherwise agree in writing. The date on which the Closing actually takes place is
referred to in this Agreement as the �Closing Date.�

Section 2.02 The First Merger.

(a) At the Closing, the parties shall cause the First Merger to be consummated by filing with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (the
�Delaware Secretary of State�) a certificate of merger in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the �First Certificate of Merger�) and executed in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the DGCL, and shall make all other filings or recordings required under the DGCL in order to
consummate the First Merger. The First Merger shall become effective at the time the First Certificate of Merger has been filed with the
Delaware Secretary of State or at such later time as shall be agreed upon by Parent and the Company and specified in the Certificate of Merger
(the �Effective Time�). As a result of the First Merger, the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease and the Company, subject to
Section 2.03, shall continue its existence as a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent under the laws of the State of Delaware. The Company, in its
capacity as the corporation surviving the First Merger, is sometimes referred to in this Agreement as the �Interim Surviving Corporation.�

(b) The First Merger shall have the effects set forth in this Agreement and in the applicable provisions of the DGCL. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing (and subject thereto), at the Effective Time, all of the property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of the
Company and Merger Sub shall vest in the Interim Surviving Corporation, and all debts, liabilities and duties of the Company and Merger Sub
shall become the debts, liabilities and duties of the Interim Surviving Corporation.

(c) At the Effective Time, (i) the certificate of incorporation of Merger Sub in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the
certificate of incorporation of the Interim Surviving Corporation, except that the name of the corporation set forth therein shall be changed to the
name of the Company, and (ii) the bylaws of Merger Sub in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the bylaws of the Interim
Surviving Corporation except that the name of the corporation set forth therein shall be changed to the name of the Company, in each case, until
thereafter amended in accordance with the DGCL and this Agreement and as provided in such certificate of incorporation or bylaws and until the
Second Merger becomes effective.

(d) From and after the Effective Time, the officers of the Company shall be the officers of the Interim Surviving Corporation and the directors of
Merger Sub shall be the directors of the Interim Surviving Corporation, in each case, until their respective successors are duly elected and
qualified in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Interim Surviving Corporation and until the Second Merger
becomes effective. On or prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall deliver to Parent evidence satisfactory to Parent of the resignations of the
directors of the Company, such resignations to be effective as of the Effective Time.

(e) If, at any time after the Effective Time, the Interim Surviving Corporation shall consider or be advised that any further deeds, assignments or
assurances in law or any other acts are necessary or desirable to (i) vest, perfect or confirm, of record or otherwise, in the Interim Surviving
Corporation its right, title or interest in, to or under any of the property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of the Company or
(ii) otherwise carry out the provisions of this Agreement, the Company and its officers and directors shall be deemed to have granted to the
Interim Surviving Corporation an irrevocable power of attorney to execute and deliver all such deeds, assignments or assurances in law and to
take all acts necessary, proper or desirable to vest, perfect or confirm title to and possession of such property, rights, privileges, powers and
franchises in the Interim Surviving Corporation and otherwise to carry out the provisions of this Agreement, and the officers and directors
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of the Interim Surviving Corporation are authorized in the name of the Company or otherwise to take any and all such action.

Section 2.03 The Second Merger.

(a) Immediately following the Effective Time, Parent shall cause the Second Merger to be consummated by filing with the Delaware Secretary
of State a certificate of merger in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C (the �Second Certificate of Merger�) and executed in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the DGCL and the DLLCA, and shall make all other filings or recordings required under the DGCL and DLLCA in order
to consummate the Second Merger. There shall be no conditions to the completion of the Second Merger other than the completion of the First
Merger. The Second Merger shall become effective at the time the Second Certificate of Merger has been filed with the Delaware Secretary of
State. As a result of the Second Merger, the separate corporate existence of the Interim Surviving Corporation shall cease and Second Merger
Sub shall continue its existence as a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent under the laws of the State of Delaware. Second Merger Sub, in its
capacity as the entity surviving the Second Merger, is sometimes referred to in this Agreement as the �Surviving Company.�

(b) The Second Merger shall have the effects set forth in this Agreement and in the applicable provisions of the DGCL and the DLLCA. Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing (and subject thereto), at the effective time of the Second Merger, except as otherwise agreed to pursuant
to the terms of this Agreement, all of the property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of the Interim Surviving Corporation shall vest in
Second Merger Sub as the surviving entity in the Second Merger, and all debts, liabilities and duties of the Interim Surviving Corporation shall
become the debts, liabilities and duties of Second Merger Sub as the surviving entity in the Second Merger.

(c) At the effective time of the Second Merger, the organizational documents of the Second Merger Sub in effect immediately prior to the
effective time of the Second Merger shall be the applicable organizational documents of the Surviving Company (with any reasonable
modifications, including as required by the DLLCA), in each case, until thereafter amended in accordance with the DLLCA and as provided in
such organizational documents.

(d) From and after the effective time of the Second Merger, the officers of the Second Merger Sub shall be the officers of the Surviving
Company, until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified in accordance with the organizational documents of the Surviving
Company. For the avoidance of doubt, the Surviving Company shall initially be managed by Parent, as its sole member.

(e) If, at any time after the effective time of the Second Merger, the Surviving Company shall consider or be advised that any further deeds,
assignments or assurances in law or any other acts are necessary or desirable to (i) vest, perfect or confirm, of record or otherwise, in the
Surviving Company its right, title or interest in, to or under any of the property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of the Interim Surviving
Corporation or (ii) otherwise carry out the provisions of this Agreement, the Interim Surviving Corporation and its officers and directors shall be
deemed to have granted to the Surviving Company an irrevocable power of attorney to execute and deliver all such deeds, assignments or
assurances in law and to take all acts necessary, proper or desirable to vest, perfect or confirm title to and possession of such property, rights,
privileges, powers and franchises in the Surviving Company and otherwise to carry out the provisions of this Agreement, and the officers and
sole member of the Surviving Company are authorized in the name of the Interim Surviving Corporation or otherwise to take any and all such
action.
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ARTICLE 3.

CONVERSION OF SECURITIES

Section 3.01 Effect of First Merger on Capital Stock. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the First Merger and without any action on the part
of Parent, Merger Sub, Second Merger Sub or the Company or their respective stockholders or members, as applicable:

(a) each share of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than the Cancelled Shares and
except for any Dissenting Shares) shall be converted into and shall thereafter represent the right to receive the Per Share Consideration.

(b) From and after the Effective Time, all of the shares of Company Common Stock converted into the Per Share Consideration pursuant to this
Article 3 shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be cancelled and retired and shall cease to exist, and each holder of a certificate
(each a �Certificate�) previously representing any such shares of Company Common Stock shall thereafter cease to have any rights with respect to
such securities, except the right to receive (i) the Per Share Consideration, (ii) any dividends and other distributions in accordance with
Section 3.02(g), and (iii) any cash to be paid in lieu of any fractional share of Parent Common Stock in accordance with Section 3.03.

(c) If at any time during the period between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, any change in the outstanding shares of capital
stock of Parent or the Company shall occur by reason of any reclassification, recapitalization, stock split or combination, exchange or
readjustment of shares, or any stock dividend thereon with a record date during such period, the Per Share Consideration, the Per Share Cash
Amount, the Per Share Exchange Ratio and any other number or amount contained in this Agreement which is based on the price of Parent
Common Stock or Company Common Stock or the number of shares of Parent Common Stock or Company Common Stock, as the case may be,
shall be equitably adjusted to reflect such reclassification, recapitalization, stock split or combination, exchange or readjustment of shares, or
stock dividend thereon.

(d) At the Effective Time, all shares of Company Common Stock that are owned directly by Parent, Merger Sub or Second Merger Sub
immediately prior to the Effective Time or held in treasury of the Company (in each case, other than any such Company Common Stock held on
behalf of third parties) (the �Cancelled Shares�) shall, by virtue of the First Merger, and without any action on the part of the holder thereof, be
cancelled and retired without any conversion thereof and shall cease to exist and no payment shall be made in respect thereof.

(e) At the Effective Time, by virtue of the First Merger and without any action on the part of the holder thereof, each issued and outstanding
share of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be
converted into and become one fully paid and nonassessable share of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Interim Surviving
Corporation.

Section 3.02 Surrender and Payment.

(a) Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall appoint Mellon Investor Services LLC as the exchange agent (the �Exchange Agent�) and promptly
following the Effective Time shall cause to be deposited with the Exchange Agent, in trust for the benefit of the holders of Company Common
Stock, an amount of cash in U.S. dollars sufficient to pay, and shall make available to the Exchange Agent certificates representing the shares of
Parent Common Stock sufficient to issue, the Per Share Consideration payable and issuable pursuant to Section 3.01 and the Cashed Out Award
Consideration payable pursuant to Section 3.06, payable, in the case of Company Common Stock, upon due surrender of the Certificates (or
effective affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or non-certificated Company Common Stock represented by book-entry (�Book-Entry Shares�) and
payable pursuant to the provisions of this Article 3. Following the Effective Time, Parent agrees to make available to the
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Exchange Agent, from time to time as needed, cash in U.S. dollars sufficient to pay any dividends and other distributions pursuant to
Section 3.02(g). Any cash and certificates representing Parent Common Stock deposited with the Exchange Agent (including the amount of any
dividends or other distributions payable with respect thereto and such cash in lieu of fractional shares to be paid pursuant to Section 3.03) shall
be referred to in this Agreement as the �Exchange Fund.� The Exchange Agent shall, pursuant to irrevocable instructions, deliver the Per Share
Consideration contemplated to be issued pursuant to Section 3.01 and the Cashed Out Award Consideration contemplated to be issued pursuant
to Section 3.06(a) out of the Exchange Fund. Except as contemplated by this Section 3.02, the Exchange Fund shall not be used for any other
purpose.

(b) As soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Time and in any event not later than the second Business Day following the Effective
Time, Parent will cause the Exchange Agent to send to each holder of record of shares of Company Common Stock (other than the Cancelled
Shares and except for any Dissenting Shares) (i) a letter of transmittal for use in such exchange (which shall specify that the delivery shall be
effected, and risk of loss and title shall pass, only upon proper delivery of the Certificates (or effective affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or
Book-Entry Shares to the Exchange Agent) in such form as Parent and the Company may reasonably agree, for use in effecting delivery of
shares of Company Common Stock to the Exchange Agent, and (ii) instructions for use in effecting the surrender of Certificates (or effective
affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Shares in exchange for the Per Share Consideration. Exchange of any Book-Entry Shares shall
be effected in accordance with Parent�s customary procedures with respect to securities represented by book entry.

(c) Each holder of shares of Company Common Stock that have been converted into a right to receive the Per Share Consideration will be
entitled to receive in exchange therefor (A) one or more shares of Parent Common Stock (which shall be in non-certificated book-entry form
unless a physical certificate is requested) representing, in the aggregate, the whole number of shares of Parent Common Stock, if any, that such
holder has the right to receive pursuant to Section 3.01 (after taking into account all shares of Company Common Stock then held by such
holder) and/or (B) a check in the amount equal to the cash portion of the Per Share Consideration that such holder has the right to receive
pursuant to Section 3.01 and this Article 3, including cash payable in lieu of fractional shares pursuant to Section 3.03 and dividends and other
distributions pursuant to Section 3.02(g) (less any required Tax withholding). Each holder of a Cashed Out Compensatory Award that has been
converted into a right to receive cash will be entitled to receive in exchange therefor a check in the amount equal to the Cashed Out Award
Consideration that such holder has the right to receive pursuant to Section 3.06(a) and this Article 3 (less any required Tax withholding). No
interest shall be paid or accrued on any Per Share Consideration or Cashed Out Award Consideration, cash in lieu of fractional shares or on any
unpaid dividends and distributions payable to holders of Certificates or Company Stock Options. Until so surrendered, each such Certificate
shall, after the Effective Time, represent for all purposes only the right to receive such Per Share Consideration.

(d) If any cash payment is to be made to a Person other than the Person in whose name the applicable surrendered Certificate is registered, it
shall be a condition of such payment that the Person requesting such payment shall pay any transfer Taxes required by reason of the making of
such cash payment to a Person other than the registered holder of the surrendered Certificate or shall establish to the satisfaction of the Exchange
Agent that such Tax has been paid or is not payable. If any portion of the Per Share Consideration is to be registered in the name of a Person
other than the Person in whose name the applicable surrendered Certificate is registered, it shall be a condition to the registration thereof that the
surrendered Certificate shall be properly endorsed or otherwise be in proper form for transfer and that the Person requesting such delivery of the
Per Share Consideration shall pay to the Exchange Agent any transfer Taxes required as a result of such registration in the name of a Person
other than the registered holder of such Certificate or establish to the satisfaction of the Exchange Agent that such Tax has been paid or is not
payable.

(e) After the Effective Time, there shall be no further registration of Transfers of shares of Company Common Stock. From and after the
Effective Time, the holders of Certificates representing shares of Company Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time
shall cease to have any rights with respect to
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such shares of Company Common Stock except as otherwise provided in this Agreement or by Applicable Law. If, after the Effective Time,
Certificates are presented to the Exchange Agent, the Interim Surviving Corporation or Parent, they shall be cancelled and exchanged for the
consideration provided for, and in accordance with the procedures set forth, in this Article 3.

(f) Any portion of the Exchange Fund that remains unclaimed by the holders of shares of Company Common Stock or holders of Cashed Out
Compensatory Awards after the one-year anniversary of the Effective Time shall be returned to Parent, upon demand. Any holder of shares of
Company Common Stock who has not exchanged his shares of Company Common Stock for the Per Share Consideration in accordance with
this Section 3.02 and any holder of a Cashed Out Compensatory Award who has not received the Cashed Out Award Consideration in
accordance with Section 3.06(a) prior to that time shall thereafter look only to Parent for delivery of the Per Share Consideration or Cashed Out
Award Consideration in respect of such holder�s shares of Company Common Stock or Cashed Out Compensatory Award. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, neither Parent, the Company nor the Interim Surviving Corporation shall be liable to any Company Common Stock or holder of
Cashed Out Compensatory Awards for any Per Share Consideration or Cashed Out Award Consideration properly delivered to a public official
pursuant to applicable abandoned property laws. Any Per Share Consideration or Cashed Out Award Consideration remaining unclaimed by
holders of shares of Company Common Stock or holders of Cashed Out Compensatory Awards immediately prior to such time as such amounts
would otherwise escheat to or become property of any Governmental Authority shall, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, become
property of Parent free and clear of any claims or interest of any Person previously entitled thereto.

(g) No dividends or other distributions with respect to shares of Parent Common Stock issued in the First Merger shall be paid to the holder of
any unsurrendered Certificates or Book-Entry Shares until such Certificates or Book-Entry Shares are surrendered as provided in this
Section 3.02. Following such surrender, subject to the effect of escheat, Tax or other Applicable Law, there shall be paid, without interest, to the
record holder of the shares of Parent Common Stock issued in exchange therefor (i) at the time of such surrender, an amount equal to all
dividends and other distributions payable in respect of such shares of Parent Common Stock with a record date after the Effective Time and a
payment date on or prior to the date of such surrender and not previously paid and (ii) at the appropriate payment date, an amount equal to the
dividends or other distributions payable with respect to such shares of Parent Common Stock with a record date after the Effective Time but with
a payment date subsequent to such surrender. For purposes of dividends or other distributions in respect of shares of Parent Common Stock, all
shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued pursuant to the First Merger (the �Stock Issuance�) and all shares of Parent Common Stock to be
issued pursuant to Section 3.06(a) shall be entitled to dividends pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence as if issued and outstanding as
of the Effective Time.

(h) Any portion of the Per Share Consideration deposited with the Exchange Agent pursuant to this Section 3.02 to pay for shares for which
appraisal rights shall have been perfected shall be returned to Parent, upon demand.

(i) All Per Share Consideration or Cashed Out Award Consideration issued and paid upon conversion of the Company Common Stock or the
Cashed Out Compensatory Awards, respectively, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement (including any cash paid pursuant to
Section 3.03), shall be deemed to have been issued and paid in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to such Company Common Stock or
Cashed Out Compensatory Awards, respectively.

Section 3.03 Fractional Shares. No fractional shares of Parent Common Stock shall be issued in connection with the First Merger, and no
certificates or scrip for any such fractional shares shall be issued. Any holder of Company Common Stock who would otherwise be entitled to
receive a fraction of a share of Parent Common Stock (after aggregating all fractional shares of Parent Common Stock issuable to such holder)
shall, in lieu of such fraction of a share and upon surrender of such holder�s Company Stock Certificates, be paid in cash

A-16

Edgar Filing: STEEL PARTNERS II L P - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 159



Table of Contents

the dollar amount (rounded to the nearest whole cent), without interest, determined by multiplying such fraction by the closing price of a share
of Parent Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the date the First Merger becomes effective.

Section 3.04 Lost Certificates. If any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the
Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if required by Parent or the Surviving Company, the posting by such Person
of a bond, in such reasonable amount as the Surviving Company may direct, as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with
respect to such Certificate, the Exchange Agent will issue in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate the Per Share Consideration
to be paid in respect of the shares of Company Common Stock represented by such Certificate as contemplated by this Article 3.

Section 3.05 Withholding Rights. Each of Parent, Merger Sub and the Interim Surviving Corporation shall be entitled to deduct and withhold,
or cause the Exchange Agent to deduct and withhold, from the consideration otherwise payable to any Person pursuant to this Agreement such
amounts as it is required to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of such payment pursuant to the Code or under any provision of
federal, state, local or foreign Tax law. To the extent that amounts are so deducted or withheld by Parent, Merger Sub, the Interim Surviving
Corporation or the Exchange Agent, as the case may be, such deducted or withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement
as having been paid to the Person in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made.

Section 3.06 Treatment of Company Compensatory Awards and Restricted Stock Awards.

(a) At the Effective Time by virtue of the First Merger and without any action on the part of the holders thereof, (1) each Company
Compensatory Award that is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and that has a per share exercise price that is less than the
Cash-Out Per Share Consideration, and which pursuant to its terms was and/or shall become vested as of the Effective Time (each a �Vested
Compensatory Award�), (2) each Additional Cashed Out Award (if any) and (3) unless determined otherwise by Parent, each Company
Compensatory Award that is held by a person who is not an employee of, or a consultant to, the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company
immediately prior to the Effective Time (the �Non-Employee Compensatory Award� and together with the Vested Compensatory Awards and the
Additional Cashed Out Awards each a �Cashed Out Compensatory Award�), shall not be assumed by Parent pursuant to this Section 3.06 and
shall, immediately prior to the Effective Time, be cancelled and extinguished and the vested portion thereof shall automatically be converted, as
applicable, into the right to receive an amount in cash equal to the product obtained by multiplying (x) the aggregate number of shares of
Company Common Stock that were issuable upon exercise or settlement of such Cashed Out Compensatory Award immediately prior to the
Effective Time and (y) the Cash-Out Per Share Consideration, less any per share exercise price of such Cashed Out Compensatory Award (the
�Cashed Out Award Consideration�). If any Non-Employee Compensatory Award has a per share exercise price greater than the Cash-Out Per
Share Consideration, such Non-Employee Compensatory Award, shall be cancelled and no longer outstanding and each holder of such an award
shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto. In the event any Cashed Out Compensatory Award is subject to Section 409A of the Code, as
reasonably determined by Parent, the payment of the amount of cash with respect thereto shall be delayed to the extent necessary to comply with
Section 409A of the Code.

(b) At the Effective Time by virtue of the First Merger and without any action on the part of the holders thereof, each Company Compensatory
Award that is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, and which is not a Cashed Out Compensatory Award, shall be assumed by
Parent and converted automatically at the Effective Time into an option, restricted stock unit award, or other equity-based award, as the case
may be, denominated in shares of Parent Common Stock and which has other terms and conditions substantially similar to those of the related
Company Compensatory Award except that (i) the number of shares of Parent Common Stock subject to each such award shall be determined by
multiplying the number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Company Compensatory Award immediately prior to the
Effective Time by the
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Compensatory Award Exchange Ratio (rounded down to the nearest whole share) and (ii) if applicable, the exercise or purchase price per share
of Parent Common Stock (rounded upwards to the nearest whole cent) shall equal (x) the per share exercise or purchase price for the shares of
Company Common Stock otherwise purchasable pursuant to such Company Compensatory Award immediately prior to the Effective Time
divided by (y) the Compensatory Award Exchange Ratio; provided, however, that in no case shall the exchange of a Company Stock Option be
performed in a manner that is not in compliance with the adjustment requirements of Section 409A of the Code. It is the intention of the parties
that each Company Stock Option so assumed by Parent shall qualify following the Effective Time as an incentive stock option as defined in
Section 422 of the Code to the extent permitted under Section 422 of the Code and to the extent such Company Stock Option qualified as an
incentive stock option prior to the Effective Time.

(c) At the Effective Time by virtue of the First Merger and without any action on the part of the holders thereof, each Company Restricted Stock
Award shall be treated in accordance with Section 3.01 hereof, provided, however, that any consideration payable or issuable to the holder of
such Company Restricted Stock Award shall be subject to, and payable or issuable to the holder of such Company Restricted Stock Award, in
accordance with the vesting schedule applicable to such Company Restricted Stock Award as in effect immediately prior to Effective Time.

(d) Subject to Parent�s compliance with this Section 3.06 and Section 3.01, the parties agree that, following the Effective Time, no holder of a
Company Compensatory Award or a Company Restricted Stock Award or any participant in any Company Stock Plan, or other Company
Employee Plan or employee benefit arrangement of the Company or under any employment agreement shall have any right hereunder to acquire
any capital stock or other equity interests (including any �phantom� stock or stock appreciation rights) in the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or
the Surviving Company.

Section 3.07 Dissenting Shares.

(a) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, with respect to each share of Company Common Stock as to which the holder
thereof shall have (i) not voted in favor of the First Merger nor consented thereto in writing, (ii) properly complied with the provisions of
Section 262 of the DGCL as to appraisal rights, or (iii) not effectively withdrawn or lost its rights to appraisal (each, a �Dissenting Share�), if any,
such holder shall be entitled to payment, solely from the Surviving Company, of the appraisal value of the Dissenting Shares to the extent
permitted by and in accordance with the provisions of section 262 of the DGCL; provided, however, that (x) if any holder of Dissenting Shares,
under the circumstances permitted by and in accordance with the DGCL, affirmatively withdraws or loses (through failure to perfect or
otherwise) the right to dissent or its right for appraisal of such Dissenting Shares, (y) if any holder of Dissenting Shares fails to establish his
entitlement to appraisal rights as provided in the DGCL or (z) if any holder of Dissenting Shares takes or fails to take any action the
consequence of which is that such holder is not entitled to payment for his shares under the DGCL, such holder or holders (as the case may be)
shall forfeit the right to appraisal of such shares of Company Common Stock and such shares of Company Common Stock shall thereupon cease
to constitute Dissenting Shares, and each such share of Company Common Stock shall, to the fullest extent permitted by the law, thereafter be
deemed to have been converted into and to have become, as of the Effective Time, the right to receive, without interest thereon, the Per Share
Consideration.

(b) The Company shall give Parent prompt notice of any demands received by the Company for appraisal of shares of Company Common Stock,
and Parent shall have the right to participate in all negotiations and proceedings with respect to such demands. The Company shall not, except
with the prior written consent of Parent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), (A) voluntarily make any payment
with respect to any demands for appraisal for Dissenting Shares, (B) offer to settle any such demands, (C) waive any failure to timely deliver a
written demand for appraisal in accordance with the DGCL, or (D) agree to do any of the foregoing.

A-18

Edgar Filing: STEEL PARTNERS II L P - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 161



Table of Contents

Section 3.08 Effect of Second Merger on Capital Stock. At the effective time of the Second Merger, by virtue of the Second Merger and
without any action on the part of Parent, Second Merger Sub, the Interim Surviving Corporation or any holder of the capital stock thereof, each
issued and outstanding share of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Interim Surviving Corporation issued and outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into and become one validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable unit of membership
interest in the Surviving Company.

ARTICLE 4.

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Subject to Section 10.05, except (i) as set forth in the Company Disclosure Schedule or (ii) as disclosed in any Company SEC Documents filed
with the SEC on or after January 1, 2009 and prior to the date of this Agreement by the Company and made available to Parent (or Parent may
obtain from the Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval (�EDGAR�) database of the SEC) (other than (A) any information that is
contained solely in the �Risk Factors� section of such Company SEC Documents, except to the extent such information in �Risk Factors� consists of
factual historical statements, and (B) any forward-looking statements contained in such Company SEC Documents that are of a nature that they
speculate about future developments), the Company represents and warrants to Parent:

Section 4.01 Corporate Existence and Power.

(a) The Company is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware. The
Company has all corporate powers and all governmental licenses, authorizations, permits, consents and approvals required to carry on its
business as now conducted, except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. The Company is duly
qualified to do business as a foreign corporation and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted by it
makes such qualification necessary, except where the failure to be so qualified and in good standing has not had, either individually or in the
aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Section 4.01(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct and complete list of the Company�s Subsidiaries as of the date
of this Agreement. Each of the Subsidiaries of the Company (i) has been duly organized, and is validly existing and in good standing under the
Applicable Laws of the jurisdiction of its organization; (ii) is duly licensed or qualified to do business and is in good standing as a foreign entity
in all jurisdiction in which the conduct of its business or the activities it is engaged makes such licensing or qualification necessary, except
where the failure to be so qualified and in good standing has not had, either individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse
Effect; and (iii) has all corporate and all governmental licenses, authorizations, permits, consents and approvals required to carry on its business
as now conducted.

(c) The Company has delivered or made available to Parent accurate and complete copies, in all material respects, of: (i) the certificate of
incorporation and bylaws (or equivalent constituent document), including all amendments thereto, of each Acquired Company; (ii) the stock
records of each Acquired Company; and (iii) the minutes and other records of the meetings and other proceedings (including any actions taken
by written consent or otherwise without a meeting) of the stockholders of each Acquired Company, the Company Board of Directors and all
committees thereof, and the boards of directors and committees thereof or equivalent governing bodies of the Company�s Subsidiaries since
January 1, 2008. None of the Acquired Companies is in violation of any of the provisions of its certificate of incorporation or bylaws (or
equivalent constituent documents), including all amendments thereto.
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Section 4.02 Corporate Authorization.

(a) The Company has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into and to perform its obligations under this Agreement; and the
execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part
of the Company and the Company Board of Directors. Assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent,
Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub, this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the
Company in accordance with its terms, subject to (i) laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of debtors, and
(ii) rules of law governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority
of the issued and outstanding shares of Company Common Stock is the only vote of the holders of any of the Company Capital Stock necessary
to adopt this Agreement and thereby approve the First Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby (the �Required Company
Stockholder Approval�).

(b) At a meeting duly called and held, the Company Board of Directors has (i) unanimously determined that this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated hereby are fair to, advisable and in the best interests of the Company�s stockholders, (ii) unanimously approved and adopted this
Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and (iii) unanimously resolved (subject to Section 6.03(e)) to recommend adoption of this
Agreement and approval of the First Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby by the stockholders of the Company (such
recommendation, the �Company Board Recommendation�).

Section 4.03 Governmental Authorization. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the
consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby require no action by or filing with, any Governmental Authority other
than (i) the filing of the Certificate of Merger and appropriate documents with the relevant authorities of other states in which the Company is
qualified to do business, (ii) compliance with any applicable requirements of the HSR Act and any other laws analogous to the HSR Act existing
in foreign jurisdictions, (iii) compliance with any applicable requirements of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, and any other applicable U.S.
state or federal securities laws, and (iv) any actions or filings the absence of which would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be
expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect on the Company or materially impair the ability of the Company to consummate the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 4.04 Non-Contravention. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not (i) contravene, conflict with, or result in any violation or breach of any provision of the
certificate of incorporation or bylaws (or comparable organizational documents) of any Acquired Company, (ii) assuming compliance with the
matters referred to in Section 4.03, and subject to obtaining the Required Company Stockholder Approval, contravene, conflict with or result in
a material violation or material breach of any provision of any Applicable Law, (iii) assuming compliance with the matters referred to in
Section 4.03 and subject to obtaining the Required Company Stockholder Approval in order to adopt this Agreement require any consent or
other action by any Person under, constitute a default, or an event that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default,
under, or cause or permit the termination, cancellation, acceleration or other change of any right or obligation or the loss of any benefit to which
any Acquired Company is entitled under any provision of any Contract or any license, franchise, permit, certificate, approval or other similar
authorization affecting, or relating in any way to, the assets or business of any Acquired Company, except as would not reasonably be expected
to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect or prevent or materially delay the consummation of the First
Merger or the ability of the Company to fully perform any of its covenants and obligations under this Agreement or (iv) result in the creation of
any material Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) on any asset of any Acquired Company.
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Section 4.05 Capitalization; Subsidiaries.

(a) The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 250,000,000 shares of Company Common Stock and 10,000,000 shares of Company
Preferred Stock. As of September 14, 2010, there were outstanding (i) 21,157,082 shares of Company Common Stock, (ii) zero shares of
Company Preferred Stock, (iii) Company Stock Options to purchase an aggregate of 3,671,211 shares of Company Common Stock (of which
options to purchase an aggregate of 2,613,060 shares of Company Common Stock were exercisable), and (iv) 204,681 Company RSUs. As of
September 14, 2010, 133,588 shares of Company Common Stock constitute Company Restricted Stock Awards.

(b) As of the date of this Agreement, the Company has reserved 6,542,834 shares of Company Common Stock for issuance on exercise of
Company Stock Options or vesting of Company Compensatory Awards. All outstanding shares of Company Common Stock have been, and all
shares that may be issued pursuant to the Company Stock Option Plans will be, when issued in accordance with the respective terms thereof,
duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable. There are no shares of Company Common Stock that are subject to
vesting or forfeiture restrictions (other than the shares of subject to Company Restricted Stock Awards. Section 4.05(b)(i) of the Company
Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and correct list of each outstanding Company Compensatory Award, including the holder, date of
grant, the number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Company Compensatory Award at the time of grant, the number of
shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Company Compensatory Award as of the date of this Agreement, exercise price, vesting
schedule (including the number of vested and unvested shares as of September 14, 2010) and whether such Company Compensatory Award is an
�incentive stock option� within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code, the date on which such Company Compensatory Award expires and
whether the vesting of such Company Compensatory Award shall be subject to any acceleration in connection with the First Merger or any other
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(c) Except as set forth in this Section 4.05 or Section 4.05 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, as of September 14, 2010, there are no
outstanding (i) shares of capital stock or voting securities of the Company, (ii) securities of the Company convertible into or exchangeable for
shares of capital stock or voting securities of the Company or (iii) options or other rights to acquire from the Company, or other obligation of the
Company to issue, any capital stock, voting securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable for capital stock or voting securities of the
Company (the items in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) being referred to collectively as the �Company Securities�).

(d) All outstanding shares of Company Common Stock have been, in all material respects, issued and granted in compliance with (i) all
applicable securities laws and other Applicable Laws and (ii) all requirements set forth in applicable Contracts.

(e) Section 4.05(e) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of any shares of its capital stock that the Company has repurchased,
redeemed or otherwise reacquired since January 1, 2008. All securities so reacquired by the Company were reacquired in compliance with (i) the
applicable provisions of the DGCL and all other Applicable Law, and (ii) all requirements set forth in applicable restricted stock purchase
agreements and other applicable Contracts in all material respects. There are no outstanding rights or obligations of the Company to repurchase
or redeem any of its securities.

(f) Section 4.05(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists for each Subsidiary of the Company the percentage of equity securities owned or
controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Company as of the date hereof. No Subsidiary of the Company has or is bound by any outstanding
subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, commitments, rights agreements or agreements of any character calling for it to issue, deliver or sell, or
cause to be issued, delivered or sold any of its equity securities or any securities convertible into, exchangeable for or representing the right to
subscribe for, purchase or otherwise receive any such equity security or obligating the Subsidiary to grant, extend or enter into any such
subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, commitments, rights
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agreements or other similar agreements. There are no outstanding contractual obligations of any Subsidiary of the Company to repurchase,
redeem or otherwise acquire any of its capital stock or other equity interests. All of the shares of capital of the Subsidiaries of the Company are
validly issued, fully paid (to the extent required under the applicable governing documents) and nonassessable and are owned by the Company
free and clear of any Liens. The Company has not agreed and is not obligated to, directly or indirectly, make any future investment in or capital
contribution or advance to any Person, other than (i) any such agreements or obligations to provide such investments, capital contributions or
advances among any of the Company or any of its direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiaries and (ii) guarantees of bank obligations of
Subsidiaries of the Company entered into in the ordinary course of business.

Section 4.06 Company SEC Documents; Company Financial Statements.

(a) The Company has delivered or made available to Parent, or Parent may obtain from the EDGAR database of the SEC, accurate and complete
copies of all registration statements, proxy statements and other statements, reports, schedules, forms and other documents filed by the Company
with the SEC since January 1, 2008, and all amendments thereto (the �Company SEC Documents�). All statements, reports, schedules, forms and
other documents required to have been filed by the Company with the SEC have been so filed on a timely basis. None of the Company�s
Subsidiaries is required to file any documents with the SEC. As of the time it was filed with the SEC (or, if amended or superseded by a filing
prior to the date of this Agreement, then on the date of such filing): (i) each of the Company SEC Documents complied in all material respects
with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act (as the case may be); (ii) none of the Company SEC Documents that
has been filed with the SEC prior to the date of this Agreement contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material
fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading, except to the extent corrected by a subsequently filed Company SEC Document that has been filed with the SEC prior to
the date of this Agreement and (iii) as of the Closing, none of the Company SEC Documents that has been filed with the SEC after the date of
this Agreement contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in
order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, except to the extent
corrected by a subsequently filed Company SEC Document that has been filed with the SEC prior to the date of Closing.

(b) The consolidated financial statements (including any related notes) contained in the Company SEC Documents (collectively, the �Company
Financial Statements�): (i) complied as to form in all material respects with the published rules and regulations of the SEC applicable thereto;
(ii) were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods covered
(except as may be indicated in the notes to such Company Financial Statements or, in the case of unaudited statements, as permitted by Form
10-Q of the SEC, and except that the unaudited Company Financial Statements may not contain footnotes and are subject to normal and
recurring year-end adjustments, none of which individually or in the aggregate is expected to be material in amount), and (iii) fairly present in all
material respects the consolidated financial position of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries as of the respective dates thereof and the
consolidated results of operations and cash flows of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries for the periods covered thereby.

(c) The Acquired Companies have established and maintain a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurances
(i) that transactions, receipts and expenditures of the Acquired Companies are being executed and made only in accordance with appropriate
authorizations of management and the Company Board of Directors, (ii) that transactions are recorded as necessary (A) to permit preparation of
financial statements in conformity with GAAP and (B) to maintain accountability for assets, (iii) regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the assets of the Acquired Companies, (iv) that the amount recorded for assets on the books and
records of the Acquired Companies are compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to
any differences and (v) accounts, notes and other receivables and inventory are recorded accurately, and proper and
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adequate procedures are implemented to effect the collection thereof on a current and timely basis. Except as set forth in the Company SEC
Documents, since December 31, 2008, there has been no change in any accounting controls, policies, principles, methods or practices, including
any change with respect to reserves (whether for bad debts, contingent liabilities or otherwise), of the Acquired Companies. The Company is,
and at all times since January 1, 2008 has been, in compliance in all material respects with the applicable listing and other rules and regulations
of NASDAQ, and has not since January 1, 2008, received any notice from NASDAQ asserting any non-compliance with any such rules and
regulations.

(d) With respect to each annual report on Form 10-K and each quarterly report on Form 10-Q included in the Company SEC Documents, the
chief executive officer and chief financial officer of the Company have made all certifications required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the
�Sarbanes-Oxley Act�) and any related rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC and NASDAQ, and the statements contained in any such
certifications are complete and correct.

(e) The �disclosure controls and procedures� (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) of the Company are reasonably
designed to ensure that all information (both financial and non-financial) required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or
submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the
SEC, and that all such information is accumulated and communicated to the management of the Company as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure and to make the certifications of the chief executive officer and chief financial officer of the Company
required under the Exchange Act with respect to such reports.

Section 4.07 Absence of Certain Changes. Since the Company Balance Sheet Date, the business of the Acquired Companies has been
conducted in the ordinary course consistent with past practices and:

(a) there has not been any event, occurrence, development or state of circumstances or facts that has had or would reasonably be expected to
have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect;

(b) there has not been any material damage, destruction or other casualty loss (whether or not covered by insurance) affecting the business or
material assets of any Acquired Company; and

(c) the Company has not taken any action that would be prohibited by Section 6.01(a) - (m) (in any case without requesting or receipt of the
consent of Parent) if such action were taken or proposed to be taken on or after the date of this Agreement.

Section 4.08 No Undisclosed Liabilities. No Acquired Company has any liabilities or obligations of a kind required to be reflected or reserved
against on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company prepared in accordance with GAAP or the notes thereto, other than:

(a) liabilities or obligations disclosed and provided for in the Company Balance Sheet or in the notes thereto;

(b) liabilities or obligations incurred by the Acquired Companies since the Company Balance Sheet Date in the ordinary course of business and
consistent with past practice;

(c) liabilities or obligations arising under this Agreement; or

(d) liabilities that would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.
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Section 4.09 Company Material Contracts.

(a) No Acquired Company is party to or bound by any of the following (a Contract responsive to any of the following categories being
hereinafter referred to as a �Company Material Contract�):

(i) any �material contract� (as such term is defined in Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K of the SEC);

(ii) any material Contract to which an Acquired Company is a party pursuant to which any Person licenses, sells, assigns or otherwise conveys or
provides to any Acquired Company any Intellectual Property Right or Technology that is used in or necessary for the operation of the business
of the Acquired Companies as conducted currently by the Acquired Companies and immediately prior to the Closing, except for (A) any
Contract for non-exclusive rights to commercially available Intellectual Property Rights or Technology for annual payments by any Acquired
Company of $200,000 or less, (B) Contracts with employees or individual contractors for the assignment of, or license to, Intellectual Property
Rights or Technology (e.g., proprietary invention assignment agreements) entered in to in the ordinary course of business consistent with past
practice, or (C) confidentiality or nondisclosure Contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice (any
Contract described in (A) through (C) is a �Standard Technology Contract�));

(iii) any material Contract to which an Acquired Company is a party pursuant to which any Acquired Company licenses, sells, assigns or
otherwise conveys or provides to any Person any Company IP, or pursuant to which any Acquired Company has agreed not to enforce any
Intellectual Property Right against any third party, except for any Contract (A) entered into in the ordinary course of business consistent with
past practice, or (B) involving less than $300,000 per year;

(iv) any Contract to which an Acquired Company is a party (except for Contracts formed by the exchange of preprinted or standardized forms by
the Company and a third party) imposing any material restriction on any Acquired Company�s right or ability (A) to compete in any line of
business or with any Person or in any area or, (B) to acquire any product or other asset or any services from any other Person, to sell any product
or other asset to or perform any services for any other Person or to transact business or deal in any other manner with any other Person, or
(C) develop or distribute any Technology;

(v) any material Contract to which an Acquired Company is a party pursuant to which (A) any Acquired Company purchases manufacturing or
assembly services, and (B) any Acquired Company purchases materials, supplies, goods, services, equipment or other assets, except for any
Contract entered into in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice involving less than $300,000 per year;

(vi) any material Contract between any Acquired Company and a third party for the sale, resale, or distribution of any of the Acquired
Companies� products or services by such third party;

(vii) any material Contract under which an Acquired Company provides services to a third party, including any consulting, development,
integration, or support services Contract;

(viii) any Contract under which an Acquired Company grants to a third party �most favored nation� terms, including �most favored nation� terms for
pricing;

(ix) any material Contract between any Acquired Company and a third party relating to marketing and advertising of any Acquired Company�s
products or services;

(x) any Contract to which an Acquired Company is a party that creates a joint venture or similar arrangement, unless immaterial to the business
of the Acquiring Companies;
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(xi) [intentionally omitted];

(xii) any Contract relating to the acquisition or disposition of any business (whether by merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise) either
(A) entered into after January 1, 2008 or (B) pursuant to which any Acquired Company has any current or future rights or obligations;

(xiii) any Contract relating to indebtedness for borrowed money or the deferred purchase price of property (in either case, whether incurred,
assumed, guaranteed or secured by any asset) and having an outstanding principal amount in excess of $200,000 individually or $500,000 in the
aggregate;

(xiv) any Contract relating to any interest rate, currency or commodity derivatives or hedging transaction;

(xv) any Contract under which (A) any Person has directly or indirectly guaranteed any liabilities or obligations of any Acquired Company or
(B) any Acquired Company has directly or indirectly guaranteed liabilities or obligations of any other Person (in each case other than
endorsements for the purposes of collection entered in the ordinary course of business);

(xvi) any Contract which creates any material Lien with respect to any asset of any Acquired Company;

(xvii) any Contract which contains any provisions requiring any Acquired Company to indemnify any other party (excluding indemnities
contained in Contracts for the purchase, sale or license of products or services in the ordinary course of business and materially consistent with
past practice pursuant to the Company�s standard form agreement(s), as provided to Parent);

(xviii) any Contract with any Related Person that would be required to be disclosed in an SEC Document;

(xix) any Contract with any Governmental Authority that involves or would reasonably expected to involve payments by or to the Acquired
Companies of $200,000 or more; and

(xx) any employment, severance, retention, bonus or other agreement with any current or former employee, officer, director, advisor or
consultant (other than vendors) of any Acquired Company pursuant to which any Acquired Company has any current or future obligations
reasonably expected to equal or exceed $150,000 in any twelve month period.

(b) The Company has delivered or made available to Parent accurate and complete copies of all written Company Material Contracts identified
in Section 4.09(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, including all amendments thereto. There are no Material Contracts that are not in
written form that would be required to be identified in Section 4.09(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.

(c) Each Company Material Contract is a valid and binding agreement of the Acquired Company party thereto, and is in full force and effect, and
no Acquired Company is and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no other party thereto is in default or breach in any material respect under the
terms of any such Contract, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no event has occurred, and no circumstance or condition exists, that (with or
without notice or lapse of time) will, or would reasonably be expected to, (i) result in a violation or breach of any of the provisions of any
Company Material Contract, (ii) give any Person the right to declare a default or exercise any remedy under any Company Material Contract,
except for such failures to be enforceable and in full force and effect and such breaches and defaults that have not had and would not be
reasonably expected to be material to the Company, (iii) give any Person the right to accelerate the maturity or performance of any Company
Material Contract, or (iv) give any Person the right to cancel, terminate or modify any Company Material Contract.
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(d) Since January 1, 2010, no Acquired Company has received any written notice or, to the Knowledge of the Company, any other
communication regarding any violation or breach of, or default under, any Company Material Contract.

Section 4.10 Compliance with Applicable Laws.

(a) Each Acquired Company is, and has at all times since January 1, 2008, been in material compliance with, and to the Knowledge of the
Company is not, and at no time since January 1, 2008 has been, by any Governmental Authority, under investigation with respect to or
threatened to be charged with or given notice of any material violation of, any Applicable Law.

(b) Each Acquired Company is, and has at all times since January 1, 2008, been in material compliance with United States and foreign export
control laws and regulations, including: the United States Export Administration Act and implementing Export Administration Regulations; the
Arms Export Control Act and implementing International Traffic in Arms Regulations; and the various economic sanctions laws administered by
the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Treasury Department (�Export Laws�), applicable to its export transactions.

(c) Since January 1, 2008, no Acquired Company has and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no agent, employee or other Person acting on
behalf of any Acquired Company has, directly or indirectly:

(i) made any unlawful contributions, gifts, entertainment or other unlawful expenses relating to political activity and related in any way to any
Acquired Company�s business;

(ii) made any unlawful payment to any foreign or domestic government official or employee, foreign or domestic political parties or campaigns,
official of any public international organization, or official of any state-owned enterprise;

(iii) violated any provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or any other applicable anti-corruption statute; or

(iv) made any bribe, payoff, influence payment, kickback or other similar unlawful payment.

Section 4.11 Litigation.

(a) There is no pending investigation by any Governmental Authority (to the Knowledge of the Acquired Companies) or Proceeding, and, to the
Knowledge of the Acquired Companies, since January 1, 2010, no Person has threatened in writing to commence any investigation or
Proceeding that involves any Acquired Company or any of the assets owned or used by any Acquired Company or any Person whose liability
any Acquired Company has or may have retained or assumed, either contractually or by operation of law, and that is material to the Acquired
Companies, except in each case, for any investigation or Proceeding between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time pursuant to or in
connection with any Antitrust Law. As of the date of this Agreement there is no pending Proceeding, and, to the Knowledge of the Company
since January 1, 2010, no Person has threatened in writing to commence any Proceeding that challenges, or that may have the effect of
preventing, materially delaying or making illegal the Transaction or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except in
each case, for any investigation or Proceeding between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time pursuant to any Antitrust Law.

(b) There is no Order to which any Acquired Company, or any of the assets owned or used by any Acquired Company, is subject or which
restricts the ability of any Acquired Company to conduct its business, except as would not be material to the Company.
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Section 4.12 Real Property.

(a) No Acquired Company owns or has ever owned any real property. The Company or one of the other Acquired Companies has a good and
valid leasehold interest in each parcel of real property leased by the Company or one of the other Acquired Companies (the �Company Real
Property�). Section 4.12(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists each lease, sublease, license or other occupancy agreement or arrangement
relating to the occupancy of any Company Real Property by any Acquired Company (each, a �Real Property Lease�).

(b) The Company Real Property is not subject to any Liens, except for Permitted Liens. No Acquired Company has received any written notice
within the 12 months prior to the date of this Agreement of a material violation of any ordinances, regulations or building, zoning or other
similar laws by any Acquired Company with respect to the Company Real Property. No Acquired Company has received any written notice of
any expiration of, pending expiration of, changes to, or pending changes to any material entitlement relating to the Company Real Property and
there is no condemnation, special assessment or the like pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened with respect to any of the
Company Real Property.

Section 4.13 Properties.

(a) The Company or one of the other Acquired Companies has good and marketable, indefeasible, fee simple title to, or in the case of leased
property and assets, has valid leasehold interests in, all property and assets (whether real, personal, tangible or intangible) reflected on the
Company Balance Sheet or acquired after the Balance Sheet Date, except for properties and assets sold since the Balance Sheet Date in the
ordinary course of business consistent with past practices. None of such property or assets is subject to any Lien, except:

(i) Liens disclosed on the Company Balance Sheet;

(ii) Liens for taxes not yet delinquent or being contested in good faith (and for which adequate accruals or reserves have been established on the
Company Balance Sheet);

(iii) Liens created by any restriction imposed in any approval, permit or consent granted by any Governmental Authority;

(iv) Liens affecting the fee interest of any owner of the Company Real Property;

(v) Landlord�s Liens;

(vi) Liens imposed by Applicable Laws such as materialmen�s, mechanics�, carriers�, workmen�s and repairmen�s liens and other similar liens; or

(vii) Liens which do not materially detract from the value or materially interfere with any present or intended use of such property or assets
(clauses �(i)� through �(v)� of this Section 4.13(a) are, collectively, the �Permitted Liens�).

(b) There are no developments affecting any such property or assets pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company threatened, which would
reasonably be expected to materially detract from the value, materially interfere with any present or intended use or materially adversely affect
the marketability of any such property or assets. All leases of such real property and personal property are in good standing and are valid,
binding and enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except as may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
moratorium and other similar laws and equitable principles related to or limiting creditors� rights generally and by general principles of equity,
and there does not exist under any such lease any default by any Acquired Company, or any event which with notice or lapse of time or both
would constitute a default by any Acquired Company.
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(c) The equipment owned by each Acquired Company has no material defects, is in working condition, and has been reasonably maintained
consistent with standards generally followed in the industry (giving due account to the age and length of use of same, ordinary wear and tear
excepted), and is adequate and suitable for its present uses.

(d) The property and assets owned or leased by the Acquired Companies, or which they otherwise have the right to use, constitute all of the
property and assets used or held for use by the Acquired Companies in connection with the businesses of the Acquired Companies and are
adequate to conduct such business as currently conducted.

Section 4.14 Intellectual Property.

(a) Section 4.14(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule accurately identifies as of the date of this Agreement (i) each item of Registered IP in
which any Acquired Company has or purports to have an ownership interest of any nature (whether exclusively, jointly with another Person, or
otherwise), (ii) the jurisdiction in which such item of Registered IP has been registered or filed and the applicable application, registration, or
serial or other similar identification number, (iii) any other Person that has an ownership interest in such item of Registered IP and the nature of
such ownership interest, and (iv) a listing of all actions, filings and payment obligations due to be made to any Governmental Body within one
hundred and eighty (180) days following the date of this Agreement with respect to each item of Registered IP. There are no material
unregistered trademarks of the Acquired Companies.

(b) Section 4.14(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule accurately identifies as of the date of this Agreement (i) all material Contracts to which
an Acquired Company is a party pursuant to which a third party licenses, sells, assigns or otherwise conveys or provides to any Acquired
Company any Intellectual Property Right or Technology that is used in or necessary to the business of the Acquired Companies as conducted
currently by the Acquired Companies and immediately prior to the Closing, excluding Standard Technology Contracts and (ii) whether a
Contract identified in Section 4.14(b)(i) of the Company Disclosure Schedule includes a license or licenses granted to any Acquired Company
that is or are, as the case may be, exclusive. Except as identified in Section 4.14(b)(iii) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, no Person who has
licensed Technology or Intellectual Property Rights to any Acquired Company has ownership rights or license rights to derivative works or
improvements made by any Acquired Company related to such Technology or Intellectual Property Rights.

(c) Section 4.14(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule accurately identifies as of the date of this Agreement each material Contract to which
an Acquired Company is a party pursuant to which any Acquired Company licenses, sells, assigns or otherwise conveys or provides to any
Person any right (whether or not currently exercisable) or interest in, any Company IP, or pursuant to which any Acquired Company has agreed
not to enforce any Intellectual Property Right against any third party, excluding any Contracts (I) entered into in the ordinary course of business
consistent with past practice pursuant to the Company�s standard form, or (II) licensing Company IP to a third party for less than $200,000 per
year. No Acquired Company is bound by, and no Company IP is subject to, any Contract containing any covenant or other provision that in any
way limits or restricts the ability of any Acquired Company to use, assert, enforce, or otherwise exploit any Company IP anywhere in the world.
Since January 1, 2008, no Acquired Company has transferred ownership of (whether a whole or partial interest), or granted any exclusive right
to use any Technology or Intellectual Property Rights currently used by an Acquired Company in the operation of their business.

(d) The Acquired Companies exclusively own all right, title, and interest to and in the Company IP free and clear of any Liens (other than
non-exclusive licenses granted by an Acquired Company in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice). Each Person who is or
was an employee, officer, director or contractor of any Acquired Company and who is or was involved in the creation or development of any
Company IP has signed an agreement containing an assignment and an agreement to assign to the applicable
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Acquired Company all Intellectual Property Rights in such Person�s contribution to the Company IP that was created within the scope of such
Person�s services for the Company. To the Knowledge of the Acquired Companies, no current or former shareholder, officer, director, or
employee of an Acquired Company has any claim, right (whether or not currently exercisable), or ownership interest in any Company IP. To the
Knowledge of the Acquired Companies, no employee of any of the Acquired Companies is (a) bound by or otherwise subject to any Contract
restricting him from performing his duties for any of the Acquired Companies or (b) in breach of any Contract with any former employer or
other Person concerning Intellectual Property Rights or confidentiality due to his activities as an employee of and on behalf of any of the
Acquired Companies.

(e) No Person who has licensed Technology or Intellectual Property Rights to the Acquired Companies has an ownership interest in or exclusive
license rights to improvements made by the Acquired Companies in such Person�s Technology or Intellectual Property Rights, except where
(a) such Person has granted rights to the Acquired Companies related to such improvements and all Intellectual Property Rights therein and such
licenses do not materially restrict the Acquired Companies� ability to conduct the business of the Acquired Companies as currently conducted; or
(b) such improvements are not necessary to the conduct of the business of the Acquired Companies as currently conducted or proposed to be
conducted.

(f) Section 4.14(f) of the Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and accurate list of all material Contracts pursuant to which any of the
Acquired Companies is obligated to pay, within six months of the date of this Agreement, royalties or fees for the use of any in-licensed
Technology or Intellectual Property Rights that is incorporated into any of the Acquired Company�s products.

(g) To the Knowledge of the Acquired Companies, as of the date of this Agreement all Company IP is valid, subsisting, and enforceable. The
Acquired Companies have made all filings and payments and taken all other actions required to be made or taken to maintain each item of
Company IP that is Registered IP in full force and effect by the applicable deadline and otherwise in accordance with all Applicable Laws. No
interference, opposition, reissue, reexamination, or other investigation (to the Knowledge of the Acquired Companies) or Proceeding is or since
January 1, 2008 has been pending or, to the Knowledge of the Acquired Companies, threatened, in which the scope, validity, or enforceability of
any Company IP is being contested or challenged. Each item of Company IP that is Registered IP is in compliance with all legal requirements
and all filings, payments, and other actions required to be made or taken to maintain such item of Company IP in full force and effect have been
made by the applicable deadline. No application for a patent or a material copyright, mask work, or trademark registration or any other type of
material Registered IP filed by or on behalf of any of the Acquired Companies at any time since January 1, 2008 has been abandoned, allowed to
lapse, or rejected. To the Knowledge of the Acquired Companies, none of the Acquired Companies has engaged in patent or copyright misuse or
any fraud or inequitable conduct in connection with any Registered IP. To the Knowledge of the Acquired Companies, the Acquired Companies
and their patent counsel have complied with their duty of candor and disclosure and have made no material misrepresentations in the filings
submitted to the applicable Governmental Authorities with respect to all patents included in the Company IP. To the Knowledge of the Acquired
Companies, no trademark or trade name owned, used, or applied for by any of the Acquired Companies conflicts or interferes with any
trademark or trade name owned, used, and applied for by any other Person. To the Knowledge of the Acquired Companies, no event or
circumstance (including a failure to exercise adequate quality controls and an assignment in gross without the accompanying goodwill) has
occurred or exists that has resulted in, the abandonment of any material trademark (whether registered or unregistered) owned, used, or applied
for by any of the Acquired Companies.

(h) To the Knowledge of the Acquired Companies, no Person has infringed, misappropriated, or otherwise violated, and no Person is currently
infringing, misappropriating, or otherwise violating, any Company IP. Section 4.14(h) of the Company Disclosure Schedule accurately identifies
as of the date of this Agreement (and the Company has provided to Parent a complete and accurate copy of) each letter or other written or
electronic communication or correspondence that has been sent or otherwise delivered at any time since January 1, 2008 by or to any Acquired
Company or any representative of any Acquired Company regarding any actual, alleged, or suspected infringement or misappropriation of any
Company IP.
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(i) Neither the execution, delivery, or performance of this Agreement nor the consummation of any of the transactions or agreements
contemplated by this Agreement will, with or without notice or the lapse of time, result in, or give any other Person the right or option to cause
or declare, (i) a loss of, or Lien on, any Company IP; (ii) a material breach of, termination of, or acceleration or modification of any right or
obligation under any Contract listed or required to be listed in Section 4.14(b) or Section 4.14(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule; (iii) the
release, disclosure, or delivery of the source code for any software that is Company IP by or to any escrow agent or other Person; or (iv) the
grant, assignment, or transfer by any Acquired Company to any other Person of any license or other right or interest under, to, or in any
Company IP.

(j) To the Knowledge of the Acquired Companies, each of the Acquired Companies owns or otherwise has the right to use all Technology and
Intellectual Property Rights used in or necessary for the conduct the business of the Acquired Companies as currently conducted.

(k) To the Knowledge of the Acquired Companies, no Acquired Company has infringed, misappropriated, or otherwise violated any Intellectual
Property Right of any other Person. No infringement, misappropriation, or similar claim or Proceeding is pending or threatened in writing
against any Acquired Company or, to the Knowledge of the Acquired Companies, against any Person who is entitled to be indemnified or
reimbursed by any Acquired Company with respect to such claim or Proceeding pursuant to a Contract with an Acquired Company. No
Acquired Company has received any notice or other communication (in writing or otherwise) relating to any actual, alleged, or suspected
infringement, misappropriation, or violation of any Intellectual Property Right of another Person caused by an Acquired Company.

(l) To the Knowledge of the Acquired Companies as of the date of this Agreement, none of the software owned, developed, marketed,
distributed, licensed, sold, or otherwise made available to any Person by any Acquired Company (collectively, �Company Products�) (i) contains
any bug, defect, or error that materially and adversely affects the use, functionality, or performance of such Company Product or any product or
system containing or used in conjunction with such Company Product except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material
Adverse Effect or (ii) fails to materially comply with any applicable warranty or other contractual commitment relating to the use, functionality,
or performance of such Company Product or any product or system containing or used in conjunction with such Company Product except as
would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(m) To the Knowledge of the Acquired Companies as of the date of this Agreement, no Company Product contains any �back door,� �drop dead
device,� �time bomb,� �Trojan horse,� �virus,� �worm,� �spyware� or �adware� (as such terms are commonly understood in the software industry) or any
other code designed to: (i) disrupt, disable, harm, or otherwise impede in any material manner the operation of, or providing unauthorized access
to, a Company Product or any computer system or network or other device on which such Company Product is stored or installed, or
(ii) compromise the data security of, or damage or destroy any data or file stored on, any Company Product without the consent of a user of that
Company Product (collectively, �Malicious Code�), in each case except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse
Effect. To the Knowledge of the Acquired Companies as of the date of this Agreement, each Acquired Company implements measures
reasonably designed to prevent the introduction of Malicious Code into Company Products, except as would not reasonably be expected to have
a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(n) No source code for any Company IP has been delivered, licensed, or made available to any escrow agent or other Person who is not, as of the
date of this Agreement, an employee of any Acquired Company, except when delivered, licensed, or made available in the ordinary course of
business in conjunction with a Company product as part of software development kits (�Permitted Source Code Delivery�). No Acquired Company
has any duty or obligation (whether present, contingent, or otherwise) to deliver, license, or make available the source code for any Company IP
to any escrow agent or other Person, except for instances of Permitted Source Code Delivery. No event has occurred, and no circumstance or
condition exists, that (with or without notice or lapse of time) will, result in the delivery, license, or disclosure of any source code for any
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Company IP to any other Person who is not, as of the date of this Agreement, an employee of any Acquired Company, except in the ordinary
course of business for instances of Permitted Source Code Delivery.

(o) No Company IP is subject to any license commonly referred to as an �open source� or �copyleft� license that (i) requires, or conditions the use or
distribution of such Company IP, (A) the disclosure, licensing, or distribution of any source code for any portion of such Company IP, or (B) the
granting to licensees of the right to make derivative works or other modifications to such Company IP or portions thereof or (ii) requires any
Acquired Company to distribute any Company IP on a royalty-free basis.

(p) No funding, facilities, or personnel of any Governmental Authority or any public or private university, college, or other educational or
research institution were used by any Acquired Company to develop or create, in whole or in part, any Company IP.

(q) None of the Acquired Companies is currently required or obligated to grant or offer to any other Person any license or right to any Company
IP as a result of its membership in, or contribution to, any industry standards body or similar organization.

Section 4.15 Insurance Coverage. The Company has provided to Parent a list of, and accurate and complete copies of, all insurance policies
and fidelity bonds relating to the assets, business, operations, employees, officers or directors of each Acquired Company, each of which is in
full force and effect. There is no claim by any Acquired Company pending under any of such policies or bonds as to which, to the Knowledge of
the Company, coverage has been questioned, denied or disputed by the underwriters of such policies or bonds or in respect of which such
underwriters have reserved their rights. All premiums payable under all such policies and bonds have been timely paid and each Acquired
Company has otherwise complied in all material respects with the terms and conditions of all such policies and bonds. The Company has no
Knowledge of any threatened termination of, premium increase with respect to, or material alteration of coverage under, any of such policies or
bonds.

Section 4.16 Licenses and Permits. The Acquired Companies have, and at all times since January 1, 2008 have had, all material licenses,
permits, qualifications, accreditations, approvals and authorizations of any Governmental Authority (collectively, the �Permits�), and have made
all necessary filings required under Applicable Law, necessary to service its accounts in accordance with Applicable Laws and otherwise to
conduct the business of the Acquired Companies, except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the operation of the business of
any Acquired Company. Since January 1, 2010, no Acquired Company has received any written notice or other written communication
regarding any actual or possible violation of or failure to comply with any term or requirement of any Permit or any actual or possible
revocation, withdrawal, suspension, cancellation, termination or modification of any Permit.

Section 4.17 Tax Matters.

(a) All material Tax Returns required to be filed by or with respect to an Acquired Company have been timely filed (taking into account any
extension of time within which to file) and all such Tax Returns are true, correct, and complete in all material respects and have been completed
in accordance with Applicable Law in all material respects.

(b) All material Taxes of each Acquired Company (whether or not shown to be due and payable on any Tax Return) have been timely paid
(other than Taxes being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which adequate reserves have been established on the
Company Financial Statements in accordance with GAAP). The unpaid Taxes of the Acquired Companies have been accrued on the balance
sheet in accordance with GAAP. No Acquired Company has incurred any liability for Taxes since the date of the most recent Company
Financial Statements other than in the ordinary course of business. Each Acquired Company has made available to Parent or its legal counsel
copies of all material Tax Returns for such Acquired Company filed since the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007.
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(c) No deficiency for any material amount of Taxes has been proposed or asserted in writing or assessed by any Governmental Authority against
any Acquired Company that remains unpaid. There are no material audits, suits, proceedings, investigations, claims, examinations or other
administrative or judicial proceedings ongoing or pending with respect to any Taxes of any Acquired Company. There are no waivers or
extensions of any statute of limitations currently in effect with respect to Taxes of any Acquired Company. No claim has ever been made by any
Governmental Authority in a jurisdiction where an Acquired Company does not file Tax Returns that such Acquired Company is or may be
subject to Tax in that jurisdiction.

(d) Subject to such exceptions as would not be material, all Taxes required to be withheld or collected by an Acquired Company have been
withheld and collected and, to the extent required by Applicable Law, timely paid to the appropriate Governmental Authority.

(e) There are no Liens for Taxes upon any property or assets of any Acquired Company, except for Liens for current Taxes not yet delinquent
that may thereafter be paid without interest or penalty, and Liens for Taxes being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for
which adequate reserves have been established on the Company Financial Statements in accordance with GAAP.

(f) No Acquired Company has been a party to any transaction treated by the parties as a distribution to which Section 355 of the Code applies
during the two-year period ending on the Closing Date.

(g) The Company has not been a United States real property holding corporation within the meaning of Section 897(c)(2) of the Code during the
applicable period described in Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code.

(h) No Acquired Company has engaged in a reportable transaction within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b).

Section 4.18 Employees and Employee Benefit Plans.

(a) Section 4.18(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth an accurate and complete list of (i) the names, titles, and annual base salary,
commission, and any other cash compensation or bonus opportunity of all employees of the Acquired Companies as of the date of this
Agreement whose annual total cash compensation opportunities equal or exceed $150,000, including their principal location and indicating
whether any employee is on a work visa, and (ii) the hourly compensation of non-salaried employees of the Acquired Companies as of the date
of this Agreement whose annual total cash compensation opportunities equal or exceed $150,000 (by classification). The services provided by
each employee of the Acquired Companies is terminable at the will of the Acquired Company employing such individual.

(b) (i) Section 4.18(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth an accurate and complete list identifying each (A) material �employee
benefit plan,� as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, (B) each material plan or arrangement (written or oral) that provides for compensation,
bonuses, commission, profit-sharing, stock option or other stock related rights or other forms of incentive or deferred compensation, insurance
(including any self-insured arrangements), health or medical benefits, employee assistance program, supplemental unemployment benefits and
other time-off benefits (including compensation, pension, health, medical or life insurance benefits) which is maintained, administered or
contributed to by any Acquired Company or any ERISA Affiliate and covers any employee or former employee of any Acquired Company or
with respect to which such Acquired Company has any liability and (C) material employment, termination, change in control or severance
contracts that constitute a Company Material Contract to which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate is a party, except for any offer letter that
provides for employment that is terminable at will without material liability to the Company. Such plans are referred to collectively herein as the
�Employee Plans.� (ii) None of the Employee Plans and no other contract, policy, agreement or arrangement provides for any change in control
payment, acceleration of vesting or severance payment (or any similar provision) in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement.
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(c) The Company has furnished or made available to Parent (i) accurate and complete copies of all material documents constituting each
Employee Plan (or a written summary thereof with respect to any Employee Plan which has not been documented in writing) to the extent
currently effective, including all amendments thereto and all related trust documents, (ii) the three most recent annual reports (Form 5500 and all
schedules and financial statements attached thereto), if any, required under ERISA or the Code in connection with each Employee Plan, (iii) if
the Employee Plan is funded, the most recent annual and periodic accounting of Employee Plan assets, (iv) the most recent summary plan
description together with the summary(ies) of material modifications thereto, if any, required under ERISA with respect to each Employee Plan,
(v) all material written Contracts relating to each Employee Plan to the extent currently effective, including administrative service agreements
and group insurance contracts, and (vi) material correspondence within the past three years to or from any Governmental Authority relating to
any Employee Plan.

(d) No Acquired Company or any ERISA Affiliate (nor any predecessor thereof) sponsors, maintains or contributes to, or has in the past
sponsored, maintained or contributed to, any Employee Plan subject to Part 3 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA, Title IV of ERISA or
Section 412 or 430 of the Code.

(e) No Acquired Company or any ERISA Affiliate (nor any predecessor thereof) contributes to, or has in the past contributed to, any
multiemployer plan, as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA.

(f) Each Acquired Company has performed all material obligations required to be performed by such Acquired Company under each Employee
Plan. Each Acquired Company is not in material default with respect to or in material violation of, and has no Knowledge of any material default
or violation by any other party to, any Employee Plan. Each Employee Plan has been established and maintained in accordance with its terms
and in compliance in all material respects with Applicable Law, including ERISA and the Code. Each Employee Plan which is intended to be
qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination notification or advisory letter (or opinion letter, if applicable),
or has pending or has time remaining in which to file, an application for such determination from the Internal Revenue Service, and no Acquired
Company is aware of any reason why any such determination letter should be revoked or not be reissued. The Company has made available to
Parent accurate and complete copies of the most recent Internal Revenue Service determination letters with respect to each such Employee Plan.
No material events have occurred with respect to any Employee Plan that could result in payment or assessment by or against any Acquired
Company of any material excise taxes under Sections 4972, 4975, 4976, 4977, 4979, 4980B, 4980D, 4980E or 5000 of the Code.

(g) Except as contemplated by this Agreement, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not (either alone or
together with any other event, including a subsequent termination of employment or service) entitle any current or former employee or
independent contractor of any Acquired Company to any severance pay or accelerate the time of payment or vesting or trigger any payment of
funding (through a grantor trust or otherwise) of compensation or benefits under, increase the amount payable or trigger any other material
obligation pursuant to, any Employee Plan (including any acceleration of vesting with respect to a Company Compensatory Award held by
employees of an Acquired Company as a result of the Transaction or any termination of employment in connection therewith). No payment or
benefit (including vesting of Company Compensatory Awards) that has been or could be received by any current or former employee or other
service provider of any Acquired Company will, or could reasonably be expected to, give rise directly or indirectly to the payment of any
amount that would be characterized as a �parachute payment� within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code. There is no Contract by
which any Acquired Company is bound to compensate any employee for excise taxes paid pursuant to Section 4999 of the Code. Section 4.18(g)
of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth an accurate and complete list of (i) all of the Contracts which give rise to a material obligation to
make or set aside amounts payable to or on behalf of the officers of any Acquired Company as a result of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and/or any subsequent employment termination (whether by an Acquired Company or the officer), true and complete copies of
which have been previously provided or made available to Parent.
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(h) No Acquired Company or ERISA Affiliate has any current or projected liability in respect of post-employment or post-retirement health,
medical or life insurance benefits for retired, former or current employees of any Acquired Company or any ERISA Affiliate, except as required
to avoid excise tax under Section 4980B of the Code or except for the continuation of coverage through the end of the calendar month in which
termination from employment occurs. No condition exists that would prevent any Acquired Company or any ERISA Affiliate from amending or
terminating any Employee Plan that is an �employee welfare benefit plan� as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA and neither any Acquired
Company nor such Employee Plan will be subject to any surrender fees or service fees upon termination except for any reasonable
administrative fees associated with the termination of such plan.

(i) There has been no amendment to, written interpretation or announcement (whether or not written) by any Acquired Company, or change in
employee participation or coverage under, an Employee Plan which would increase materially the expense of maintaining such Employee Plan
above the level of the expense incurred in respect thereof for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009.

(j) No Acquired Company or any ERISA Affiliate currently maintains or has any material liability with respect to any self-insured plan that
provides medical, dental or any other similar employee benefits to employees (including any such plan pursuant to which a stop-loss policy or
contract applies).

(k) All contributions and payments accrued under each Employee Plan, determined in accordance with prior funding and accrual practices, as
adjusted to include proportional accruals for the period ending as of the date of this Agreement, have been discharged and paid on or prior to the
date of this Agreement except to the extent reflected as a liability on the Company Balance Sheet. There is no Proceeding pending against or
involving or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against or involving, any Employee Plan (other than routine claims for benefits).
There is no Proceeding pending against or involving or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against or involving, any Employee Plan
(other than routine claims for benefits).

(l) No Acquired Company or any ERISA Affiliate (nor any predecessor thereof) sponsors, maintains or contributes to, or has in the past
sponsored, maintained or contributed to, any Employee Plan which is maintained for the benefit of any employee or service provider (or former
employee or service provider) who performs services outside the United States.

(m) Each person providing services to any Acquired Company that has been characterized as a consultant or independent contractor and not an
employee has been properly characterized as such and no Acquired Company or any ERISA Affiliate has any liability or obligations, including
under or on account of any Employee Plan, arising out of the hiring or retention of persons to provide services to any Acquired Company or any
ERISA Affiliate and treating such persons as consultants or independent contractors and not as employees of any Acquired Company or any
ERISA Affiliate.

(n) No Acquired Company maintains or sponsors any �nonqualified deferred compensation plan� (as defined in Section 409A(d)(1) of the Code).
With respect to any such nonqualified deferred compensation plan listed in Section 4.18(o) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, (i) such plan
has been operated in compliance with Section 409A of the Code and the guidance issued thereunder, (ii) such plan complies in form with
Section 409A of the Code and the guidance issued thereunder as of December 31, 2008 (or as of such subsequent date on which the plan was
initially adopted) and (iii) the Transaction will not result in Section 409A of the Code imposing any adverse tax consequences to the participants
in such plan (including the inclusion in income of deferred amounts, or any additional tax pursuant to Section 409A(a)(1)(B) of the Code).

(o) All Company Compensatory Awards have been appropriately authorized by the Company Board of Directors or an appropriate committee
thereof, including approval of the option exercise price of all Company Stock Options or the methodology for determining the such option
exercise price and the substantive option terms. The exercise price of all of such options Company Stock Options granted to employees in the
United
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States is no less than the fair market value of the Company Common Stock as determined in good faith by the Company Board of Directors and
to the extent applicable, in accordance with Section 409A of the Code on the date the Company Stock Option was granted (within the meaning
of United States Treasury Regulation §1.421409A-1(cb)(5)(vi)(B)). No Company Stock Options have been retroactively granted, or the exercise
price of any such Company Stock Option determined retroactively in contravention of any Applicable Law.

(p) No Acquired Company is a party to or subject to, or is currently negotiating in connection with entering into, any collective bargaining
agreement or other contract or understanding with a labor union, works council or similar organization. Since January 1, 2008, to the Knowledge
of the Company, there have been no attempts by any labor union, works council or similar organization to organize any employees of the
Acquired Companies. Each Acquired Company is in compliance in all material respects with all Applicable Laws regarding employment,
employment practices, terms and conditions of employment, employee safety and health, immigration status and wages and hours, and in each
case, with respect to employees (i) are not liable for any arrears of wages, severance pay or any Taxes or any penalty for failure to comply with
any of the foregoing, and (ii) are not liable for any payment to any trust or other fund governed by or maintained by or on behalf of any
governmental authority, with respect to unemployment compensation benefits, social security or other benefits or obligations for employees (in
each case, other than routine payments to be made in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice). There are no
controversies pending, or to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened between any Acquired Company and any of its respective current or
former employees that would reasonably be expected to result in a Proceeding.

(q) To the Knowledge of the Company, no employee of any Acquired Company is in material violation of any term of any employment
agreement, noncompetition agreement, or any restrictive covenant to a former employer relating to the right of any such employee to be
employed by any Acquired Company because of the nature of the business conducted or presently proposed to be conducted by any Acquired
Company or to the use of trade secrets or proprietary information of others.

(r) Each Acquired Company is in compliance in all material respects with the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988, as
amended (�WARN Act�), or any similar Applicable Law. Since January 1, 2008, (i) no Acquired Company has effectuated a �plant closing� (as
defined in the WARN Act) affecting any site of employment or one or more facilities or operating units within any site of employment or facility
of its business; (ii) there has not occurred a �mass layoff� (as defined in the WARN Act) affecting any site of employment or facility of any
Acquired Company; and (iii) no Acquired Company has been affected by any transaction or engaged in layoffs or employment terminations
sufficient in number to trigger application of any similar Applicable Law. No Acquired Company has caused any of its employees to suffer an
�employment loss� (as defined in the WARN Act) triggering any WARN Act obligations during the 90-day period prior to the date of this
Agreement.

(s) Currently there are no Proceedings or internal investigations or inquiries being conducted by any Acquired Company, the Company Board of
Directors or any committee thereof (or any Person at the request of any of the foregoing) concerning any material financial, accounting, Tax,
conflict of interest, illegal activity, fraudulent or deceptive conduct, discrimination/sexual harassment, whistleblowing or other misfeasance or
malfeasance issues with respect to any current or former director, officer, advisor, consultant or employee of any Acquired Company.

Section 4.19 Environmental Matters.

(a) Except as would not reasonably be expected to cause, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect: (i) no notice,
notification, demand, request for information, citation, summons or order has been received, no complaint has been filed, no penalty has been
assessed, and no investigation or Proceeding (or any basis therefor) is pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, is threatened by any
Governmental Authority or other Person relating to or arising out of any Environmental Law; (ii) each Acquired Company is,
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and has at all times since January 1, 2008, been in material compliance with all Environmental Laws and all Environmental Permits; and
(iii) there are no current liabilities of any Acquired Company arising under any Environmental Law.

(b) The Company has made available to Parent any material environmental investigation, study, or test conducted with respect to any property or
facility now or previously owned or leased by any Acquired Company that identifies significant environmental liabilities of the Company and, in
each case, of which the Company has Knowledge and that is in the possession and custody of the Company. The parties agree that any
representations and warranties relating to Environmental Laws, Hazardous Substances or environmental and occupational health and safety
matters are contained only in this Section 4.19(b).

Section 4.20 Affiliate Transactions. No director, officer, employee, Affiliate (which for purposes of this Section 4.20 shall include any
stockholder of the Company that owns more than 5% of the Company Common Stock) or �associate� or members of any of their �immediate family�
(as such terms are respectively defined in Rule 12b-2 and Rule 16a-1 of the Exchange Act) of any Acquired Company (each of the foregoing, a
�Related Person�), other than in its capacity as a director, officer or employee of an Acquired Company (i) is involved, directly or indirectly, in
any material business arrangement or other material relationship with any Acquired Company (whether written or oral), (ii) directly or indirectly
owns, or otherwise has any right, title, interest in, to or under, any material property or right, tangible or intangible, that is used by any Acquired
Company or (iii) is engaged, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of the business of any Acquired Company. In addition, to the Knowledge of
the Company, no officer or employee of any Acquired Company has an interest in any Person that competes with the business any Acquired
Company in any market presently served by any Acquired Company (except for ownership of less than one percent of the outstanding capital
stock of any corporation that is publicly traded on any recognized stock exchange or in the over-the-counter market).

Section 4.21 Suppliers. Section 4.21 of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth an accurate and complete list of the accounts payable
incurred in respect of, each supplier of the Company to which the Company paid more than $300,000, either individually or in the aggregate, for
either of the years ended December 31, 2009 or 2008 (each a �Significant Supplier�). To the Knowledge of the Company, no Significant Supplier
has indicated that such supplier shall not continue as a supplier of the Acquired Companies (or the Surviving Company or Parent) after the
Closing or that such customer intends to terminate or materially modify existing Contracts with the Acquired Companies (or the Surviving
Company or Parent).

Section 4.22 No Brokers. Except for Jefferies & Company, Inc. (the �Company Financial Advisor�), an accurate and complete copy of whose
engagement agreement has been provided to Parent, there is no investment banker, broker, finder or other intermediary that has been retained by
or is authorized to act on behalf of any Acquired Company who might be entitled to any fee or commission from any Acquired Company or any
of its Affiliates in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 4.23 Fairness Opinion. The Company�s board of directors has received the written opinion of the Company Financial Advisor to the
effect that, as of the date of such opinion, the Per Share Consideration is fair, from a financial point of view, to the stockholders of the Company.
A signed copy of such opinion will be provided to Parent solely for informational purposes as promptly as practicable after the date hereof.

Section 4.24 Section 203 of the DGCL Not Applicable. Assuming the accuracy of the representations set for in Section 5.06, as of the date
hereof and at all times on or prior to the Effective Time, the Company Board of Directors has and will take all actions so that the restrictions
applicable to business combinations contained in Section 203 of the DGCL are, and will be, inapplicable to the execution, delivery and
performance of this Agreement and to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 4.25 Full Disclosure. None of the information supplied or to be supplied by or on behalf of the Company for inclusion or incorporation
by reference in the Registration Statement will, at the time the

A-36

Edgar Filing: STEEL PARTNERS II L P - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 179



Table of Contents

Registration Statement is filed with the SEC or at the time it becomes effective under the Securities Act, contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the
circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. None of the information supplied or to be supplied by or on behalf of the Company
for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Prospectus/Proxy Statement will, at the time the Prospectus/Proxy Statement is mailed to the
stockholders of the Company or at the time of the Company Stockholder Meeting (or any adjournment or postponement thereof), contain any
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements
therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. The Prospectus/Proxy Statement will comply as to form in
all material respects with the provisions of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC thereunder, except that no
representation or warranty is made by the Company with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference therein based on information
supplied in writing by or on behalf of Parent for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Prospectus/Proxy Statement.

ARTICLE 5.

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT, MERGER SUB AND SECOND MERGER SUB

Subject to Section 10.05, except (i) as set forth in the Parent Disclosure Schedule or (ii) as disclosed in any Parent SEC Documents filed with the
SEC on or after March 23, 2010 and prior to the date of this Agreement by Parent and made available to the Company (or the Company may
obtain from the EDGAR database of the SEC) (other than (A) any information that is contained solely in the �Risk Factors� section of such Parent
SEC Documents, except to the extent such information in �Risk Factors� consists of factual historical statements, and (B) any forward-looking
statements contained in such Parent SEC Documents that are of a nature that they speculate about future developments), Parent, Merger Sub and
Second Merger Sub each represent and warrant to the Company:

Section 5.01 Corporate Existence and Power. Each of Parent and Merger Sub is a corporation and Second Merger Sub is a limited liability
company, in each case duly incorporated or organized (as applicable), validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of
Delaware, and has all corporate or limited liability company (as applicable) powers and all governmental licenses, authorizations, permits,
consents and approvals required to carry on its business as now conducted, except where the failure to be in good standing would not have a
Parent Material Adverse Effect. Parent, Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub are each duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation or
limited liability company (as applicable) and are in good standing in each jurisdiction where such qualification is necessary, except where the
failure to be so qualified or in good standing would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.02 Corporate Authorization. Each of Parent, Merger Sub and Second Merger has all requisite power and authority to enter into and
to perform its obligations under this Agreement; and the execution, delivery and performance by each of Parent, Merger Sub and Second Merger
Sub of this Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub, as
applicable. Assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company, this Agreement constitutes the legal,
valid and binding obligation of each of Parent, Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub, enforceable against each of them in accordance with its
terms, subject to (i) laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of debtors, and (ii) rules of law governing
specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies. No affirmative vote of the stockholders of Parent is necessary to adopt this
Agreement or approve the Transaction and/or the other transactions contemplated hereby. At a meeting duly called and held, the Parent Board of
Directors unanimously approved and adopted this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby.
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Section 5.03 Governmental Authorization. The execution, delivery and performance by each of Parent, Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub
of this Agreement and the consummation by Parent, Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated hereby require no
action by or in respect of, or filing with, any Governmental Authority other than (i) the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Delaware
Secretary of State and appropriate documents with the relevant authorities of other states in which Parent, Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub is
qualified to do business, (ii) compliance with any applicable requirements of the HSR Act and any other laws analogous to the HSR Act existing
in foreign jurisdictions, (iii) compliance with any applicable requirements of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, and any other applicable U.S.
state or federal securities laws, and (iv) any actions or filings the absence of which would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be
expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect or materially impair the ability of Parent to consummate the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement.

Section 5.04 Non-Contravention. Except as set forth on Section 5.04 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, the execution, delivery and
performance by each of Parent, Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby do not and will not (i) contravene, conflict with, or result in any violation or breach of any provision of the certificate of incorporation or
bylaws (or comparable organizational documents) of Parent, Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub, (ii) assuming compliance with the matters
referred to in Section 5.03, contravene, conflict with or result in a material violation or material breach of any provision of any Applicable Law
or, (iii) assuming compliance with the matters referred to in Section 5.03, require any consent or other action by any Person under, constitute a
default, or an event that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default, under, or cause or permit the termination,
cancellation, acceleration or other change of any right or obligation or the loss of any benefit to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is entitled
under any provision of any Parent Material Contract or any license, franchise, permit, certificate, approval or other similar authorization
affecting, or relating in any way to, the assets or business of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, except in the case of (iii) above as would not
reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect or prevent or materially delay the
consummation of the First Merger or the ability of each of Parent, Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub to fully perform any of its covenants and
obligations under this Agreement.

Section 5.05 Capitalization; Subsidiaries.

(a) The authorized capital stock of Parent consists of 100,000,000 shares of Parent Common Stock and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock,
$0.025 par value per share, of Parent (�Parent Preferred Stock�). As of September 13, 2010, there were outstanding 37,340,663 shares of Parent
Common Stock and zero shares of Parent Preferred Stock, and Parent Options to purchase an aggregate of 760,316 shares of Parent Common
Stock and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 65,317 shares of Parent Common Stock (of which options and warrants to purchase an aggregate
of 484,068 shares and 65,317 shares, respectively, of Parent Common Stock were exercisable) and 5,395,841 shares of Parent Common Stock
subject to outstanding restricted stock units.

(b) As of September 13, 2010, Parent has reserved 10,592,558 shares of Parent Common Stock for issuance on exercise of Parent Option and
other equity awards. All outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock have been, and all shares that may be issued pursuant to the Parent Option
Plans will be, when issued in accordance with the respective terms thereof, duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and
nonassessable. Except as set forth in the Parent SEC Documents, there are no shares of Parent Common Stock that are subject to vesting or
forfeiture restrictions.

(c) Except as set forth in this Section 5.05, as of September 13, 2010, there are no outstanding (i) shares of capital stock or voting securities of
Parent, (ii) securities of Parent convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock or voting securities of Parent or (iii) options, warrants
or other rights to acquire from Parent, or other obligation of Parent to issue, any capital stock, voting securities or securities convertible into or
exchangeable for capital stock or voting securities of Parent.
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(d) All of the shares of Parent Common Stock that may be issued as contemplated by this Agreement will be, when issued, duly authorized and
validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and not subject to any preemptive rights. Parent is the sole equity holder of Merger Sub and Second
Merger Sub, each of which were formed solely for purposes of effecting the Transaction and neither of which hold any assets or carry on any
business activities other than in connection with the Transaction. All of the outstanding equity interests of Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub
have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable and not subject to any preemptive rights.

Section 5.06 Ownership of Company Capital Stock. None of Parent, Merger Sub or Second Merger Sub is, nor at any time during the last
three (3) years has it been, an �interested stockholder� of the Company as defined in Section 203 of the DGCL (other than as contemplated by this
Agreement).

Section 5.07 Parent SEC Documents; Parent Financial Statements.

(a) Parent has delivered or made available to the Company, or the Company may obtain from the EDGAR database of the SEC, accurate and
complete copies of all registration statements, proxy statements and other statements, reports, schedules, forms and other documents filed by the
Company with the SEC since March 23, 2010, and all amendments thereto (the �Parent SEC Documents�). All statements, reports, schedules,
forms and other documents required to have been filed by the Company with the SEC have been so filed on a timely basis. None of Parent�s
Subsidiaries is required to file any documents with the SEC. As of the time it was filed with the SEC (or, if amended or superseded by a filing
prior to the date of this Agreement, then on the date of such filing): (i) each of the Parent SEC Documents complied in all material respects with
the applicable requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act (as the case may be); (ii) none of the Parent SEC Documents that has been
filed with the SEC prior to the date of this Agreement contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact
required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading, except to the extent corrected by a subsequently filed Parent SEC Document that has been filed with the SEC prior to the date of
this Agreement and (iii) as of the Closing, none of the Parent SEC Documents that has been filed with the SEC after the date of this Agreement
contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the
statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, except to the extent corrected by a
subsequently filed Parent SEC Document that has been filed with the SEC prior to the date of Closing.

(b) The financial statements (including any related notes) contained in the Parent SEC Documents (collectively, the �Parent Financial
Statements�): (i) complied as to form in all material respects with the published rules and regulations of the SEC applicable thereto; (ii) were
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods covered (except as
may be indicated in the notes to such Parent Financial Statements or, in the case of unaudited statements, as permitted by Form 10-Q of the SEC,
and except that the unaudited Parent Financial Statements may not contain footnotes and are subject to normal and recurring year end
adjustments, none of which individually or in the aggregate is expected to be material in amount), and (iii) fairly present in all material respects
the consolidated financial position of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries as of the respective dates thereof and the consolidated
results of operations and cash flows of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries for the periods covered thereby.

(c) Parent has established and maintains a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurances (i) that transactions,
receipts and expenditures of Parent and its Subsidiaries are being executed and made only in accordance with appropriate authorizations of
management and the Parent Board of Directors, (ii) that transactions are recorded as necessary (A) to permit preparation of financial statements
in conformity with GAAP and (B) to maintain accountability for assets, (iii) regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of the assets of Parent and its Subsidiaries, (iv) that the amount recorded for assets on the books and records of
Parent and its Subsidiaries are compared with the existing
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assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any differences and (v) accounts, notes and other receivables and
inventory are recorded accurately, and proper and adequate procedures are implemented to effect the collection thereof on a current and timely
basis. Except as set forth in the Parent SEC Documents, since December 31, 2008, there has been no change in any accounting controls, policies,
principles, methods or practices, including any change with respect to reserves (whether for bad debts, contingent liabilities or otherwise), of
Parent or its Subsidiaries.

(d) With respect to each quarterly report on Form 10-Q included in the Parent SEC Documents, the chief executive officer and chief financial
officer of Parent have made all certifications required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and any related rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC
and New York Stock Exchange, and the statements contained in any such certifications are complete and correct. Parent is, and at all times since
March 24, 2010 been in compliance in all material respects with the applicable listing and other rules and regulations of the NYSE, and has not
since March 24, 2010 received any notice from the NYSE asserting any non-compliance with any such rules and regulations.

(e) The �disclosure controls and procedures� (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) of the Company are reasonably
designed to ensure that all information (both financial and non-financial) required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or
submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the
SEC, and that all such information is accumulated and communicated to the management of the Company as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure and to make the certifications of the chief executive officer and chief financial officer of Parent required
under the Exchange Act with respect to such reports.

Section 5.08 Absence of Certain Changes. Since June 26, 2010, the business of Parent and its Subsidiaries has been conducted in the ordinary
course consistent with past practices and there has not been:

(a) any event, occurrence, development or state of circumstances or facts that has had or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or
in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect;

(b) any amendment of the certificate of incorporation or bylaws or other similar organizational documents (whether by merger, consolidation or
otherwise) of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries;

(c) any splitting, combination or reclassification of any shares of Parent Common Stock or any equity securities of any Subsidiary of Parent or
declaration, setting aside or payment of any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, stock or property or any combination thereof) in
respect of any Parent Common Stock or any equity securities of any Subsidiary of Parent, or redemption, repurchase or other acquisition or offer
to redeem, repurchase, or otherwise acquire any Parent Common Stock or any equity securities of any Subsidiary of Parent;

(d)(i) any issuance, delivery or sale, or authorization of the issuance, delivery or sale of, any shares of any Parent Common Stock or any equity
securities of any Subsidiary of Parent, other than the issuance of any shares of Parent Common Stock upon the exercise of Parent Options or
warrants or the vesting of restricted stock units that are outstanding on the date of this Agreement in accordance with the terms of those options,
warrants or restricted stock units, as applicable, on the date of this Agreement or (ii) amendment of any term of any Parent Common Stock (in
each case, whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise) or any equity securities of any Subsidiary of Parent;

(e) except as disclosed in the Parent SEC Documents, any change in the methods of accounting or accounting practices of Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries, except as required by concurrent changes in GAAP or SEC rules and regulations, in either case as agreed to by its independent
public accountants; or
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(f) any agreement or commitment to take any of the actions referred to in clauses (a) through (e).

Section 5.09 No Undisclosed Liabilities. None of Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has any liabilities or obligations of a kind required to be
reflected or reserved against on a consolidated balance sheet of Parent prepared in accordance with GAAP or the notes thereto, other than:

(a) liabilities or obligations disclosed and provided for in the Parent Balance Sheet or in the notes thereto;

(b) liabilities and obligations incurred by Parent or its Subsidiaries since the Parent Balance Sheet Date in the ordinary course of business and
consistent with past practice;

(c) liabilities or obligations arising under this Agreement; or

(d) liabilities that would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.10 Parent Material Contracts.

(a) Except as set forth in the Parent SEC Documents, none of Parent and its Subsidiaries is a party to any Contract, a copy of which would be
required to be filed with the Commission as an exhibit to an annual report on Form 10-K (collectively, �Parent Material Contracts�).

(b) Each Parent Material Contract is a valid and binding agreement of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (as applicable) party thereto, and is in full
force and effect, and none of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (as applicable) is and, to the Knowledge of Parent, no other party thereto is in
default or breach in any material respect under the terms of any such Contract, and, to the Knowledge of Parent, no event has occurred, and no
circumstance or condition exists, that (with or without notice or lapse of time) will, or would reasonably be expected to, (i) result in a violation
or breach of any of the provisions of any Parent Material Contract, (ii) give any Person the right to declare a default or exercise any remedy
under any Parent Material Contract, (iii) give any Person the right to accelerate the maturity or performance of any Parent Material Contract, or
(iv) give any Person the right to cancel, terminate or modify any Parent Material Contract except for such failures to be enforceable and in full
force and effect and such breaches and defaults that have not had and would not be reasonably expected to be material to Parent.

Section 5.11 Compliance with Applicable Laws. Each of Parent and its Subsidiaries is, and has at all times since January 1, 2008, been in
material compliance with, and to the Knowledge of Parent is not, and at no time since January 1, 2008 has been, under investigation with respect
to or threatened to be charged with or given notice of any violation of, any Applicable Law, except as would not reasonably be expected to have,
individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.12 Litigation.

(a) Except as set forth in the Parent SEC Documents, as of the date of this Agreement, there is no pending investigation by any Governmental
Authority (to the Knowledge of the Parent) or any Proceeding, and, to the Knowledge of Parent, since January 1, 2008, no Person has threatened
to commence any Proceeding and no Governmental Authority has threatened any investigation: (i) that involves Parent or any of its Subsidiaries
or any of the assets owned or used by any of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or any Person whose liability any of Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries has or may have retained or assumed, either contractually or by operation of law, and that is material to Parent and its Subsidiaries
or more; or (ii) that challenges, or that may have the effect of preventing, materially delaying or making illegal the Transaction or any of the
other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except for any investigation between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time
pursuant to any Antitrust Law.
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(b) As of the date of this Agreement, there is no Order to which any of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, or any of the assets owned or used by
any of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, is subject or which materially restricts the ability of any of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to conduct its
business, except as would not be material to Parent.

Section 5.13 Intellectual Property. To the Knowledge of Parent, the design, development, manufacturing, reproduction, marketing, licensing,
sale, offer for sale, importation, distribution, performance, display, creation of derivative works with respect to and/or use of any products or
services of Parent and Parent�s Subsidiaries has not infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated any Intellectual Property Right of any other
Person, except as would not have and would not reasonably be expected to have or result in a Parent Material Adverse Effect. To the Knowledge
of Parent, the Intellectual Property and Technology owned or licensed by Parent are all the Intellectual Property Rights or Technology necessary
for the conduct of Parent�s business as presently conducted or proposed to be conducted. Except as set forth in the Parent SEC Documents, no
infringement, misappropriation, or similar claim or Proceeding is pending or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened in writing against Parent
or, against any Person who may be entitled to be indemnified or reimbursed by Parent with respect to such claim or Proceeding. Except as set
forth in the Parent SEC Documents, Parent has not received any notice or other communication (in writing or otherwise) relating to any actual,
alleged, or suspected infringement, misappropriation, or violation of any Intellectual Property Right of another Person.

Section 5.14 Licenses and Permits. Each of Parent and its Subsidiaries have all Permits, and have made all necessary filings required under
Applicable Law, necessary to conduct the business of Parent and its Subsidiaries. None of Parent and its Subsidiaries has received any
outstanding and unresolved written notice or other written communication regarding any actual or possible violation of or failure to comply with
any term or requirement of any Permit or any actual or possible revocation, withdrawal, suspension, cancellation, termination or modification of
any Permit, except as would not have and would not reasonably be expected to have or result in a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.15 Employees and Employee Benefit Plans. Parent has in its Parent SEC Documents described, or filed as an exhibit, all of the
following types of documents, agreements, plans or arrangements that are required by federal securities laws to be described in, or filed as an
exhibit to, forms filed with the SEC: material �employee benefit plans,� as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, employment, severance or similar
Contracts and other plans or arrangements (written or oral) providing for compensation, bonuses, commission, profit-sharing, stock option or
other stock related rights or other forms of incentive or deferred compensation, vacation benefits, insurance (including any self-insured
arrangements), health or medical benefits, employee assistance programs, disability or sick leave benefits, workers� compensation, supplemental
unemployment benefits, severance benefits, change of control payments, post-employment or retirement benefits and other time-off benefits
(including compensation, pension, health, medical or life insurance benefits) which are maintained, administered or contributed to by Parent or
any ERISA Affiliate and covers any employee or former employee of Parent, or with respect to which Parent has any liability (the �Parent Benefit
Plans�). Parent and its Subsidiaries are in material compliance with all Applicable Laws relating to labor, employment, fair employment
practices, terms and conditions of employment, and wages and hours, and with the terms of the Parent Benefit Plans; and each such Parent
Benefit Plan is in compliance with all applicable requirements of ERISA, except, in each case, where the failure to comply would not reasonably
be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. To Parent�s Knowledge, none of Parent�s or its Subsidiaries� executive officers are obligated
under any Contract or other agreement, or subject to any judgment, decree or order of any Governmental Authority, that would interfere with the
use of his or her employment obligations to Parent or its Subsidiaries or that would conflict with Parent�s and its Subsidiaries� business as now
conducted or proposed to be conducted, except for such Contracts and other agreements, judgments, decrees and orders that would not
reasonably be expected have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.16 Affiliate Transactions. Except as set forth in the Parent SEC Documents, no director, officer, employee, Affiliate (which for
purposes of this Section 5.16 shall include any stockholder of Parent that owns
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more than 5% of the Parent Common Stock) or �associate� or members of any of their �immediate family� (as such terms are respectively defined in
Rule 12b-2 and Rule 16a-1 of the Exchange Act) of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (each of the foregoing, a �Parent Related Person�), other than
in its capacity as a director, officer or employee of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (i) is involved, directly or indirectly, in any material business
arrangement or other material relationship with Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (whether written or oral), (ii) directly or indirectly owns, or
otherwise has any right, title, interest in, to or under, any material property or right, tangible or intangible, that is used by Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries or (iii) is engaged, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of the business of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries. In addition, to the
Knowledge of the Parent, no officer or employee of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries has an interest in any Person that competes with the
business of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in any market presently served by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (except for ownership of less than
one percent of the outstanding capital stock of any corporation that is publicly traded on any recognized stock exchange or in the
over-the-counter market).

Section 5.17 No Brokers. Except for Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated (the �Parent Financial Advisor�), there is no investment banker, broker,
finder or other intermediary that has been retained by or is authorized to act on behalf of any of Parent and its Subsidiaries who might be entitled
to any fee or commission from Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement.

Section 5.18 Financial Capability. As of the Effective Time, Parent will have (taking into account the Company�s cash resources) sufficient
funds available to pay the cash portion of the Per Share Consideration payable pursuant to Article 3 and to perform the other obligations of
Parent contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 5.19 Full Disclosure. None of the information to be supplied by or on behalf of Parent for inclusion in the Registration Statement will,
at the time the Registration Statement becomes effective under the Securities Act, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which
they are made, not misleading. None of the information to be supplied by or on behalf of Parent for inclusion in the Prospectus/Proxy Statement
will, at the time the Prospectus/Proxy Statement is mailed to the stockholders of the Company or at the time of the Company Stockholder
Meeting (or any adjournment or postponement thereof), contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required
to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not
misleading. The Registration Statement and the Prospectus/Proxy Statement will comply as to form in all material respects with the provisions
of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC thereunder, except that no representation or warranty is made by
Parent with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference therein based on written information supplied by the Company for inclusion
or incorporation by reference in the Prospectus/Proxy Statement.

ARTICLE 6.

COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY

Section 6.01 Conduct of the Company. Except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement or as set forth on Schedule 6.01, from the date of
this Agreement until the Effective Time, the Company shall, and shall cause each Acquired Company to, conduct its business in the ordinary
course consistent with past practice and use its commercially reasonable efforts to (i) preserve substantially intact its present business
organization, (ii) keep available the services of officers and key employees of the Acquired Companies, and (iii) maintain substantially intact its
relationships with the customers and suppliers of the Acquired Companies and others having material business relationships with them. Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement or as set forth on Schedule 6.01, or pursuant to the
written consent of Parent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), the Company shall not, and shall cause
each of the other Acquired Companies not to (it being understood and hereby agreed that if any action is
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expressly permitted by any of the following subsections, such action shall be expressly permitted under Section 6.01 in general):

(a) amend its certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other similar organizational documents (whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise);

(b) declare, set aside or pay any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, stock or property or any combination thereof) in respect of any
Company Securities or securities of any other Acquired Company, or redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire or offer to redeem, repurchase, or
otherwise acquire any Company Securities or securities of any other Acquired Company, except in connection with Company Compensatory
Awards or Company Restricted Stock Awards in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(c)(i) issue, deliver or sell, or authorize the issuance, delivery or sale of, any shares of any Company Securities or securities of any other
Acquired Company, other than (A) the issuance of any shares of Company Common Stock upon the exercise of Company Stock Options or
vesting of Company RSUs that are outstanding on the date of this Agreement in accordance with the terms of those awards on the date of this
Agreement or (B) grants to newly hired employees of Company Compensatory Awards or Company Restricted Stock Awards issued in the
ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and, in the case of Company Stock Options, with a per share exercise price that is no
less than the then-current market price of a share of Company Common Stock; provided that in no event shall such grants exceed in the
aggregate 50,000 shares of Company Common Stock; or (ii) amend any term of any Company Security or the security of any other Acquired
Company (whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise) including an amendment of a Company Compensatory Award held by an employee
to provide for acceleration of vesting as a result of the Transaction or a termination of employment or service related to the Transaction;

(d) incur any capital expenditures or any obligations or liabilities in respect of capital expenditures, except for any budgeted capital expenditures
and other unbudgeted capital expenditures not to exceed $500,000 individually or $2,000,000 in the aggregate in any six month period, or except
as may be required pursuant to the terms of any real property lease as in effect on the date of this Agreement;

(e) acquire (by merger, consolidation, acquisition of stock or assets or otherwise), directly or indirectly, (A) other than obligations and liabilities
addressed in Section 6.01(d) any Person or any assets, properties, interest or business, except operating assets in the ordinary course of business
consistent with past practice for a purchase price not in excess of $200,000 individually or (B) securities of a third party;

(f) sell, lease, license or otherwise transfer, or create or incur any Lien on, any of the assets, securities, properties, interests or businesses of the
Acquired Companies, other than (A) in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; (B) any Permitted Encumbrance, (C) any
non-exclusive license of Company IP in the ordinary course of business and (D) pursuant to existing Contracts;

(g) make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other Person, other than in the ordinary course of business
consistent with past practice;

(h) make any payments to any Related Person except pursuant to the terms of any existing Contract or arrangement that is disclosed in the SEC
Documents or payments to employees in the ordinary course of business;

(i) create, incur or assume any indebtedness for borrowed money other than debt related to bonds (including RUS bonds) incurred in the
ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(j) enter into any Contract that limits or otherwise restricts in any material respect any Acquired Company or any of its Affiliates or any
successor thereto from engaging or competing in any line of business, in
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any location or with any Person or enter into, amend or modify in any material respect or terminate any Company Material Contract or otherwise
waive, release or assign any material rights, claims or benefits of any Acquired Company thereunder, in each case, outside the ordinary course of
business consistent with past practice;

(k) other than pursuant to the terms of an applicable plan or agreement identified on Section 6.01 of the Company Disclosure Schedule or as
required by Applicable Law (including to avoid adverse tax consequences under Section 409A of the Code, but, in such case, subject to Parent�s
prior review) (i) grant or increase any change-in-control, severance or termination pay to any director, officer, advisor, consultant or employee of
any Acquired Company, (ii) increase benefits payable under any existing change-in-control, severance or termination pay policies or
employment agreements, (iii) enter into or increase benefits payable under any employment, deferred compensation or other agreement or offer
(or amend any such existing agreement or offer) with any director or officer, advisor, consultant or employee of any Acquired Company,
(iv) establish, adopt or amend (except as required by Applicable Law) any collective bargaining, bonus, commission, profit-sharing, thrift,
pension, retirement, deferred compensation, compensation, stock option, restricted stock or other benefit plan or arrangement covering any
director, officer advisor, consultant or employees of any Acquired Company, (v) increase compensation, bonus, commission, or other benefits
payable to any director, officer, advisor, consultant or employee of any Acquired Company, except any of the foregoing with respect to any
advisor, consultant or employee made in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, or (vi) terminate any key employee except
for cause;

(l) change any Acquired Company�s methods of accounting or accounting practices, except as required by concurrent changes in GAAP or SEC
rules and regulations, in either case as agreed to by its independent public accountants;

(m) commence, settle, or offer or propose to settle, any Proceeding (A) involving or against any Acquired Company (other than any Proceeding
involving a settlement of $250,000 or less as its sole remedy), or (B) that relates to the transactions contemplated hereby;

(n) make or change any material Tax election; settle or compromise any claim, notice, audit report or assessment in respect of material Taxes;
enter into any material Tax allocation agreement, Tax sharing agreement, Tax indemnity agreement, pre-filing agreement, advance pricing
agreement, cost sharing agreement or closing agreement relating to any material Tax; surrender or forfeit any right to claim a material Tax
refund; or consent to any extension or waiver of the statute of limitations period applicable to any material Tax claim or assessment; or

(o) agree, resolve or commit to do any of the foregoing.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Agreement is intended to give Parent, Merger Sub or the Second Merger Sub, directly or
indirectly, the right to control or direct the business or operations of the Company or its Subsidiaries at any time prior to the Effective Time.
Prior to the Effective Time, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall exercise, consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement,
complete control and supervision over their own business and operations.

If Parent does not reply to a written request for consent delivered by the Company to Parent either affirmatively or negatively in writing to the
Person at the Company making such request within five Business Days after delivery of such request, then Parent shall be irrevocably deemed to
consent to such request for purposes of this Section 6.01 in such specific instance.

Section 6.02 Stockholder Approval; Notice.

(a) The Company shall take all action necessary under Applicable Law to call, give notice of and hold a meeting of the holders of Company
Common Stock to vote on the adoption of this Agreement (the �Company
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Stockholder Meeting�). The Company Stockholder Meeting shall be held (on a date selected by the Company in consultation with Parent) as
promptly as practicable after the Registration Statement is declared effective under the Securities Act. The Company shall use its reasonable best
efforts to ensure that all proxies solicited in connection with the Company Stockholder Meeting are solicited in compliance with Applicable
Law.

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the Company may adjourn or postpone the Company Stockholders
Meeting (and Parent shall have the right to require the Company to adjourn or postpone the Company Stockholders Meeting) one time for a
period of up to ten Business Days if on the date for which the Company Stockholder Meeting is originally scheduled, the Company has not
received proxies representing a sufficient number of shares to conduct business at the meeting. The Company may also postpone or adjourn the
Company Stockholder Meeting if (a) the Company is required to postpone or adjourn the Company Stockholder Meeting by Applicable Law or
(b) the Company Board of Directors or any authorized committee thereof shall have determined in good faith (after consultation with outside
legal counsel) that it is necessary or appropriate to postpone or adjourn the Company Stockholder Meeting, including in order to give Company
Stockholders sufficient time to evaluate any information or disclosure that the Company has sent to Company Stockholders or otherwise made
available to Company Stockholders by issuing a press release, filing materials with the SEC or otherwise (including in connection with any
Change of Board Recommendation).

(c) Subject to Section 6.03: (i) the Prospectus/Proxy Statement shall include a statement of the Company Board Recommendation; and (ii) the
Company Board Recommendation shall not be withdrawn, modified or qualified in any manner adverse to Parent, and no resolution by the
Company Board of Directors or any committee thereof to withdraw or modify the Company Board Recommendation in a manner adverse to
Parent shall be adopted (any of the foregoing a �Change of Board Recommendation�).

(d) Nothing contained in this Section 6.02 or elsewhere in this Agreement shall prohibit the Company Board of Directors from (i) disclosing to
the stockholders of the Company a position contemplated by Rule 14e-2(a) or complying with the provisions of Rule 14d-9 promulgated under
the Exchange Act or (ii) making any disclosure to the Company�s stockholders that the Company Board of Directors determines in good faith
(after consultation with its outside legal counsel) is required to comply with its fiduciary duties to the Company�s stockholders or as otherwise
required by Applicable Law, so long as the Company at least one Business Day prior to making such disclosure notifies Parent and if such
disclosure relates to an Acquisition Proposal either (i) contains a reaffirmation of the Company Board Recommendation or (ii) if the subject
matter of such disclosure constitutes a Change of Board Recommendation, such Change of Board Recommendation is made in accordance with
Section 6.03(e).

Section 6.03 No Solicitation.

(a) The Company shall, and shall cause each of its Representatives and each of the other Acquired Companies (and each of their respective
Representatives) to, immediately cease and cause to be terminated any and all existing activities, discussions or negotiations with any Persons
conducted on or prior to the date of this Agreement with respect to any Acquisition Proposal, and shall promptly after the date of this Agreement
instruct each Person that has in the twelve months prior to the date of this Agreement executed a confidentiality agreement relating to an
Acquisition Proposal with or for the benefit of the Company to promptly return or destroy in accordance with the terms of such confidentiality
agreement all information, documents and materials relating to the Acquisition Proposal or to the Acquired Companies and their businesses
previously furnished by or on behalf of the Acquired Companies or any of their respective Representatives to such Person or such Person�s
Representatives.

(b) Subject to this Section 6.03, from the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Effective Time or the termination of this Agreement in
accordance with its terms, the Company shall not, and shall cause each of the other Acquired Companies not to (and the Company shall direct its
Representatives not to and shall cause each of the Acquired Companies to direct each of their respective Representatives not to), directly or
indirectly,
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(i) solicit, initiate, seek or knowingly encourage or facilitate or take any action to solicit, initiate or seek or knowingly encourage or facilitate any
inquiry, expression of interest, proposal or offer that constitutes an Acquisition Proposal, (ii) enter into, participate in, maintain or continue any
discussions or negotiations relating to, any Acquisition Proposal with any Person other than Parent, (iii) furnish to any Person other than Parent
any non-public information that the Company believes or should reasonably know would be used for the purposes of formulating any inquiry,
expression of interest, proposal or offer relating to an Acquisition Proposal, (iv) accept any Acquisition Proposal or enter into any agreement,
letter of intent or Contract providing for the consummation of any transaction contemplated by any Acquisition Proposal or otherwise relating to
any Acquisition Proposal (other than a confidentiality agreement as contemplated by Section 6.03(d)) or (v) submit any Acquisition Proposal or
any matter related thereto to the vote of the stockholders of the Company.

(c) From the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Effective Time or the termination of this Agreement in accordance with its terms, the
Company shall promptly (and in any event within 24 hours) provide Parent with: (i) an oral and a written description of any inquiry, expression
of interest, proposal or offer relating to an Acquisition Proposal (including any modification thereto), or any request for information that could
reasonably be expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal , that is received by an Acquired Company or any Representative of any Acquired
Company from any Person (other than Parent) including in such description the identity of the Person from which such inquiry, expression of
interest, proposal, offer or request for information was received (the �Other Interested Party�); and (ii) a copy of each written communication and a
summary of each oral communication transmitted on behalf of the Other Interested Party or any of its Representatives to any Acquired Company
or any Representative of any Acquired Company or transmitted on behalf of any Acquired Company or any Representative of any Acquired
Company to the Other Interested Party or any of its Representatives (including any communications related to the proposed amount or form of
consideration, financing terms, if any, and closing conditions), in each case, to the extent such communication constitutes a material
development with respect to an Acquisition Proposal or a potential Acquisition Proposal. Without limiting the foregoing, the Company shall
promptly (and in any event within 24 hours) notify Parent orally and in writing if the Company determines to begin providing information or to
engage in discussions or negotiations concerning an Acquisition Proposal pursuant to Section 6.03(d).

(d) Notwithstanding Section 6.03(b), if at any time prior to the adoption of this Agreement by the Required Company Stockholder Approval,
(i) the Company has received a bona fide written Acquisition Proposal from a third party, (ii) neither any Acquired Company nor any of their
respective Representatives shall have directly or indirectly violated any of the restrictions set forth in Section 6.03 in a manner that resulted in
the submission of such Acquisition Proposal, (iii) the Company Board of Directors determines in good faith, after consultation with its financial
advisors and outside counsel, that such Acquisition Proposal constitutes or is reasonably likely to lead to a Superior Proposal and (iv) after
consultation with its outside counsel, the Company Board of Directors determines in good faith that such action is necessary to comply with its
fiduciary duties to the stockholders of the Company under Applicable Law, then the Company may take the following actions: (A) furnish
information with respect to the Acquired Companies to the Person making such Acquisition Proposal and (B) participate in discussions or
negotiations with the Person making such Acquisition Proposal regarding such Acquisition Proposal; provided that the Company (x) shall not,
and shall not allow any other Acquired Company or any Representative of any Acquired Company to, disclose any information to such Person
without first entering into a confidentiality agreement containing customary limitations on the use and disclosure of all nonpublic written and
oral information furnished to such Person by or on behalf of any of the Acquired Companies, provided that such confidentiality agreement shall
not be required to contain a �standstill� provision and (y) shall promptly provide to Parent or its Representatives any information concerning the
Acquired Companies provided to such other Person which was not previously provided to Parent.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 6.02(b) or this Section 6.03, at any time prior to the adoption of this
Agreement by the Required Company Stockholder Approval, the Company Board of Directors may make a Change of Board Recommendation
for a reason unrelated to an Acquisition Proposal (it being understood and agreed that any Change of Board Recommendation proposed to be
made in
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relation to an Acquisition Proposal may only be made pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of Section 6.03(f)) if the Company Board of
Directors has determined in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel, that, in light of facts, events or circumstances that have
developed since the date of this Agreement that were not foreseen or reasonably foreseeable to the Company as of the date of this Agreement (an
�Intervening Event�) and taking into account the results of any negotiations with Parent as contemplated by subsection (ii) below and any offer
from Parent contemplated by subsection (iii) below, that such action is necessary to comply with the fiduciary duties owed by the Company
Board of Directors to the stockholders of the Company under Applicable Law; provided, however, that the Company Board may not withdraw,
modify or amend the Company Board Recommendation in a manner adverse to Parent pursuant to the foregoing unless:

(i) the Company shall have provided prior written notice to Parent, at least four Business Days in advance (the �Intervening Event Notice Period�),
of the Company�s intention to make a Change of Board Recommendation (it being understood that the delivery of such notice and any
amendment or update thereto and the determination to so deliver such notice, update or amendment shall not, by itself, constitute a Change of
Board Recommendation or otherwise give rise to a Triggering Event), which notice shall specify the Company Board of Directors reason for
proposing to effect such Change of Board Recommendation;

(ii) prior to effecting such Change of Board Recommendation, the Company shall, and shall cause the Company Representatives to, during the
Intervening Event Notice Period negotiate with Parent in good faith (to the extent Parent desires to negotiate) to make such adjustments in the
terms and conditions of this Agreement in such a manner that would obviate the need for the Company Board of Directors to effect such Change
of Board Recommendation; and

(iii) Parent shall not have, within the aforementioned four Business Day period, made a written, binding and irrevocable (through the expiration
of such period) offer to modify the terms and conditions of this Agreement, which is set forth in a definitive written amendment to this
Agreement delivered to the Company and executed on behalf of Parent and Merger Sub, and Second Merger Sub that the Company Board of
Directors has in good faith determined (after consultation with its outside legal counsel and its financial advisor) would obviate the need for the
Company Board of Directors to effect such Change of Board Recommendation.

(f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 6.02(b) or this Section 6.03, if the Company receives an Acquisition Proposal
that the Company Board of Directors determines in good faith, after consultation with outside counsel and its financial advisors, constitutes a
Superior Proposal, after giving effect to all of the adjustments to the terms and conditions of this Agreement that have been delivered to the
Company by Parent in writing during the Notice Period provided pursuant to Section 6.03(f), that are binding and have been irrevocably
committed to by Parent in writing, the Company Board of Directors may at any time prior to the adoption of this Agreement by the Required
Company Stockholder Approval, if the Company Board of Directors determines in good faith, after consultation with outside counsel, that such
action is necessary to comply with the fiduciary duties owed by the Company Board of Directors to the stockholders of the Company under
Applicable Law, take the following action: (y) effect a Change of Board Recommendation with respect to such Superior Proposal or
(z) terminate this Agreement to enter into a definitive agreement with respect to such Superior Proposal; provided, however, that the Company
shall not terminate this Agreement pursuant to the foregoing clause (z), and any purported termination pursuant to the foregoing clause (z) shall
be void and of no force or effect, unless in advance of or concurrently with such termination the Company complies with the provisions of
Section 9.01(f) and Section 9.03; and provided further that the Company Board may not withdraw, modify or amend the Company Board
Recommendation in a manner adverse to Parent pursuant to the foregoing clause (y) or terminate this Agreement pursuant to the foregoing
clause (z) unless:

(i) the Company shall have provided prior written notice to Parent, at least four Business Days in advance (the �Notice Period�), of the Company�s
intention to take such action with respect to such Superior Proposal (it being understood that the delivery of such notice and any amendment or
update thereto and the determination to so deliver such notice, update or amendment shall not, by itself, constitute a Change of Board
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Recommendation or otherwise give rise to a Triggering Event), which notice shall specify the material terms and conditions of such Superior
Proposal, (including the identity of the party making such Superior Proposal) and shall have contemporaneously provided a copy of the relevant
proposed transaction agreements with the party making such Superior Proposal, including the definitive agreement with respect to such Superior
Proposal (the �Alternative Acquisition Agreement�); and

(ii) prior to effecting such Change of Board Recommendation or terminating this Agreement to enter into a definitive agreement with respect to
such Superior Proposal, the Company shall, and shall cause the Company Representatives to, during the Notice Period, negotiate with Parent in
good faith (to the extent Parent desires to negotiate) to make such adjustments in the terms and conditions of this Agreement so that such
Acquisition Proposal ceases to constitute a Superior Proposal. In the event of any material revisions to the Superior Proposal, the Company shall
be required to deliver a new written notice to Parent and to comply with the requirements of this Section 6.03(f) with respect to such new written
notice; provided that the Notice Period for any subsequent notice shall be shortened from four Business Days to two Business Days.).

(g) The Company agrees that any action or inaction of any of the Acquired Companies or their respective Representatives that is inconsistent
with the provisions set forth in this Section 6.03 shall be deemed to be a breach of this Agreement (including this Section 6.03) by the Company;
provided, however, that no such action or inaction shall be taken into account for purposes of Section 9.01(e) or Section 9.01(g)(ii) unless the
Company shall have permitted (with respect to its officers, directors and employees) or shall have knowingly permitted (with respect to any
Representative of the Company who is not a Company officer, director or employee) such action or inaction to occur, and such action or inaction
is materially inconsistent with this Section 6.03.

Section 6.04 Access to Information. From the date of this Agreement until the Effective Time, upon reasonable advanced notice and during
normal business hours, the Company shall and shall cause each other Acquired Company to (i) give Parent and its Representatives reasonable
access to the offices, properties, books and records of the Acquired Companies, (ii) furnish to Parent and its Representatives such financial and
operating data and other information relating to the Acquired Companies as such Persons may reasonably request and (iii) instruct the
employees, counsel and financial advisors of the Acquired Companies to cooperate with Parent in its investigation of the Acquired Companies;
provided, however, that the Company may restrict or otherwise prohibit access to any documents or information to the extent that (a) any
Applicable Law requires the Company to restrict or otherwise prohibit access to such documents or information, (b) access to such documents or
information would, in the Company�s good faith opinion after consultation with outside legal counsel, result in the loss of attorney-client
privilege, work product doctrine or other applicable legal privilege applicable to such documents or information or (c) access to a Contract to
which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or otherwise bound would violate or cause a default under, or give a third party the right
terminate or accelerate the rights under, such Contract. In the event that any of the Company or its Subsidiaries does not provide access or
information in reliance on the preceding sentence, it shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to communicate the applicable information to
Parent in a way that would not violate the applicable Law, Contract or obligation or waive such a privilege. The terms and conditions of the
Confidentiality Agreement shall apply to any information obtained by Parent or any of its financial advisors, business consultants, legal counsel,
accountants and other agents and representatives in connection with any investigation conducted pursuant to the access contemplated by this
Section 6.04. Any investigation pursuant to this Section 6.04 shall be conducted in such manner as not to interfere unreasonably with the
conduct of the business of the Acquired Companies and any access to the property of any Acquired Company must comply with Company�s
reasonable security and insurance requirements, may not unreasonably interfere with any Acquired Company�s use of the property.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parent shall not have access to personnel records of the Acquired Companies relating to individual performance
or evaluation records, medical histories or other information which in the Company�s good-faith opinion is sensitive or the disclosure of which
could subject the Company to risk of liability.
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Section 6.05 Termination of Employee Plans. Unless Parent directs the Company otherwise in writing no later than five Business Days prior
to the Effective Time, the Company Board of Directors (or the board of directors of the applicable Acquired Company) shall adopt resolutions
terminating, effective at least one day prior to the Effective Time, any Employee Plan qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code and containing
a Code Section 401(k) cash or deferred arrangement (each, a �401(k) Plan�). Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall provide Parent with
executed resolutions of its Board of Directors (or the board of directors of the applicable Acquired Company) authorizing such termination and
amending any such 401(k) Plan commensurate with its termination to the extent necessary to comply with all Applicable Laws. The Company
shall also take (and shall cause each applicable Acquired Company to take) such other actions in furtherance of the termination of each 401(k)
Plan as Parent may reasonably require, including such actions as Parent may reasonably require prior to the Effective Time to support Parent
obtaining a determination letter with respect to the termination of each 401(k) Plan following the Effective Time.

Section 6.06 Notices of Certain Events.

(a) From the date of this Agreement until the Effective Time, the Company shall promptly notify Parent of:

(i) any material written notice or written communication from any Governmental Authority indicating that a Permit is revoked or about to be
revoked, which revocation or failure to obtain has had or would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect;

(ii) any actions, suits, claims, investigations or proceedings commenced against the Acquired Companies that would have or reasonably be
expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect;

(iii) any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation, warranty or covenant contained in this Agreement if such inaccuracy or breach would
cause the condition in Section 8.02(a) (with respect to representations and warranties) and Section 8.02(b) (with respect to covenants) to fail to
be satisfied at the Effective Time;

(iv) any actions, suits, claims or proceedings commenced against the Acquired Companies relating to or involving this Agreement or the
transactions contemplated hereby.

(b) From the date of this Agreement until the Effective Time, Parent shall promptly notify the Company of:

(i) any actions, suits, claims, investigations or proceedings commenced against Parent or its Subsidiaries that would have or reasonably be
expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect;

(ii) any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation, warranty or covenant contained in this Agreement if such inaccuracy or breach would
cause the condition in Section 8.03(a) (with respect to representations and warranties) and Section 8.03(b) (with respect to covenants) to fail to
be satisfied at the Effective Time; and

(iii) any actions, suits, claims or proceedings commenced against Parent relating to or involving this Agreement or the transactions contemplated
hereby.

No such notice shall be deemed to supplement or amend the Company Disclosure Schedule or the Parent Disclosure, as the case may be, for the
purpose of determining whether any of the conditions set forth in Article 8 have been satisfied.
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Section 6.07 Tax Matters.

(a) Each of Parent, Merger Sub, Second Merger Sub and the Company intends, and shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause, the
First Merger and the Second Merger, taken together, to qualify as a �reorganization� within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code and the
Parties hereto adopt this Agreement as a �plan of reorganization� within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.368-2(g).

(b) Unless otherwise required pursuant to a �determination� within the meaning of Section 1313(a) of the Code, each of Parent, Merger Sub and
the Company shall report the First Merger and the Second Merger, taken together, as a �reorganization� within the meaning of Section 368(a) of
the Code.

(c) Each of Parent, Merger Sub, Second Merger Sub and Company shall cooperate and use their commercially reasonable efforts in order for the
Company to obtain the opinion of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati P.C. in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Company, dated
as of the Closing Date, to the effect that, on the basis of the facts, representations and assumptions set forth or referred to in such opinion, for
federal income tax purposes, the First Merger and the Second Merger, taken together, will constitute a �reorganization� within the meaning of
Section 368(a) of the Code. As a condition precedent to the rendering of such opinions, Parent (and Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub) and
the Company shall, as of the Closing Date, execute and deliver to Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati P.C. tax representation letters, dated and
executed as of the dates of such opinions (the �Tax Representation Letters�), in substantially the forms attached to this Agreement as Exhibit C-1
and Exhibit C-2, respectively. Notwithstanding anything in Section 8.03 to the contrary, the obligation to deliver the opinion referred to in this
Section 6.07 shall not be waivable after receipt of any Required Company Stockholder Approval, unless further stockholder approval is obtained
with appropriate disclosure.

ARTICLE 7.

ADDITIONAL COVENANTS OF THE PARTIES

Section 7.01 Appropriate Action; Consents; Regulatory Filings.

(a) Each of the Company, Parent, Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub shall use their reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all
appropriate actions and do, or cause to be done, and to assist and cooperate with the other party or parties hereto in doing, all things necessary,
proper or advisable under Applicable Law or otherwise to consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as
promptly as practicable, including, using reasonable best efforts to: (i) cause the conditions to the First Merger set forth in Section 8.01 and
Section 8.02 (in the case of the Company) to be satisfied; (ii) cause the conditions to the First Merger set forth in Section 8.01 and Section 8.03
(in the case of Parent, Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub) to be satisfied, (iii) obtain from any Governmental Authority any actions or
non-actions, consents, licenses, permits, waivers, approvals, authorizations or orders required to be obtained by Parent or the Company or any of
their respective Subsidiaries, or to avoid any action or proceeding by any Governmental Authority, in connection with the authorization,
execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the Transaction; (iv) as promptly as reasonably practicable, and in any event
within 15 Business Days after the date hereof unless a later date is mutually agreed in writing by the Parties, make all necessary registrations,
declarations, submissions of information, applications and other documents and filings with Governmental Authorities in connection with this
Agreement and the consummation of the Transaction, and thereafter make any other required submissions, and pay any fees due in connection
therewith, with respect to this Agreement and the Transaction required under (A) the Exchange Act, and any other applicable federal or state
securities Laws, (B) the HSR Act and (C) any other Applicable Law; provided, that the Company and Parent shall cooperate with each other in
connection with (x) preparing and filing the Prospectus/Proxy Statement and any other required filings, (y) determining whether any action by or
in respect of, or registrations, declarations, submissions of information, applications and other documents and filings with, any Governmental
Authority is required, in connection with the consummation of the Transaction and (z) seeking any such actions, consents, approvals or
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waivers or making any such filings; and (v) execute or deliver any additional instruments reasonably necessary to consummate the Transaction,
and to fully carry out the purposes of, this Agreement. The Company and Parent shall furnish to each other all information required for any
application or other filing under the rules and regulations of any Applicable Law in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Parent shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, enter into or
publicly announce an agreement to form a joint venture, strategic alliance or strategic partnership or to acquire any assets, business or company
if such agreement, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to cause any of the conditions set forth in Section 8.01(b),
Section 8.01(c) or Section 8.02(e) not to be satisfied or would reasonably be expected to have the effect of preventing, materially impairing,
materially delaying or otherwise materially and adversely affecting the consummation of the Merger.

(b) The Company and Parent shall give (or shall cause their respective Subsidiaries to give) any notices to third parties, and use, and cause their
respective Subsidiaries to use, their reasonable best efforts to obtain any third party consents, (i) necessary, proper or advisable to consummate
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (ii) required to be disclosed in the Company Disclosure Schedule or the Parent Disclosure
Schedule, as applicable, or (iii) required to prevent a Company Material Adverse Effect from occurring prior to or after the Effective Time;
provided, however that the Company and Parent shall coordinate and cooperate in determining whether any actions, consents, approvals or
waivers are required to be obtained from parties to any Company Material Contracts in connection with consummation of the Transaction and
seeking any such actions, consents, approvals or waivers. Without limiting the terms of Sections 7.01(c) and (d) in connection with obtaining
any approval or consent from any Person with respect to the Transaction, (i) without the prior written consent of Parent, none of the Company or
any Acquired Company shall pay or commit to pay to such Person whose approval or consent is being solicited any cash or other consideration,
make any commitment or incur any liability or other obligation due to such Person, and (ii) neither Parent, Merger Sub nor Second Merger Sub
shall be required to pay or commit to pay to such Person whose approval or consent is being solicited any cash or other consideration, make any
commitment or incur any liability or other obligation.

(c) Without limiting the generality of anything contained in this Section 7.01, each party hereto shall: (i) give the other parties prompt notice of
the making or commencement of any request, inquiry, investigation, action or legal proceeding by or before any Governmental Authority with
respect to the Transaction or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (ii) promptly inform the other parties as to the status
of any such request, inquiry, investigation, action or legal proceeding; (iii) promptly inform the other parties of any communication to or from
the Federal Trade Commission, the Department of Justice or any other Governmental Authority, or in connection with any filings or
investigations with, by or before any Governmental Authority, relating to this Agreement or the Transaction, (iv) cooperate and coordinate with
the other in the making of any filings or submissions that are required to be made under any applicable Antitrust Laws or requested to be made
by any Governmental Authority in connection with the Transaction, (v) supply the other or its outside counsel with any information that may be
required or requested by any Governmental Authority in connection with such filings or submissions and (vi) supply any additional information
that may be required or requested by the Federal Trade Commission, the Department of Justice or other Governmental Authorities in which any
such filings or submissions are made under any applicable Antitrust Laws as promptly as practicable. Each party hereto will consult and
cooperate with the other parties and will consider in good faith the views of the other parties in connection with any filing, analysis, appearance,
presentation, memorandum, brief, argument, opinion or proposal made or submitted in connection with the Transaction or any of the other
transactions contemplated by this Agreement. In addition, each party will provide the other party an opportunity to review and comment on any
communication given by it to a Governmental Authority and, except as may be prohibited by any Governmental Authority or by any Applicable
Law, in connection with any such request, inquiry, investigation, action or legal proceeding, each party hereto will permit authorized
representatives of the other parties to participate in, and will consult in advance with the other party prior to, each meeting or conference relating
to such request, inquiry, investigation, action or legal proceeding and to have access to and be consulted in advance in connection with any
document, opinion or proposal made or submitted to any Governmental Authority in connection with such request, inquiry, investigation, action
or legal proceeding. If any party hereto or Affiliate
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thereof shall receive a request for additional information or documentary material from any Governmental Authority with respect to the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement pursuant to the HSR Act or any other Antitrust Laws with respect to which any such filings have
been made, then such party shall use its reasonable best efforts to make, or cause to be made, as soon as reasonably practicable and after
consultation with the other party, an appropriate response. Notwithstanding the generality of any other provision set forth in this Section 7.01,
both parties agree to work together in a mutual, co-operative manner on all strategic and tactical aspects in the formulation of actions pertaining
to the matters contemplated by this Section 7.01(c); provided, however, that Parent shall be entitled, after consultation with the Company, to
make all strategic and tactical decisions as to the manner in which to obtain from any Governmental Authority under any Antitrust Law any
actions or non-actions, consents, approvals, authorizations, clearances or orders required to be obtained by Parent or the Company or any of their
respective Subsidiaries in connection with the consummation of the Transaction.

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in connection with the receipt of any necessary approvals or clearances of a
Governmental Authority (including under the HSR Act), neither Parent nor the Company (nor any of their respective Subsidiaries or Affiliates)
shall be required to (i) sell, hold separate or otherwise dispose of or conduct their business in a specified manner, or agree to sell, hold separate
or otherwise dispose of or conduct their businesses in a specified manner, or enter into or agree to enter into a voting trust arrangement, proxy
arrangement, �hold separate� agreement or arrangement or similar agreement or arrangement with respect to the assets, operations or conduct of
their business in a specified manner, or permit the sale, holding separate or other disposition of, any assets of Parent, the Company or their
respective Subsidiaries or Affiliates or (ii) contest, defend or appeal any Proceedings brought by a Governmental Authority, whether judicial or
administrative, challenging or seeking to restrain or prohibit the consummation of the Merger or seeking to compel any divestiture by Parent, the
Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries of shares of capital stock or of any business, assets or property, or to impose any limitation on
the ability of any of them to conduct their businesses or to own or exercise control of such assets, properties or stock to avoid or eliminate any
impediment under any Antitrust Law.

Section 7.02 Registration Statement; Prospectus/Proxy Statement.

(a) As promptly as practicable after the date of this Agreement, Parent and the Company shall prepare and cause to be filed with the SEC the
Prospectus/Proxy Statement and Parent shall prepare and cause to be filed with the SEC the Registration Statement, in which the
Prospectus/Proxy Statement will be included as a prospectus. Each of Parent and the Company shall use all reasonable efforts to cause the
Registration Statement and the Prospectus/Proxy Statement to comply with the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC, to respond
promptly to any comments of the SEC or its staff and to have the Registration Statement declared effective under the Securities Act as promptly
as practicable after it is filed with the SEC, and to keep the Registration Statement effective as long as is necessary to consummate the First
Merger and the transactions contemplated hereby. The Company will use all reasonable efforts to cause the Prospectus/Proxy Statement to be
mailed to the Company�s stockholders as promptly as practicable after the Registration Statement is declared effective under the Securities Act.
Each of Parent and the Company shall provide promptly to the other such information concerning it, its holders of capital stock, its business
affairs and financial statements as, in the reasonable judgment of the providing party or its counsel, may be required or appropriate for inclusion
in the Prospectus/Proxy Statement and the Registration Statement pursuant to this Section 7.02, or in any amendments or supplements thereto,
and shall cause its counsel and auditors to cooperate with the other�s counsel and auditors in the preparation of the Prospectus/Proxy Statement
and the Registration Statement.

(b) Each of Parent and the Company will notify the other promptly upon the receipt of any comments from the SEC or its staff in connection
with the filing of, or amendments or supplements to, the Registration Statement and/or the Prospectus/Proxy Statement. Parent shall promptly
inform the Company if, at any time prior to the Effective Time, any event or circumstance relating to Parent, any Subsidiary of Parent or Merger
Sub, or any of their respective officers or directors, is discovered by Parent that should be set forth in an amendment or a supplement to the
Prospectus/Proxy Statement or the Registration Statement. The Company shall promptly
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inform Parent if, at any time prior to the Effective Time, any event or circumstance relating to the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company,
or any of their respective officers or directors, is discovered by the Company that should be set forth in an amendment or a supplement to the
Prospectus/Proxy Statement or the Registration Statement. Except in connection with any Change of Board Recommendation (which Parent
shall include in the Prospectus/Proxy Statement at the Company�s request) and other than pursuant to Rule 425 of the Securities Act with respect
to releases made in compliance with Section 7.03 of this Agreement, no amendment or supplement to the Prospectus/Proxy Statement or the
Registration Statement, nor any response to any comments or inquiry from the SEC with respect to such filings, will be made by the Company or
Parent without the approval of the other party, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed (it being understood
that it shall be unreasonable to withhold consent with respect to any amendment or supplement to the Prospectus/Proxy Statement or
Registration Statement to the extent such amendment or supplement is required to be included therein so that the Prospectus/Proxy Statement or
Registration Statement will not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or
necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading as may be
required by Rule 10b-5 or Rule 14a9 under the Exchange Act or Section 11 or Section 12 of the Securities Act.) The Company and Parent each
will advise the other promptly after it receives notice of the time when the Registration Statement has become effective or any supplement or
amendment has been filed, of the issuance of any stop order, the suspension of the qualification of Parent Common Stock issuable in connection
with the First Merger for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or any request by the SEC for amendment of the Prospectus/Proxy Statement or the
Registration Statement or comments thereon and responses thereto or requests by the SEC for additional information. Each of the parties hereto
shall cause the Prospectus/Proxy Statement and the Registration Statement to comply as to form and substance as to such party in all material
respects with the applicable requirements of (i) the Exchange Act, (ii) the Securities Act, and (iii) the rules and regulations of Nasdaq or the
NYSE.

(c) Without limiting Parent�s obligations set forth in this Section 7.02, prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall use commercially reasonable
efforts to obtain all regulatory approvals needed to ensure that the Parent Common Stock to be issued in the First Merger will be registered or
qualified under the securities law of every jurisdiction of the United States in which any registered holder of Company Common Stock has an
address of record on the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at the Company Stockholder Meeting;
provided, however, that Parent shall not be required (i) to qualify to do business as a foreign corporation in any jurisdiction in which it is not
now qualified or (ii) to file a general consent to service of process in any jurisdiction.

Section 7.03 Confidentiality; Public Announcements.

(a) Parent and the Company hereby acknowledge and agree to continue to be bound by the Mutual Confidentiality Agreement dated as of
May 27, 2010, by and between Parent and the Company (the �Confidentiality Agreement�), which shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

(b) The initial press release relating to this Agreement shall be a joint press release, the text of which has been agreed by each of Parent and the
Company. The Company shall not, and the Company shall cause each of its Representatives and the other Acquired Companies (and each of
their respective Representatives) not to, directly or indirectly, issue any press release or other public statement relating to the terms of this
Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby or use Parent�s name or refer to Parent directly or indirectly in connection with Parent�s
relationship with the Company in any media interview, advertisement, news release, press release or professional or trade publication, or in any
print media, whether or not in response to an inquiry, without the prior written approval of Parent, unless required by Applicable Law. Parent
shall not, and Parent shall cause each of its Representatives and the other Acquired Companies (and each of their respective Representatives) not
to, directly or indirectly, issue any press release or other public statement relating to the terms of this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated hereby or use Company�s name or refer to Company directly or indirectly in connection with Company�s relationship with Parent in
any media interview, advertisement, news release, press
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release or professional or trade publication, or in any print media, whether or not in response to an inquiry, without the prior written approval of
the Company, unless required by Applicable Law. The restrictions set forth in this Section 7.03 shall not apply to any release, announcement or
disclosure made or proposed to be made by the Company with respect to an Acquisition Proposal, Intervening Event, Change of Board
Recommendation or Superior Proposal.

Section 7.04 Form S-8; ESPP; Assumption of Company Compensatory Awards and Company Restricted Stock Awards.

(a) With respect to the Company Stock Options assumed pursuant to Section 3.06, Parent shall prepare and file with the SEC a registration
statement on Form S-8 with respect to the shares of Parent Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the assumed Company Compensatory
Awards promptly following the Effective Time, but in no event later than 10 business days following the Effective Time. The Company and its
counsel shall cooperate with and assist Parent in the preparation of such registration statement. For the avoidance of doubt, the Form S-8
registration statement shall not cover any Cashed Out Compensatory Awards.

(b) The Company shall take such action as may be necessary to (i) establish a New Exercise Date (as defined under the Company ESPP) on the
last day of the payroll period ending immediately prior to the Effective Time (but in all events at least ten Business Days prior to the Effective
Time) with respect to the Offering Period (as defined in the Company ESPP) otherwise then in effect (the �Final Exercise Date�); (ii) provide that
no further Offering Periods shall commence under the Company ESPP on or following the Final Exercise Date; and (iii) terminate the Company
ESPP as of the Final Exercise Date, contingent upon the Effective Time. Each outstanding option under the Company ESPP on the Final
Exercise Date shall be exercised on such date for the purchase of Company Common Stock in accordance with the terms of the Company ESPP.
The Company shall provide timely notice of the setting of the Final Exercise Date and termination of the Company ESPP in accordance with
Section 18(c) of the Company ESPP.

(c) Prior to the Effective Time, the Company Board (or, if appropriate, any committee administering the Company Stock Plans) shall adopt such
resolutions that are necessary for the assumption and conversion of the Company Compensatory Awards and Company Restricted Stock Awards
and for the treatment of Cashed Out Compensatory Awards as set forth in Section 3.06.

Section 7.05 Continuing Employee Compensation.

(a) For a period of at least one (1) year following the Effective Time, Parent shall, or shall cause the Surviving Company to, compensate each
Company employee who continues his or her employment with Parent or the Surviving Company following the Effective Time (a �Continuing
Employee�) with cash compensation, including base salary rate and target bonus opportunity, on terms in the aggregate no less favorable than the
total cash compensation opportunity provided to the Continuing Employee immediately prior to the Effective Time. Nothing herein shall
(i) require Parent to continue the employment of any Continuing Employee or (ii) limit Parent�s ability and discretion to change or amend the
total cash compensation opportunity to which a Continuing Employee may be entitled provided that, following such change or amendment, the
total cash compensation opportunity payable to such Continuing Employee is on terms in the aggregate no less favorable than the total cash
compensation opportunity provided to the Continuing Employee immediately prior to the Effective Time.

(b) As of and following the Effective Time, Parent will either (a) continue the Employee Plans, (b) permit Continuing Employees and, as
applicable, their eligible dependents, to participate in the employee benefit plans, programs or policies (including without limitation any plan
intended to qualify within the meaning of Section 401(a) of the Code and any vacation, sick, per personal time off plans or programs) of Parent,
in each case on terms substantially no less favorable in the aggregate than those provided to similarly situated employees of Parent, including
with respect to geographical location, or (c) a combination of clauses (a) and (b).
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(c) To the extent Parent elects to have Continuing Employees and their eligible dependents participate in its employee benefit plans, program or
policies following the Effective Time, Parent shall, and shall cause the Surviving Company to, treat, and cause the applicable benefit plans in
which Continuing Employees are entitled to participate to treat, the service of Continuing Employees with the Company or any subsidiary of the
Company (or any predecessor or employer of a Continuing Employee of the Company or any Company subsidiary, to the extent such service
with such predecessor employer is recognized by the Company or the applicable Company subsidiary) attributable to any period before the
Effective Time as service rendered to Parent, the Surviving Company or any subsidiary of Parent for purposes of eligibility to participate, level
of benefits, vesting and for other appropriate benefits including the applicability of minimum waiting periods for participation, but excluding
benefit accrual (including minimum pension amount), and equity incentive plans or as would otherwise result in a duplication of benefits.

(d) Without limiting the foregoing, with respect to Continuing Employees who are employed by Parent or a Subsidiary of Parent in the United
States, Parent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause any pre-existing conditions or (actively at work or similar) limitations,
eligibility waiting periods, evidence of insurability requirements or required physical examinations under any health or similar plan of Parent to
be waived with respect to Continuing Employees and their eligible dependents; provided, however, that with respect to preexisting conditions,
such conditions shall be waived only to the extent waived under the corresponding plan in which Continuing Employees participated
immediately prior to the date Continuing Employees and their eligible dependents are transitioned to Parent�s health or similar plans. With
respect to Continuing Employees who are employed by Parent or a subsidiary of Parent in the United States, Parent shall also use commercially
reasonable efforts to cause any deductibles paid by Continuing Employees under any of Company�s or its Subsidiaries� health plans in the plan
year in which the Effective Time occurs to be credited towards deductibles under the health plans of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent.

(e) Following the Closing, Parent shall adopt or shall cause to be adopted by the Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent employing the Continuing
Employees, a policy consistent with the terms set forth on Schedule 7.05(f).

(f) The Company and Parent acknowledge and agree that all provisions contained in this Section 7.05 with respect to employees are included for
the sole benefit of the respective parties and shall not create any right in any other Person, including any employees, former employees, any
participant in any Employee Plans or any beneficiary thereof or any right to continued employment with the Surviving Company, Parent or any
Subsidiary of Surviving Company or Parent, shall not be construed to establish, amend, or modify an Employee Plan or any other benefit plan,
program, agreement or arrangement and shall not require any Acquired Company, Parent, the Surviving Company or any Subsidiary of an
Acquired Company, Parent or the Surviving Company to continue or amend any particular benefit plan after the consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement for any employee or former employee of an Acquired Company, and any such plan may be
amended or terminated in accordance with its terms and Applicable Law.

Section 7.06 Indemnification of Officers and Directors.

(a) Parent and Merger Sub agree that all rights to indemnification under any Contracts existing as of the Effective Time between the Acquired
Companies and any of their respective current or former directors and officers and any person who becomes a director or officer of the Company
or any of its Subsidiaries prior to the Effective Time (the �Indemnified Persons�) shall survive the Transaction and shall continue in full force and
effect in accordance with their terms following the Effective Time. Parent shall, and shall cause the Surviving Company and its Subsidiaries to,
honor and fulfill in all respects the obligations of the Acquired Companies under any and such indemnification Contracts with the Indemnified
Persons. In addition, during the period commencing at the Effective Time and ending on the sixth anniversary of the Effective Time, the
Surviving Company and its Subsidiaries shall (and Parent shall cause the Surviving Company and its Subsidiaries to) cause the certificate of
incorporation and bylaws (and other similar organizational documents) of the Surviving
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Company and its Subsidiaries to contain provisions with respect to indemnification, exculpation and the advancement of expenses, covering acts
and omissions of directors and officers (and any other employees or agents who otherwise would be entitled to similar benefits thereunder
pursuant to the terms thereof in effect on the date hereof), in each case in their respective capacities as such, occurring at or prior to the Effective
Time, to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law and during such six-year period, such provisions shall not be repealed, amended or
otherwise modified in any manner except as required by applicable Law.

(b) Prior to the Closing, the Company shall obtain and fully pay for �tail� insurance policies with a claims period of at least six years from the
Closing Date from an insurance carrier with the same or better credit rating as the Company�s current insurance carrier with respect to directors�
and officers� liability insurance in an amount and scope at least as favorable as the Company�s existing policies with respect to matters existing or
occurring at or prior to the Closing Date. In the event that the Company purchases such a �tail� policy prior to the Effective Time, Parent and the
Surviving Company shall maintain such �tail� policy in full force and effect and continue to honor their respective obligations thereunder, for so
long as such �tail� policy shall be maintained in full force and effect. If for any reason such �tail� policy is no longer effective or does not apply to
any claim that would be covered under the Company�s directors� and officers� liability insurance prior to the Effective Time, during the period
commencing at the Effective Time and ending on the sixth anniversary of the Effective Time, Parent and the Surviving Company shall maintain
in effect a directors� and officers� liability insurance (�D&O Insurance�) in respect of acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Effective Time,
covering each person covered by the Company�s current directors� and officers� liability insurance policy, on terms with respect to the coverage
and amounts that are equivalent to those of the Company�s current directors� and officers� liability insurance policy; provided, however, in
satisfying its obligations under this Section 7.06(b), Parent and the Surviving Company shall not be obligated to pay annual premiums in excess
of 250% of the amount paid by the Company for coverage for its last full fiscal year (such 250% amount, the �Maximum Annual Premium�)
(which premiums the Company represents and warrants to be as set forth in Section 7.06(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter), provided that if
the annual premiums of such insurance coverage exceed such amount, Parent and the Surviving Company shall be obligated to obtain a policy
with the greatest coverage available for a cost not exceeding the Maximum Annual Premium.

(c) If Parent or the Surviving Company or any of its successors or assigns shall (i) consolidate with or merge into any other Person and shall not
be the continuing or Surviving Company or entity of such consolidation or merger, or (ii) transfer all or substantially all of its properties and
assets to any Person, then, and in each such case, proper provisions shall be made so that the successors and assigns of the Surviving Company
shall assume all of the obligations of Parent and the Surviving Company set forth in this Section 7.06.

(d) The obligations set forth in this Section 7.06 shall not be terminated, amended or otherwise modified in any manner that adversely affects
any Indemnified Person (or any other person who is a beneficiary under the D&O Insurance or the �tail� policy referred to in Section 7.06(b) (and
their heirs and representatives)) without the prior written consent of such affected Indemnified Person or other person who is a beneficiary under
the D&O Insurance or the �tail� policy referred to in Section 7.06(b) (and their heirs and representatives). The provisions of this Section 7.06 shall
survive the Closing and are intended to be for the benefit of, and enforceable by, each Indemnified Person of the Company and his or her heirs
and personal representatives with full rights of enforcement as if a party hereto, and nothing in this Agreement shall affect any indemnification
rights that any such current director or officer and his or her heirs and personal representatives may have under the certificate of incorporation or
bylaws of the Company or any contract or Applicable Law.

Section 7.07 Letter of the Company�s Accountants. The Company shall use all reasonable efforts to cause to be delivered to Parent a letter of
SingerLewak LLP, dated no more than two business days before the date on which the Registration Statement becomes effective (and
reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to Parent), that is customary in scope and substance for letters delivered by independent public
accountants in connection with registration statements similar to the Registration Statement.
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Section 7.08 Listing. Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall use all reasonable efforts to obtain authorization for listing on the New York
Stock Exchange of the shares of Parent Common Stock issuable and required to be reserved for issuance in connection with the First Merger,
subject to official notice of issuance.

Section 7.09 Section 16 Matters. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall take such reasonable steps as are required to cause the
disposition of Company Common Stock and Company Options in connection with the First Merger by each individual who is subject to the
reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act with respect to the Company to be exempt from Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act
pursuant to Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act. If the Company delivers the Section 16 Information (as defined below) to Parent at least 30
days prior to the Effective Time, then, prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall take such reasonable steps as are required to cause the acquisition
of Parent Common Stock, options to purchase shares of Parent Common Stock in connection with the First Merger by each individual who,
immediately after the Effective Time, will become subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act with respect to
Parent to be exempt from Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act pursuant to Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act. For purposes of this Section 7.09,
�Section 16 Information� means the following information for each individual who, immediately after the Effective Time, will become subject to
the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act with respect to Parent: (a) the number of shares of Company Common Stock
held by such individual and expected to be exchanged for shares of Parent Common Stock in the First Merger; (b) the number of Company
Options held by such individual and expected to be converted into options to purchase shares of Parent Common Stock in connection with the
First Merger; and (c) the number of other derivative securities (if any) with respect to Company Common Stock held by such individual and
expected to be converted into shares of Parent Common Stock or derivative securities with respect to Parent Common Stock in connection with
the First Merger.

Section 7.10 Board Composition. Parent shall appoint one member of the Company Board of Directors who is not an employee of the
Company, which individual shall be mutually and reasonably agreed to by the parties, as a member of the Parent Board of Directors effective as
of the Effective Time.

Section 7.11 FIRPTA Certificate. If the Company Common Stock is not traded on NASDAQ immediately before the Effective Time, at or
prior to Closing, the Company shall deliver to Parent an affidavit stating, under penalty of perjury, that the Company is not, and has not been
during the applicable period described in Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code, a �United States real property holding corporation�, dated as of the
Closing Date and in form and substance as required under Treasury Regulation Section 1.897-2(h).

ARTICLE 8.

CONDITIONS TO THE TRANSACTION

Section 8.01 Conditions to the Obligations of Each Party. The obligations of the Company, Parent and Merger Sub to consummate the First
Merger are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:

(a) Required Company Stockholder Approval. This Agreement shall have been duly adopted by the Required Company Stockholder
Approval.

(b) Governmental Approvals. (i) The waiting period applicable to the consummation of the Transaction under the HSR Act shall have expired
or been terminated, (ii) any waiting periods (and extensions thereof) applicable to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement under the
Antitrust Laws of the United States shall have expired or been terminated, and (iii) any clearances, consents, approvals, orders and
authorizations of the Governmental Authorities in the United States that are required by the Antitrust Laws shall have been obtained.
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(c) No Injunction. No temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction or other order or decree issued by a Governmental
Authority of competent jurisdiction in the United States shall be in effect, and no Applicable Law enacted or adopted by a Governmental
Authority of competent jurisdiction in the United States shall have been enacted, in each case, which makes consummation of the Transaction
illegal.

(d) Effectiveness of Registration Statement. The Registration Statement shall have been declared effective by the SEC in accordance with the
provisions of the Securities Act, and shall not be the subject of any stop order or proceeding seeking a stop order.

Section 8.02 Conditions to the Obligations of Parent, Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub. The obligations of Parent, Merger Sub and
Second Merger Sub to consummate the First Merger are subject to the satisfaction, at or prior to the Closing, of the following further conditions:

(a) Representations and Warranties.

(i) Each of the representations and warranties made by the Company in Sections 4.01(a), 4.02, 4.05(a) and (c), 4.23 and 4.24 (collectively, the
�Company Fundamental Representations�) shall have been accurate in all material respects as of the date of this Agreement and shall be accurate
in all material respects as of the Closing Date as if made on the Closing Date, in each case, (A) except for representations and warranties that
speak as of a particular date, which shall be accurate in all material respects as of such date (it being understood that the representations and
warranties in Section 4.05(a) and (c) shall be deemed to be accurate in all material respects unless the Company�s fully diluted capitalization as of
the date specified in Section 4.05(a) and (c) exceeds the amounts set forth in Section 4.05(a) and (c) and Section 4.05(a) and (c) of the Company
Disclosure Schedule by more than 1.0% of the Company�s fully diluted capitalization) and (B) without giving effect to any �Company Material
Adverse Effect� or other materiality qualifications contained in Section 4.01; and

(ii) Each of the representations and warranties made by the Company in this Agreement other than the Company Fundamental Representations
shall have been accurate in all respects as of the date of this Agreement and shall be accurate in all respects as of the Closing Date as if made on
the Closing Date (except for representations and warranties that speak as of a particular date, which shall be accurate in all respects as of such
date) except, in each case, including the parenthetical set forth in this clause (ii), where the failure to be so accurate has not had, and would not
reasonably be expected to have, a Company Material Adverse Effect, without giving effect to any �Company Material Adverse Effect� or other
materiality qualifications, or any similar qualifications, contained or incorporated directly or indirectly in such representations and warranties.

(b) Covenants. The covenants and obligations that the Company is required to comply with or to perform at or prior to the Closing shall have
been complied with and performed in all material respects.

(c) No Company Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any Company Material Adverse
Effect that is continuing.

(d) Executed Agreements and Documents. Parent shall have received the following agreements and documents, each of which shall be in full
force and effect:

(i) a certificate executed on behalf of the Company by its Chief Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer (the �Company Closing
Certificate�) certifying that the conditions set forth in Sections 8.02(a) and 8.02(b) have been duly satisfied; and

(ii) written resignations of all directors and officers of the Company, to be effective as of the Effective Time.
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(e) Litigation. There shall not be pending, or threatened in writing, by a Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction in the United States
any Proceeding (i) that challenges or seeks to prohibit the consummation of the Transaction on the terms, and conferring upon Parent and the
Surviving Company all of their respective rights and benefits, contemplated herein, (ii) that seeks to prohibit or limit in any material respect
Parent�s ability to vote, receive dividends with respect to or otherwise exercise ownership rights with respect to the stock of the Surviving
Company, (iii) that would materially and adversely affect the right of the Surviving Company to own the assets or operate the business of the
Acquired Companies or (iv) that seeks to compel Parent or the Company, or any Subsidiary of Parent or the Company, to dispose of or hold
separate any material assets, as a result of the Transaction.

Section 8.03 Conditions to the Obligations of the Company. The obligations of the Company to consummate the First Merger are subject to
the satisfaction of the following further conditions:

(a) Representations and Warranties.

(i) Each of the representations and warranties made by Parent, Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub in Sections 5.01(a), 5.02, 5.05(a) and
(c) (collectively, the �Parent Fundamental Representations�) shall have been accurate in all material respects as of the date of this Agreement and
shall be accurate in all material respects as of the Closing Date as if made on the Closing Date, in each case (A) except for representations and
warranties that speak as of a particular date, which shall be accurate in all material respects as of such date (it being understood that the
representations and warranties in Section 5.05(a) and (c) shall be deemed to be accurate in all material respects unless Parent�s fully diluted
capitalization as of the date specified in Section 5.05 exceeds the amounts set forth in Section 5.05 and Section 5.05 of the Parent Disclosure
Schedule by more than 1.0% of Parent�s fully diluted capitalization) and (B) without giving effect to any �Parent Material Adverse Effect� or other
materiality qualifications contained in Section 5.01; and

(ii) Each of the representations and warranties made by Parent, Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub in this Agreement other than the Parent
Fundamental Representations shall have been accurate in all respects as of the date of this Agreement and shall be accurate in all respects as of
the Closing Date as if made on the Closing Date (except for representations and warranties that speak as of a particular date, which shall be
accurate in all respects as of such date), except, in each case, including the parenthetical set forth in this clause (ii), where the failure to be so
accurate has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Parent Material Adverse Effect, without giving effect to any �Parent
Material Adverse Effect� or other materiality qualifications, or any similar qualifications, contained or incorporated directly or indirectly in such
representations and warranties.

(b) Covenants. The covenants and obligations that Parent and Merger Sub are required to comply with or to perform at or prior to the Closing
shall have been complied with and performed in all material respects.

(c) No Parent Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any Parent Material Adverse Effect that
is continuing.

(d) Executed Agreements and Documents. The Company shall have received the following agreements and documents, each of which shall be
in full force and effect:

(i) a certificate executed on behalf of Parent by a duly authorized officer thereof certifying that the conditions set forth in Sections 8.03(a) and
8.03(b) have been duly satisfied (the �Parent Closing Certificate�); and

(ii) the written opinion of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, counsel to the Company, referred to in Section 6.07(c), dated as of the Closing
Date, and such opinion shall not have been withdrawn, revoked or modified.
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(e) Listing of Parent Common Stock. The shares of Parent Common Stock issuable to Company Stockholders pursuant to this Agreement shall
have been authorized for listing on the New York Stock Exchange, upon official notice of issuance.

ARTICLE 9.

TERMINATION

Section 9.01 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated and the First Merger and the Transaction may be abandoned at any time prior to
the Effective Time (notwithstanding, except as indicated in Section 9.01(e), the receipt of the Required Company Stockholder Approval):

(a) by mutual written agreement of the Company and Parent;

(b)(i) by mutual agreement of Parent and the Company, if the Transaction has not been consummated on or before December 15, 2010 based on
a mutual good faith determination (which will be evaluated by each party promptly following the request of the other party) that each of the
conditions set forth in Section 8.01(b), Section 8.01(c) or Section 8.02(e) (as they relate to applicable Antitrust Laws) would not likely be
satisfied on or before March 15, 2011 (the �End Date�), or (ii) by either the Company or Parent, if the Transaction has not been consummated on
or before the End Date; provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.01(b)(ii) shall not be available to any
party whose breach of any provision of this Agreement resulted in the failure of the Transaction to be consummated by such time;

(c) by either Parent or the Company, if a Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction in the United States shall have issued any order,
injunction or other decree or taken any other similar action, in each case, which has become final and non-appealable and which permanently
prohibits the Transaction; provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.01(c) shall not be available to
any party whose breach of, or failure to perform, any provision of this Agreement has been a cause of, or resulted in, the issuance of such order,
injunction or other decree;

(d) by either Parent or the Company if (i) the Company Stockholder Meeting (including any adjournments and postponements thereof) shall
have been held and completed and the Company�s stockholders shall have voted on a proposal to adopt this Agreement and (ii) this Agreement
shall not have been adopted at such meeting (and shall not have been adopted at any adjournment or postponement thereof) by the Required
Company Stockholder Approval; provided, however, that a party shall not be permitted to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this
Section 9.01(d) if the failure to obtain such stockholder approval results from a breach of, or failure to perform any provision of, this Agreement
by such party at or prior to the Effective Time;

(e) by Parent at any time prior to the adoption of this Agreement by the Required Company Stockholder Approval if a Triggering Event shall
have occurred;

(f) by the Company if prior to the adoption of this Agreement by the Required Company Stockholder Approval the Company Board of Directors
shall have effected a Change of Board Recommendation in respect of a Superior Proposal in accordance with Section 6.03(f), and
simultaneously with such termination is entering into an Alternative Acquisition Agreement with respect to such Superior Proposal;

(g) by Parent, if (i) any representation or warranty of the Company contained in this Agreement shall be inaccurate or shall have become
inaccurate as of a date subsequent to the date of this Agreement (as if made on such subsequent date), in each case, such that the condition set
forth in Section 8.02(a) would not be satisfied, or (ii) the covenants or obligations of the Company contained in this Agreement shall have been
breached in any material respect such that the condition set forth in Section 8.02(b) would not be satisfied and in the case of each of clauses
(i) and (ii), the Company shall have failed to cure such inaccuracy or breach during the 30-day period
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after Parent notifies the Company in writing of the existence of such inaccuracy or breach (the �Company Cure Period�); provided, however, that
Parent may not terminate this Agreement under this Section 9.01(g) as a result of such inaccuracy or breach prior to the expiration of the
Company Cure Period and Parent shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.01(g) if any of Parent, Merger
Sub or Second Merger Sub are then in material breach of any representations, warranties, covenants or other agreements hereunder; or

(h) by the Company, if (i) any representation or warranty of Parent contained in this Agreement shall be inaccurate or shall have become
inaccurate as of a date subsequent to the date of this Agreement (as if made on such subsequent date), in each case, such that the condition set
forth in Section 8.03(a) would not be satisfied, or (ii) the covenants or obligations of Parent contained in this Agreement shall have been
breached in any material respect such that the condition set forth in Section 8.03(b) would not be satisfied, and in the case of each of clauses
(i) and (ii), Parent shall have failed to cure such inaccuracy or breach during the 30-day period after the Company notifies Parent in writing of
the existence of such inaccuracy or breach (the �Parent Cure Period�); provided, however, that the Company may not terminate this Agreement
under this Section 9.01(h) as a result of such inaccuracy or breach prior to the expiration of the Parent Cure Period and the Company shall not
have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.01(h) if it is then in material breach of any representations, warranties,
covenants or other agreements hereunder.

The party desiring to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.01 (other than pursuant to Section 9.01(a)) shall give a notice of such
termination to the other party setting forth a brief description of the basis on which such party is terminating this Agreement.

Section 9.02 Effect of Termination. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 9.01, then this Agreement shall become void and of no
effect without liability of any party (or any Representative, stockholder or Affiliate of such party) to the other party hereto; provided that:
(a) neither the Company nor Parent shall be relieved of any intentional breach by such party of any provision of this Agreement; and (b) the
parties shall, in all events, remain bound by and continue to be subject to the provisions set forth in Section 7.03 and Article 10, which shall
survive any termination of this Agreement.

Section 9.03 Expenses; Termination Fees.

(a) All fees and expenses incurred in connection with the preparation, negotiation and performance of this Agreement and the consummation of
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be paid by the party incurring such expenses, whether or not the Transaction is
consummated; provided, however, that Parent and the Company shall share equally all fees and expenses, other than attorneys� fees, incurred in
connection with (A) the filing, printing and mailing of the Registration Statement and the Prospectus/Proxy Statement and any amendments or
supplements thereto and (B) the filing by the parties hereto of the premerger notification and report forms relating to the Transaction under the
HSR Act and the filing of any notice or other document under any applicable foreign antitrust law or regulation.

(b) If this Agreement is terminated:

(i)(A) by Parent or the Company pursuant to Section 9.01(b) and (B) at or prior to the date of such termination an Acquisition Proposal shall
have been publicly announced or has become publicly known and has not been withdrawn, and (C) within six months following the termination
of this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.01(b), the Company enters into a definitive agreement to effect an Acquisition with the Person or
Persons who made such Acquisition Proposal, which is subsequently consummated, then the Company shall pay to Parent, by wire transfer of
immediately available funds to an account or accounts designated in writing by Parent, within two (2) Business Days after consummation of
such Acquisition, a nonrefundable fee in the amount equal to $5,200,000 (collectively, the �Company Termination Fee�), plus the unpaid portion
of any amounts payable by the Company to Parent pursuant to Section 9.03(a).
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(ii)(A) by Parent or the Company pursuant to Section 9.01(d) and (B) at or prior to the date of the Company Stockholder Meeting an Acquisition
Proposal shall have been publicly announced or has become publicly known and has not been withdrawn, and (C) within twelve months
following the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.01(d), the Company enters into a definitive agreement to effect an
Acquisition, which is subsequently consummated, then the Company shall pay to Parent, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an
account or accounts designated in writing by Parent, within two (2) Business Days after consummation of such Acquisition, a nonrefundable fee
in the amount equal to Company Termination Fee, plus the unpaid portion of any amounts payable by the Company to Parent pursuant to
Section 9.03(a).

(iii) by Parent pursuant to Section 9.01(e) or by the Company pursuant to Section 9.01(f), then the Company shall pay to Parent, in the manner
and at the time specified in Section 9.03(c) or Section 9.01(d), as applicable, a nonrefundable fee in the amount equal to the Company
Termination Fee, plus the unpaid portion of any amounts payable by the Company to Parent pursuant to Section 9.03(a).

(c) If this Agreement is terminated by Parent pursuant to Section 9.01(e), then any Company Termination Fee required to be made pursuant to
Section 9.03(b)(iii) shall be paid by the Company no later than two Business Days after such termination by wire transfer of immediately
available funds to an account designated by Parent.

(d) If this Agreement is terminated by the Company pursuant to Section 9.01(f), then any Company Termination Fee required to be made
pursuant to Section 9.03(b)(iii) shall be paid, by the Company at or prior to the time of such termination by wire transfer of immediately
available funds to an account designated by Parent.

(e) If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 9.01(b)(i), and on such date all of the conditions to Closing set forth in Sections 8.01 or
8.02 (other than the conditions set forth in Section 8.01(b), Section 8.01(c) (as it relates to applicable Antitrust Laws) or Section 8.02(e) (as it
relates to applicable Antitrust Laws)) were reasonably capable of being satisfied, then Parent shall pay to the Company $5,000,000 at or prior to
the time of such termination by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by the Company.

(f) If this Agreement is terminated by Parent or the Company pursuant to Section 9.01(b)(ii), and on such date all of the conditions to Closing set
forth in Article 8 have been satisfied or waived, other than (A) conditions that by their nature are only to be satisfied as of the Closing (and could
reasonably be expected to be satisfied if the Closing were to take place) and (B) any of the conditions set forth in Section 8.01(b),
Section 8.01(c) (as it relates to applicable Antitrust Laws) or Section 8.02(e) (as it relates to applicable Antitrust Laws), then Parent shall pay to
the Company $10,000,000 at or prior to the time of, and as a condition to, such termination (in connection with a termination by Parent) or no
later than two Business Days after such termination (in connection with a termination by the Company) by wire transfer of immediately
available funds to an account designated by the Company.

(g) Each of the Company, Parent and Merger Sub acknowledges that (i) the agreements contained in this Section 9.03 are an integral part of the
Transaction, (ii) without these agreements, Parent, Merger Sub, Second Merger Sub and the Company would not enter into this Agreement and
(iii) any amount payable pursuant to this Section 9.03 is not a penalty, but rather is liquidated damages in a reasonable amount that will
compensate the party receiving such amount (including Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub with respect to a payment to Parent), in the
circumstances in which such amount is payable, for any and all losses or damages suffered or incurred by the party receiving such amount
(including Merger Sub and Second Merger Sub with respect to a payment to Parent) or any other Affiliate of the party receiving such amount in
connection with the matter forming the basis for such termination, and the party receiving such amount (including Merger Sub and Second
Merger Sub with respect to payments to Parent) shall not be entitled to bring or maintain any other claim, action or proceeding against any party
to this Agreement or any other Person arising out of such matters.
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(h) If either party fails to pay when due any amount payable under this Section 9.03, then (i) such party shall reimburse the other party for all
costs and expenses (including fees and disbursements of counsel) incurred in connection with the collection of such overdue amount and the
enforcement by the other party of its rights under this Section 9.03, and (ii) such party shall pay to the other party interest on such overdue
amount (for the period commencing as of the date such overdue amount was originally required to be paid and ending on the date such overdue
amount is actually paid to Parent in full) at the prime lending rate prevailing during such period as published in The Wall Street Journal,
calculated on a daily basis from the date such amounts were required to be paid until the date of actual payment.

(i) The parties hereto acknowledge and hereby agree that in no event shall the Company be required to pay the Company Termination Fee on
more than one occasion.

(i) For purposes of this Section 9.03, �Acquisition� shall have the same meaning as an �Acquisition Proposal� except that all references therein to
15% shall be references to 50.1%.

ARTICLE 10.

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 10.01 Notices. Except as provided in Section 6.01 all notices, requests and other communications required or permitted under, or
otherwise made in connection with, this Agreement, shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given (a) when delivered in
person, (b) upon confirmation of receipt when transmitted by facsimile transmission, (c) upon receipt after dispatch by registered or certified
mail, postage prepaid, (d) on the next Business Day if transmitted by national overnight courier (with confirmation of delivery) or (e) in the case
of notices delivered by Parent or the Company in connection with Section 6.01, on the date delivered if sent by email (with confirmation of
delivery), in each case, addressed as follows:

if to Parent, Merger Sub or Second Merger Sub, to:

Calix, Inc.

1035 N. McDowell Boulevard

Petaluma, CA 94954

Attention: General Counsel

Facsimile No.: (707) 283-3290

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Latham & Watkins LLP

140 Scott Drive

Menlo Park, California 94062

Attention: Patrick A. Pohlen

Facsimile No.: (650) 463-2600

Email: patrick.pohlen@lw.com

if to the Company, to:

Occam Networks, Inc.
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Santa Barbara, CA 93117

Attention: Chief Financial Officer

Facsimile No.: 805.692.2999
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with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati P.C.

650 Page Mill Road

Palo Alto, CA 94304-1050

Attention: Robert Kornegay

Facsimile No.: 650.493.6811

Email: rkornegay@wsgr.com

and:

Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati P.C.

One Market Plaza

Spear Tower, Suite 3300

San Francisco, CA 94105-1126

Attention: Robert Ishii

Facsimile No.: 415.947.2099

Email: rishii@wsgr.com

or to such other address or facsimile number as such party may hereafter specify for the purpose by notice to the other parties hereto.

Section 10.02 Remedies Cumulative; Specific Performance. The rights and remedies of the parties hereto shall be cumulative (and not
alternative). The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur if any provision of this Agreement were not performed in accordance
with the terms hereof and that the parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement or to enforce
specifically the performance of the terms and provisions of this Agreement in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled to at law or
in equity, in each case without the requirement of posting any bond or other type of security.

Section 10.03 No Survival of Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of contained herein and in any certificate
or other writing delivered at the Closing pursuant hereto shall not survive the Effective Time.

Section 10.04 Amendments and Waivers.

(a) Any provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived prior to the Effective Time if, but only if, such amendment or waiver is in
writing and is signed, in the case of an amendment, by each party to this Agreement or, in the case of a waiver, by each party against whom the
waiver is to be effective; provided, however, that no amendment or waiver shall be made, subsequent to receipt of the Required Company
Stockholder Approval to this Agreement that requires the approval of such Company Stockholders without such approval.

(b) No failure or delay by any party in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or
partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. The rights and
remedies herein provided shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by Applicable Law.

Section 10.05 Disclosure Schedule References. The parties hereto agree that any reference in a particular Section of the Company Disclosure
Schedule or Parent Disclosure Schedule, as the case may be, shall only be deemed to be an exception to (or, as applicable, a disclosure for
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Section of this Agreement and (ii) any other representations and warranties of such party that is contained in this Agreement, but only if the
relevance of that reference as an exception to (or a disclosure for purposes of) such
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representations and warranties would be readily apparent to an individual who has read that reference and such representations and warranties.

Section 10.06 Binding Effect; Benefit; Assignment.

(a) The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and
assigns. No provision of this Agreement is intended to confer any rights, benefits, remedies, obligations or liabilities hereunder upon any Person
other than the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, except (i) with respect to Section 7.06 from and after the Effective Time
and (ii) the rights of the Company Equityholders to receive the consideration set forth in Article 3 if the First Merger is consummated.

(b) No party may assign, delegate or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the consent of each other
party hereto.

Section 10.07 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware,
without giving effect to principles of conflicts of laws that would require the application of the laws of any other jurisdiction.

Section 10.08 Jurisdiction. The parties hereto agree that any Proceeding seeking to enforce any provision of, or based on any matter arising out
of or in connection with, this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be brought in any federal court located in the
State of Delaware or any Delaware state court, and each of the parties hereby irrevocably consents to the jurisdiction of such courts (and of the
appropriate appellate courts therefrom) in any such Proceeding and irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any objection that
it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such Proceeding in any such court or that any such Proceeding brought in any
such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. Process in any such Proceeding may be served on any party anywhere in the world,
whether within or without the jurisdiction of any such court. Without limiting the foregoing, each party agrees that service of process on such
party as provided in Section 10.01 shall be deemed effective service of process on such party.

Section 10.09 Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO
TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS
CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT.

Section 10.10 Counterparts; Effectiveness. This Agreement may be signed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original,
with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument. This Agreement shall become effective when each
party hereto shall have received a counterpart hereof signed by all of the other parties hereto. Until and unless each party has received a
counterpart hereof signed by the other party hereto, this Agreement shall have no effect and no party shall have any right or obligation hereunder
(whether by virtue of any other oral or written agreement or other communication). The exchange of a fully executed Agreement (in counterparts
or otherwise) by electronic transmission in .PDF format or by facsimile shall be sufficient to bind the parties to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement.

Section 10.11 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, the Confidentiality Agreement and each of the documents, instruments and agreements
delivered in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including each of the Exhibits, the Company Disclosure Schedule
and the Parent Disclosure Schedule, constitute the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement and
supersede all prior agreements and understandings, both oral and written, between the parties with respect to the subject matter of this
Agreement, it being understood that the Confidentiality Agreement shall continue in full force and effect until the Closing and shall survive the
terminate of this Agreement.
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Section 10.12 Severability. If any term, provision, covenant or restriction of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction or other
Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, provisions, covenants and
restrictions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated so long as the
economic or legal substance of the Transaction is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party. Upon such a determination, the
parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an
acceptable manner in order that the Transaction be consummated as originally contemplated to the fullest extent possible.

Section 10.13 Time is of the Essence. Time is of the essence with respect to the performance of this Agreement.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of the
date first written above.

CALIX, INC

By: /S/    KELYN BRANNON      

Name: Kelyn Brannon
Title: Chief Financial Officer

OCEAN SUB I, INC.

By: /S/    KELYN BRANNON

Name: Kelyn Brannon
Title: Chief Financial Officer

OCEAN SUB II, LLC

By: /S/    KELYN BRANNON

Name: Kelyn Brannon
Title: Chief Financial Officer

OCCAM NETWORKS, INC.

By: /S/    JEANNE SEELEY
Name: Jeanne Seeley
Title: Chief Financial Officer
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Annex B

Jefferies & Company, Inc.

September 15, 2010 520 Madison Avenue

New York, NY 10022

tel  212.284.2300

Jefferies.com
The Board of Directors

Occam Networks, Inc.

6868 Cortona Drive

Santa Barbara, California 93117

Members of the Board:

We understand that Occam Networks, Inc. (the �Company�), Calix, Inc. (�Parent�), Ocean Sub I, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (�Merger
Sub I�), and Ocean Sub II, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (�Merger Sub II�), propose to enter into an Agreement and Plan of Merger
(the �Merger Agreement�), pursuant to which Merger Sub I will merge with and into the Company (the �Merger�) in a transaction in which each
outstanding share of common stock, par value $0.001 per share, of the Company (�Company Common Stock�), other than shares of Company
Common Stock held in the treasury of the Company or owned by the Parent, Merger Sub I or Merger Sub II, all of which shares will be
canceled, or as to which dissenters rights have been properly exercised, will be converted into the right to receive a combination of (i) $3.8337 in
cash (the �Cash Consideration�) and (ii) 0.2925 shares of common stock, par value $0.025 per share, of Parent (�Parent Common Stock�) (the �Stock
Consideration,� and together with the Cash Consideration, the �Consideration�). The Merger Agreement further provides that, immediately
following the effective time of the Merger, the surviving entity in the Merger will merge with and into Merger Sub II (the �Second Merger,� and
together with the Merger, the �Transaction�). The terms and conditions of the Transaction are more fully set forth in the Merger Agreement.

You have asked for our opinion as to whether the Consideration to be received by the holders of shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to
the Merger Agreement is fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders.

In arriving at our opinion, we have, among other things:

(i) reviewed a draft dated September 15, 2010 of the Merger Agreement;

(ii) reviewed certain publicly available financial and other information about the Company and Parent;

(iii) reviewed certain information furnished to us by the Company�s management, including financial forecasts for calendar years 2010
and 2011 only, having been advised by management of the Company that it did not prepare any financial forecasts beyond such
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period, and analyses, relating to the business, operations and prospects of the Company;

(iv) reviewed publicly available consensus estimates of equity research analysts regarding the future financial performance of Parent
and certain equity research analyst reports regarding Parent;

(v) held discussions with members of senior management of the Company and Parent concerning the matters described in clauses
(ii) through (iv) above;

(vi) reviewed the share trading price history and valuation multiples for the Company Common Stock and the Parent Common Stock
and compared them with those of certain publicly traded companies that we deemed relevant;
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(vii) compared the proposed financial terms of the Transaction with the financial terms of certain other transactions that we deemed
relevant;

(viii) considered the potential pro forma impact of the Transaction; and

(ix) conducted such other financial studies, analyses and investigations as we deemed appropriate.
In our review and analysis and in rendering this opinion, we have assumed and relied upon, but have not assumed any responsibility to
independently investigate or verify, the accuracy and completeness of all financial and other information that was supplied or otherwise made
available by the Company and Parent or that was publicly available (including, without limitation, the information described above), or that was
otherwise reviewed by us. We have relied on assurances of the managements of the Company and Parent that they are not aware of any facts or
circumstances that would make such information inaccurate or misleading. In our review, we did not obtain any independent evaluation or
appraisal of any of the assets or liabilities of, nor did we conduct a physical inspection of any of the properties or facilities of, the Company or
Parent, nor have we been furnished with any such evaluations or appraisals of such physical inspections, nor do we assume any responsibility to
obtain any such evaluations or appraisals.

With respect to the financial forecasts provided to and examined by us, we note that projecting future results of any company is inherently
subject to uncertainty. The Company has informed us, however, and we have assumed, that the Company�s financial forecasts were reasonably
prepared on bases reflecting the best currently available estimates and good faith judgments of the management of the Company as to the future
financial performance of the Company. We have not been provided with, and did not have any access to, any financial forecasts of Parent as
prepared by the management of Parent other than guidance with respect to consensus estimates of equity research analysts regarding the future
financial performance of Parent and certain equity research analyst reports regarding Parent (the �Parent Research Estimates�). Accordingly, upon
the advice of the Company and Parent, we have assumed that the Parent Research Estimates and the guidance with respect thereto provided by
management of Parent are a reasonable basis upon which to evaluate the future financial performance of Parent, and we have used and relied
upon the Parent Research Estimates and such guidance in performing our analysis. We express no opinion as to the Company�s financial
forecasts or the Parent Research Estimates or the assumptions on which they are made.

Our opinion is based on economic, monetary, regulatory, market and other conditions existing and which can be evaluated as of the date hereof.
We expressly disclaim any undertaking or obligation to advise any person of any change in any factor matter affecting our opinion of which we
become aware after the date hereof.

We have made no independent investigation of any legal or accounting matters affecting the Company and Parent, and we have assumed the
correctness in all respects material to our analysis of all legal and accounting advice given to the Company and its Board of Directors, including,
without limitation, advice as to the legal, accounting and tax consequences of the terms of, and transactions contemplated by, the Merger
Agreement to the Company and its stockholders. In addition, in preparing this opinion, we have not taken into account any tax consequences of
the transaction to any holder of Company Common Stock. You have advised us that the Transaction will qualify as a tax-free reorganization for
federal income tax purposes. We have assumed that the final form of the Merger Agreement will be substantially similar to the last draft
reviewed by us. We have also assumed that in the course of obtaining the necessary regulatory or third party approvals, consents and releases for
the Transaction, no delay, limitation, restriction or condition will be imposed that would have an adverse effect on the Company, Parent or the
contemplated benefits of the Transaction.

It is understood that our opinion is for the use and benefit of the Board of Directors of the Company in its consideration of the Transaction, and
our opinion does not address the relative merits of the transactions
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contemplated by the Merger Agreement as compared to any alternative transaction or opportunity that might be available to the Company, nor
does it address the underlying business decision by the Company to engage in the Transaction or the terms of the Merger Agreement or the
documents referred to therein. Our opinion does not constitute a recommendation as to how any holder of shares of Company Common Stock
should vote on the Transaction or any matter related thereto. In addition, you have not asked us to address, and this opinion does not address, the
fairness to, or any other consideration of, the holders of any class of securities, creditors or other constituencies of the Company, other than the
holders of shares of Company Common Stock. We express no opinion as to the price at which shares of Company Common Stock or Parent
Common Stock will trade at any time. Furthermore, we do not express any view or opinion as to the fairness, financial or otherwise, of the
amount or nature of any compensation payable or to be received by any of the Company�s officers, directors or employees, or any class of such
persons, in connection with the Transaction relative to the Consideration to be received by holders of shares of Company Common Stock. Our
opinion has been authorized by the Fairness Committee of Jefferies & Company, Inc.

We have been engaged by the Company to act as financial advisor to the Company in connection with the Transaction and will receive a fee for
our services, a portion of which is payable upon delivery of this opinion and a significant portion of which is payable contingent upon
consummation of the Transaction. We will also be reimbursed for expenses incurred. The Company has agreed to indemnify us against liabilities
arising out of or in connection with the services rendered and to be rendered by us under such engagement. We have, in the past, provided
financial advisory and financing services to Parent, and may continue to do so, and have received, and may receive, fees for the rendering of
such services. We maintain a market in the securities of the Company, and in the ordinary course of our business, we and our affiliates may trade
or hold securities of the Company or Parent and/or their respective affiliates for our own account and for the accounts of our customers and,
accordingly, may at any time hold long or short positions in those securities. In addition, we may seek to, in the future, provide financial
advisory and financing services to the Company, Parent or entities that are affiliated with the Company or Parent, for which we would expect to
receive compensation. Except as otherwise expressly provided in our engagement letter with the Company, our opinion may not be used or
referred to by the Company, or quoted or disclosed to any person in any manner, without our prior written consent.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, we are of the opinion that, as of the date hereof, the Consideration to be received by the holders of
shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to the Merger Agreement is fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders.

Very truly yours,

/s/ Jefferies & Company, Inc.

JEFFERIES & COMPANY, INC.
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Annex C

Section 262 of Delaware General Corporation Law � Appraisal Rights

§ 262. Appraisal rights

(a) Any stockholder of a corporation of this State who holds shares of stock on the date of the making of a demand pursuant to subsection (d) of
this section with respect to such shares, who continuously holds such shares through the effective date of the merger or consolidation, who has
otherwise complied with subsection (d) of this section and who has neither voted in favor of the merger or consolidation nor consented thereto in
writing pursuant to § 228 of this title shall be entitled to an appraisal by the Court of Chancery of the fair value of the stockholder�s shares of
stock under the circumstances described in subsections (b) and (c) of this section. As used in this section, the word �stockholder� means a holder
of record of stock in a corporation; the words �stock� and �share� mean and include what is ordinarily meant by those words; and the words
�depository receipt� mean a receipt or other instrument issued by a depository representing an interest in 1 or more shares, or fractions thereof,
solely of stock of a corporation, which stock is deposited with the depository.

(b) Appraisal rights shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock of a constituent corporation in a merger or consolidation to be
effected pursuant to § 251 (other than a merger effected pursuant to § 251(g) of this title), § 252, § 254, § 255, § 256, § 257, § 258, § 263 or §
264 of this title:

(1) Provided, however, that no appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock, which stock, or
depository receipts in respect thereof, at the record date fixed to determine the stockholders entitled to receive notice of the meeting of
stockholders to act upon the agreement of merger or consolidation, were either (i) listed on a national securities exchange or (ii) held of record
by more than 2,000 holders; and further provided that no appraisal rights shall be available for any shares of stock of the constituent corporation
surviving a merger if the merger did not require for its approval the vote of the stockholders of the surviving corporation as provided in § 251(f)
of this title.

(2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1) of this subsection, appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of
stock of a constituent corporation if the holders thereof are required by the terms of an agreement of merger or consolidation pursuant to §§ 251,
252, 254, 255, 256, 257, 258, 263 and 264 of this title to accept for such stock anything except:

a. Shares of stock of the corporation surviving or resulting from such merger or consolidation, or depository receipts in respect thereof;

b. Shares of stock of any other corporation, or depository receipts in respect thereof, which shares of stock (or depository receipts in respect
thereof) or depository receipts at the effective date of the merger or consolidation will be either listed on a national securities exchange or held of
record by more than 2,000 holders;

c. Cash in lieu of fractional shares or fractional depository receipts described in the foregoing subparagraphs a. and b. of this paragraph; or

d. Any combination of the shares of stock, depository receipts and cash in lieu of fractional shares or fractional depository receipts described in
the foregoing subparagraphs a., b. and c. of this paragraph.

(3) In the event all of the stock of a subsidiary Delaware corporation party to a merger effected under § 253 or § 267 of this title is not owned by
the parent immediately prior to the merger, appraisal rights shall be available for the shares of the subsidiary Delaware corporation.

(c) Any corporation may provide in its certificate of incorporation that appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any
class or series of its stock as a result of an amendment to its certificate of
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incorporation, any merger or consolidation in which the corporation is a constituent corporation or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets
of the corporation. If the certificate of incorporation contains such a provision, the procedures of this section, including those set forth in
subsections (d) and (e) of this section, shall apply as nearly as is practicable.

(d) Appraisal rights shall be perfected as follows:

(1) If a proposed merger or consolidation for which appraisal rights are provided under this section is to be submitted for approval at a meeting
of stockholders, the corporation, not less than 20 days prior to the meeting, shall notify each of its stockholders who was such on the record date
for notice of such meeting (or such members who received notice in accordance with § 255(c) of this title) with respect to shares for which
appraisal rights are available pursuant to subsection (b) or (c) of this section that appraisal rights are available for any or all of the shares of the
constituent corporations, and shall include in such notice a copy of this section and, if 1 of the constituent corporations is a nonstock corporation,
a copy of § 114 of this title. Each stockholder electing to demand the appraisal of such stockholder�s shares shall deliver to the corporation,
before the taking of the vote on the merger or consolidation, a written demand for appraisal of such stockholder�s shares. Such demand will be
sufficient if it reasonably informs the corporation of the identity of the stockholder and that the stockholder intends thereby to demand the
appraisal of such stockholder�s shares. A proxy or vote against the merger or consolidation shall not constitute such a demand. A stockholder
electing to take such action must do so by a separate written demand as herein provided. Within 10 days after the effective date of such merger
or consolidation, the surviving or resulting corporation shall notify each stockholder of each constituent corporation who has complied with this
subsection and has not voted in favor of or consented to the merger or consolidation of the date that the merger or consolidation has become
effective; or

(2) If the merger or consolidation was approved pursuant to § 228, § 253, or § 267 of this title, then either a constituent corporation before the
effective date of the merger or consolidation or the surviving or resulting corporation within 10 days thereafter shall notify each of the holders of
any class or series of stock of such constituent corporation who are entitled to appraisal rights of the approval of the merger or consolidation and
that appraisal rights are available for any or all shares of such class or series of stock of such constituent corporation, and shall include in such
notice a copy of this section and, if 1 of the constituent corporations is a nonstock corporation, a copy of § 114 of this title. Such notice may,
and, if given on or after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, shall, also notify such stockholders of the effective date of the merger
or consolidation. Any stockholder entitled to appraisal rights may, within 20 days after the date of mailing of such notice, demand in writing
from the surviving or resulting corporation the appraisal of such holder�s shares. Such demand will be sufficient if it reasonably informs the
corporation of the identity of the stockholder and that the stockholder intends thereby to demand the appraisal of such holder�s shares. If such
notice did not notify stockholders of the effective date of the merger or consolidation, either (i) each such constituent corporation shall send a
second notice before the effective date of the merger or consolidation notifying each of the holders of any class or series of stock of such
constituent corporation that are entitled to appraisal rights of the effective date of the merger or consolidation or (ii) the surviving or resulting
corporation shall send such a second notice to all such holders on or within 10 days after such effective date; provided, however, that if such
second notice is sent more than 20 days following the sending of the first notice, such second notice need only be sent to each stockholder who
is entitled to appraisal rights and who has demanded appraisal of such holder�s shares in accordance with this subsection. An affidavit of the
secretary or assistant secretary or of the transfer agent of the corporation that is required to give either notice that such notice has been given
shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein. For purposes of determining the stockholders entitled to receive
either notice, each constituent corporation may fix, in advance, a record date that shall be not more than 10 days prior to the date the notice is
given, provided, that if the notice is given on or after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, the record date shall be such effective
date. If no record date is fixed and the notice is given prior to the effective date, the record date shall be the close of business on the day next
preceding the day on which the notice is given.

C-2

Edgar Filing: STEEL PARTNERS II L P - Form SC 13D/A

Table of Contents 219



Table of Contents

(e) Within 120 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, the surviving or resulting corporation or any stockholder who has
complied with subsections (a) and (d) of this section hereof and who is otherwise entitled to appraisal rights, may commence an appraisal
proceeding by filing a petition in the Court of Chancery demanding a determination of the value of the stock of all such stockholders.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time within 60 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, any stockholder who has not
commenced an appraisal proceeding or joined that proceeding as a named party shall have the right to withdraw such stockholder�s demand for
appraisal and to accept the terms offered upon the merger or consolidation. Within 120 days after the effective date of the merger or
consolidation, any stockholder who has complied with the requirements of subsections (a) and (d) of this section hereof, upon written request,
shall be entitled to receive from the corporation surviving the merger or resulting from the consolidation a statement setting forth the aggregate
number of shares not voted in favor of the merger or consolidation and with respect to which demands for appraisal have been received and the
aggregate number of holders of such shares. Such written statement shall be mailed to the stockholder within 10 days after such stockholder�s
written request for such a statement is received by the surviving or resulting corporation or within 10 days after expiration of the period for
delivery of demands for appraisal under subsection (d) of this section hereof, whichever is later. Notwithstanding subsection (a) of this section, a
person who is the beneficial owner of shares of such stock held either in a voting trust or by a nominee on behalf of such person may, in such
person�s own name, file a petition or request from the corporation the statement described in this subsection.

(f) Upon the filing of any such petition by a stockholder, service of a copy thereof shall be made upon the surviving or resulting corporation,
which shall within 20 days after such service file in the office of the Register in Chancery in which the petition was filed a duly verified list
containing the names and addresses of all stockholders who have demanded payment for their shares and with whom agreements as to the value
of their shares have not been reached by the surviving or resulting corporation. If the petition shall be filed by the surviving or resulting
corporation, the petition shall be accompanied by such a duly verified list. The Register in Chancery, if so ordered by the Court, shall give notice
of the time and place fixed for the hearing of such petition by registered or certified mail to the surviving or resulting corporation and to the
stockholders shown on the list at the addresses therein stated. Such notice shall also be given by 1 or more publications at least 1 week before the
day of the hearing, in a newspaper of general circulation published in the City of Wilmington, Delaware or such publication as the Court deems
advisable. The forms of the notices by mail and by publication shall be approved by the Court, and the costs thereof shall be borne by the
surviving or resulting corporation.

(g) At the hearing on such petition, the Court shall determine the stockholders who have complied with this section and who have become
entitled to appraisal rights. The Court may require the stockholders who have demanded an appraisal for their shares and who hold stock
represented by certificates to submit their certificates of stock to the Register in Chancery for notation thereon of the pendency of the appraisal
proceedings; and if any stockholder fails to comply with such direction, the Court may dismiss the proceedings as to such stockholder.

(h) After the Court determines the stockholders entitled to an appraisal, the appraisal proceeding shall be conducted in accordance with the rules
of the Court of Chancery, including any rules specifically governing appraisal proceedings. Through such proceeding the Court shall determine
the fair value of the shares exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger or consolidation,
together with interest, if any, to be paid upon the amount determined to be the fair value. In determining such fair value, the Court shall take into
account all relevant factors. Unless the Court in its discretion determines otherwise for good cause shown, interest from the effective date of the
merger through the date of payment of the judgment shall be compounded quarterly and shall accrue at 5% over the Federal Reserve discount
rate (including any surcharge) as established from time to time during the period between the effective date of the merger and the date of
payment of the judgment. Upon application by the surviving or resulting corporation or by any stockholder entitled to participate in the appraisal
proceeding, the Court may, in its discretion, proceed to trial upon the appraisal prior to the final determination of the stockholders entitled to an
appraisal. Any stockholder whose name appears on the list filed by the surviving or resulting corporation pursuant to subsection (f) of this
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section and who has submitted such stockholder�s certificates of stock to the Register in Chancery, if such is required, may participate fully in all
proceedings until it is finally determined that such stockholder is not entitled to appraisal rights under this section.

(i) The Court shall direct the payment of the fair value of the shares, together with interest, if any, by the surviving or resulting corporation to the
stockholders entitled thereto. Payment shall be so made to each such stockholder, in the case of holders of uncertificated stock forthwith, and the
case of holders of shares represented by certificates upon the surrender to the corporation of the certificates representing such stock. The Court�s
decree may be enforced as other decrees in the Court of Chancery may be enforced, whether such surviving or resulting corporation be a
corporation of this State or of any state.

(j) The costs of the proceeding may be determined by the Court and taxed upon the parties as the Court deems equitable in the circumstances.
Upon application of a stockholder, the Court may order all or a portion of the expenses incurred by any stockholder in connection with the
appraisal proceeding, including, without limitation, reasonable attorney�s fees and the fees and expenses of experts, to be charged pro rata against
the value of all the shares entitled to an appraisal.

(k) From and after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, no stockholder who has demanded appraisal rights as provided in subsection
(d) of this section shall be entitled to vote such stock for any purpose or to receive payment of dividends or other distributions on the stock
(except dividends or other distributions payable to stockholders of record at a date which is prior to the effective date of the merger or
consolidation); provided, however, that if no petition for an appraisal shall be filed within the time provided in subsection (e) of this section, or if
such stockholder shall deliver to the surviving or resulting corporation a written withdrawal of such stockholder�s demand for an appraisal and an
acceptance of the merger or consolidation, either within 60 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation as provided in subsection
(e) of this section or thereafter with the written approval of the corporation, then the right of such stockholder to an appraisal shall cease.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no appraisal proceeding in the Court of Chancery shall be dismissed as to any stockholder without the approval
of the Court, and such approval may be conditioned upon such terms as the Court deems just; provided, however that this provision shall not
affect the right of any stockholder who has not commenced an appraisal proceeding or joined that proceeding as a named party to withdraw such
stockholder�s demand for appraisal and to accept the terms offered upon the merger or consolidation within 60 days after the effective date of the
merger or consolidation, as set forth in subsection (e) of this section.

(l) The shares of the surviving or resulting corporation to which the shares of such objecting stockholders would have been converted had they
assented to the merger or consolidation shall have the status of authorized and unissued shares of the surviving or resulting corporation.

8 Del. C. 1953, § 262; 56 Del. Laws, c. 50; 56 Del. Laws, c. 186, § 24; 57 Del. Laws, c. 148, §§ 27-29; 59 Del. Laws, c. 106, § 12; 60 Del.
Laws, c. 371, §§ 3-12; 63 Del. Laws, c. 25, § 14; 63 Del. Laws, c. 152, §§ 1, 2; 64 Del. Laws, c. 112, §§ 46-54; 66 Del. Laws, c. 136, §§ 30-32;
66 Del. Laws, c. 352, § 9; 67 Del. Laws, c. 376, §§ 19, 20; 68 Del. Laws, c. 337, §§ 3, 4; 69 Del. Laws, c. 61, § 10; 69 Del. Laws, c. 262, §§ 1-9;
70 Del. Laws, c. 79, § 16; 70 Del. Laws, c. 186, § 1; 70 Del. Laws, c. 299, §§ 2, 3; 70 Del. Laws, c. 349, § 22; 71 Del. Laws, c. 120, § 15; 71
Del. Laws, c. 339, §§ 49-52; 73 Del. Laws, c. 82, § 21; 76 Del. Laws, c. 145, §§ 11-16; 77 Del. Laws, c. 14, §§ 12, 13; 77 Del. Laws, c. 253, §§
47-50; 77 Del. Laws, c. 290, §§ 16, 17.;
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Annex D

SUPPORT AGREEMENT

This SUPPORT AGREEMENT (this �Agreement�), dated as of September 16, 2010, is by and among Calix, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(�Parent�), Ocean Sub I, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent (�Merger Sub�), Ocean Sub II, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company and a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent (�Second Merger Sub,� and together with Parent and Merger Sub, the �Parent
Parties�) and the individuals or entities set forth on Schedule A hereto (each, a �Stockholder�).

WHEREAS, as of the date hereof, each Stockholder is the holder of the number of shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share
(�Common Stock�), of Occam Networks, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the �Company�), set forth opposite such Stockholder�s name on Schedule A
(with respect to each Stockholder such shares of Common Stock of the Company held of record or beneficially owned by such Stockholder or
over which such Stockholder exercises sole voting power, together with any additional shares of Common Stock of the Company that are
hereafter held of record or beneficially owned by such Stockholder or over which such Stockholder otherwise acquires sole voting power after
the date hereof being referred to herein as such Stockholder�s �Subject Shares�);

WHEREAS, the Parent Parties and the Company propose to enter into an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of the
date hereof (the �Merger Agreement�), which provides, among other things, for the merger of Merger Sub with and into the Company, with the
Company continuing as the surviving corporation thereof (the �First Merger�), immediately followed by the merger of the Company with and into
Second Merger Sub, with Second Merger Sub as the ultimate surviving company (together with the First Merger, the �Transaction�), upon the
terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement (capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the
respective meanings ascribed to such terms in the Merger Agreement); and

WHEREAS, as a condition to their willingness to enter into the Merger Agreement, the Parent Parties have required that each Stockholder enter
into this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the respective representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth
below and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending
to be legally bound, do hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

TRANSFER OF SUBJECT SHARES AND VOTING RIGHTS

1.1. Restriction on Transfer of Subject Shares. Subject to Section 1.2, during the period from the date of this Agreement through the earlier of
(i) the date upon which the Merger Agreement is validly terminated in accordance with its terms and (ii) the Effective Time (the earliest of (i) or
(ii), the �Expiration Date�), no Stockholder shall, directly or indirectly, cause or permit to be effected any Transfer (as defined below) of any of
such Stockholder�s Subject Shares. A Stockholder shall be deemed to have effected a �Transfer� of such Stockholder�s Subject Shares if such
Stockholder directly or indirectly: (i) sells, pledges, encumbers, grants an option with respect to, transfers or disposes of such Stockholder�s
Subject Shares or any interest therein to any Person other than Parent; (ii) enters into an agreement or commitment contemplating the possible
sale of, pledge of, encumbrance of, grant of an option with respect to, transfer of or disposition of such Stockholder�s Subject Shares or any
interest therein to any Person other than Parent; or (iii) reduces such Stockholder�s beneficial ownership of, interest in or risk relating to such
Subject Shares.

1.2. Permitted Transfers. Section 1.1 shall not prohibit a Transfer of Subject Shares by a Stockholder (a) if such Stockholder is an individual
(i) to any member of such Stockholder�s immediate family (including any spouse, ex-spouse, domestic partner, lineal descendant or antecedent,
brother or sister, the adopted child or
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adopted grandchild, or the spouse or domestic partner of any child, adopted child, grandchild or adopted grandchild of the Stockholder), or to a
trust for the benefit of such Stockholder or any of the foregoing individuals, (ii) pursuant to any bona fide gift of Subject Shares effected for tax
planning purposes, or (iii) upon the death of such Stockholder, or (b) if such Stockholder is not an individual, to one or more partners or
members of such Stockholder or to any Affiliate of such Stockholder; provided, however, that a transfer referred to in this sentence shall be
permitted only if, as a precondition to such transfer, the transferee executes a counterpart of this Agreement and becomes bound by all of the
terms of this Agreement to the same extent as the transferring Stockholder.

ARTICLE II

VOTING OF SHARES

2.1. Voting Covenant. Each Stockholder hereby agrees that, prior to the Expiration Date, at any meeting of the stockholders of the Company,
however called, and in any written action by consent of stockholders of the Company, such Stockholder shall cause the Subject Shares to be
voted:

(a) in favor of the adoption of the Merger Agreement; and

(b) against any (A) Acquisition Proposal or (B) any amendment to the Company�s certificate of incorporation or bylaws that is intended, or could
reasonably be expected to, impede, interfere with, delay, postpone or adversely affect the Transaction.

2.2. Irrevocable Proxy.

(a) Each Stockholder hereby revokes (or agrees to cause promptly to be revoked) any proxies that such Stockholder has heretofore granted with
respect to the Subject Shares. Such Stockholder hereby irrevocably appoints Parent as attorney-in-fact and proxy for and on behalf of such
Stockholder, for and in the name, place and stead of such Stockholder, to: (a) attend any and all meetings of the stockholders of the Company,
(b) vote, express consent or dissent or issue instructions to the record holder to vote such Stockholder�s Subject Shares in accordance with the
provisions of Section 2.1 at any and all meetings of the stockholders of the Company, and (c) grant or withhold, or issue instructions to the
record holder to grant or withhold, consistent with the provisions of Section 2.1, all written consents with respect to the Subject Shares at any
and all meetings of the stockholders of the Company or in connection with any action sought to be taken by written consent without a meeting.
Parent agrees not to exercise the proxy granted herein for any purpose other than the purposes described in this Agreement. The foregoing proxy
shall be deemed to be a proxy coupled with an interest, is irrevocable (and as such shall survive and not be affected by the death, incapacity,
mental illness or insanity of such Stockholder, as applicable) until the Expiration Date and shall not be terminated by operation of Law or upon
the occurrence of any other event. Such Stockholder authorizes such attorney and proxy to substitute any other Person to act hereunder, to
revoke any substitution and to file this proxy and any substitution or revocation with the Secretary of the Company. Such Stockholder hereby
affirms that the proxy set forth in this Section 2.2 is given in connection with and granted in consideration of and as an inducement to the Parent
Parties to enter into the Merger Agreement and that such proxy is given to secure the obligations of the Stockholder under Section 2.1. The
proxy set forth in this Section 2.2 is executed and intended to be irrevocable, subject, however, to its automatic termination upon the termination
of this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.2.

(b) No Stockholder shall enter into any tender, voting or other such agreement, or grant a proxy or power of attorney, with respect to the Subject
Shares that is inconsistent with this Agreement or otherwise take any other action with respect to the Subject Shares that would in any way
restrict, limit or interfere with the performance of such Stockholder�s obligations hereunder or the transactions contemplated hereby.

(c) The representations and warranties, covenants and obligations of each Stockholder hereunder shall be several and not joint and no
Stockholder shall be responsible or liable for the breach of this Agreement by any
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other Stockholder. Nothing in this Agreement shall require any Stockholder to exercise any option and/or other right to purchase any Common
Stock of the Company.

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE STOCKHOLDERS

Each Stockholder represents and warrants to the Parent Parties as to such Stockholder, severally and not jointly, that:

3.1. Authorization; Binding Agreement. If such Stockholder is a corporation, limited partnership or limited liability company, such
Stockholder is an entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated or
constituted and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby are within such Stockholder�s corporate or organizational powers and
have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate or organizational actions on the part of such Stockholder. If such Stockholder is an
individual, he or she has full legal capacity, right and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform his or her obligations
hereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. Such Stockholder has full power and authority to execute, deliver and
perform this Agreement. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by such Stockholder, and constitutes a valid and
binding obligation of such Stockholder enforceable against such Stockholder in accordance with its terms, subject to the effects of bankruptcy,
insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws relating to or affecting creditors� rights generally and
general equitable principles including, without limitation, rules of law governing specific performance, injunctive relieve and other equitable
remedies (whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

3.2. Non-Contravention. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by such Stockholder does not, and the performance by such
Stockholder of such Stockholder�s obligations hereunder and the consummation by such Stockholder of the transactions contemplated hereby
will not (i) except as may be required by federal securities law, require any consent, approval, order, authorization or other action by, or filing
with or notice to, any Person (including any Governmental Authority) under, constitute a default (with or without the giving of notice or the
lapse of time or both) under, or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration under any contract, agreement or other
instrument binding on such Stockholder or, to the actual knowledge of such Stockholder Applicable Law, in each case, whether individually or
in the aggregate, that would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay or impair the consummation by such Stockholder of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement or otherwise negatively impact such Stockholder�s ability to perform its obligations hereunder, or
(ii) if such Stockholder is not an individual, violate any provision of such Stockholder�s organizational documents.

3.3. Ownership of Subject Shares; Total Shares. Such Stockholder is the record or beneficial owner (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the
Exchange Act) of the shares of Company Common Stock set forth opposite such Stockholder�s name on Exhibit A, free and clear of any Lien
(including any restriction on the right to vote any Subject Shares or otherwise transfer any Subject Shares), except as (i) provided hereunder,
(ii) pursuant to any applicable restrictions on transfer under the Securities Act, (iii) subject to any risk of forfeiture with respect to any shares of
Common Stock granted to such Stockholder under an employee benefit plan of the Company or (iv) that would not, individually or in the
aggregate, impair the ability of the Stockholder to perform its obligations hereunder or prevent, limit or restrict in any respect the consummation
of the transactions contemplated hereby. The Subject Shares listed on Schedule A opposite such Stockholder�s name constitute all of the shares of
Common Stock of the Company owned by such Stockholder as of the date hereof. Except pursuant to this Agreement, no Person has any
contractual or other right or obligation to purchase or otherwise acquire any of such Stockholder�s Subject Shares.

3.4. Voting and Dispositive Power. Except as set forth on Schedule A, such Stockholder has full voting power, with respect to such
Stockholder�s Subject Shares, and full power of disposition, full power to issue
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instructions with respect to the matters set forth herein and full power to agree to all of the applicable obligations of such Stockholder set forth in
this Agreement, in each case with respect to all of such Stockholder�s Subject Shares. None of such Stockholder�s Subject Shares are subject to
any proxy, voting trust or other agreement or arrangement with respect to the voting of such Subject Shares, except as provided hereunder.

3.5 Absence of Litigation. With respect to such Stockholder, as of the date hereof, there is no action, suit, investigation or proceeding pending
against, or, to the knowledge of such Stockholder, threatened against, such Stockholder or any of such Stockholder�s properties or assets
(including the Subject Shares) that could reasonably be expected to prevent, delay or impair the ability of such Stockholder to perform its
obligations hereunder or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.

ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE PARENT PARTIES

Each of the Parent Parties represent and warrant to the Stockholders, jointly and severally, that:

4.1. Organization; Authorization. Each of the Parent Parties is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the
State of Delaware. The consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby are within each of the Parent Parties� corporate or limited liability
company powers, as applicable, and have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate or limited liability company actions, as applicable, on
the part of such Parent Parties. Each of the Parent Parties has full power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this Agreement.

4.2. Binding Agreement. This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by each of the Parent Parties, and constitutes a valid
and binding obligation of each Parent Party enforceable against such Parent Party in accordance with its terms, subject to the effects of
bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws relating to or affecting creditors� rights
generally and general equitable principles (whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

ARTICLE V

ADDITIONAL COVENANTS OF THE STOCKHOLDERS

Each Stockholder hereby covenants and agrees, severally and not jointly, that:

5.1. No Exercise of Appraisal Rights. Such Stockholder shall not exercise any appraisal rights or dissenter�s rights in respect of such
Stockholder�s Subject Shares that may arise with respect to the Transaction.

5.2. Documentation and Information. Such Stockholder shall, subject to reasonable prior approval of such Stockholder, permit and hereby
authorizes the Parent Parties to publish and disclose in all documents and schedules filed with the SEC, and any press release or other disclosure
document that any Parent Party reasonably determines to be necessary under Applicable Law in connection with the Transaction and any
transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, such Stockholder�s identity and ownership of the Subject Shares and the nature of such
Stockholder�s commitments and obligations under this Agreement.

5.3 Investors� Right Agreement. If such Stockholder or any Affiliate of such Stockholder is a party to that certain Fourth Amended and
Restated Investors� Rights Agreement, dated as of January 7, 2005, by and among the Company and certain of its stockholders named therein
(the �IRA�), such Stockholder shall not, and shall cause any of its Affiliates not to, exercise or assert, or seek to exercise or assert, any rights, if
any, of such Stockholder or its Affiliates under the IRA. Such Stockholder shall, and shall cause any of its Affiliates to, execute any waiver of
any provision of or agreement of termination of the IRA, as may be reasonably requested by any Parent Party.
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ARTICLE VI

MISCELLANEOUS

6.1. Notices. All notices, requests and other communications to any party hereunder shall be in writing (including facsimile transmission) and
shall be given, (i) if to any Parent Party, in accordance with the provisions of the Merger Agreement and (ii) if to a Stockholder, to such
Stockholder�s address or facsimile number set forth on a signature page hereto, or to such other address or facsimile number as such party may
hereafter specify for the purpose by notice to each other party hereto.

6.2. Termination. This Agreement shall terminate automatically, without any notice or other action by any Person on the Expiration Date. Upon
termination of this Agreement, no party shall have any obligations or liabilities under this Agreement; provided, however, that nothing set forth
in this Section 6.2 shall relieve any party from liability for any breach of this Agreement by such party prior to termination hereof.

6.3. Amendments and Waivers. Any provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived if such amendment or waiver is in writing and is
signed, in the case of an amendment, by each party to this Agreement or, in the case of a waiver, by each party against whom the waiver is to be
effective. No failure or delay by any party in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any
single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege.

6.4. Expenses. All costs and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement shall be paid by the party incurring such cost or expense.

6.5. Binding Effect; Benefit; Assignment. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties
hereto and their respective successors and assigns. No provision of this Agreement is intended to confer any rights, benefits, remedies,
obligations or liabilities hereunder upon any person other than the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. No party may
assign, delegate or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the consent of each other party hereto, except
that each of the Parent Parties may transfer or assign its rights and obligations under this Agreement, in whole or from time to time in part, to
one or more of its Affiliates at any time; provided, that such transfer or assignment shall not relieve such Parent Party of any of its obligations
hereunder.

6.6. Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware without
regard to its rules of conflict of laws. Each of the Parent Parties and each Stockholder hereby irrevocably and unconditionally consents to submit
to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of Delaware Court of Chancery, or if no such state court has proper jurisdiction, then the Federal court
of the U.S. located in the State of Delaware, and appellate courts therefrom, (collectively, the �Delaware Courts�) for any litigation arising out of
or relating to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby (and agrees not to commence any litigation relating thereto except in
such courts), waives any objection to the laying of venue of any such litigation in the Delaware Courts and agrees not to plead or claim in any
Delaware Court that such litigation brought therein has been brought in any inconvenient forum. Each of the parties hereto agrees (i) to the
extent such party is not otherwise subject to service of process in the State of Delaware, to appoint and maintain an agent in the State of
Delaware as such party�s agent for acceptance of legal process and (ii) that service of process may also be made on such party by prepaid
certified mail with a proof of mailing receipt validated by United States Postal Service constituting evidence of valid service. Service made
pursuant to (i) or (ii) above shall have the same legal force and effect as if served upon such party personally within the State of Delaware.
EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL
PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS
AGREEMENT.
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6.7. Counterparts. The parties may execute this Agreement in one or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original and all of
which, when taken together, will be deemed to constitute one and the same agreement. Any signature page hereto delivered by facsimile
machine or by e-mail (including in portable document format (pdf), as a joint photographic experts group (jpg) file, or otherwise) shall be
binding to the same extent as an original signature page, with regard to any agreement subject to the terms hereof or any amendment thereto and
may be used in lieu of the original signatures for all purposes. Any party that delivers such a signature page agrees to later deliver an original
counterpart to any party that requests it.

6.8. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter of this
Agreement and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, both oral and written, between the parties with respect to its subject matter.

6.9. Severability. If any term, provision, covenant or restriction of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction or other
Governmental Authority to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions of this
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated so long as the economic or legal
substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party. Upon such a determination, the
parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an
acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated hereby be consummated as originally contemplated to the fullest extent possible.

6.10. Specific Performance. Each Stockholder agrees that each of the Parent Parties would be irreparably damaged if for any reason such
Stockholder fails to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement and that each of the Parent Parties may not have an adequate remedy at
law for money damages in such event. Accordingly, each of the Parent Parties shall be entitled to specific performance and injunctive and other
equitable relief to prevent breaches of this Agreement or to enforce specifically the performance of the terms and provisions hereof in any
Delaware Court, in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity, in each case without posting bond or other
security, and without the necessity of proving actual damages.

6.11. Headings. The Section headings contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect in any way the
meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

6.12. No Presumption. This Agreement shall be construed without regard to any presumption or rule requiring construction or interpretation
against the party drafting or causing any instrument to be drafted.

6.13. Further Assurances. Each Stockholder will execute and deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, any additional documents and
instruments that are, in the opinion of counsel for Parent, necessary under Applicable Law to perform their respective obligations as expressly
set forth under this Agreement.

6.14 Interpretation. Unless the context otherwise requires, as used in this Agreement: (i) �including� and its variants mean �including, without
limitation� and its variants; (ii) words defined in the singular have the parallel meaning in the plural and vice versa; (iii) words of one gender shall
be construed to apply to each gender; and (iv) the terms �Article,� �Section� and �Schedule� refer to the specified Article, Section or Schedule of or to
this Agreement.

6.15 Capacity as Stockholder. Each Stockholder signs this Agreement solely in such Stockholder�s capacity as a Stockholder of the Company,
and not in such Stockholder�s capacity as a director, officer or employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or in such Stockholder�s
capacity as a trustee or fiduciary of any employee benefit plan or trust. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, nothing herein shall in
any way restrict a director or officer of the Company in the exercise of his or her fiduciary duties as a director or officer of the Company or in
his or her capacity as a trustee or fiduciary of any employee benefit plan or trust or prevent or be construed to create any obligation on the part of
any director or officer of the Company or any
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trustee or fiduciary of any employee benefit plan or trust from taking any action in his or her capacity as such director, officer, trustee or
fiduciary.

6.15 No Agreement Until Executed. Irrespective of negotiations among the parties or the exchanging of drafts of this Agreement, this
Agreement shall not constitute or be deemed to evidence a contract, agreement, arrangement or understanding between the parties hereto unless
and until (a) the Board of Directors of the Company has approved, for purposes of any applicable anti-takeover laws and regulations, and any
applicable provision of the Company�s organizational documents, the possible acquisition of the Subject Shares by the Parent Parties pursuant to
the Merger Agreement, (b) the Merger Agreement is executed by all parties thereto, and (c) this Agreement is executed by all parties hereto.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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The parties are executing this Agreement on the date set forth in the introductory clause.

CALIX, INC.

By: /S/    KELYN BRANNON

Name: Kelyn Brannon
Title: Chief Financial Officer

OCEAN SUB I, INC.

By: /S/    KELYN BRANNON

Name: Kelyn Brannon
Title: Chief Financial Officer

OCEAN SUB II, LLC

By: /S/    KELYN BRANNON

Name: Kelyn Brannon
Title: Chief Financial Officer

[Signature Page to Support Agreement]
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OCCAM NETWORKS, INC.

By: /S/    JEANNE SEELEY
Name: Jeanne Seeley

Title: Chief Financial Officer
[Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization]
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STOCKHOLDERS:

/S/    ROBERT L. HOWARD-ANDERSON

Robert L. Howard-Anderson
[Signature Page to Support Agreement]
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/S/    JEANNE SEELEY
Jeanne Seeley

[Signature Page to Support Agreement]
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/S/    GREGORY DION

Gregory Dion
[Signature Page to Support Agreement]
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/S/    DAVID C. MASON

David C. Mason
[Signature Page to Support Agreement]
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/S/    MARK RUMER

Mark Rumer
[Signature Page to Support Agreement]
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/S/    RUSSELL J. SHARER
Russell J. Sharer
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/S/    ROBERT B. ABBOTT

Robert B. Abbott
[Signature Page to Support Agreement]
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/S/    ROBERT E. BYLIN

Robert E. Bylin
[Signature Page to Support Agreement]
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/S/    STEVEN M. KRAUSZ

Steven M. Krausz
[Signature Page to Support Agreement]
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/S/    ALBERT MOYER

Albert Moyer
[Signature Page to Support Agreement]
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/S/    THOMAS E. PARDUN
Thomas E. Pardun

[Signature Page to Support Agreement]
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/S/    BRIAN STROM
Brian Strom

[Signature Page to Support Agreement]
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US VENTURE PARTNERS VII, L.P.

USVP ENTREPRENEUR PARTNERS VII-A, L.P.

USVP ENTREPRENEUR PARTNERS VII-A, L.P.

2180 ASSOCIATES FUND VII, L.P.

By Presidio Management Group

The General Partner of Each

By: /S/    MICHAEL P. MAHER

Name: Michael P. Maher

Title: Attorney-In-Fact
[Signature Page to Support Agreement]
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Norwest Venture Partners VIII, LP

By: Itasca VC Partners VIII, LLP

Its General Partner

By: /S/    KURT L. BETCHER

Name: Kurt L. Betcher

Title: Chief Financial Officer

NVP Entrepreneurs Fund VIII, LP

By: Itasca VC Partners VIII, LLP

Its General Partner

By: /S/    KURT L. BETCHER

Name: Kurt L. Betcher

Title: Chief Financial Officer
[Signature Page to Support Agreement]
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Schedule A

Name of Stockholder No. Shares
Robert L. Howard-Anderson 49,132
Jeanne Seeley 28,808
Mark Rumer 106,768
David C. Mason 13,579
Russell J. Sharer 23,562
Greg Dion 12,458
Steven M. Krausz 61,604
Robert B. Abbott 52,978
Robert E. Bylin 52,978
Thomas E. Pardun 52,978
A.J. �Bert� Moyer 52,978
Brian Strom 58,978
US Venture Partners VII, L.P.;

USVP Entrepreneur Partners VII-A, L.P.

USVP Entrepreneur Partners VII-B, L.P.
2180 Associates Fund VII, L.P. 3,110,893
NVP VIII, LP 1,909,493
NVP Entrepreneurs Fund VIII, L.P 94,652
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PART II. INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 20. Indemnification of Directors and Officers
Section 145(a) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (�DGCL�) provides, in general, that a corporation shall have the power to
indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or
proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in the right of the corporation), because the person
is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer,
employee or agent of any other enterprise. Such indemnity may be against expenses (including attorneys� fees), judgments, fines and amounts
paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by the person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding, if the person acted in good
faith and in a manner the person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation and if, with respect to any
criminal action or proceeding, the person did not have reasonable cause to believe the person�s conduct was unlawful.

Section 145(b) of the DGCL provides, in general, that a corporation shall have the power to indemnify any person who was or is a party or is
threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of the corporation to procure a judgment in
its favor because the person is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation or is or was serving at the request of the
corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of any other enterprise, against any expenses (including attorneys� fees) actually and
reasonably incurred by the person in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if the person acted in good faith and in a
manner the person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, except that no indemnification shall be
made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable to the corporation unless and only to
the extent that the Court of Chancery or the court in which such action or suit was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the
adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such
expenses which the Court of Chancery or such other court shall deem proper.

Section 145(g) of the DGCL provides, in general, that a corporation shall have the power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any
person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director,
officer, employee or agent of any other enterprise, against any liability asserted against the person in any such capacity, or arising out of the
person�s status as such, regardless of whether the corporation would have the power to indemnify the person against such liability under the
provisions of the law.

Calix�s amended and restated certificate of incorporation contains provisions that limit the liability of its directors for monetary damages to the
fullest extent permitted by the DGCL. Consequently, the directors will not be personally liable to Calix or its stockholders for monetary damages
for any breach of fiduciary duties as directors, except liability for:

� any breach of the director�s duty of loyalty to Calix or its stockholders;

� any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;

� unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions as provided in Section 174 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law; or

� any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.
Calix�s amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that the company is required to indemnify its
directors and officers, in each case to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL. The amended and restated bylaws also provide that Calix is
obligated to advance expenses incurred by a
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director or officer in advance of the final disposition of any action or proceeding, and permit Calix to secure insurance on behalf of any officer,
director, employee or other agent for any liability arising out of his or her actions in that capacity regardless of whether the company would
otherwise be permitted to indemnify him or her under the provisions of the DGCL. Calix has entered into agreements to indemnify its directors,
executive officers and other employees as determined by the board of directors. With specified exceptions, these agreements provide for
indemnification for related expenses including, among other things, attorneys� fees, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by any of
these individuals in any action or proceeding. Calix believes that these bylaw provisions and indemnification agreements are necessary to attract
and retain qualified persons as directors and officers. Calix also maintain directors� and officers� liability insurance.

The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions in the Calix amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and
restated bylaws may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against the directors and officers for breach of their fiduciary duty. They
may also reduce the likelihood of derivative litigation against Calix directors and officers, even though an action, if successful, might benefit the
company and its stockholders. Further, a stockholder�s investment may be adversely affected to the extent that Calix pays the costs of settlement
and damage awards against directors and officers as required by these indemnification provisions. Insofar as indemnification for liabilities
arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or
otherwise, Calix has been advised that, in the opinion of the SEC, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities
Act, and is, therefore, unenforceable. At present, there is no pending litigation or proceeding involving any of the Calix directors, officers or
employees for which indemnification is sought, and the company is not aware of any threatened litigation that may result in claims for
indemnification.

Item 21. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following Exhibits are filed as part of this registration statement unless otherwise indicated:

Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of September 16, 2010, by and among Calix, Inc., Ocean Sub I,
Inc., Ocean Sub II, LLC, Occam Networks, Inc. (attached as Annex A to the proxy statement/prospectus).*

2.2 Support Agreement, dated September 16, 2010, by and among Calix, Inc., Ocean Sub I, Inc., Ocean Sub II, LLC and certain
stockholders of Occam Networks, Inc. (attached as Annex D to the proxy statement/prospectus).

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Calix, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.3 to Amendment No. 7 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 23, 2010 (File
No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Calix, Inc. (filed as exhibit Exhibit 3.5 to Amendment No. 7 to Calix�s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 23, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and
incorporated by reference herein).

4.1 Form of Calix, Inc.�s Common Stock Certificate (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 7 to Calix�s Registration Statement
on Form S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 23, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

4.2 Amended and Restated Investors� Rights Agreement, by and between Calix, Inc. and the investors listed on Exhibit A thereto,
dated May 29, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20,
2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

4.3 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Parallel Design and Development, dated August 15, 2000 (filed as
Exhibit 4.3 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252)
and incorporated by reference herein).

4.4 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and The Palmer Group, dated August 15, 2000 (filed as Exhibit 4.4 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

4.5 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Wright Engineered Plastics, Inc., dated August 15, 2000 (filed as
Exhibit 4.5 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252)
and incorporated by reference herein).

4.6 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and The Jean W. and Ayman F. Partnership, dated August 22, 2000
(filed as Exhibit 4.6 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File
No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

4.7 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Douglas Comer, dated June 12, 2001 (filed as Exhibit 4.7 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by
reference herein).

4.8 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Jonathan Canis, dated July 10, 2001 (filed as Exhibit 4.8 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by
reference herein).

4.9 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Steve Jensen, dated September 17, 2001 (filed as Exhibit 4.9 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

4.10 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Scott Bradner, dated September 22, 2001 (filed as Exhibit 4.10 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

4.11 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Object Savvy, Inc., dated December 11, 2001 (filed as Exhibit 4.11
to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and
incorporated by reference herein).

4.12 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Timothy P. Willis, dated December 11, 2001 (filed as Exhibit 4.12
to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and
incorporated by reference herein).

4.13 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Jack D. Wright, dated January 10, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 4.13 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

4.14 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Paris Precision Products, dated April 2, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 4.14
to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and
incorporated by reference herein).

4.15 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Decision Design, dated April 9, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 4.15 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

4.16 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Aguillar Engineering, Inc., dated July 9, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 4.16
to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and
incorporated by reference herein).

4.17 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and David S. Rubin IRRA, FBO David S. Rubin, dated July 10, 2003
(filed as Exhibit 4.17 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File
No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

  4.18 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and David S. Rubin IRRA, FBO David S. Rubin, dated July 10, 2003
(filed as Exhibit 4.18 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File
No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

  4.19 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and David S. Rubin IRRA, FBO David S. Rubin, dated July 10, 2003
(filed as Exhibit 4.19 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File
No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

  4.20 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and David S. Rubin IRRA, FBO David S. Rubin, dated July 10, 2003
(filed as Exhibit 4.20 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File
No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

  4.21 Series E Preferred Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Greater Bay Bancorp, dated February 27, 2004 (filed as
Exhibit 4.21 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252)
and incorporated by reference herein).

  4.22 Warrant to Purchase Stock, between Optical Solutions, Inc. and Silicon Valley Bank, dated August 16, 2004 (filed as Exhibit
4.22 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and
incorporated by reference herein).

  4.23 Assignment, between Silicon Valley Bank and Silicon Valley Bancshares, dated August 19, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 4.23 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

  4.24 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Chris Moore, dated February 14, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 4.24 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

  4.25 Amended and Restated Warrant, between Optical Solutions, Inc. and Partners for Growth, L.P., dated January 30, 2006 (filed as
Exhibit 4.25 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252)
and incorporated by reference herein).

  4.26 Amended and Restated Warrant, between Optical Solutions, Inc. and Partners for Growth, L.P., dated January 30, 2006 (filed as
Exhibit 4.26 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252)
and incorporated by reference herein).

  4.27 Warrant to Purchase Stock, between Calix, Inc. and Greater Bay Venture Banking, a division of Greater Bay Bank N.A., dated
September 4, 2007 (filed as Exhibit 4.27 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20,
2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

  5.1� Opinion of Latham & Watkins, LLP.

  8.1 Opinion of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C. as to tax matters.

10.1 Calix Networks, Inc. Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Plan and related documents (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by
reference herein).

10.2 Calix Networks, Inc. Amended and Restated 2002 Stock Plan and related documents (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Amendment No. 6
to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on March 8, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by
reference herein).

10.3 Optical Solutions, Inc. Amended and Restated 1997 Long-Term Incentive and Stock Option Plan and related documents (filed
as Exhibit 10.3 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252)
and incorporated by reference herein).
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

10.4 Calix, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Award Plan and related documents (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Amendment No. 6 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on March 8, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference
herein).

10.5 Form of Indemnification Agreement made by and between Calix, Inc. and each of its directors, executive officers and some
employees (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. 6 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on
March 8, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

10.6 Lease, between RNM Lakeville, LLC and Calix, Inc., dated February 13, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Calix�s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

10.7 Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, by and between Calix, Inc. and Silicon Valley Bank, dated August 21,
2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File
No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

10.8 Offer Letter, between Calix, Inc. and Carl Russo, dated November 1, 2006 (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Amendment No. 1 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on December 31, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by
reference herein).

10.9 Offer Letter, between Calix, Inc. and Kelyn Brannon-Ahn, dated April 2, 2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Amendment No. 1 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on December 31, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

10.10 Offer Letter, between Calix, Inc. and Tony Banta, dated August 25, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.10 to Amendment No. 1 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on December 31, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by
reference herein).

10.11 Offer Letter, between Calix, Inc. and John Colvin, dated March 3, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.11 to Amendment No. 1 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on December 31, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by
reference herein).

10.12 Offer Letter, between Calix, Inc. and Kevin Pope, dated December 21, 2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.12 to Amendment No. 1 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on December 31, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

10.13 Offer Letter, between Calix, Inc. and Roger Weingarth, dated February 17, 2003, as amended April 13, 2004 (filed as Exhibit
10.13 to Amendment No. 1 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on December 31, 2009 (File
No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

10.14 Calix, Inc. Non-Employee Director Equity Compensation Policy (filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Amendment No. 6 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on March 8, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference
herein).

10.15 Calix, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.15 to Amendment No. 6 to Calix�s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed with the SEC on March 8, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

10.16 Calix, Inc. Non-Employee Director Cash Compensation Policy (filed as Exhibit 10.16 to Amendment No. 6 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on March 8, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference
herein).
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

10.17 Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, between Silicon Valley Bank and Calix, Inc., dated
March 8, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 10.17 to Amendment No. 7 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 23, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

23.2 Consent of SingerLewak LLP.

23.3� Consent of Latham & Watkins LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1).

23.4 Consent of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C. (included in Exhibit 8.1).

24.1� Power of Attorney (see page II-9 of the original filing of this Form S-4).

99.1 Form of Occam Networks, Inc. Proxy Card.

99.2� Consent of Jefferies & Company, Inc.

* Pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K, certain schedules and similar attachments to the Agreement and Plan of Merger and
Reorganization have been omitted. The registrant hereby agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or similar
attachment to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.

� Previously filed.
(b) Calix, Inc. Financial Statement Schedules.

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at
Beginning
of Year

Additions
Charged to
Costs and
Expenses or
Revenue

Deductions
and

Write-Offs

Balance at
End of
Year

(In thousands)
Year ended December 31, 2009
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 943 $ 520 $ (455) $ 1,008
Product return reserve 895 5,657 (5,353) 1,199

Year ended December 31, 2008
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 358 $ 829 $ (244) $ 943
Product return reserve 1,100 4,227 (4,432) 895

Year ended December 31, 2007
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 324 $ 217 $ (183) $ 358
Product return reserve 1,190 5,139 (5,229) 1,100
Schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are not applicable or are not required or the information required to be set forth
therein is included in the financial statements or notes thereto.

(c) Opinions: See the Exhibit Index above and appearing immediately after the signature page to this Registration Statement.
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Item 22. Undertakings
(a) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

(1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:

(i) To include any prospectus required by section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933.

(ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective
amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration
statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered
would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be
reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price
represent no more than a 20 percent change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the �Calculation of Registration Fee� table in the
effective registration statement.

(iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any
material change to such information in the registration statement.

(2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed, to
be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the
initial bona fide offering thereof.

(3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the
termination of the offering.

(b) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes as follows: that prior to any public reoffering of the securities registered hereunder through use
of a prospectus which is a part of this registration statement, by any person or party who is deemed to be an underwriter within the meaning of
Rule 145(c), the issuer undertakes that such reoffering prospectus will contain the information called for by the applicable registration form with
respect to reofferings by persons who may be deemed underwriters, in addition to the information called for by the other items of the applicable
form.

(c) The registrant undertakes that every prospectus: (i) that is filed pursuant to paragraph (c) immediately preceding, or (ii) that purports to meet
the requirements of Section 10(a)(3) of the Act and is used in connection with an offering of securities subject to Rule 415, will be filed as a part
of an amendment to the registration statement and will not be used until such amendment is effective, and that, for purposes of determining any
liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the
securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(d) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers, and controlling
persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities
and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event
that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director,
officer, or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer, or
controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been
settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether �such indemnification by it is against public
policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
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(e) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to respond to requests for information that is incorporated by reference into the prospectus
pursuant to Item 4, 10(b), 11, or 13 of this Form, within one business day of receipt of such request, and to send the incorporated documents by
first class mail or other equally prompt means. This includes information contained in documents filed subsequent to the effective date of the
registration statement through the date of responding to the request.

(f) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to supply by means of a post-effective amendment all information concerning a transaction,
and the company being acquired involved therein, that was not the subject of and included in the registration statement when it became effective.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Petaluma, State of California, on December 14, 2010.

CALIX, INC.

By: /S/    CARL RUSSO        

Carl Russo

President and Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities
and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/S/    CARL RUSSO        

Carl Russo

President, Chief Executive Officer

and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

December 14, 2010

/S/    KELYN BRANNON        

Kelyn Brannon

Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer (Principal Financial

Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

December 14, 2010

*

Don Listwin

Director, Chairman of the Board December 14, 2010

*

Michael Ashby

Director December 14, 2010

*

Michael Everett

Director December 14, 2010

*

Robert Finzi

Director December 14, 2010

*

Michael Flynn

Director December 14, 2010

*

Adam Grosser

Director December 14, 2010
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/S/    MICHAEL MATTHEWS        

Michael Matthews

Director December 14, 2010

*By: /S/    CARL RUSSO        

Carl Russo
Attorney-in-fact
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of September 16, 2010, by and among Calix, Inc., Ocean Sub I,
Inc., Ocean Sub II, LLC, Occam Networks, Inc. (attached as Annex A to the proxy statement/prospectus).*

2.2 Support Agreement, dated September 16, 2010, by and among Calix, Inc., Ocean Sub I, Inc., Ocean Sub II, LLC and certain
stockholders of Occam Networks, Inc. (attached as Annex D to the proxy statement/prospectus).

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Calix, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.3 to Amendment No. 7 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 23, 2010 (File
No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Calix, Inc. (filed as exhibit Exhibit 3.5 to Amendment No. 7 to Calix�s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 23, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and
incorporated by reference herein).

4.1 Form of Calix, Inc.�s Common Stock Certificate (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 7 to Calix�s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 23, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by
reference herein).

4.2 Amended and Restated Investors� Rights Agreement, by and between Calix, Inc. and the investors listed on Exhibit A thereto,
dated May 29, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20,
2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

4.3 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Parallel Design and Development, dated August 15, 2000 (filed as
Exhibit 4.3 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252)
and incorporated by reference herein).

4.4 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and The Palmer Group, dated August 15, 2000 (filed as Exhibit 4.4 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

4.5 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Wright Engineered Plastics, Inc., dated August 15, 2000 (filed as
Exhibit 4.5 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252)
and incorporated by reference herein).

4.6 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and The Jean W. and Ayman F. Partnership, dated August 22, 2000
(filed as Exhibit 4.6 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File
No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

4.7 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Douglas Comer, dated June 12, 2001 (filed as Exhibit 4.7 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by
reference herein).

4.8 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Jonathan Canis, dated July 10, 2001 (filed as Exhibit 4.8 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by
reference herein).

4.9 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Steve Jensen, dated September 17, 2001 (filed as Exhibit 4.9 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

4.10 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Scott Bradner, dated September 22, 2001 (filed as Exhibit 4.10 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).
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4.11 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Object Savvy, Inc., dated December 11, 2001 (filed as Exhibit 4.11
to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 and (File No. 333-163252)
incorporated by reference herein).

4.12 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Timothy P. Willis, dated December 11, 2001 (filed as Exhibit 4.12
to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and
incorporated by reference herein).

4.13 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Jack D. Wright, dated January 10, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 4.13 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

4.14 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Paris Precision Products, dated April 2, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 4.14
to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and
incorporated by reference herein).

4.15 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Decision Design, dated April 9, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 4.15 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

4.16 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Aguillar Engineering, Inc., dated July 9, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 4.16
to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and
incorporated by reference herein).

4.17 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and David S. Rubin IRRA, FBO David S. Rubin, dated July 10, 2003
(filed as Exhibit 4.17 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File
No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

4.18 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and David S. Rubin IRRA, FBO David S. Rubin, dated July 10, 2003
(filed as Exhibit 4.18 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File
No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

4.19 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and David S. Rubin IRRA, FBO David S. Rubin, dated July 10, 2003
(filed as Exhibit 4.19 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File
No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

4.20 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and David S. Rubin IRRA, FBO David S. Rubin, dated July 10, 2003
(filed as Exhibit 4.20 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File
No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

4.21 Series E Preferred Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Greater Bay Bancorp, dated February 27, 2004 (filed as
Exhibit 4.21 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252)
and incorporated by reference herein).

4.22 Warrant to Purchase Stock, between Optical Solutions, Inc. and Silicon Valley Bank, dated August 16, 2004 (filed as Exhibit
4.22 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and
incorporated by reference herein).

4.23 Assignment, between Silicon Valley Bank and Silicon Valley Bancshares, dated August 19, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 4.23 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

4.24 Common Stock Purchase Warrant, between Calix, Inc. and Chris Moore, dated February 14, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 4.24 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

4.25 Amended and Restated Warrant, between Optical Solutions, Inc. and Partners for Growth, L.P., dated January 30, 2006 (filed
as Exhibit 4.25 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File
No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).
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  4.26 Amended and Restated Warrant, between Optical Solutions, Inc. and Partners for Growth, L.P., dated January 30, 2006 (filed as
Exhibit 4.26 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252)
and incorporated by reference herein).

  4.27 Warrant to Purchase Stock, between Calix, Inc. and Greater Bay Venture Banking, a division of Greater Bay Bank N.A., dated
September 4, 2007 (filed as Exhibit 4.27 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20,
2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

  5.1� Opinion of Latham & Watkins, LLP.

  8.1 Opinion of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C. as to tax matters.

10.1 Calix Networks, Inc. Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Plan and related documents (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by
reference herein).

10.2 Calix Networks, Inc. Amended and Restated 2002 Stock Plan and related documents (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Amendment No. 6
to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on March 8, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by
reference herein).

10.3 Optical Solutions, Inc. Amended and Restated 1997 Long-Term Incentive and Stock Option Plan and related documents (filed
as Exhibit 10.3 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252)
and incorporated by reference herein).

10.4 Calix, Inc. 2010 Equity Incentive Award Plan and related documents (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Amendment No. 6 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on March 8, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference
herein).

10.5 Form of Indemnification Agreement made by and between Calix, Inc. and each of its directors, executive officers and some
employees (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. 6 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on
March 8, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

10.6 Lease, between RNM Lakeville, LLC and Calix, Inc., dated February 13, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Calix�s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

10.7 Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, by and between Calix, Inc. and Silicon Valley Bank, dated August 21,
2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on November 20, 2009 (File
No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

10.8 Offer Letter, between Calix, Inc. and Carl Russo, dated November 1, 2006 (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Amendment No. 1 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on December 31, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by
reference herein).

10.9 Offer Letter, between Calix, Inc. and Kelyn Brannon-Ahn, dated April 2, 2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Amendment No. 1 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on December 31, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

10.10 Offer Letter, between Calix, Inc. and Tony Banta, dated August 25, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10.10 to Amendment No. 1 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on December 31, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by
reference herein).

10.11 Offer Letter, between Calix, Inc. and John Colvin, dated March 3, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.11 to Amendment No. 1 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on December 31, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by
reference herein).
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10.12 Offer Letter, between Calix, Inc. and Kevin Pope, dated December 21, 2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.12 to Amendment No. 1 to
Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on December 31, 2009 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated
by reference herein).

10.13 Offer Letter, between Calix, Inc. and Roger Weingarth, dated February 17, 2003, as amended April 13, 2004 (filed as Exhibit
10.13 to Amendment No. 1 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on December 31, 2009 (File
No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

10.14 Calix, Inc. Non-Employee Director Equity Compensation Policy (filed as Exhibit 10.14 to Amendment No. 6 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on March 8, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference
herein).

10.15 Calix, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.15 to Amendment No. 6 to Calix�s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed with the SEC on March 8, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

10.16 Calix, Inc. Non-Employee Director Cash Compensation Policy (filed as Exhibit 10.16 to Amendment No. 6 to Calix�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on March 8, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference
herein).

10.17 Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, between Silicon Valley Bank and Calix, Inc., dated
March 8, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 10.17 to Amendment No. 7 to Calix�s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 23, 2010 (File No. 333-163252) and incorporated by reference herein).

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

23.2 Consent of SingerLewak LLP.

23.3� Consent of Latham & Watkins LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1).

23.4 Consent of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C. (included in Exhibit 8.1).

24.1� Power of Attorney (see page II-9 of the original filing of this Form S-4).

99.1 Form of Occam Networks, Inc. Proxy Card.

99.2� Consent of Jefferies & Company, Inc.

* Pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K, certain schedules and similar attachments to the Agreement and Plan of Merger and
Reorganization have been omitted. The registrant hereby agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or similar
attachment to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.

� Previously filed.
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